
www.lichfielddc.gov.uk /lichfielddc lichfield_dc MyStaffs App

Your ref
Our ref   
Ask for Mark Hooper

Email mark.hooper@lichfielddc.gov.uk

District Council House, Frog Lane
Lichfield, Staffordshire WS136YU

Customer Services 01543 308000
Direct Line 01543 308064

Monday, 7 January 2019
Dear Sir/Madam

CABINET

A meeting of the Cabinet has been arranged to take place on TUESDAY, 15TH JANUARY, 
2019 at 6.00 PM IN THE COMMITTEE ROOM District Council House, Lichfield to consider 
the following business.

Access to the Committee Room is via the Members’ Entrance.

Yours faithfully

Neil Turner BSc (Hons) MSc
Director of Transformation & Resources

To: Members of Cabinet

Councillors Wilcox (Chairman), Pritchard (Vice-Chair), Mrs Little, Leytham, A Yeates 
and Spruce

Public Document Pack



www.lichfielddc.gov.uk /lichfielddc lichfield_dc MyStaffs App

AGENDA
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Local Plan Review (2016 - 2036) Preferred Options and Policy 
Directions Consultation 

3 - 444

4. Elford Neighbourhood Plan - Final Decision Statement 445 - 506

5. Exclusion of Public and Press 

RESOLVED: “That as publicity would be prejudicial to the
public interest by reason of the confidential nature of the
business to be transacted, the public and press be excluded
from the meeting for the following items of business, which
would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Local Government Act 1972”

6. Processing of Dry Recycling Materials Contract 507 - 512

This report is to be considered in private since it contains exempt
information (as defined by Paragraph 3, Part 1 of Schedule 12A of
the Local Government Act 1972) relating to the financial interests of
the Council and the business affairs of a contractor.



Local Plan Review (2016 – 2036) Preferred 
Options and Policy Directions consultation
Report of the Cabinet Member for Economic Growth, Environment & Development Services: 
Councillor I. Pritchard
Date: 15 January 2019
Agenda Item: 3
Contact Officer: Ashley Baldwin/ Craig Jordan
Tel Number: 01543 308147/ 308202
Email: ashley.baldwin@lichfielddc.gov.uk/ 

craig.jordan@lichfielddc.gov.uk
Key Decision? YES 
Local Ward 
Members

All

CABINET

1. Executive Summary
1.1 The Local Plan Strategy adopted in 2015 commits the Authority to preparing a Local Plan Review. To 

inform the review consultation was undertaken on the ‘Scope, Issues and Options’ during April and 
June 2018. This report requests that the Cabinet note the representations received to the consultation, 
approve the officer responses and approve the next round of public consultation.

1.2 The responses to the previous round of consultation have helped inform the next stage of the review 
which is the preparation of a Preferred Options and Policy Directions document.  This draft document 
is accompanied by a series of supporting documents. Approval of Cabinet is sought for the draft 
document and related supporting documents and to undertake public consultation on the same.

2. Recommendations
2.1 That the Cabinet note the summary of representations received to the Local Plan Review Scope, Issues 

and Options consultation and approve the officer responses. 

2.2 That the Cabinet approves the Local Plan Review document (Appendix A), the Sustainability Appraisal 
(Appendix B) and Habitat Regulations Assessment screening assessment (Appendix C) for public 
consultation to be held between 28th January and 18th March 2019.

2.3 That delegated authority be granted to the Cabinet Member for Economic Growth, Environment & 
Development Services in consultation with the Head of Economic Growth to make any minor changes 
to the appearance, format and text of the Local Plan Review Preferred Options and Policy Directions 
Document or the supporting documents prior to consultation in the interests of clarity and accuracy.

3. Background

3.1 The consultation on the first stage of the Local Plan Review generated significant interest. In total 
1,637 responses were received from 260 individual consultees.  Table 1 identifies the marketing and 
consultation undertaken.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

mailto:ashley.baldwin@lichfielddc.gov.uk/
mailto:craig.jordan@lichfielddc.gov.uk


Table 1 – Local Plan Review consultation information

What was done Marketing or consultation
Emails to Parish Council clerks ahead of the 
consultation period offering a presentation

Marketing

Emails to District Councillors ahead of 
consultation period 

Marketing

Press releases Marketing
Facebook updates Marketing
Twitter updates Marketing
Letters/ emails to all those on the Local Plan 
consultation database

Marketing

Presentations (with Q&A session) to Parish 
Councils

Consultation

Meetings with resident groups, stakeholders and 
private sector organisations 

Consultation

Drop in events at Lichfield District Council and 
Burntwood library

Consultation

Executive summary produced Consultation
Duty officer available during office hours Consultation
Documents on deposit at Council offices, Lichfield 
library and Burntwood library

Consultation

3.2 Some comments were made as to the means of consultation undertaken and notification of the 
consultation itself.  This feedback is useful and will be borne in mind when carrying out further 
exercises of this kind as it is important that the public and stakeholders have confidence in the 
processes followed and have the opportunity to have their say. 

3.3 In terms of the consultation responses they are summarised together with officer comments at 
Appendix D. A summary of the key themes arising from the consultation are set out in Table 2 below.

Table 2: Local Plan Review – key themes arising from consultation

Summary of response Summary of analysis
The review should provide explicit consideration of 
the needs arising from the Greater Birmingham 
Housing Market Area (GBHMA) and this should be 
reflected throughout the vision, objectives and 
strategic priorities.

The Review does acknowledge the needs arising from 
the GBHMA. The needs of neighbouring authorities 
warrant reference within the Plan. However further 
consideration needs to be given as to whether this 
needs to be explicitly set out within the vision, 
objectives and strategic priorities.

There needs to be greater emphasis on economic 
growth and the needs associated with employment.

Economic growth is considered to be a fundamental 
component of the plan review process. In drafting the 
next stage of the review consideration will be given to 
ensure appropriate focus is provided to economic 
growth.

There is a clear requirement to release Green Belt 
land in order to meet future growth needs.

The Council will undertake a Green Belt review which 
will assist in determining Green Belt release (if 
required).

Some of the proposed locations for growth are in 
unsustainable locations, growth should be focused in 

This scale and distribution of growth and the 
implications for areas of the district and specific sites 

Page 4

https://democracy.lichfielddc.gov.uk/documents/b4378/Item%203%20-%20APPENDIX%20D%20Summary%20of%20Representations%2015th-Jan-2019%2018.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Summary of response Summary of analysis
and around the existing built up area. will be addressed as part of the consideration of 

options for a suitable spatial strategy.
The existing urban areas are at capacity which triggers 
the needs to focus growth in other areas of the 
District.

This scale and distribution of growth and the 
implications for areas of the district and specific sites 
will be addressed as part of the consideration of 
options for a suitable spatial strategy.

The needs associated with housing requires a more 
thorough analysis. In particular there should be 
greater reference to self-build/ custom build and 
housing for the elderly.

These additional areas warrant further consideration 
and will be considered as the Review is progressed. It 
is noted that a number of respondents suggested that 
a policy requiring self-build is not appropriate.

There are infrastructure deficits across much of the 
District. 

Infrastructure is a challenging matter which is best 
addressed through a Local Plan rather than piecemeal 
planning applications. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP)  will be the primary mechanism for identifying 
infrastructure needs. The evidence base being 
developed will assist in informing this work. In 
addition involvement of key stakeholders such as 
Staffordshire County Council will assist in developing 
the IDP.

Some respondents considered the plan period to be 
appropriate, others considered there to be a need to 
align with the other GBHMA Authorities.

This will need to be considered, however it is agreed 
that there is logic in aligning the Plan period with 
other Local Plan Authorities conducting Plan Reviews.

There is limited justification to include a density 
policy.

It is recognised that there needs to be flexibility 
within a Plan regarding density. Notwithstanding this 
it is important the District achieves suitable density 
delivery. This is something that is common across the 
GBHMA, arising from the GL Hearn and Wood 
Strategic Growth study. 

Residents from Shenstone/ Stonall and Little Aston 
made a significant amount of generic objections 
opposing growth in this area. This is comparatively 
higher than other areas across the District.

From a planning policy perspective the number of 
respondents should not be a reason to halt progress 
with considering areas for growth. Growth in this area 
will need to be tested in line with the other options. 

3.4 The next stage of the Plan review is to undertake a Preferred Options and Policy Directions 
consultation. This is important for the following reasons:

- The Council have committed to consult on this stage in its adopted Local Development 
Scheme;

- The recently examined Local Plan Allocations includes a modification proposed by the 
Inspector that will require the Council to submit the Plan review in a timely manner; and

- Evidence has been prepared (set out below) which has resulted in some policies being 
drafted. It is important the Council obtain feedback on the proposed policies and policy 
directions to adequately inform a later submission document.

3.5 When considering the role and purpose of the Preferred Options and Policy Directions document it is 
important that this is read as a whole. However of particular importance is the potential levels of 
growth proposed.  At this point no definitive level of growth is required. However officers would draw 
Members’ attention to sections 14, 15 and 22 of the document (Appendix A) which sets out the 
recommendations for growth which will be assessed further following consultation. 

Page 5



3.6 Following the earlier consultation on the Scope, Issues and Options consultation officers have 
undertaken work to update some of the Council’s current evidence base. This has focused on the 
following:

- Duty to Cooperate – engagement with statutory partners to investigate cross boundary 
matters that have relevance to the future of the District. This work has assisted in 
identifying some of the policy directions. An example being the scale of growth and its 
relationship with the Greater Birmingham Housing Market Area.

- Habitat Regulations Screening Assessment – an assessment which screens the potential 
impact on the designated sites within and adjacent to the District. The screening at this 
stage has identified the need for a further assessment which will be in the form of an 
Appropriate Assessment.

- Settlement hierarchy assessment – This assessment shaped the spatial strategy. The 
assessment identifies the scale of services that exist within a settlement currently. A 
settlement that has a comparatively high number of services and facilities will represent a 
level of sustainability. However in developing the spatial strategy this is not the only 
consideration. While some areas might be well catered for in terms of existing services 
there might be limited opportunities for further growth of these facilities and/ or other land 
constraints. A good example of this is Alrewas which is a key rural settlement but has 
limited opportunities for growth.

- Land availability assessment – An active call for sites was launched which has assisted in 
verifying what potential scope for development there is across the District. This has assisted 
in discounting some of the options previously considered, such as growth at Thorpe 
Constantine. In this case there was no evidence of a willing landowner. In other cases the 
call has identified options that the Council were previously unaware of. An example being 
the submission of the County Council’s farm holdings. The consultation does not go as far as 
identifying specific sites. However the document at section 22 (Appendix A) states potential 
directions for growth.

- Sustainability Appraisal – the sustainability appraisal has assisted in testing the policy 
options (e.g. level of growth, draft policies etc.) against a set of sustainability objectives. 
Following the appraisal process polices were redrafted to take account of the findings.

3.7 The initial evidence base set out above, combined with the consultation responses and changes to 
national planning policy has informed the consultation document (Appendix A). The content of the 
review will require additional work. At the time of writing guidance is still being issued by the Ministry 
of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). Additional guidance will be published by the 
MHCLG in due course. In particular officers are awaiting the outputs of MHCLG consultation on local 
housing needs. This is important because this will have a bearing on the level of growth the District 
needs to accommodate. This level of growth will in turn influence other pieces of evidence base. As an 
example being the full plan viability assessment which will need to reconcile the growth being 
proposed along with the draft policy framework. Appendix A of the consultation document (Appendix 
A) identifies the evidence base that will be required before the next stage of consultation.

3.8 The consultation document where possible sets out the preferred policies that are being suggested. 
These policies are based on the concluded evidence and/ or the consultation responses. Where more 
work is required a preferred policy direction is identified. 

3.9 In addition to assist the consultation officers have produced an executive summary of the consultation 
document. This can be found in section 1 of the document (Appendix A) and will assist the 
stakeholders in providing an overview of the key components of what will be contained in the Plan 
when this emerges.

Page 6



3.10 Following the consultation on this stage officers will need to consider the responses received. A report 
will then be produced for the EGED (O&S) Committee. In addition the evidence base listed in the 
consultation document will need to be completed. The intention is to bring a draft submission 
document to Cabinet for consultation in September 2019. 

Alternative Options 1. Cabinet recommends not to progress with the Local Plan Review at this point 
in time. This would present difficulties in meeting the agreed timetable for 
completing the Local Plan Review. 

2. Cabinet recommends alternative growth options be considered before 
consultation is undertaken.

Consultation 1. Consultation is required on the Local Plan Review document and 
accompanying documents for a minimum of six weeks

Financial 
Implications

1. Officer time will be needed to run the consultation on the Local Plan Review.
2. The costs of consultation will be met within approved budgets.
3. Officer time will be needed to run consultation events on the Local Plan 

Review. 
4. There will be a need to commission evidence associated with the Local Plan 

Review.

Contribution to the 
Delivery of the 
Strategic Plan

1. Supports the priority of a vibrant and prosperous economy as it assists in the 
delivery of the planning function of the Council. 

2. Supports the priority of Healthy and Safe communities by ensuring the 
provision of housing.

3. Supports the priority of clean, green and welcoming places to live by assisting 
in allocating land for affordable housing, as well as supporting the delivery of 
residential and commercial developments.

Crime & Safety 
Issues

1. There are no crime and safety issues.

GDPR/Privacy 
Impact Assessment

1. A Privacy Impact Assessment has been undertaken.

Risk Description How We Manage It Severity of Risk (RYG)
A An unusually high level of responses 

are received which has a detrimental 
impact on the proposed timescales.

Upon close of the consultation officers 
will review the quantum and 
complexity of responses. Officers will 
report progress to Members

Yellow

B Evidence required to support the 
Local Plan Review has a detrimental 
impact on the proposed timescales 
and allocated budget. 

Consideration of evidence base 
requirements is an iterative process. 
Officers will continue engagement 
with stakeholders involved in shaping 

Yellow

Equality, Diversity 
and Human Rights 
Implications

1.   An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken as part of preparing the 
Local Plan Review (Appendix E)  

Page 7



evidence base requirements to ensure 
the initial scope is clear. Project 
management practices are followed in 
the preparation and delivery of 
evidence base. New requirements 
arising from external factors such as 
future consultations will be considered 
by officers.

C The Council receive criticism for the 
methods of marketing and process of 
engagement.

Officers will work with the 
communications team in the 
marketing of the consultation. This will 
aim to respond to comments during 
the consultation along with aiding 
future learning.

Green

Background documents

Scope, Issues & Options consultation
Statement of Community Involvement
Local Development Scheme

Relevant web links

Scope, Issues & Options consultation
Statement of Community Involvement
Local Development Scheme

Page 8

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-SCI.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Local-Development-Scheme-LDS.aspx


Preferred options & policy 
directions

January 2019 

Page 9



Executive summary

3Executive summary1

Introduction & context

8Introduction & context2

14National context3

16Local context4

Profile of the district & issues

18Profile of the district5

30Issues6

Our vision & strategic priorities

33Our vision7

35Our strategic objectives & priorities8

Our strategic policies

39Themes and subjects for our strategic policies9

40Our spatial strategy10

45Our sustainable communities11

52Our infrastructure12

54Our sustainable transport13

57Our homes for the future14

71Our economic growth, enterprise & tourism15

79Our healthy & safe communities16

85Our natural resources17

88Our built & historic environment18

Our strategic options for spatial growth

94Our growth needs & requirements19

97Residential growth options20

108Economic growth options21

113Our preferred strategic options for growth22

Our next steps

116Our next steps23

Appendices

117Our evidence baseA

119Our existing policies to be carried forwardB

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

C
on

te
nt
s

Page 10



Glossary & abbreviations

121Glossary & abbreviations

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

C
ontents

Page 11



1 Executive summary

Introduction

1.1 Lichfield District Council is reviewing its Local Plan with the aim to create a new local plan which
will provide the planning framework for our district up to 2036.

1.2 The new local plan will help to make sure our district provides the homes, jobs, community
facilities and services to meet the needs of our population in a sustainable way, while protecting and
enhancing the district's environment and heritage.

1.3 Once adopted the new local plan will replace the current local plan strategy which was adopted
in 2015 and the local plan allocations which is expected to be adopted in 2019. Until the new local
plan is adopted, the current local plan will continue to be used when making planning decisions.

1.4 This preferred options and policy directions document is a key stage in the plan making process
and provides the basis for consulting with residents, businesses and stakeholders on how the district
should develop in the future. It outlines the preferred vision, objectives and key planning issues
affecting the district, as well as possible approaches to new development and planned growth.

1.5 We are now seeking your views on the preferred direction for strategic policies and options for
growth and your thoughts on whether there are any additional policies or growth options we should
be considering.

1.6 The consultation runs fromMonday 28 January until 5pmMonday 18March. There are a number
of ways in which to let us know your views:

Online via the website: http://lichfielddc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal

Email: developmentplans@lichfielddc.gov.uk

In writing to: Spatial Policy & Delivery, Lichfield District Council, Frog Lane, Lichfield, WS13 6YZ

3Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

1
E
xe
cu
tiv
e
su
m
m
ar
y

Page 12

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Downloads/Local-Plan-Strategy/Lichfield-District-Local-Plan-Strategy-2008-2029.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-allocations/Local-plan-allocations-submission/Local-Plan-Allocations-proposed-submission.pdf
http://lichfielddc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal
mailto:developmentplans@lichfielddc.gov.uk


1.7 The consultation document is split into the following sections:

Spatial portrait, vision, strategic objectives & priorities

1.8 The review of the local plan will consider some of the key facts and characteristics of our district
and its population. This will help identify what we consider are the key issues facing the district and
opportunities that exist to overcome these as part of the local plan. This consultation document
identifies fourteen key strategic issues as well as a number of more local specific issues for Lichfield
city, Burntwood and rural areas.

1.9 The new local plan will need to establish a clear vision to set out what the district should look
like by 2036. As part of this consultation, we set out what the preferred vision for our district. This is
informed by the key issues and takes account of other relevant plans and strategies which affect the
district.

1.10 The document then goes on to identify fifteen strategic objectives which reflect and underpin
the vision and priorities for Lichfield District. These objectives form the basis for the strategic policy
directions set out within the document.

Strategic policies

1.11 The new local plan will set out strategic policies that will underpin and guide development
within the district. The strategic polices will be designed to deliver the strategic objectives and vision
for the district across the plan period. As part of this consultation document, a number of strategic
policies and policy directions have been proposed and categorised into nine broad themes, each of
which is a chapter within the document.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions4

1
E
xecutive

sum
m
ary

Page 13



Spatial strategy - outlines the preferred settlement hierarchy which is split into five levels
comprising of strategic centres, other main centres, larger service villages, smaller service
villages and smaller rural villages and wider rural areas. The chapter then goes on to set out
the preferred policy direction for the spatial strategy.
Sustainable communities - sets out the strategic policy directions to guide sustainable
development within the district and ensure that when development takes place sustainable
communities are created. It goes on to set out policies to address climate change, flood risk and
air quality.
Our infrastructure - infrastructure is a term used to define all the requirements that are needed
to make places function efficiently and effective and in a way that creates sustainable
communities. This chapter sets out the preferred policy direction to support and deliver
infrastructure within our district.
Our sustainable transport - outlines the preferred policy approach for sustainable transport by
seeking to promote sustainable transport choices and support sustainable transport
improvements.
Our homes for the future - sets out possible options for the housing requirement across the plan
period. It also outlines the preferred policy approach relating to housing mix, housing density
and self-build and custom house building. This chapter goes on to set out our preferred approach
towards provision for gypsies and travellers.
Our economic growth, enterprise & tourism - includes a range of topics that relate to different
aspects of employment and enterprise. It sets out the preferred policy approach towards the
need for employment land, fostering skills and enterprise, rural employment, the role of town
centres and tourism.
Our healthy & safe lifestyles - sets out the preferred policy approach relating to healthy and safe
lifestyles, participation in sport and physical activity and provision for arts and culture.
Our natural resources - the district has a rich natural and built landscape comprising of heritage
assets, protected and important landscape and habitats. This chapters sets out the preferred
policy direction to protect, conserve and enhance the district's natural environment.
Our built & historic environment - outlines the preferred policy approach to protect and improve
the built environment and the district's heritage assets.

Strategic options for spatial growth

1.12 The new local plan will need to consider a range of options to deliver the development which
Lichfield District needs. The initial Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues & Options document identified
the following growth options:

Residential growth option one: town focused development
Residential growth option two: town and key rural village focused development
Residential growth option three: dispersed development
Residential growth option four: new settlements
Employment growth option one: expansion of existing employment areas
Employment growth option two: new locations

1.13 This consultation document undertakes a high level assessment of each of these options and
sets out the preferred strategic approach to growth. The preferred approach would see new homes
focused on the sustainable settlements identified in the preferred settlement hierarchy, with higher
levels of growth going to those settlements higher in the hierarchy. With regards to employment
growth, the preferred approach is to focus on the expansion of existing employment areas.

5Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

1
E
xe
cu
tiv
e
su
m
m
ar
y

Page 14

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


Next steps

1.14 Within this document we ask a number of questions which we would like your views on in
order to shape further stages of the local plan review. At the end of the consultation period, we will
consider all the comments received together with evidence collected on issues relevant to the plan
which will inform the next stage of the local plan. It is anticipated that the council will consult on the
next stage of the local plan review in September.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions6

1
E
xecutive

sum
m
ary

Page 15



7

In
tro

du
ct
io
n
&
co
nt
ex
t

Page 16



2 Introduction & context

What is a local plan?

2.1 All planning authorities are required to produce strategic plans which show how their area will
develop in the future. These plans are often known as 'Local Plans'. The local plan should provide a
positive vision and framework for the future development of the area, seeking to address needs and
opportunities in relation to housing, the economy, community facilities and infrastructure as well as
safeguarding important environments. A key task of a local plan is to provide policies which will guide
decisions on whether or not planning applications can be granted. In law the local plan is described
as a 'Development Plan Document' (or a DPD) and can consist of one or more documents including
local plans and neighbourhood plans.

2.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) establishes that the planning system in England
should be 'genuinely plan-led' and authorities are expected to keep their local plans up-to-date. The
development plan for the area must include strategic policies to address the areas priorities for
development and use of land. Alongside strategic policies authorities should also consider non-strategic
policies to provide more detailed policies for specific areas, neighbourhoods or types of development.
These policies can be included within subsequent local plan documents and within neighbourhood
plans.

2.3 The current Lichfield local plan is a district wide plan and comprises of two development plan
documents:

The Local Plan Strategy : which was adopted in February 2015 and sets out the strategic vision,
objectives and spatial strategy for the district including the levels of development needed and
a number of large strategic allocations for housing growth; and

The Local Plan Allocations : which is currently at an advanced stage and likely to be adopted
in early 2019. This allocations document identifies site specific proposals and policies to deliver
the strategic vision established through the local plan strategy.

2.4 There are also a number of neighbourhood plans which have been produced by communities
within the district which form a further layer of planning policy within the district. Neighbourhood plans
are required to be in general conformity with the local plan for an area and as such compliment the
local plan within the district. Once adopted neighbourhood plans also become part of the development
plan.

2.5 Some of the allocations and policies within the existing local plan may be carried forward into
the new local plan. Whilst we prepare and develop the local plan review the existing local plan will
still be used to determine planning applications.

What is the local plan review and why are reviewing it?

2.6 The local plan review will provide a full review of the existing local plan within the district to
ensure that there are appropriate and up-to-date planning policies for the area. There have been a
number of important changes to the planning system in recent years including the publication of a
revised national planning policy framework and its associated planning practice guidance in 2018.

2.7 Three major aspects of the governments planning reforms are the implementation of a standard
method for calculating housing need in an area, a new requirement to ensure authorities are working
with their neighbours to meet their housing need where it has been robustly demonstrated that their

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions8

2
Introduction

&
context

Page 17

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-Plan-Strategy.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-Plan-Allocations.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Neighbourhood-plans/Neighbourhood-plans.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


need cannot be met and also a requirement for all authorities to consider a review of their local plans
at least once every five years. Changes such as these mean it is vitally important for the district council
to begin the process of reviewing its local plan.

2.8 The local plan allocations document commits Lichfield District to carrying out an early review
of its local plan in order to respond to the changing needs for development, especially the need to
accommodate additional housing arising from unmet needs in neighbouring authorities within the
same housing market area.

2.9 The District Council commenced its local plan review in April 2018 with consultation on a Scope,
Issues and Options document. The scope, issues and options document focused on identifying the
key issues facing the district and presented a number of possible spatial growth options. The responses
to the consultation have been instrumental in guiding this preferred options & policy directions
document.

What is the scope of the local plan?

2.10 This preferred options and policy directions document begins to refine elements of the local
plan based on the information we have available to date.

2.11 The final version of the local plan will include:

Spatial profile & issues: a high level picture of Lichfield District today with its key features and
issues identified;

A vision: a high level picture of how Lichfield District will appear in 2036;

Strategic objectives & priorities: setting out the main challenges and how these will help meet
the vision;

Spatial strategy: setting out how different areas of the district and the district as a whole should
develop within the plan period, setting out how much development will take place, where this
development will be located and when it will be delivered. The spatial strategy is key in delivering
the vision for the district;

Strategic policies: theme-based strategic policies which will support the delivery of the spatial
strategy and establishing the principles of development. Examples of themed areas are likely
to be sustainable development, the natural and built environment, infrastructure, housing,
employment and health;

Non-strategic policies: locally based detailed policies for specific areas which support the delivery
of strategic policies, spatial strategy and vision. Such policies may be included within the local
plan, any subsequent local planning documents and within neighborhood plans produced by
our communities; and

Monitoring and implementation framework: to ensure that the council can check that the local
plan is being delivered and how effective its policies are being in ensuring the vision and spatial
strategy is being delivered. Monitoring will be undertaken throughout the plan period and
considered through the authority monitoring report.

How will the local plan be prepared and what stage are we at?

2.12 The timetable for the local plan review is set out in the Council's Local development scheme and
is summarised in table 2.1. This is the preferred options consultation stage.

9Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

2
In
tro

du
ct
io
n
&
co
nt
ex
t

Page 18

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Local-Development-Scheme-LDS.aspx


2.13 At this stage, the council is seeking your views on the local plan review, on the issues facing
the district and what our vision and objectives should be to address these issues. The consultation
responses that we receive will contribute to our work in preparing the local plan review and will also
help to inform what further evidence may be necessary. There will be further opportunities to comment
on the local plan review and its policies as it progresses.

2.14 The table below sets out the anticipated timetable for the stages of production.

Table 2.1 Local plan review timetable

Anticipated DateStage
April 2018Scope, Issues & Options Consultation
January 2019 (current stage)Preferred Options and Policy Directions
September 2019Publication
January 2020Submission
March 2020Examination in Public
December 2020Adoption

What has influenced the development of the local plan to date?

National planning policy & guidance

2.15 Since the scope, issues & options document was consulted upon the government has published
a revised national planning policy framework along with associated guidance. The local plan will need
to conform with national planning policy and guidance and associated legislation.

2.16 This preferred options and policy directions document has been developed to accord with the
revised national planning policy framework and its associated guidance. Further detail with regards
to the national policy context is set out in subsequent chapters of this document.

Engagement with other councils and our partners

2.17 The local plan review must be prepared in accordance with a duty to cooperate which sets a
legal obligation for the council to engage with other authorities and public bodies on an ongoing basis
on strategic planning issues which cross administrative boundaries. Strategic issues can include the
delivery of housing, employment and infrastructure and the impact of development on areas of
environmental importance including special areas of conservation and the green belt.

2.18 The scope, issues and options document set out a number of areas where the council will
need to work with partner organisations on strategic issues. An example of such an issue is the unmet
housing need arising from within the 'Greater Birmingham Housing Market Area' (GBHMA) which will
need to be addressed within the local plans of each authority within the housing market area.

2.19 In addition to complying with the duty to cooperate the revised national planning policy
framework requires authorities to produce and publish statements of common ground which will set
out the cross-boundary issues which need to be addressed and detail the progress which has been
made in dealing with them. The council may wish to produce one or a number of statements of common
ground to cover the range of cross-boundary matters the local plan is addressing. The council will
prepare and update the relevant statements of common ground as the local plan review progresses.
In order for a local plan to be examined and considered effective it will need to demonstrate that
cross-boundary strategic issues have been dealt with and that this should be evidenced through the
statements of common ground.

2.20 A key aspect which has influenced this document is the ongoing consultation which has taken
place with our communities and various stakeholders. The scope, issues and options consultation
received a high level of response from all aspects of the community, the development industry and

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions10

2
Introduction

&
context

Page 19



other stakeholders. In total over 1,600 individual responses were received from around 260 individual
consultees which provided comments on a range of issues and topics within the scope, issues and
options document. These responses have been analysed and considered by the council when preparing
this preferred options and policy directions document. Throughout this document we have set out a
'what you told us' section which summarises some of the key themes which came out through the
consultation and have influenced this document.

2.21 In addition to the initial consultation the council undertook a 'Call for Sites' exercise during
October and November 2018. This gave landowners, developers and other stakeholders the opportunity
to submit sites to the council for consideration. A large number of sites were submitted through this
process, with a number of new sites being submitted along with sites which have previously been
promoted through the local plan process. Sites submitted through this process have been published
in the call for sites schedule alongside this document. These sites will be assessed through our
evidence, including our land availability assessments. The results of these assessments will be
included in the annual updates of the documents which will be published in spring 2019. Whilst the
initial call for sites has taken place, we are happy to continue to receive additional sites during this
consultation period and beyond.

2.22 The council will continue to engage with our partners and stakeholders throughout the
progression of the local plan review. This will be undertaken in line with our statement of community
involvement. It will ensure that all stakeholders wishing the engage in the plan-making process have
the appropriate opportunities to do so. This document represents a further opportunity for stakeholders
to engage and provide meaningful contributions towards the review of the local plan.

Other plans and strategies

2.23 The council works in close partnership with a number of organisations including the health
authorities, the county council and housing associations. The council do this to ensure that the policies
and proposals within the local plan are as closely aligned as possible to the policies and plans which
partner organisations prepare. There are a number of plans which are of direct relevance and inform
the local plan review, and in turn the local plan informs them. Examples of such plans and strategies
are:

Lichfield District Council's strategic plan: sets the council's strategic vision and values for the
coming years. The local plan will assist in delivering the vision identified in the councils strategic
plan;
Local enterprise partnerships: the district is part of two local enterprise partnerships, the Stoke
on Trent and Staffordshire local enterprise partnership and the Greater Birmingham and Solihull
local enterprise partnership. Both of the local enterprise partnership's produce their own strategic
economic plan which is relevant to the council and will help to inform the local plan;
Strategic economic plan: prepared by the West Midlands Combined Authority and sets out the
vision for improving the quality of life of everyone who lives and works in the West Midlands;
and
Neighbourhood plans: communities across the district have produced or are currently producing
their own neighbourhood plans. These plans provide a further layer of planning policy but also
provide evidence which supports this local plan review. Further detail on neighbourhood plans
and their role in the context of the local plan review is included in chapter three of this document.

Our supporting evidence base

2.24 The local plan review will need to be supported by an adequate and proportionate evidence
base. This is one of the main requirements of a local plan when it is independently examined. The
evidence base is critical to ensuring that the council and all stakeholders have a thorough understanding
of the issues and needs facing the district.

11Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

2
In
tro

du
ct
io
n
&
co
nt
ex
t

Page 20

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Call-for-sites.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Statement-of-community-involvement-SCI.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Statement-of-community-involvement-SCI.aspx


2.25 The evidence base will inform the various aspects of the local plan and will itself be tested at
examination. The council has prepared a number of studies and assessments. There is a programme
for further documents that will contribute to our evidence base to support the policies and proposals
which will be in the local plan as the review process continues.

2.26 A range of evidence will be collected and collated along with updates and reviews of existing
evidence. The council has already produced some evidence by commissioning work where appropriate
such as the strategic flood risk assessment and evidence relating to Cannock Chase Special Area
of Conservation. We have undertaken evidence base studies including the settlement sustainability
study and updated existing evidence such as the strategic housing land availability assessment,
brownfield land register and employment land availability assessment. Further evidence will continue
to be collected by commissioning work, undertaking studies and updating our existing evidence.

2.27 The evidence base is not yet complete and it needs to be recognised that some aspects of
this work that are currently underway or will be undertaken in due course could play a significant part
in further informing the nature of the policies and proposals within the local plan review. The timescales
associated with this evidence are set out at Appendix A. Indeed this evidence may result in changes
to the preferred options and policy directions which are set out within this document. Nevertheless,
it is considered that consultation on the potential development strategies and policies for the district
is required now so that views and information collected through this consultation can further inform
the process moving forward.

2.28 The council's evidence base is available online via the council's website. These pages will be
updated as new and updated evidence is prepared and published.

Assessing environmental impacts

2.29 The council is required to assess the environmental impacts of any plan which it produces.
Prior to the scope, issues and options document a sustainability appraisal scoping report was produced.
The scoping report was made available to the statutory consultees (Natural England, Historic England
and Environment Agency) for consultation. This report provides a detailed baseline of information
and its outputs were key in informing the scope of the local plan review and the scope, issues and
options document produced in April 2018.

2.30 The scope, issues and options document was supported by a sustainability assessment (and
its non-technical summary) and a habitat regulations assessment. These documents form an important
part of the supporting evidence to the local plan review and help the council to assess the possible
impacts of the plan and its policies. Further sustainability appraisal and habitat regulations assessment
have been undertaken on this preferred options and policy directions document. These processes
will continue to be undertaken at each stage of the local plan review.

How to read this document

2.31 This preferred options and policy directions document has been produced to further inform
our local plan review and provide stakeholders another opportunity to provide their views and
comments. Within the document we begin to set out our preferred options and the preferred directions
for planning policies and ask a series of questions which will help inform the next stages of the local
plan review process.

2.32 Within this document there are a number of boxes which are colour coded to help guide you
through the document, these colour coded boxes will be set out as is demonstrated below.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions12

2
Introduction

&
context

Page 21

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Evidence-Base.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Downloads/Sustainability-appraisal/Local-Plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-SA-scoping-report.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Sustainability-assessment-Scope-issues-options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Sustainability-assessment-Non-tech-summary-Scope-issues-options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Habitat-regualtions-assessment-Scope-issues-options.pdf


Pink boxes represent our preferred policies and include the preferred policy wording which we are
proposing.

Blue boxes are used where we have not yet established a preferred option for policy wording but
have started to understand the preferred likely direction of the policy.

Grey boxes are used to provide key information, including key facts about our district.

Light green boxes are used to show the key issues affecting the district which the local plan review
will seek to address. This also includes certain location specific issues which have been identified.

Dark green boxes are used for the vision and key objectives for the local plan. These are key to
the local plan review as the policies and proposals within the local plan should seek to deliver the
vision and its strategic objectives.

Clear boxes are question boxes. These include specific questions which we are seeking views on
through the consultation on this preferred options and policy directions document.

How can you get involved?

2.33 This consultation seeks to set out the issues, vision and key objectives for the local plan review.
It also provides the direction for future strategic policies and options for growth. The Council is keen
to receive representations from all interested and affected parties so that responses can be fed into
the next stage of the Local Plan Review.

2.34 You can make your comments using the representation form. There are a number of ways
you can make a representation:

Online via the website: http://lichfielddc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal

Email: developmentplans@lichfielddc.gov.uk

In writing to: Spatial Policy & Delivery, Lichfield District Council, Frog Lane, Lichfield, WS13 6YZ

What happens next?

2.35 Following consultation on the preferred options & policy directions we will carefully consider
all comments which have been submitted to us along with the evidence base which is being produced
in support of the local plan review. These comments and evidence will help to inform the next stage
of the local plan review process.

13Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

2
In
tro

du
ct
io
n
&
co
nt
ex
t

Page 22

http://lichfielddc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal
mailto:developmentplans@lichfielddc.gov.uk


3 National context

3.1 National planning policy is set out within the National Planning Policy Framework which was
revised in July 2018. The local plan review will be progressed inline with the new framework to ensure
that our local plan is consistent with national policy. The framework is clear that the planning system
in England should be 'genuinely plan-led' with up-to-date and succinct local plans being the cornerstone
of the planning system.

3.2 National policy requires authorities to produce policies to address the strategic priorities for its
area and these policies can be contained in plans produced either individually or jointly or by an
elected Mayor. As the district is not within a combined authority area or under the remit of an elected
Mayor with plan making powers then the responsibility for strategic planning rests with the district
council. Through the scope, issues and options consultation council set out its intention to produce
its own local plan for its area and asked whether this was an appropriate approach or whether a
joint-plan should be proposed. None of the comments received indicated that a joint plan was seen
as appropriate.

3.3 National policy identifies that strategic policies set out within the local plan should provide an
overall strategy for the pattern, scale and quality of development. Strategic policies should look ahead
over a minimum 15 year period so that they are able to anticipate and respond to long-term
requirements and opportunities such as those which may arise from major improvements in
infrastructure. Strategic policies should address issues such as:

the overall strategy for growth including scale, location and quality;
housing (including affordable housing);
economic development to deliver employment;
leisure, retail and commercial development;
infrastructure and community facilities of all types (including transport, telecommunications,
social and community, green infrastructure and security);
conservation and enhancement of the natural and built environment; and
climate change.

3.4 Plans are required to make explicit which of its policies are strategic and these should be limited
to those which are necessary to address the strategic objectives and priorities for the area. Such
policies will form a clear starting point for any more localised non-strategic policies which may be
required. Detailed matters which would be better suited to non-strategic policies either within local
plan documents or neighborhood plans should not be included within strategic policies.

3.5 Strategic policies should provide a clear strategy for bringing forward sufficient land, and at a
sufficient rate, to ensure that development needs across the plan period are met. Non-strategic policies
can include site allocations, the provision of infrastructure and facilities at a local level, establishing
design principles, conserving the environment and setting out other appropriate development
management policies.

3.6 Given that national planning policy requires the preparation of strategic and non-strategic policies
it is considered that it may be appropriate for the district council to prepare a two part local plan much
like the approach used for the current local plan. This will enable the council to set out its strategic
policies which can then be followed with further non-strategic policies through neighbourhood plans
and a subsequent local plan document.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions14

3
N
ationalcontext

Page 23

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf
http://lichfielddc.limehouse.co.uk/creation/document/5233443/1090383.pdf


3.7 National policy requires policies within local plans to be reviewed to assess whether they need
updating at least once every five years, following such a review the plan should be updated as
necessary. Reviews will need to take account of any changes to national policy, changing
circumstances for an area including where the applicable local housing need figure has changed
significantly.

3.8 Local Plans are required to be prepared in accordance with all legal and procedural requirements
and will be examined to assess whether they are 'sound'. Plans are considered to be sound if they
are positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.

15Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

3
N
at
io
na

lc
on

te
xt

Page 24



4 Local context

Current local plan

4.1 The introductory chapter of this document provided an overview of the current local plan for the
district and why this is being reviewed. It is important to note that until the time the local plan review
is adopted, the current local plan which is made up of the local plan strategy and local plan allocations
document remains in place and will guide development and decisions on planning applications.

4.2 The current local plan includes a range of policies and proposals which have been developed
to deliver the vision and strategy set out within the plan. The scope, issues and options document
provided an analysis of those policies and considered whether policies needed to be significantly
changed together with those which would require minor amendments or no amendments. The
subsequent chapters of this document present preferred policy options and policy directions which
draw on this analysis and in some instances provides suggested policy wording.

Neighbourhood plans

4.3 National policy has made clear that neighbourhood plans are a key part of an areas development
plan. Neighbourhood plans are prepared by their community and must be examined to ensure they
meet the 'basic conditions' set out in national policy. Once a neighbourhood plan has been successfully
examined a referendum is held. This referendum is undertaken by the residents in the neighbourhood
plan area. If the plan receives a yes vote it is used by the planning authority in making decisions on
planning applications. To enable this the district council adopt the neighbourhood plan (it is then
'made') and it forms a key part of the development plan for that area.

4.4 Lichfield District has seventeen neighbourhood plans either 'made' (or adopted) or at varying
stages of preparation.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions16

4
Localcontext

Page 25

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-strategy.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-allocations.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Neighbourhood-plans/Neighbourhood-plans.aspx


Figure 4.1 Neighbourhood plans

Colton

FradleyLongdon

Wall

Burntwood

Shenstone

Elford

Lichfield City

Alrewas

Stonnall
Fazeley

Hammerwich

Whittington & Fisherwick

Wigginton & Hopwas

Little Aston

Streethay

Armitage with Handsacre

Made neighbourhood plan
Neighbourhood area designated
Neighbourhood plan at examination

4.5 National policy makes clear that neighbourhood plans can be used to set out non-strategic
policies which assist in the delivery of the strategic policies set out within the local plan. Neighbourhood
plans must be in general conformity with an areas local plan and its strategic policies and should not
provide for less development than is set out within the local plan.

4.6 Where a neighbourhood plan has been produced, then the non-strategic policies within that
plan would take precedence over the non-strategic policies within a local plan if the neighbourhood
plan has been 'made' more recently. This situation also applies in reverse if policies within a local
plan are the most recently adopted. Following the review of the Local Plan communities may wish to
review their neighbourhood plans to ensure their policies are in conformity with the local plan.

17Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

4
Lo

ca
lc
on

te
xt

Page 26



5 Profile of the district

Spatial characteristics

5.1 To help us plan for the future, we need a clear understanding of the characteristics of
Lichfield district today, and the issues and opportunities that these present. This section provides a
snapshot of the key spatial characteristics of the district.

5.2 Lichfield District is located in south-east Staffordshire abutting the West Midlands conurbation
and covers an area of 33,130 hectares with a population of 103,100. The district has two main
settlements Lichfield city and Burntwood, each with a population of around 30,000 as well as many
villages set within a varied and attractive rural area. There are also several larger settlements and
towns located next to the district boundary including Rugeley, Tamworth and Sutton Coldfield.

Figure 5.1 West midlands

5.3 Given its location the district is an attractive place for people to live. It has been a significant
destination for migrants from the West Midlands conurbation and other nearby towns. This has led
to pressure for housing growth over and above the needs arising purely from within the district. The
southern half of the district is covered by the West Midlands Green Belt.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions18

5
P
rofile

ofthe
district

Page 27



5.4 The current local plan strategy focuses the majority of growth to the most sustainable locations
in the district. Strategic housing allocations are made at Lichfield, Burntwood, Fradley and East of
Rugeley, with North of Tamworth being identified as a broad development location and other
settlements receiving more modest housing growth. The current plan protects existing employment
sites and allocates a further employment site at Cricket Lane, Lichfield.

Population and communities

5.5 Whilst the demographics of different communities within the district vary considerably, there
are some general characteristics of the whole population of the district that have a bearing on future
needs.

Table 5.1 Population & age structure

EnglandWest MidlandsDistrictPopulation

55,268,0672,928,085103,061Total

17.5%17.7%15.9%0-14

64.6%62.5%60.9%15-64

17.8%19.71%23.2%65+

5.6 The population of Lichfield has increased by 2,661 people (2.18%) since 2010,
however, when compared with the West Midlands (3.4%) and Great Britain (4.6%) the population has
grown at a much slower rate.

5.7 The district is characterised by a larger than average proportion of people over sixty five which
also exceeds the number of children under of the age of fifteen. The overall population for the district
is projected to increase by 4% between 2015 and 2025 with a significant growth in people over 65
(20%) and ages 85 and over (63%). This projected rate of increase is faster than the national average.
(i) The impacts of an ageing population are recognised as a national issue. The figures for Lichfield
illustrating population ageing suggests that the movement into retirement and older age groups could
be a more significant issue here than in many other areas of the country.

5.8 The higher proportion of older people means there is a smaller working age population (16-64)
within Lichfield District, decreasing at a faster rate (3%) than both the West Midlands or Great Britain
since 2010. This is over double the rate in the West Midlands which decreased by only 1.3% and
noticeably more than the figure for Great Britain which decreased by 1.6%.

5.9 The ethnic diversity of the district's population does not reflect that of the West Midlands or the
rest of England, with people of White British origin accounting for a larger proportion of the population
than any other ethnic group. (ii)

Table 5.2 Ethnic Composition

EnglandWest MidlandsDistrictEthnic Composition (%)

85.582.894.6White

Not available2.1White Irish / White Other

i ONS Mid-Year Population Estimates 2016
ii 2011 Census ONS

19Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

5
P
ro
fil
e
of

th
e
di
st
ric
t

Page 28

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-strategy.aspx
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates


EnglandWest MidlandsDistrictEthnic Composition (%)

2.22.41.1Mixed

7.610.21.5Asian or Asian British

3.43.20.5Black or Black British

1.71.50.3Chinese or Other Ethnic
Group

Key characteristics: Population and communities

The population of our district is growing a at much slower rate compared to theWest Midlands
and Great Britain.
Our district has a larger than average proportion of people aged over 65, and therefore a
smaller working age population when compared to the West Midlands and Great Britain.
Our district is less ethnically diverse when compared with the West Midlands and England,
with White British origin accounting for over 94% of the district.

Housing

5.10 Lichfield is seen as an attractive commuter area for Birmingham and a desirable place to live,
however the affordability of houses can be an issue for many people who want to live in the district.
Average house prices across the district have increased at a similar rate to theWest Midlands between
2009 and 2017. However, house prices across the district are higher than the average for the West
Midlands. The average house price costs £70,000 more in Lichfield than in the West Midlands(iii).

Table 5.3 Average house prices

20172015201420132012201120102009

£282,453£268,247£243,452£229,833£235,515£235,515£257,553£206,114District

£214,877£202,397£191,000£188,000£180,000£166,993£174,404£158,245West
Midlands

5.11 Given the average house price in the district is higher than the average price in the West
Midlands, affordability of houses in the district can be an issue for many people.

5.12 Through evidence which supports the local plan strategy it was identified that Lichfield has an
imbalance of housing types with high concentrations of larger, detached homes particularly in the
rural areas and a lack of smaller properties, particularly two and three bedroom homes. There is a
notable desire for smaller properties particularly within those areas which can support first time buyers
as well as enable people to stay in their communities and continue living independently as they
downsize.

5.13 Lichfield forms part of the Greater Birmingham & Black Country Housing Market Area
(GBBCHMA) along with neighbouring authorities and evidence published for the GBBCHMA shows
a significant unmet housing need across the housing market area. This housing shortfall will need to

iii CLG, Hometrack and Land Registry

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions20

5
P
rofile

ofthe
district

Page 29



be addressed between the authorities and whilst the final distribution of unmet need has not be
determined, Lichfield District is committed to engaging with its neighbours under the duty to cooperate
to help to meet the needs within the housing market area.

5.14 In terms of housing delivery the local plan strategy sets an overall housing requirement of
10,030 (iv) dwellings between 2008 and 2029 at an annual rate of 478 dwellings per annum. It has
sought to do this through a strategy of focusing major growth within and adjoining the most sustainable
settlements within the district. The council has continually monitored housing delivery against this
target through the authority monitoring report (AMR), strategic housing land availability assessment
(SHLAA) and its assessment of five year housing land supply. This monitoring process has revealed
that a shortfall has arisen in the early part of the plan period and there is a significant difference
between the number of permissions granted and housing completions each year. The District Council
has continued to grant planning permissions significantly in excess of the annual housing requirement
to ensure that a rolling five year supply of housing land is available.

5.15 The revised national planning policy framework has introduced a new housing delivery test
for local authorities. This test is designed to ensure that local authorities and other bodies are held
accountable for their role in ensuring new homes are delivered. The delivery test will highlight whether
the number of homes being built is below the targets within a local plan, provide mechanisms for
establishing why those targets have been missed and trigger policy responses where delivery is
lacking. Given the districts recent delivery profile and the governments intention to scrutinise delivery
it will be important for us to understand why delivery of new homes within Lichfield District has been
in the past below target.

5.16 Alongside the identified issue with regards to delivery of housing is the delivery of affordable
housing. The adopted local plan strategy seeks to deliver up to 40% affordable housing on suitable
developments. Since 2008 there has been a relatively low proportion of affordable homes delivered
which mirrors the overall issue with regards to housing delivery.

Key characteristics: Housing

Affordability is a key issue within our district with the average house price over £70,000 higher
than the national and regional averages.
There is an imbalance of housing types within the district with a higher concentration of larger,
detached homes.
Our district falls within the Greater Birmingham & Black Country housing market area and
there is a significant unmet housing need across the Housing Market Area.
There has been a shortfall in housing delivery including affordable homes within our district
over the past decade.

Health and inequalities

5.17 Lichfield District is considered to be a relatively prosperous area in a regional and national
context, ranking as low as 252 out of 326 local authorities for overall deprivation in 2015. While it is
generally true that this is an indication of prosperity and the health of communities, there are pockets
of increased deprivation within the district. Chadsmead and Chasetown wards falling within 20% of
most deprived areas nationally (v).

iv The total housing requirement includes 1,000 dwellings to meet the needs of neighbouring authorities, Tamworth Borough
and Cannock Chase District.

v ONS, Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2015

21Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

5
P
ro
fil
e
of

th
e
di
st
ric
t

Page 30

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Monitoring/Annual-Monitoring-Report-AMR.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Strategic-Housing-Land-Availability-Assessment-SHLAA.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Five-year-housing-land-supply.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015


Table 5.4 Indices of multiple deprivation

IMD 2015IMD 2010IMD 2007

252237258Rank of average score

225243258Rank of income

202231237Rank of employment score

5.18 Overall life expectancy at birth continues to rise both locally and nationally. The table below
shows the comparison of life expectancy of our residents compared to the regional and national
averages. It highlights Lichfield District has a higher healthy life expectancy than the national average
and this is within the top 30% nationally, although this conceals pockets where healthy life expectancy
is considerably lower than the national average.

Table 5.5 Life expectancy

Female Healthy Life
Expectancy

Female Life
Expectancy

Male Healthy Life
Expectancy

Male Life Expectancy

6783.16579.9Lichfield District

62.582.962.478.9West Midlands

6483.263.479.5England

5.19 The district benefits from a range of leisure facilities including leisure centres, swimming pools,
gyms and privately operated swimming pools and fitness clubs. There is a wide distribution of bowling
greens, playing pitches for football, cricket, hockey and tennis courts across the district. It is noted
some facilities are ageing and in need of improvement and that there are some deficiencies in specific
locations.

5.20 Within the district there is a high rate of obesity, which can be seen from an early age through
to adulthood with two thirds of adults either obese or overweight (vi). Amongst adults just over 50%
meet the recommended levels of physical activity, whilst this is similar to the national figures access
to opportunities to increase physical activity for all ages of the population are key to improving health
and well- being.

5.21 Lichfield is considered a safe place to live with rates of crime being lower than the countywide
average. The average crime rate from Lichfield is 45 crimes per 1,000 population which is lower than
the average for Staffordshire at 48.3 per 1,000 population (vii)

Key characteristics: health and inequalities

Our district is a relatively prosperous area ranking within the lowest 25% of local authorities
for overall deprivation, however there are pockets of deprivation within the district.
Residents of the district have a higher healthy life expectancy than the national average.
There is a high rate of obesity within our district with just over 50% of adults meeting the
recommended levels of physical activity.
Crime rates within our district are lower than the countywide average.

vi Staffordshire Observatory, Lichfield Locality Profile 2016
vii Lichfield District Community Safety Delivery Plan 2017 - 2021

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions22

5
P
rofile

ofthe
district

Page 31

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Residents/Community/Community-safety/Downloads/Community-safety-delivery-plan.pdf


Transport movement

5.22 The district is well connected to the national transport network with the M6 toll, A38 (T), A5148
(T) and A5 (T) all passing through it. These routes are important nationally making our district attractive
to employers and supporting economic growth in the key employment areas in Lichfield City, Burntwood
and Fradley. In addition these nationally important routes also provide important local links as
they connect our outlying settlements to the wider selection of services and products available within
Lichfield city centre and Burntwood town centre, and neighbouring centres at Sutton Coldfield,
Tamworth and Rugeley.

5.23 High Speed Rail 2 (HS2) will when constructed intersect the district and connect the West
Midlands with London as part of Phase 1 and the West Midlands with Crewe as part of Phase 2A.
Construction on Phase 1 commenced in 2017 with the first services planned for 2026 and the first
services for Phase 2A planned for 2027(viii).

viii Subject to the legislation being put in place

23Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

5
P
ro
fil
e
of

th
e
di
st
ric
t

Page 32



Figure 5.2 Infrastructure links

M 6Toll

M
6Toll

#
#

#

#

#

Burntwood

Lichfield

To Rugeley

To Stafford and
the North West

To Ashbourne
and the North

To Burton and
   the North

To TamworthTo Tamworth
and the South

To Tamworth

To Birmingham 
and the South

To Sutton Coldfield
  and Birmingham

To Brownhills
and Walsall

To Cannock and 
 the North West

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018.
 Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°
Airport
Hospital
Retail
Employment
Leisure, Tourism
and Cutlure

Burton & East
  Midlands

Employment
Retail, Leisure, 
Tourism and
Culture

Tamworth
The Black 
 Country

Hospitals
Retail
Leisure, Tourism
and Culture
Employment

Cannock
Hospital,
Retail
Leisure, Tourism
and Culture
Employment

Birmingham
Airport
Major Rail Station
Retail
Leisure, Tourism 
and Culture
Employment
Education
Hospitals

Hospital
Retail
Leisure, Tourism
and Culture
Employemnt

Stafford

# Train Stations
M6 Toll
Railway
Main roads
Canals

HS2
Watercourses
Green Belt
District Settlement
Urban areas

5.24 Lichfield District benefits from having four train stations; Lichfield City, Lichfield Trent Valley,
Shenstone and Rugeley Trent Valley providing access to London via the west coast mainline
and Birmingham via Walsall or the cross city line. Burntwood with its population of over 30,000 does
not have direct access to the rail network along with many of the rural settlements.

5.25 Overall 75% of households within the district are within 350m of a half hourly or better
weekday service to public transport, however this conceals that some of the rural villages have very
limited access to train and bus services. Settlements with poor or no transport provision include
Drayton Bassett, Colton, Longdon, Upper Longdon, Hamstall Ridware and Hill Ridware.

5.26 Despite its public transport links, as shown in the table 5.6 (ix) a significantly high number of
Lichfield Districts population use a car or van to travel to work, with 49.1% of residents commuting
out of the district to work.

ix ONS, 2011 Census

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions24

5
P
rofile

ofthe
district

Page 33



Table 5.6 Method of travel to work

EnglandWest MidlandsLichfieldMethod of travel to work
(%)

37.040.547.2By car / van

3.33.83.4Passenger in car / van

3.51.62.3By train

2.60.20.1By underground metro, light
rail, tram

4.94.81.4By bus / minibus or coach

1.91.20.8By bike

6.06.25.1By foot

0.30.30.1By taxi

0.50.30.3By motorcycle, scooter or
moped

0.40.30.3Other method of travel to
work

3.53.04.4Work mainly from home

35.337.634.4Not in employment

Key characteristics: Transport & movement

Given its central location Lichfield District is well connected to the national transport network.
The district is an attractive commuter location for Birmingham and the Black Country.
A significantly high proportion of people within our district use a car or van as opposed to
public transport to travel to work when compared with the West Midlands and England.
Almost half of residents commute outside of the district to work.

Education

5.27 There are forty seven schools within the district, including six secondary schools and colleges.
Staffordshire University also offers a range of courses from its campus in Lichfield. The percentage
of students achieving 5 or more GCSEs at A* to C is 60.5% which is higher than the results for both
Staffordshire (54.7%) and England (53.5%). (x) In terms of qualifications, Lichfield District has a lower
proportion of working age population qualified to NVQ Level 4 and above, when compared to the rest
of the West Midlands and Great Britain. However, this could be explained by the higher than average
older population.

x Department for Education

25Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

5
P
ro
fil
e
of

th
e
di
st
ric
t

Page 34



Key characteristics: Education

The percentage of students within our district achieving five or more GCSEs A* to C is higher
than the regional and national average.

Economy & employment

5.28 Lichfield District is an attractive location for people to live and work. The district has a large
portfolio of sites available for employment development within Lichfield City, Fradley, Burntwood,
Fazeley, Armitage and Shenstone. Lichfield also has significantly fewer residents out of work and
claiming benefits than the national average.

5.29 The nature of employment in the district has changed significantly over time with the decline
of traditional engineering industries and in recent years an increase in digital communications. The
provision of superfast broadband is now a vital component of infrastructure as it enables increased
levels of mobile working and home working.

5.30 The districts primary employment sector is 'wholesale and retail trade', followed
by 'accommodation and food services'. Employment in both of these sectors is more than the national
and regional average (xi). Whilst the service sector is the largest employer in the district most of our
residents are employed in the professional, scientific or technical industrial sector and thus travel
beyond the district to access higher salaried jobs elsewhere. This is reflected in the weekly earnings
for our residents which are higher than both the regional and national figures. However weekly earnings
by workplace within the district are lower than the national figures, as shown in the table below.

Table 5.7 Average earnings

Great BritainWest MidlandsLichfieldGross weekly pay of full
time workers (£)

541507.80659.30Weekly earnings by resident

540.20510.20530.70Weekly earnings by
workplace

5.31 Tourism is a significant part of the local economy based on the heritage, character and
environment of the area, with Lichfield City being a particular focal point. There are a number of
individual important attractions within the district, there future needs are factors to be considered as
part of the review. These include Lichfield Cathedral, Drayton Manor Park and the National Memorial
Arboretum. The tourism sector within the district is forecast to grow and there is believed to be a high
rate of occupancy levels of existing hotels.

5.32 Lichfield city centre also serves as the administrative centre for the district and has the largest
shopping provision, serving a wider catchment than just the local population. As with all centres both
Lichfield city and Burntwood face challenges in attracting investment and reducing their vacancy
rates, this is a result of a number of factors including the impact of the recession and the growth of
internet shopping. Both centres have investment opportunities which will assist them in addressing
the challenges facing town and city centres over the plan period.

xi NOMIS, Employ Jobs 2016

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions26

5
P
rofile

ofthe
district

Page 35

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


Key Characteristics: Economy & employment

The primary employment sectors within our district is 'wholesale and retail trade' and
'accommodation and food service', with employment within these sectors being higher than
the national and regional average.
A high proportion of residents commute to work to higher salaried jobs outside of our district.
Tourism plays a significant part in our district's economy.

Historic environment

5.33 There are twenty one designated conservation areas across the district. A large part of Lichfield
city is one of these conservation areas with the magnificent Lichfield cathedral at its centre. The
cathedral spires (often called the ladies of the vale) are visible from many points in the wider rural
landscape and the city centre's medieval street pattern and many listed buildings provide an attractive
built environment.

5.34 The district has over 750 listed buildings including twelve of which are grade I listed, and a
further sixty three are grade II*. In addition to the many listed and locally listed structures and buildings
there are other assets including ancient monuments, the former Roman settlement at Wall and the
National Memorial Arboretum. Hammerwich which is within the district is also the home of the Saxon
Staffordshire hoard which was discovered in 2009. These historic sites and assets are of great
importance as they contribute to the distinctive character of Lichfield and its tourist economy.

5.35 Burntwood is the second largest settlement within the district and formed as a consequence
of more recent growth of smaller settlements from significant residential growth in the 1960's to 1990's.
Its history is linked to coal mining and other industries, providing coal and water from the reservoir at
Chasewater to the canal network which helped support the industrial revolution in Birmingham.

5.36 The canal network throughout Lichfield is extensive, passing through Armitage, Kings Bromley,
Alrewas, Fradley, Lichfield and also a section through Fazeley all of which now provide opportunities
for recreation. A project to reopen a further section of the Lichfield Canal which will link to Burntwood
is being pursued by the Lichfield & Hatherton Canal Restoration Trust.

Key characteristics: Historic environment

There are twenty one conservation areas within our district.
Our district benefits from having a significant number of heritage assets including twelve
Grade I listed and sixty three Grade II* buildings.

Landscape and ecology

5.37 The landscape of the district provides a rich tapestry complementing its settlement pattern. It
ranges from 11th century royal hunting forest to river valleys in the east with their rich mineral deposits.
The landscape reflects the human activity of the area throughout the bronze age, Roman occupations
and the Anglo Saxon period with many sites recorded in the domesday book. The evolution of
settlements, ecclesiastical and cultural expansion along with agricultural and industrial development
continue throughout the 11th to 20th century.

5.38 The mineral deposits continue to shape the landscape with sites being worked across the
district and further sites being safeguarded to the west of Alrewas within the adopted minerals plan.
The deposits follow the two main rivers that flow through the district, the River Trent and the River

27Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

5
P
ro
fil
e
of

th
e
di
st
ric
t

Page 36

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/planning/policy/thedevelopmentplan/mineralslocalplan/mineralsLocalPlan.aspx


Tame. Both rivers carry large volumes of water and have wide floodplains. Most of the floodplains lie
upon agricultural land however Fazeley is particularly prone to flood events. Large scale restoration
of the mineral sites provide opportunities for recreation and landscape enhancement through the
Central Rivers Initiative, National Forest and the expansion of the National Memorial Arboretum which
itself is built upon a former mineral site.

5.39 The River Mease flows into the River Trent and supports species and habitat of european
significance. The River Mease has national and european level protection, designated as a Special
Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Parts of Cannock Chase
also have the same level of protection. A part of Cannock Chase which lies within Lichfield District,
around Gentleshaw Common, is designated for its landscape quality and is recognised as of national
importance as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). Elsewhere in the district there are a
variety of wildlife rich habitats which are protected including further Sites of Special Scientific Interest,
Ancient Woodlands, Veteran Trees and locally recognised Sites of Biological Importance (SBI).

5.40 During the plan period opportunities will arise to enhance and create corridors and linkages
to assist in our biodiversity meeting the needs of climate change. Initiatives such as the National
Forest and Central Rivers Initiative will enhance the biodiversity of the district and the health and well
being of our residents and visitors.

5.41 As shown on the map 5.3, in terms of development, Lichfield District is heavily constrained.
The south - eastern part of the district falls within the green belt and is therefore subject to planning
policy which restricts development except in exceptional circumstances. The district partially lies within
Cannock Chase SAC zone of influence, River Mease SAC water catchment area and the National
Forest. Whilst none of these constraints necessarily preclude development they do need to be taken
into serious consideration when assessing development options as part of the local plan review.

Figure 5.3 Landscape designations and features

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018.
 Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

° Lichfield District Boundary
Canals
Watercourses
Flood Zone (Type3)
Flood Zone (Type 2)
River Mease SAC water catchment
Cannock Chase SAC policy area
AONB
SSSI
Forest of Mercia
National Forest
Green Belt

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions28

5
P
rofile

ofthe
district

Page 37



Key characteristics: Landscape and ecology

Our district supports a variety of wildlife rich habitats and species which are protected under
domestic or european legislation.
The south western part of the district falls within the green belt.
Much of the district's landscape is highly valued with various designations covering large
parts of the district.
Within our district there is a large amount of high quality agricultural land, in particular grades
two and three.

Climate, energy and waste

5.42 There are two air quality monitoring zones in the district, one located at Muckley Corner and
the other on the A38 between Wall Island and Alrewas both are identified because of the poor air
quality related to the high volumes of traffic on these roads. Energy consumption in the district has
decreased over the last 10 years at a faster rate than the national average, the average consumption
of gas and electricity within the district is in line with the rest of the country.

Key characteristics: Climate, energy and waste

Our district has two air quality monitoring zones
Energy consumption in our district has decreased over the past decade at a faster rate than
the national average.

29Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

5
P
ro
fil
e
of

th
e
di
st
ric
t

Page 38



6 Issues

6.1 The scope, issues and options document identified fourteen key issues facing the district and
asked if there were any additional issues. These issues are drawn from an analysis and understanding
of the key characteristics of the district and by reviewing the issues which were identified through the
current local plan.

6.2 The key issues facing the district are set out below:

Issue 1

Meeting the strategic housing and employment requirements for our district, including assisting in
meeting needs from within the housing market area.

Issue 2

Addressing the lack of affordable housing and housing to meet specialist needs including for older
persons, people wishing to build their own homes (self and custom builders) and provision for gypsy
and travellers.

Issue 3

Ensuring the delivery of market and affordable homes to meet identified needs.

Issue 4

Facilitating a wider range of employment opportunities within our district.

Issue 5

Responding to the changing demographics within our district.

Issue 6

Addressing pockets of deprivation which exist within our district.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions30

6
Issues

Page 39

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


Issue 7

Making our district a more attractive and desirable place for business and enterprise to locate and
invest.

Issue 8

Reducing the number of people commuting outside of our district and reduce the number of people
using a car to travel to work.

Issue 9

Providing a wider choice of means of transport to bring more sustainable patterns of transport.

Issue 10

Ensuring our district is a safe place to live and work.

Issue 11

Protecting our historic environment and assets.

Issue 12

Promoting active and health lifestyles for people living and working within our district.

Issue 13

Protecting and promoting our natural environment.

Issue 14

Tackling the causes and effects of climate change.

6.3 There are a number of neighbourhood plans throughout the district at varying stages of
preparation including those which are 'made' as part of the development plan for the district and some
which are still being prepared. Neighbourhood plans have been used by communities to identify and
begin to address the local issues which affect them. These much more localised issues are best
placed to be considered through neighbourhood plans which will work alongside the policies within
the district's local plan.

31Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

6
Is
su
es

Page 40

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Neighbourhood-plans/Neighbourhood-plans.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Adopted-neighbourhood-plans.aspx


6.4 In addition to these broad strategic issues there are also a number of more local matters which
have been identified by our evidence through consultation and also by communities undertaking their
own plan-making.

6.5 Some of the location specific issues are as follows:

Lichfield city issues

Protection of the character of the city from large scale development pressure.
Lichfield city is a popular destination for day visitors but there is a desire to encourage
over-night and longer stays.
Delivery of strategic development within and adjacent to the city has been slower than
anticipated.
Limited supply of sites for development within the existing urban area including brownfield
sites.
Existing social infrastructure including health provision and secondary school provision is
unlikely to be able to accommodate further growth of the city.
Nature, scale and direction of future growth.
Transport movement and accessibility.

Burntwood issues

Need for better town centre facilities to serve its communities.
Existing social infrastructure including health provision requires improvement.
Limited supply of sites for development within the existing urban area including brownfield
sites.
Nature, scale and direction of future growth.
Significant environmental constraints in close proximity to the town, including sites of special
scientific interest, area of outstanding natural beauty and special areas of conservation.
Transport movement and accessibility.

Rural area issues

Declining number of services and facilities in villages, such as shops, post offices, doctors,
village halls, public houses and access to public transport.
Many areas are not well served by public transport which restricts access to services and
facilities which may be located in nearby settlements.
Limited supply of sites for development within the existing urban area including brownfield
sites.
Nature, scale and direction of future growth.
Affordability issues are greater in many rural areas with limited affordable housing opportunities.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions32

6
Issues

Page 41



7 Our vision

7.1 The vision for our district has been developed and informed by the key issues which have been
identified in the preceding chapters of this document. The vision takes account of other relevant plans
and strategies including the council's strategic plan. The strategic plan outlines the council's vision
which is 'to be a strong, flexible council that delivers good value, quality services and helps to
support a vibrant and prosperous economy, healthy and safe communities and clean, green
welcoming places to live'. This vision is incorporated into the proposed vision for the local plan
review.

7.2 The scope, issues and options document presented the vision of the current local plan which
is considered to remain broadly relevant. However, it also concluded that the current vision was overly
long and needed to be refined in light of the council's strategic plan.

7.3 The vision for the district is designed to be broad and strategic which addresses those key
issues which have been identified and are applicable to the district as a whole. It may be through the
preparation of the local plan review that area specific visions are developed to ensure that more
localised and specific issues are dealt with. Such visions may also be established by our communities
when preparing their neighbourhood plans or through other non-strategic plans which could be
prepared by the council.

7.4 The policies and proposals within the local plan review should deliver the vision and its strategic
objectives. The proposed vision for the local plan review is as follows:

Vision for our district

In 2036, residents of our district will continue to be proud of their communities. They will experience
a strong sense of local identity, of safety and of belonging. Our communities will take pride in our
district's history and culture, it's well cared for built and natural environment, its commitment to
addressing issues of climate change, and the range of facilities our district has to offer. Our residents
will live in healthy and safe communities which provide opportunities for people to keep fit and
healthy and people will not be socially isolated. Our residents will be able to access quality homes
which meet their needs, local employment, facilities and services all of which provide communities
with clean, green and welcoming places to live, to work and to play. Our residents will have access
to provision for education to provide the skills and training to suit their aspirations and personal
circumstances.

Those visiting the district will experience the opportunities and assets which our residents take
pride in. Visitors to our district will be encouraged to stay for longer and wish to return and promote
the area to others. The need to travel by car will be reduced through improvements to public
transport, walkways, cycle routes and the canal network.

New sustainably located development will meet the requirements of our district and will have regard
to the needs arising fromwithin the housingmarket area. Such development, coupled with associated
infrastructure provision will also address improvements to education, skills, training, health and
and incomes, leading to reduced levels of deprivation.

The districts natural environments and varied landscapes will be conserved and enhanced. Locally
important green spaces and corridors will meet recreational and health needs. Sustainable
development will help protect the biodiversity, cultural and amenity value of the countryside and
will minimise use of scarce natural and historic resources, contributing to mitigating and adapting
to the effects of climate change.

33Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

7
O
ur

vi
si
on

Page 42

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Performance-efficiency/Strategic-plan-2016-2020.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


What you told us

7.5 No comments were received through the scope, issues and options consultation which suggested
an alternative vision to that set out within the existing local plan, the overriding view agreed that the
existing vision remained broadly relevant. As such, this vision is based upon the vision of the current
local plan and has been updated to provide a refined vision fit for the local plan review.

7.6 Some comments were received which suggested the vision should make explicit reference to
assist in meeting the unmet housing need from the housing market area within the vision, objectives
and strategic priorities. This is identified within the issues set out earlier in this document, however it
is not considered necessary for the vision to provide direct reference to meeting this need or indeed
any other need as the vision is proposed to be a broad overarching statement under which the strategic
policies will be located to address identified issues.

Question 1

What are you views on the proposed vision? Is there an alternative vision or parts of the vision we
should be considering?

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions34

7
O
urvision

Page 43



8 Our strategic objectives & priorities

8.1 The following strategic objectives and priorities outline what will need to be achieved to deliver
the proposed vision and to address the key issues which have been identified. These objectives and
priorities underpin the emerging spatial strategy, policies and proposals which will be included within
the local plan review.

8.2 The scope, issues and options document set out the strategic objectives of the current local
plan and concluded that these remain broadly relevant to the local plan review. Given that this document
has set out key issues and a vision which are broadly similar to those identified in the existing local
plan it is clear that the objectives and priorities are also likely to be similar. However, the strategic
priorities and objectives have been updated to reflect the issues and vision set out within this document.

8.3 The objectives and priorities are likely to develop further and become more locally distinctive,
as the policies and proposals which will form the local plan review are formulated. The objectives and
priorities omit any specific reference to particular settlements at this stage as the spatial strategy is
being refined through this document and the wider local plan review process.

8.4 The proposed strategic objectives and priorities are as follows:

Strategic objective & priority 1: Sustainable communities

To consolidate the sustainability of existing settlements, including key settlements which will be
identified to accommodate sustainable growth. This will ensure the development of new homes,
employment, commercial development and other facilities will contribute to the creation of balanced
and sustainable communities by being focused on appropriate settlements and locations and by
containing or contributing towards a mix of land uses, facilities and infrastructure appropriate to its
location.

Strategic objective & priority 2: Rural communities

To develop and maintain more sustainable rural communities through locally relevant employment
and housing development and improvements to public transport and access to an improved range
of services whilst protecting the character of rural settlements.

Strategic objective & priority 3: Climate change

To be a district where development meets the needs of our communities whilst minimising its impact
on the environment and mitigating and adapting to the effects of climate change.

Strategic objective & priority 4: Our infrastructure

To provide the necessary infrastructure to support our existing and new communities including
regeneration initiatives on those existing communities where needs have been identified.

35Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

8
O
ur

st
ra
te
gi
c
ob

je
ct
iv
es

&
pr
io
rit
ie
s

Page 44

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


Strategic objective & priority 5: Sustainable transport

To reduce the need for people to travel by directing growth towards the most sustainable locations
and increasing the opportunities for travel using sustainable forms of transport including securing
improvements to public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure.

Strategic objective & priority 6: Meeting housing need

To provide an appropriate mix of market, specialist and affordable homes that are well designed
and meet the needs of our existing and new residents.

Strategic objective & priority 7: Economic prosperity

To promote economic prosperity for the district and its residents by supporting measures which
enable the local economy to thrive and adapt to changing economic circumstances and make the
most of newly arising economic opportunities.

Strategic objective & priority 8: Employment opportunities

To ensure that employment opportunities within the district are created through the development
of new enterprise and support the diversification of existing businesses to meet the identified needs
and the aspirations of our communities.

Strategic objective & priority 9: Our centres

To create a prestigious city centre serving Lichfield City and beyond, and an enlarged and improved
town centre for Burntwood which meets the community's needs and aspirations. Create a vibrant
network of centres which stimulate economic activity.

Strategic objective & priority 10: Tourism

To increase the attraction of the district as a tourist destination through supporting and promoting
the growth of existing tourist facilities and attractions, the provision of a greater variety of
accommodation for visitors, the development of new attractions which are appropriate in scale and
character to their locations and the enhancement of our existing attractions.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions36

8
O
urstrategic

objectives
&
priorities

Page 45



Strategic objective & priority 11: Healthy and safe lifestyles

To create environments that promote and support healthy choices and enable our residents to be
healthy and safe. To improve outdoor and indoor leisure and cultural facilities available to those
that live and work and those that visit the district and to ensure a high standard of community safety,
promoting healthier living and reducing inequalities in health and well being.

Strategic objective & priority 12: Countryside character

To protect and enhance the quality and character of the countryside, its landscapes and villages
by ensuring that development which takes place to meed identified rural development needs
contributes positively to countryside character through enhancements to the local environment and
preserves the openness of the green belt.

Strategic objective & priority 13: Natural resources

To protect, enhance and expand the quality and diversity of the natural environment within and
outside of our urban areas and help realise the positive contributions which can be made to address
climate change.

Strategic objective & priority 14: Built environment

To protect and enhance our built environment and heritage assets, the districts historic environment
and local distinctiveness, ensuring an appropriate balance between built development and open
space, protecting the character if residential areas, protecting existing open spaces and improving
the accessibility to open spaces.

Strategic objective & priority 15: High quality development

To deliver high quality development which focuses residential, community and commercial facilities
on the most sustainable locations whilst protecting and enhancing the quality and character of the
existing built and natural environment.

What you told us

8.5 No responses were received to the scope, issues and options consultation suggesting that the
existing strategic priorities were not appropriate or that any additional priorities needed to be identified.
A number of comments received through the consultation suggested that the strategic objectives
should make specific reference to meeting housing need and the unmet housing need from the housing
market area. Therefore the strategic objectives have been redrafted and now make reference to
meeting the housing needs of existing and new residents.

8.6 The strategic objectives and issues identified within this preferred options and policy directions
document represent the strategic objectives for the local plan review. Through the preparation of
neighbourhood plans our communities will be able to identify and set more locally specific objectives
to address the localised issues which their plans seek to address.

37Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

8
O
ur

st
ra
te
gi
c
ob

je
ct
iv
es

&
pr
io
rit
ie
s

Page 46



Question 2

Do you agree with the proposed strategic objectives and priorities? Do you think any changes,
deletions or additions are required?

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions38

8
O
urstrategic

objectives
&
priorities

Page 47



9 Themes and subjects for our strategic policies

9.1 The local plan review will set out the spatial strategy for the district and along with a series of
topic based policies will be used to guide development and determine planning applications. These
policies and proposals will be designed to deliver the strategic objectives and priorities and overall
vision for the district.

9.2 National policy requires local authorities to include strategic policies for their area to address
a range of key issues. The following chapters of this document set out the broad themes or subject
areas which we propose our policies will address:

Our spatial strategy.
Our sustainable communities.
Our infrastructure.
Our sustainable transport.
Our homes for the future.
Our economic growth, enterprise and tourism.
Our healthy & safe communities.
Our natural resources.
Our built and historic environment.

9.3 This document will set out revised policy wording within these theme areas and supporting text
where applicable at this stage. Full wording of draft policies and supporting text will be included within
the draft local plan which will be published in line with the timescales set out in our local development
scheme.

9.4 There are a number of non strategic policies which we think should be carried forward from the
current local plan with limited or no changes into the local plan review. Our preferred approach to
how we will deal with these policies are set out at Appendix B.

39Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

9
Th

em
es

an
d
su
bj
ec
ts
fo
ro

ur
st
ra
te
gi
c

po
lic
ie
s

Page 48

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Local-development-scheme-LDS.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Local-Plan-documents/Local-development-scheme-LDS.aspx


10 Our spatial strategy

10.1 The local plan will set out the chosen spatial development strategy for the district, a strategy
which will be developed to assist in delivering the overall vision and strategic objectives to 2036. The
local plan and its spatial strategy will be the key long-term planning strategy for the council directing
growth to chosen sustainable locations and protecting those areas where development would not be
appropriate. The spatial strategy will set out the strategic approach to managing development and
change within the district to 2036.

The current spatial strategy

10.2 The current spatial strategy for the district is set out in the adopted local plan strategy. It focuses
the majority of growth on the most sustainable locations in the district, namely Lichfield city, Burntwood,
to the east of Rugeley, to the north of Tamworth and to six key rural settlements comprising of Fradley,
Alrewas, Armitage with Handsacre, Fazeley, Shenstone and Whittington. These key settlements
accommodate a majority of the districts planned growth for new homes, new employment and new
commercial development. The current spatial strategy also promotes the use of brownfield land for
both residential and employment development, particularity where that land is within the existing
built-up areas of our settlements.

10.3 A majority of the new homes planned for within the current local plan have been directed to
the most sustainable settlements of Lichfield, Burntwood and the key rural settlements. The current
local plan identifies a number of strategic development allocations and a broad development location
to accommodate a majority of the districts housing growth. Further non-strategic allocations are
identified through the local plan allocations document which seeks to deliver the remaining housing
requirements. Employment growth is focused on our existing employment areas within Lichfield city,
Burntwood and at Fradley Park with new a employment allocation made to the south of Lichfield city
at Cricket Lane.

10.4 The local plan review provides the opportunity to consider the current spatial strategy and
ensure that the district continues to meet its growth needs and aspirations to 2036.

Local plan review spatial strategy

10.5 The local plan review will include a strategic policy which sets out the selected spatial
development strategy. Such a policy will likely be the first strategic policy within the plan and will
provide an overarching policy under which all other policies will be presented.

10.6 The scope, issues and options consultation included a high level review of the existing planning
policies contained within the council's current local plan. This concluded that the current Core Policy
1: The Spatial Strategy would need to be significantly amended or replaced through the review of the
local plan.

10.7 The following sections of this document will set out the evidence informing the themed policy
areas which are proposed to be included within the local plan review. These areas and the wide range
of evidence which will be collected will inform and define the spatial strategy.

10.8 Following these sections the document considers the range of spatial growth options which
had been included and consulted upon within the scope, issues and options document. These options
have been considered along with the evidence which has been prepared.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions40

10
O
urspatialstrategy

Page 49

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-strategy.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


What you told us

10.9 In relation to the long term spatial strategy for the local plan review the council sought views
on a number of broad spatial growth options through the scope, issues and options document. These
options are considered in greater detail in the 'Our strategic options for growth' chapter of this document.
These growth options covered a large range of possible growth options which could be used alone
or in combination to provide the growth strategy for the district. The scope, issues and options document
concluded that it was likely a combination of the growth options would be required.

10.10 Through the consultation a range of views on each of the potential growth options were
provided, these are covered in greater detail in the 'our strategic options for growth' chapter of this
document. As with consultations undertaken on the current local plan, the issue of the level of housing
and locations can prove to be controversial and numerous and varying opinions were collected through
consultation. Broadly, however, there were a number of comments which suggested some of the
possible options would be unsustainable and that growth should be focused in and around the existing
built up areas of our most sustainable settlements. However, to counter this view, other comments
were made which suggested some of the large settlements including Lichfield and Burntwood were
at capacity and that growth should be directed elsewhere.

10.11 It is clear that through analysis of the consultation responses to the scope, issues and options
document there is no clear consensus favouring any particular approach. There was a comparably
higher level of response from residents in Shenstone, Stonnall and Little Aston objecting to growth
options within their areas compared to other areas of the district. This level of objection is noted
although from a planning policy perspective, as with all responses received, if the nature of the
response received as opposed to the volume of responses which is of relevant.

What the evidence tells us

10.12 National planning policy promotes the creation of sustainable communities through the
delivery of sustainable development. This means that the local plan review must consider the most
appropriate locations for growth, the prime factors to be taken into account are accessibility to jobs,
facilities and services, public transport and the range of services and facilities within a community.
National policy promotes the use of new settlements and significant extensions to existing settlements
to assist in the delivery of homes to meet community's needs.

10.13 There are a range of settlements within the district, these vary significantly in size, form and
character from large settlements of Lichfield and Burntwood through to small hamlets and more
isolated rural communities. There are also several large settlements outside of the district boundary
which are directly adjacent to our administrative boundary, such as Tamworth to the south east,
Rugeley to the north west and the northern edges of Sutton Coldfield and Birmingham to the south.
The strategic growth study identified possible growth options within the council's administrative areas
which would if taken forward form be extensions to those settlements which are located just outside
of the district.

10.14 We have updated our assessment of sustainability for the settlements within the district, The
settlement sustainability study identified the following settlement hierarchy.

41Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

10
O
ur

sp
at
ia
ls
tra

te
gy

Page 50

https://Scope, issues and options (April 2018)
https://Strategic growth study


Table 10.1 Settlement hierarchy

Common attributesSettlementSettlement hierarchy
level

The largest centre within the district with the most accessible
and greatest quantity of services and facilities. This includes a
range of services and facilities within the city centre and at local

Level 1 - Strategic
centres.

Lichfield City.

centres across the settlement. There is a high level of access to
sustainable modes of transport including public transport and
access to a pedestrian network. The settlement includes
significant areas of employment located within the settlement
and beyond through good access to the transport network.

The second largest urban area within the district with good access
to a range of services and facilities. There is a significantly lesser
range of facilities and services and poorer access than those

Level 2 - Other main
centres.

Burntwood.

within Lichfield City. Burntwood has a small town centre and does
not meet the current needs of the community. There is a number
of local centres providing a range of services and facilities across
the settlement.

These settlements have not been assessed within the settlement
sustainability study as they are located outside the council's
administrative area. As such they are not given a 'level' within

Neighbouring towns &
settlements

Rugeley.
Tamworth.
Brownhills.

the settlement hierarchy. However, these settlements offer aSutton Coldfield & Birmingham. range of services and facilities and are located adjacent to the
district. The strategic growth study identified options which could
include the extension of such settlements within Lichfield's
administrative area.

Settlements within this level of the hierarchy have been assessed
as being the most sustainable of our rural villages. These
settlements benefit from a range of services and facilities which

Level 3 - Larger service
villages.

Alrewas.
Armitage with Handsacre.
Fazeley, Mile Oak & Bonehill.

help to meet the day to day needs of the community and alsoFradley. act as hubs for the wider rural areas. Typically these are the
larger of the rural settlements and have better access to public
transport which provides better access to services and facilities
elsewhere.

Shenstone.
Little Aston.
Whittington.

Settlements within this level typically have access to a smaller
range of services and facilities than those in levels above. They
generally have access to education facilities and facilities to meet

Level 4 - Smaller
service villages

Stonnall.
Kings Bromley
Streethay

most day to day needs. These settlements have a reasonable
level of access by public transport to both employment and other
services and facilities.

Hopwas

Settlements within this level of the hierarchy typically have very
limited access to services and facilities within the settlement and
rely on other settlements for access to facilities and services.

Clifton Campville, Colton, Drayton
Bassett, Edingale, Elford, Hamstall
Ridware, Harlaston, Hill Ridware,

Level 5 - Smaller rural
villages and our wider
rural areas.

Hopwas, Kings Bromley, Longdon,
Stonnall, Upper Longdon,Wigginton and
all other rural settlements, hamlets and
wider rural areas.

10.15 A wide range of evidence is being assembled to support the review of the local plan and will
help to further refine the settlement hierarchy and ultimately the spatial strategy which will be included
within the local plan review. This evidence base will inform our judgments about the appropriate
distribution of growth within the district. Our proposed evidence base is set out at Appendix A of this
document along with the anticipated timescales for its production.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions42

10
O
urspatialstrategy

Page 51



Preferred policy direction: Our spatial strategy

The strategic policy will set out the spatial strategy for all development within Lichfield District from
2016 to 2036. This will include the level of growth to be accommodated within the district and where
that growth should be located.

Additional work is taking place that will allow the council to reach conclusions on the appropriate
spatial strategy to be included in the local plan review. However, it is considered the strategy should
be focused on:

Balanced growth across the district with growth which will be focused on the most sustainable
locations as informed by our settlement hierarchy. Where possible growth will be directed
within the existing built up areas of our settlements, but also recognises that depending on
the level of growth required there may be a need for sustainable extensions to existing
settlements.
The spatial strategy will need to determine and set out the level of housing growth to be
accommodated within the district, including an appropriate level of provision to assist in
delivering the unmet needs of our neighbours and the level of employment growth required
to meet the housing growth requirements. Greater detail on the evidence which will be prepared
with regards to levels of growth is set out within the 'Our homes for the future' and 'Our
economic growth' chapters of this document. Further work will be carried out to establish an
appropriate phasing strategy for growth to ensure a long-term supply of sites which will enable
the district to meet it's development needs and the housing delivery test.
The strategy for employment will aim to provide greater opportunities for high value employment
within the district, including higher wage opportunities in growth sectors related to business.
Such a strategy will seek to reduce out commuting and provide opportunity for higher earners
working in the district.
Further work will be required to determine the level of provision required to meet the district's
gypsy and traveller needs. The district council's will undertake a gypsy and traveller needs
assessment to understand need and seek to provide appropriate provision tomeet the identified
need.
Further work will be undertaken to understand the extent to which new development can be
accommodated within the existing urban areas and on brownfield development sites. This
will be undertaken, in part, through the progression of an urban capacity assessment and the
brownfield land register.
The role of our commercial centres and levels of development will be set out within a hierarchy
of centres for the district. This should seek improvements to centres where there is an identified
need for such, including Burntwood town centre.
The spatial strategy will need to give consideration to the green belt within the district and
whether the boundaries of the green belt should be changed to accommodate growth or if
new green belt should be established. Where a strategic policy considers changes to the
green belt boundary are necessary it may be that the exact boundaries of such changes could
be considered by communities through their neighbourhood plans. Should changes to the
green belt boundary be proposed then this will only be done in exceptional circumstances
through strategic policies. Any such changes would be based upon evidence, including a
comprehensive green belt review.
The spatial strategy will have regard to the district's significant and high quality natural and
built environment and the distinctiveness and character of the district. Further work will be
undertaken to understand our natural and built environment.
Further work will be undertaken with our infrastructure partners to understand the impacts of
the spatial strategy on our infrastructure and where improvements or new infrastructure will

43Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

10
O
ur

sp
at
ia
ls
tra

te
gy

Page 52



be needed. This will ensure that development and infrastructure is delivered at the correct
time and in the appropriate locations.

Question 3

Do you think that a spatial strategy based upon the identified settlement hierarchy would be
appropriate and help the council to deliver sustainable development? Is there an alternative
settlement hierarchy we should consider? If so please justify why this alternative approach should
be considered.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions44

10
O
urspatialstrategy

Page 53



11 Our sustainable communities

Sustainable communitiesStrategic objective & priority 1

Rural communitiesStrategic objective & priority 2

Climate changeStrategic objective & priority 3

Introduction

11.1 This section sets out the strategic policy directions that will underpin and guide sustainable
development within the district to ensure that when development takes place sustainable communities
are created. It sets out policies to address climate change, flood risk and improve air quality.

Sustainable Development

11.2 The achievement of sustainable development is at the heart of the planning system. National
policy sets out that there are three overarching objectives to achieving sustainable development:
economic, social and environmental. These objectives need to be balanced carefully to accomplish
a positive outcome and ensure that when new development takes place sustainable communities are
created, where people can work, shop, learn and play near their homes.

11.3 Key to the creation of sustainable communities will be development which embodies the
principles of sustainable development at a local level. This means creating a pattern of resource use
that aims to meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their own needs. In addition, ensuring that new development contributes towards an improved
quality of life and wellbeing along with the need to address climate change and its implications are
important elements which need to be considered when creating sustainable communities. There is
a need to balance these objectives with the amount of development which will be proposed across
the plan period as the local plan review progresses.

11.4 Given that the presumption in favour of sustainable development is central to national policy
and reflected in the existing core policy two, it is proposed that the wording of this policy, as set out
below is carried forward as part of the local plan review.

Preferred strategic policy: Securing sustainable development

The council will take a positive approach when considering development proposals that reflect the
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the national planning policy
framework. The council will work proactively with applicants to find solutions which mean that
proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the local plan and, where relevant,
neighbourhood plan policies, will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the
time of making the decision then the council will grant permission unless material considerations
indicate otherwise and taking into account whether:

45Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

11
O
ur

su
st
ai
na

bl
e
co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 54



Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the national planning policy framework
taken as a whole; or
Specific policies in that framework indicate that development should limited.

Sustainable development principles

11.5 New development within the district must contribute towards sustainability and enhance the
quality of life for our residents now and in the future. To ensure that the plan promotes sustainable
development the current core policy lists the general issues that planning applications will need to
address.

What you told us

11.6 The scope, issues and options document listed the current core policy as one which may
require minor amendments. Whilst no specific reference was made to this policy, in general responses
were supportive of the policies listed which could require minor amendments.

11.7 The environment agency suggested that issues of flood risk should be incorporated into a
separate policy. This is considered in more detail later in this chapter.

What the evidence tells us

11.8 National planning policy places the presumption in favour of sustainable development at the
heart of plan making and decision taking. It sets out that planning policies and decisions should play
an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local
circumstances into account.

11.9 The current core policy seeks to ensure development proposals address key issues to bring
forward social, economic and environmental improvements. The issues listed within the policy have
been reviewed in light of changes to national policy and amended where appropriate, for example
the removal of the reference to code for sustainable homes.

Preferred strategic policy: Sustainable development principles

The Council will require development to contribute to the creation and maintenance of sustainable
communities, mitigate and adapt to the adverse effects of climate change, make prudent use of
natural resources, reduce carbon emissions, enable opportunities for renewable energy and help
minimise any environmental impacts. To achieve this, development should address the following
key issues:

protect and enhance the character and distinctiveness of Lichfield District and its settlements;
protect the amenity of our residents and seek to improve their overall quality of life through
the provision of appropriate infrastructure, services and facilities;
promote social cohesion and inclusion, and reduce inequalities; and ensure access for all
sectors of the community to employment opportunities (including safeguarding local jobs
through local employment provision), affordable housing of the size, type and tenure needed
for different groups in the community ; and a range of services and facilities, in both our urban
and rural areas;
assist in the regeneration and evolution of towns and villages, and surrounding areas, in
meeting the changing needs of their population over time; and maintain the vitality, viability
and vibrancy of local communities, through neighbourhood planning where required ;
be of a scale and nature appropriate to its locality;

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions46

11
O
ursustainable

com
m
unities

Page 55

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


encourage the re-use of previously developed land; and the reuse of buildings as a sustainable
option, especially the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality;
ensure that development on brownfield sites affected by contamination is remediated and
that any ground instability or former land uses is addressed;
reduce the overall need to travel, whilst optimising choice of sustainable modes of travel,
particularly walking, cycling and public transport, whist acknowledging that opportunities to
maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas;
use our natural resources prudently;
conserve, enhance or expand natural, built and heritage assets and improve our understanding
of them wherever possible;
minimise and manage water, waste and pollution in a sustainable way, particularly through
reduction, re-use and recycling measures in both the construction and use of buildings, and
including incorporating adequate space provision within buildings/layouts for appropriate
storage or sorting of materials for recycling ;
give priority to using ground infiltration drainage techniques and including sustainable drainage
techniques, and incorporate other sustainable techniques for managing surface water run-off
such as green roofs in new development and in retro-fitting where historic surface water
flooding events have been identified;
guide development away from known areas of flood risk as identified in the Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment (Level 1) and Surface Water Management Plan. Where development is
proposed in flood risk areas a site-specific flood risk assessment must be undertaken in line
with the national planning policy framework;
avoid sterilisation of mineral resources;
minimise levels of pollution or contamination to air, land, soil or water, including noise and
light pollution, and avoid unacceptable uses within source protection zone 1 areas to safeguard
water resources and ensure water quality;
ensure that all new development and conversion schemes are located and designed to
maximise energy efficiency, and use sustainable design and construction techniques
appropriate to the size and type of development, using local and sustainable sources of
building materials wherever possible; and facilitate energy conservation through energy
efficiency measures as a priority and the use of renewable energy resources wherever
possible, in line with the energy hierarchy; and
maximise opportunities to protect and enhance biodiversity, geodiversity and green
infrastructure, and use opportunities to facilitate urban cooling.

Question 4

Do you agree with the preferred policy approach towards sustainable development? Do you think
the policy should consider any other sustainable development issues, and if so what should these
be?

47Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

11
O
ur

su
st
ai
na

bl
e
co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 56



Planning for climate change

11.10 Addressing climate change is one of the core land use planning principles which national
planning policy expects to underpin both plan making and decision taking. Local authorities have a
responsibility to help secure progress on the government’s target to reduce emissions by 80% by
2050.

11.11 Planning plays a key role in meeting these aspirations through the delivery of low and zero
carbon development and the support and promotion of renewable energy developments. However
this must be balanced with the need to protect the district’s landscape, heritage, agricultural land and
habitats.

11.12 In relation to climate change, the current local plan strategy contains Policy SC1: Sustainability
Standards for Development and Policy SC2: Renewable Energy. Since the adoption of the local plan
strategy there have been changes to national policy that restricts local authority's ability to set energy
performance standards for new homes. There has also been continued development in the field of
renewable energy and building design and a tightening of policy for permissions for on-shore wind
turbines.

11.13 The District Council is committed to conserving natural resources and will support and promote
the efficient use of energy and resources, including renewable and low carbon energy generation,
water management and waste minimisation and recycling.

11.14 What you told us

11.15 Thorough the consultation on the scope, issues and option comments were received from a
number of organisations and individuals stating the need for a review of renewables evidence in light
of new evidence on climate change. Additionally, respondents requested that the council identify
specific locations for wind turbines and solar panels and review the impacts these may have on the
landscape.

11.16 What the evidence tells us

11.17 With regards to sustainability standards, the standards set out in the existing local plan have
since been withdrawn and therefore this policy is no longer considered in line with national policy.
National policy states that local requirements for the sustainability of buildings should reflect the
government's policy for national technical standards. Therefore, it is not considered at this stage that
a replacement policy is required to set local sustainability standards.

11.18 In relation to renewable energy, national planning policy requires all local authorities to identify
areas suitable for renewable energy development in their local plan. For wind energy developments,
following consultation, local authorities must demonstrate that the planning impacts identified by the
affected local community have been fully addressed and the proposal has their backing.

11.19 National policy expects local planning authorities to support community led initiatives for
renewable and low carbon energy, including in developments outside areas identified in local plans
or neighbourhood plans. Planning policy guidance states that policies should promote low carbon
and renewable energy technologies, informed by evidence that considers the opportunities for different
technologies, the opportunities for district heat networks and a consideration of the impacts that such
developments may have on the landscape.

11.20 Locally, the current local plan seeks to achieve a minimum of 10% of the District’s energy
demand through renewable energy sources by 2020. This was informed by the Staffordshire
county-wide renewable/low carbon energy study. This study identified that Lichfield District could

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions48

11
O
ursustainable

com
m
unities

Page 57



accommodate up to 6 wind turbines, generating up to 21% of the modelled renewable energy in 2020.
Additionally it was identified that biomass could contribute up to 40% of the district’s renewable energy
resources by 2020.

11.21 It is the council’s intention to commission a new study to update information relating to low
carbon and renewable energy capacity and to help identify areas suitable for wind and solar energy
development. The timescales for the collection of this evidence are set out at Appendix A.

11.22 Subject to the evidence, any areas identified and designated for wind energy developments
will be shown on the Local Plan policies map. The designations will be subject to public consultation
to try and address the concerns of local communities. This should enable the identification of the most
suitable areas and the provision of guidance for the most appropriate development.

11.23 Lichfield District contains some very important landscape assets that will need to be protected
from potential impacts associated with renewable energy infrastructure. The council will be procuring
a landscape character assessment which will identify those sensitive landscapes and will help to
guide unsuitable development away from those areas.

Preferred policy direction: Renewable energy

The preferred policy direction for renewable energy is to identify areas of opportunity on the local
plan policies map which will accompany the local plan review.

Key opportunity areas for various forms of renewable energy will be identified on the policies map
to inform and guide development towards the most suitable and appropriate areas, for example
guiding it away from sensitive landscapes. Proposals for renewable energy developments in these
areas will be assessed on their own merits and will need to provide the necessary evidence to
ensure that the development does not have an unacceptable impact on local communities.

Question 5

Do you agree with the proposed approach towards sustainability standards, if not, do you consider
that the council should set a standard that goes above the national minimum? Do you agree with
proposed approach to identify locations for renewable energy developments on the local plan
policies map, if not, explain why and suggest an alternative approach?

Approach to flood risk

11.24 National policy outlines that local planning authorities should adopt proactive strategies to
mitigate and adapt to climate change, taking account of flood risk and water supply considerations.
It sets out that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing
development away from areas at highest risk. The flood zones are the starting point for identifying
areas at risk of flooding. These flood zones refer only to the probability of sea and river flooding.

11.25 By applying a sequential approach, the overall aim should be to steer new development to
flood zone one where there is a low probability of flooding. Development proposals in flood zone two
and flood zone three will be subject to the sequential test to demonstrate that there are no reasonably
available sites in areas at lower risk of flooding. Only where there are no reasonably available sites
in flood zone one or two should the suitability of sites in flood zone three be considered, subject to
the exception test. National policy and planning practice guidance provide further details on the
sequential test and exceptions test.

49Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

11
O
ur

su
st
ai
na

bl
e
co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 58



11.26 It is proposed that a flooding policy will seek to direct direct development away from areas
at highest risk, and where development is necessary, to make it safe without increasing flooding
elsewhere.

What you told us

11.27 In response to the scope, issues and options consultation the Environment Agency outline
that currently there are around 1,000 residential and 700 non-residential properties at risk of flooding
from rivers in the Lichfield area with many more at risk from surface water flooding. The risk is likely
to increase as a result of climate change. The Environment Agency suggest the inclusion of a
standalone flood risk policy to cover all types of flooding and provide some suggested wording.

What evidence tells us

11.28 The local plan review will need to be based on up to date and robust evidence and this will
include a strategic flood risk assessment which will take into account the latest climate change
allowances and a Water Cycle Study. Lichfield District will work with partners to prepare a strategic
flood risk assessment and water cycle study to inform the local plan review as it progresses. The
timescales associated with this are set out at Appendix A.

Preferred policy: Flood risk

In line with national planning policy any new development should be directed away from those
areas at highest flood risk. Planning applications for development within the plan area must be
accompanied by site-specific flood risk assessments in line with the requirements of national
planning policy and advice. These should take account of the latest climate change allowances.
Consideration should also be given to the impact of new development on both existing and future
flood risk. Where appropriate, development should include measures that mitigate and adapt to
climate change.

Question 6

Do you agree with the preferred policy direction for flood risk? Is there anything else that should
be taken into consideration as part of this policy?

Air quality

11.29 Planning has an important influence on air quality, which is in turn a major influence on public
health and the natural environment. The revised national planning policy framework places significant
emphasis on local authorities to ensure that the air quality impact of new developments are considered
at the plan making stage.

11.30 Local plans can affect air quality in a number of ways, including through what development
is proposed and where, the promotion of sustainable transport initiatives and the enhancement of
green infrastructure.

What you told us

11.31 The scope, issues and options consultation did not pose a specific question related to air
quality, however many respondents made comments about other aspects of the plan such as transport
which relate to air quality.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions50

11
O
ursustainable

com
m
unities

Page 59



11.32 More specifically, Natural England commented that air quality is a strategic issue and dialogue
with neighbouring authorities in relation to plans and projects which combined may have significant
effects on european sites in the area is necessary. This dialogue will continue to take place as plans
evolve as part of the duty to cooperate.

What the evidence tells us

11.33 National policy states planning policies and decisions should contribute towards compliance
with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, giving consideration to air quality
management areas as well as any potential measures to mitigate the impacts of new developments
and sites.

11.34 Lichfield District contains two air quality management areas, one at Muckley Corner and the
other on the A38 betweenWall Island and Alrewas, both of these areas contain high levels of nitrogen
dioxide as a result of high volumes of traffic. The council is currently preparing an air quality action
plan aimed at reducing levels of nitrogen dioxide in the district. The recommendations from this action
plan will assist in preparing the council's policy in relation to air quality.

Preferred policy direction: Air quality

New development in air quality management areas should be consistent with the local air quality
action plan.

It is suggested that a specific policy relating to air quality be included within the local plan review
which has regard to the following:

National planning policy and its associated practice guidance in relation to air quality;
Linkages to the council's air quality action plan; and
The policy should be consistent with other local policies relating to sustainable transport,
traffic and travel management and green infrastructure provision.

Question 7

Do you agree with the preferred approach for a policy relating to air quality? If not, how do you
consider air quality should be dealt with as part the local plan review process?

51Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

11
O
ur

su
st
ai
na

bl
e
co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 60



12 Our infrastructure

Our InfrastructureStrategic Objective & Priority 4

Introduction

12.1 The term infrastructure is broadly used for planning purposes to define all of the requirements
that are needed to make places function efficiently and effectively and in a way that creates sustainable
communities. Infrastructure is commonly split into four themes: physical, green and social and
community.

12.2 The vision for the district is clear in identifying the requirement for both development and
infrastructure provision to deliver sustainable development. The spatial portrait identifies a broad and
wide range of existing infrastructure that contributes to our district being a desirable place to live. The
infrastructure delivery plan that supports the local plan identifies what infrastructure is needed to
support new development.

12.3 National planning policy identifies infrastructure provision as vital to all three of the overarching
sustainable development objectives: economic, social and environmental. It is also clear in its
instruction that sufficient provision for a wide range of infrastructure should be set out within strategic
policies and that provision should anticipate and respond to long term requirements and opportunities.
There is a clear steer that community facilities and the provision of infrastructure at a local level should
be set out in non-strategic policies including those within neighbourhood plans that will help shape,
direct and deliver requirements.

12.4 There will be a requirement to collaborate effectively with strategic policy-making authorities
including our neighbours and the country council to determine where additional infrastructure is
needed, and this will inform the infrastrucutre delivery plan. The council is mindful that there is a need
for policy that enables relevant bodies and partnerships to deliver infrastructure that our communities
require, including those that cross authority boundaries. This is also extended to those organisations
responsible for the provision of utilities, telecommunications, flood risk and energy that will require
early engagement to ensure that they can plan for provision and identify critical triggers which could
undermine the deliverability of the plan. There is also a need to ensure that infrastructure requirements
do not restrict our ability to build a strong and competitive economy. Regeneration of our communities
and infrastructure that enables adaption and growth is important. Local enterprise partnerships will
play an important role in ensuring we are successful.

12.5 The district council adopted its community infrastructure levy (CIL) charging schedule in April
2016. The council intend to review the charging schedule in line with the local plan review process
to ensure that infrastructure is delivered within the district to help support development.

What you told us

12.6 In response to the scope, issues and options document comments were received in relation
to the existing policy framework. The need to base requirements on up-to date evidence was seen
as important most notably in terms of transport requirements. Other respondents suggested that until
the level of development within the district and within neighbouring authorities had been identified
then it would be difficult to understand and plan for such need.

What the evidence tells us

12.7 The infrastructure delivery plan sets out the full range of strategic and local infrastructure
needs which have been identified arising either directly or indirectly from our current local plan strategy.
This living document is able to change over time enabling flexibility in terms of infrastructure priorities.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions52

12
O
urinfrastructure

Page 61

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Planning-obligations/Community-Infrastructure-Levy-CIL.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-strategy.aspx


12.8 Our overall spatial strategy is still emerging and the detail of the pattern, scale and location
of development is not yet clear, it is therefore difficult to develop policies that support the provision
of appropriate infrastructure within new developments at this stage. We also know that we have a
broad range of evidence that is currently being reviewed. This will identify current inadequacies and
future requirements for infrastructure. We are also mindful that work to understand triggers associated
with existing infrastructure will help in inform strategic growth options and infrastructure responses.

12.9 The council is committed to early engagement enabling the delivery of appropriate
infrastructure. We have taken the opportunity to set out our preferred strategic policy direction for
our district which at this stage is overarching and reflective of previous adopted infrastructure policies.

12.10 In response to the overarching nature of infrastructure it will also be important that our
infrastructure policy supports and enables the delivery of objectives identified within other strategic
policies.

Preferred policy direction: Delivering our infrastructure

To ensure that the district's communities and businesses are able to function in a sustainable and
effective manner we will work with infrastructure providers, agencies, organisations and funding
bodies to enable, support and where required, co-ordinate the delivery of infrastructure.

The district council will collaborate with other strategic policy making authorities to ensure that the
authority boundaries do not restrict the delivery of the most appropriate infrastructure responses.

The district council will seek to protect, and where appropriate improve services and facilities that
provide a key function in the operation of existing communities. Development proposals resulting
in the loss of a facility from a settlement, which is essential to the sustainable functioning of that
settlement, will not be supported unless a replacement facility of improved quality, accessibility,
size and which is reflective of current evidenced need is provided.

53Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

12
O
ur

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

Page 62



13 Our sustainable transport

Sustainable communitiesStrategic objective & priority 1

Rural communitiesStrategic objective & priority 2

Our infrastructureStrategic objective & priority 4

Sustainable transportStrategic objective & priority 5

Introduction

13.1 Sustainable transport is a key component of sustainable development and relates to any
means of transport with a low impact on the environment. Both national and local planning policy
promote the idea of sustainable transport choices through the reduced need to travel by car and
improving accessibility by public transport, walking and cycling.

13.2 There is a high volume of residents who commute outside of the district and travel to work by
car, leading to an increase in congestion, road safety issues and pollution which is an increasing
concern for the strategic and local road network. As such, an important aspect of the local plan review
will be to establish a strategy for locating growth and facilitating changes to travel patterns and travel
behaviour that maximises the opportunities to travel less, particularly by car and to integrate transport
choices within developments.

13.3 The current local plan contains core policy 10 relating to sustainable transport. This sets out
the initiatives for sustainable transport improvements which will be supported within the district and
lists improvements required to the road network. Two further development management policies are
included in the sustainable transport section, these policies seek to secure sustainable travel patterns
and set out the approach towards parking provision.

What you told us

13.4 The scope, issues and options document listed the existing sustainable transport policies as
policies which will require minor amendments. Whilst no specific reference was made in any of the
responses received about these policies, in general responses were supportive of the policies listed
as requiring minor amendments.

13.5 There is a public perception that the district's transport infrastructure is relatively poor, with a
number of issues of road traffic congestion at peak periods and poor public transport availability in
both urban and rural areas.

13.6 There was a notable level of responses from residents in relation to the strategic growth options
concerned about the potential impact of any new development on the existing local highway network.
Many people and local organisations considered that more should be done to pursue public transport
and cycling initiatives aimed at encouraging more people to use these forms of transport rather than
private car. Further responses, questioned whether the council should explore the option for overnight
lorry parking along the A38.

What the evidence tells us

13.7 National planning policy promotes sustainable transport and any planning policies within the
local plan review should support an appropriate mix of uses across an area to minimise the number
and length of journeys, be prepared with active involvement from relevant bodies, identify and protect

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions54

13
O
ursustainable

transport

Page 63

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


areas which could be critical in developing infrastructure to widen transport choice, provide high quality
walking and cycling networks and provide for any large scale transport facilities and supporting
infrastructure that need to be located within the district.

13.8 The census and survey information available to date tells us that Lichfield District has generally
high car ownership and low levels of journeys made by public transport compared with other areas.
There are varying levels of bus provision across the district, with poorer frequency and access to bus
services in rural areas compared with those serving Lichfield and Burntwood. The locations with
relatively poor public transport provision have difficulties with access to employment locations, facilities
and services.

13.9 The district has four railway stations, Lichfield City, Lichfield Trent Valley, Rugeley Trent Valley
and Shenstone and more residents commute to work by rail when compared with other areas in
Staffordshire. Investment in rail services and facilities is key to encouraging a modal shift away from
the high car dependency which currently exists within the district.

13.10 A wide range of evidence is being assembled to support the review of the local plan. The
current local plan strategy is supported by the Staffordshire local transport plan which sets out the
transport policies up to 2026 and the Lichfield District integrated transport strategy 2011 - 2029 which
identifies transport solutions to help deliver the policies within the local transport plan. In addition, a
transport assessment will be undertaken to identify the requirements for a sustainable transport
strategy which will take account of the spatial strategy and consider the transport implications for
growth and how strategic housing growth can be integrated into settlements.

13.11 The infrastructure delivery plan sets out the necessary strategic and local transport
improvements required to implement the current strategy and therefore will need to be updated as
the review progresses.

Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

The preferred policy approach for the strategic sustainable transport policy is to retain the wording
from the initial three paragraphs of the current sustainable transport policy as this is considered
still relevant and in line with national policy. The policy will then be amended to reflect the key
transport schemes and priorities for the district once the evidence base is up to date.

Proposed policy wording to be retained

Within Lichfield District, accessibility will be improved and transport choice widened, by ensuring
that all new development is well served by an attractive choice of transport modes, including public
transport, footpaths and cycle routes to provide alternatives to the use of the private car and promote
healthier lifestyles.

Development proposals will, either individually or collectively, have to make appropriate provision
for:

Reducing the need to travel;
Widening travel choices and making travel by sustainable means of transport more attractive
than private car;
Improving road safety; and
Reducing the impact of travel upon the environment, in particular reducing carbon emissions
that contribute to climate change and not contributing to unacceptable air quality levels.

55Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

13
O
ur

su
st
ai
na

bl
e
tra

ns
po

rt

Page 64

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Infrastructure/Downloads/Draft-integrated-transport-stratefy-2011.pdf


The District Council will continue to work with partners to improve accessibility, by enhancing
sustainable transport opportunities and encouraging development that reduces the need to travel
and changes to travel behaviour through a balance of transport measures. Future development
within the district will be focused on the most accessible and sustainable locations to reduce the
need to travel. Developments that are wholly car dependent or promote unsustainable travel
behaviour will not be supported.

Preferred policy direction

Additional evidence base work will be undertaken in relation to transport, however it is considered
the sustainable transport policy should be focused on the following:

Identify sustainable transport improvements which will be supported in line with local, regional
and national priorities
Outline specific schemes for improvements to the existing road network
Consider whether overnight lorry parking facilities are required within the district
Consideration of parking provision

In addition, with regards to non- strategic development management policies, the current sustainable
travel policy may be amended slightly in line with national policy and the parking provision policy
will be updated in light of new evidence.

Question 8

Do you agree with the preferred policy direction for sustainable transport? Is there anything else
which should be taken into consideration?

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions56

13
O
ursustainable

transport

Page 65



14 Our homes for the future

Sustainable communitiesStrategic objective & priority 1

Rural communitiesStrategic objective & priority 2

Meeting housing needStrategic objective & priority 6

Introduction

14.1 A key aspect of the local plan review will be directing and delivering the homes which our
district needs by 2036. A key area of policy will be ensuring the amount, location, mix and affordability
of new housing meets our needs and assists in meeting unmet needs arising from within the housing
market area. Lichfield District has historically been, and remains an area of high demand for housing
which is driven by our resident population and also by the levels of migration into the district. This
has resulted in average house prices that are significantly higher than those both nationally and across
the West Midlands.

14.2 The current local plan seeks to deliver a minimum of 10,030 dwellings between 2008 and
2029 at an annual rate of 478 homes each year. This level of growth represents the current housing
requirement for the district and is based on a significant and detailed evidence base. This housing
requirement includes 1,000 dwellings to assist in meeting the needs of our neighbours Cannock
Chase and Tamworth (500 homes each). This means that the housing requirement of the district itself
is 430 dwellings per year.

14.3 Alongside the overall housing requirement, the local plan review will need to consider a range
of matters relating to the provision of homes. National policy suggests within the context of local
housing need planning policies should also reflect the type, size and tenure of need including the
needs of specific groups within our community including affordable housing, families with children,
older people, students, people with disabilities and provision for gypsies and travellers.

14.4 It is considered that policies or policy wording will be needed to address the following:

Our local housing need and contribution to meeting unmet housing need within the housing
market area.
Provision of affordable housing, including the thresholds and proportion of homes to be provided.
The housing mix developments should meet to deliver the types and tenures of properties we
need, including meeting the needs of groups within our community.
Density of new housing development.
Provision to meet the needs of gypsies and travellers.

Our housing needs and those of the housing market area

14.5 Since the adoption of the current local plan the government has revised the national planning
policy framework. One of the main revisions within the new framework is the introduction of a standard
methodology for councils to calculate their local housing need. This methodology uses national
household projections and affordability ratios to calculate a minimum housing need for an area. Along
with their own need, councils must take account of any needs which cannot be met by their
neighbouring authorities, and seek to determine with these authorities how these needs can be met.

57Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 66

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-strategy.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf


14.6 The scope, issues and options document began to consider the level of housing growth which
the district may need to accommodate. Housing need will effectively be made up of two main
components, the first being the district's own local housing need. The second component relates to
the unmet housing need from within the housing market area, consideration as to an appropriate
contribution to assist in meeting this need is a strategic issue for the local plan review.

Our local housing need

14.7 The first step is to establish the needs of our district. The national planning policy framework
makes clear that the starting point for establishing the minimum local housing need is to use the
Standard methodology for calculating local housing need set out in national guidance. The scope,
issues and options document was produced prior to the formal publication of the standard methodology
within the revised national planning policy framework, however at that time the methodology identified
a figure of 340 dwellings per year for Lichfield, significantly lower than the requirement of the current
local plan.

14.8 The standard methodology uses a simple three step process to determine the minimum local
house need. Through the use of a standarised approach it is hoped that the process of establishing
housing need will become more transparent and less open to challenge as local plans are produced.
The national planning practice guidance clearly sets out the standard approach to establish the
minimum local housing need. The standard methodology is set out as follows:

Step 1- Setting the baseline

Using the most recent national household projections calculate the projected average annual
household growth over a consecutive ten year period from the current year. The most recent
household projections(xii)indicate that the number of households in the district is expected to increase
by 2,602 dwellings over a ten year period from 2018 to 2028, from 43,493 to 46,095 households.
This equates to an average household growth of 260 dwellings per year which is the baseline
of the calculation.

Step 2 - An adjustment to take account of affordability

The figure from step 1 is then adjusted based on the affordability of housing in the area. The
adjustment factor used is the most recent national 'median workplace-based affordability ratio'.
This ratio takes account of the ratio of average house prices to average workplace earnings for an
area. In the district, the most recent affordability ratio is 8.52 which means local house prices are
over eight times the average local wage within the district. Using the calculation set out in the
planning practice guidance this results in an uplift figure 28% above the baseline figure established
in Step 1. This results in a new requirement of 333 dwellings per year within the district.

Step 3 - Capping the level of any increase

If appropriate a 'cap' can then be applied to the figure established in step 2 in specific circumstances
which are set out within the planning practice guidance. As we have adopted a local plan within
the last five years a cap of 40% in excess of the figure within the Local Plan Strategy would be
applied. However, the figure established at step 2 is less than the housing requirement of the
adopted local plan and therefore no cap is applied. As a result the local housing need, or LHN,
for the district is a yearly rate of 333 dwellings.

xii In October 2018 the government published a consultation on revisions to the standard methodology following the
publication of the 2016 household projections. This consultation states that authorities should use the 2014 household
projections for the purposes of calculating local housing need

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions58

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 67

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://Standard methodology to calculate local housing need
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2014-based-household-projections-in-england-2014-to-2039
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2014-based-household-projections-in-england-2014-to-2039


14.9 The government has set out that they intend to make changes to the standard methodology
for calculating local housing need to ensure that the government's commitment to deliver 300,000
homes a year across the country is planned for. The local housing need for the district will need to
be reconsidered once the revised methodology is published and when new housing projections are
published.

14.10 The proposed plan period for the local plan review covers a twenty year period between 2016
and 2036 as such the overall requirement for our local housing need would be aminimum of 6,660
homes. This will need to be updated throughout the plan's preparation to take account of the
government's intended changes to the standard methodology and the publication of revised household
projections or affordability ratios.

14.11 Alongside this it is intended to undertake a 'housing and economic development needs
assessment' to provide a deeper understanding of the housing needs of the district, including
understanding the requirements for affordable housing, provision for older people, for families, students,
people with disabilities and people who wish to build their own homes. Such evidence will allow the
council to consider whether any uplifts to the minimum figure established through the standard
methodology are appropriate and what the implications of such uplifts could be. The proposed
timescales associated with this evidence are set out Appendix A.

Needs from the housing market area

14.12 The national planning policy framework makes clear that in addition to an authority's local
housing need, any needs which arise within wider housing market areas which an authority relates
to should be taken into account in establishing the total amount of housing to be planned for. The
current local plan acknowledges this in respect of Lichfield District being situated within the Greater
Birmingham and Black Country Housing Market Area (GBHMA).

14.13 The Birmingham development plan which was adopted in 2017 confirmed that there was a
shortfall of land for 37,900 homes which cannot be accommodated within Birmingham which means
that those authorities within the housing market area would need to consider their ability to meet a
share of this need. The local authorities which form the GBHMA (xiii), of which Lichfield is one,
commissioned a strategic housing needs study . As part of this housing market area Lichfield will
need to have regard to the unmet needs within this area. It has also become clear though the early
stages of the review of the Black Country core strategy that an additional shortfall of around 22,000
dwellings has been identified.

14.14 Following the strategic housing needs study the housingmarket area authorities commissioned
a further strategic growth study to build upon the earlier evidence which sought to quantify the overall
shortfall and consider strategic growth options and locations across the housing market area which
could assist in meeting the housing market area's unmet need. The study concluded that the shortfall
primarily comes from Birmingham and the Black Country and cumulatively there is a total shortfall of
60,855 dwellings to 2036. The strategic growth study recommended that if densities across the housing
market area could be increased and additional urban supply brought forward, this could reduce the
shortfall within the housing marker area of around 48,000 dwelling to 2036.

14.15 The strategic growth study identified a range of strategic growth options across the housing
market area which could possibly help to meet this significant shortfall. These options included urban
extensions, new settlements and dispersed housing developments, which are to be tested by the
authorities within the housing market area through the review of their local plans. The scope, issues

xiii This consists of Lichfield District, the Black Country Authorities, Bromsgrove, Redditch, Solihull, North Warwickshire,
Tamworth, Cannock Chase, South Staffordshire and part of Stratford-on-Avon.

59Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 68

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Strategic-housinggrowth-studies.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Strategic-HousingGrowth-Studies/Greater-Birmingham-HMA-Strategic-Growth-Study.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


and options document consulted on by the council included a range of growth options which
incorporated those suggested through the strategic growth study. These options are considered in
greater detail within the 'Our strategic options for spatial growth' chapter of this document.

14.16 It is clear that given the level of unmet need there is a significant strategic issue for the
authorities within the housing market area. This means that the district will need to assist in meeting
the shortfall through this local plan review. Currently there is no agreement between the fourteen
authorities within the housing market area in relation to the potential apportionment and locations of
homes to meet the unmet need. Lichfield District Council has committed to helping to deal with this
and has a statement of common ground with Birmingham City Council which confirms that this issue
will be dealt with through the local plan review.

What you told us

14.17 The scope, issues and options consultation posed the question as to how should the district
assist in meeting the unmet needs arising from within the housing market area. Most responses
acknowledge that the district would need to assist in meeting this need and that this would be best
done through the identification of housing allocations within the local plan review. Some comments
suggested that an agreement between all the authorities within the housing market area with respect
to the distribution of the unmet need would be helpful and provide clarity as to each authorities role
in dealing with the issue. At this stage no such agreement has been reached, althoughmost authorities
within the housing market area are committed to helping address the issue through their own
plan-making.

14.18 A fairly common response which came through consultation was that the unmet need could
have implications for the green belt within the district and that a comprehensive evidence base would
be needed. The strategic growth study included a high level green belt assessment which considered
the whole housing market area, however authorities will need to undertake more detailed green belt
reviews as part of the evidence for their local plans. The council propose to undertake such a piece
of work, the timescales associated with this are set out at Appendix A.

14.19 There were many more specific comments which related to particular growth options included
within the scope, issues and options document. The specific growth options are considered in greater
detail within the 'Our strategic options for spatial growth' chapter of this document.

What the evidence tells us

14.20 As has been set out within the preceding paragraphs at this stage the number of houses
which the district will need to plan for is unclear, however this figure will need to comprise of the local
housing need for the district and a contribution towards meeting the unmet needs of the housing
market area. Further evidence, including a housing and employment development needs assessment,
will need to be collected to inform the local plan review and specifically to help define the overall level
of housing which will planned for. The timescales associated with the collection of such evidence are
detailed in Appendix A.

14.21 The strategic growth study identified a twenty four 'areas of search' across the whole of the
housing market area, of which six are located within the district. Each of the areas of search were
assessed using a number of criteria and a number of the options which scored most favourably were
recommended for further testing and consideration through the authority's local plan process. Three
of these were located within our district, these being: north of Tamworth, east of Lichfield and land
around Shenstone. The scope, issues and options document included these broad areas as part of
the strategic growth option consulted upon along with other options from the growth study which
scored less favourably. These options are considered in greater detail within the 'Our strategic options

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions60

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 69

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


for spatial growth' chapter of this document. These areas have yet to be tested in detail through the
local plan and further work including green belt review, assessments of infrastructure capacity and
whether there is sufficient available land will need to be undertaken.

14.22 In order to begin to understand the level of contribution the district could make to meeting
these unmet needs it is important to look at our historical housing delivery. Table 14.1 illustrates the
housing delivery which has taken place within the district over the last twenty years. This shows that
across a changing housing market and economy, which includes periods of varying market conditions
an average of 382 dwellings has been built each year. Such a figure is in excess yet comparable to
the local housing need figure produced by the standard methodology. The highest number of new
home completions in one year was 647 dwellings in 2005/2006 and only on three occasions have
housing completions exceed 600 homes per year. There is a risk that an annual housing target which
drastically exceeds this average figure may not be a realistic representation of what can be built within
our local housing market. Evidence clearly demonstrates that the local housing market is not able to
deliver 550 plus homes each year on a regular basis.

14.23 The likely rates of housing delivery is an important consideration for the council, particularly
since the introduction of the housing delivery test through the revised national planning policy
framework. National policy requires plans to be both aspirational yet deliverable and therefore the
overall quantum of housing to be provided in the district needs to be both aspirational and deliverable.

Table 14.1 Housing delivery (1998-2018)

2007-20082006-20072005-20062004-20052003-20042002-20032001-20022000-20011999-20001998-1999

581293647638609521534497364206

2017-20182016-20172015-20162014-20152013-20142012-20132011-20122010-20112009-20102008-2009

552322200226324239201316102273

14.24 The following options have been considered in terms of the potential housing requirement
to be set out in the local plan. Each scenario uses the current local housing need of 333 dwellings
per annum as a basis. Should this base requirement change considerably then further thought would
need to be given to the level of additional growth which could realistically be accommodated within
the district.

61Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 70



Table 14.2 Housing requirement options

Plan period requirement (2016-2036)Annual requirementHousing requirement option

6,660333Option 1: Local housing need only.

This option would provide only for the local housing need for the district with no contribution to the unmet need from within
the housing market area. The local housing need is established using the standard methodology as described above. Not
meeting a proportion of the need arising in the housing market area would mean we would not be complying with the
commitment made in our current local plan or in agreements with neighbouring authorities.

7,660383Option 2: Local housing need plus 1,000
home contribution.

Such an option would provide for the local housing need established using the standard methodology plus a further 1,000
new homes to assist in meeting the unmet need from within the housing market area. This option utilities the same approach
as the current local plan which included provision of 1,000 dwellings to meet the needs arising from within the housing market
area (specifically Cannock Chase and Tamworth). The average annual requirement under this option is equivalent to the
average annual level of new home completions which has been achieved in the last twenty years.

8,660433Option 3: Local housing need plus 2,000
home contribution.

This option provides a modest contribution to the unmet need on top of the local housing need established using the standard
methodology. Such an approach provides an annual requirement which is consistent with the current objectively assessed
need for the district incorporated into the current local plan (excluding the cross boundary provision noted above). This
approach would require a small upward lift in the average annual delivery of homes of around 14%.

9,660483Option 4: Local housing need plus 3,000
home contribution.

This option would provide for the local housing need established using the standard methodology plus an additional 3,000
dwellings to assist in meet the unmet need fromwithin the housing market area. This option provides a reasonably significant
contribution towards the unmet need and gives an annual requirement which is consistent with the current local plan's
requirement of 478 dwellings per year. Such an approach would require a significant uplift of 26% above the average level
of housing delivery within the last twenty years.

11,160558Option 5: Local housing need plus 4,500
home contribution.

This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard methodology plus an additional 4,500
dwellings. This addition is the mid-point for the range given in the strategic growth study for the sustainable urban extension
options. Such an approach would mean Lichfield providing a significant contribution to the unmet need equating to almost
10% of the overall need (including the density assumptions within the strategic growth study). This would be require an
uplift of 46% in annual new home completions above the average annual delivery.

16,660833Option 6: Local housing need plus
10,000 home contribution.

This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard methodology plus a further 10,000 dwellings
which related to the new settlement option identified within the strategic growth study. This would mean an average annual
requirement some 29% higher than the highest single year of new homes completions and 118% greater than the average
annual deliver of homes within the district. Such an approach would clearly not be realistic and as such should be discounted.

25,6601,283Option 7: Local housing need plus
19,000 home contribution.

This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard methodology plus a further 19,000 dwellings
which is the total of the three options within the strategic growth study; 10,000 for a new settlement and two 4,500 sustainable
urban extensions using the mid point between the range set out for urban extensions within the growth study. Such an
approach would require an uplift of 98% in annual completions when compared to the highest ever annual delivery within
the district and 236% more than the average annual delivery. It is clear that such an approach would not be deliverable or
realistic and as such must be discounted.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions62

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 71



14.25 The options within the strategic growth study require considerable further testing, however
through the analysis of housing delivery and consideration of the above options the council can begin
to assess the level of unmet need which it can realistically accommodate. The council is committed
to assisting in meeting the unmet need, however the contribution it makes must be realistic and
deliverable, a number of the options above would clearly lead to levels of growth which could not be
delivered and sustained across a plan period.

14.26 The council should test accommodating between 3,000 and 4,500 additional dwellings to
assist in meeting the unmet needs from within the housing market area. Such an approach would
provide a significant contribution toward the unmet need and also require a sizable increase in our
annual delivery of new homes when compared to the average delivery over the last twenty years.
This would potentially mean an additional 150 to 225 dwellings per year on top of our local housing
need. Should the local housing need be increased then this will result in changes to the level of growth
which can be realistically accommodated to meet the needs of the housing market area. Committing
to testing between 3,000 and 4,500 homes toward the unmet needs of the housing market area offers
an assurance to other authorities that the council are taking a progressive and proactive approach in
helping to deal with this strategic issue.

14.27 This could mean the local plan review should plan for between 9,660 and 11,160 new homes
between 2016 and 2036. However, should the shortfall in land for housing within the housing market
area be reduced, or should our local housing need change then the contribution being made by the
district council would be reduced accordingly.

14.28 The scope, issues and options document suggested that the current core policy relating to
the provision of housing and the subsequent non-strategic policies, would need to be revisited and
potentially replaced through the review of the local plan. The strategic policy needs to be replaced to
ensure that it considers the new local plans housing requirement, including the potential for the district
to accommodate growth to meet unmet needs from within the housing market area.

Preferred policy direction: Our homes for the future - housing provision

The strategic policy for housing will set out the overall level of housing growth which will be planned
for within the district to 2036 to ensure that a sufficient supply of deliverable and developable land
is available to deliver the established housing requirement.

Additional work is taking place which will allow the council to further define elements of the strategic
policy relating to housing provision. It is considered the policy should include and be focused upon
the following:

Evidence to understand and underpin the local housing need for the district and the level of
housing to be accommodated to assist in meeting the unmet needs arising from the housing
market area.
The spatial distribution of growth which will be linked to the spatial strategy. This should also
include the identification of any strategic allocations for residential development.
Understanding the phasing and delivery of new homes to ensure there is a sufficient supply
of land to meet the level of housing growth and to ensure the council maintains a five year
housing land supply and meets the requirements of the housing delivery test.
A focus on the delivery of brownfield sites before greenfield sites. This will be informed by
further evidence including a detailed understanding of the brownfield land capacity of the
district through the strategic housing land availability assessment, urban capacity work and
the council's brownfield land register.

63Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 72



Balancing the need for providing housing, inclusion housing to meet the need of specific
groups within our community (this should link to additional policies which deal specifically
with such issues as set out below).
Understanding the requirements for gypsy and traveller provision.

Question 9

Do you agree with the preferred policy direction for the strategic policy on housing provision? Do
you think the policy should consider any other issues relating to housing provision, and if so what
should these be?

Affordable housing and our housing mix

14.29 National planning policy requires authorities to assess and identify the size, type and tenure
of homes including those required to meet the needs of different groups within the community including
affordable housing, families with children, older people, students, people with disabilities, provision
for gypsies and travellers and homes for people who wish to build their own homes. The profile of the
district has demonstrated that one particular issue facing the district is its aging population, and as
such the council will need to plan to ensure the meets of its community are met.

14.30 Provision for gypsies and travellers and people wishing to build their own homes are considered
separately below.

What you told us

14.31 The scope, issues and options consultation did not pose any specific questions relating to
affordable housing or housing mix. However, a number of responses to the consultation noted the
significant need for affordable housing and support for its delivery. This theme is already identified in
many of our neighbourhood plans together with the requirement for smaller homes to downsize to
and provision of homes for older people.

What the evidence tells us

14.32 The current local plan includes several non-strategic policies relating to housing mix (including
homes for specific needs), affordable housing and provision for gypsies and travellers. In terms of
housing mix the plan seeks to deliver a balanced housing market by requiring new developments to
deliver a mix of house types, sizes and tenures based on evidence with the strategic housing market
assessment. This seeks to address the imbalance on property types within the district and deliver a
greater level of smaller properties including two and three bedroom homes. There is also a focus on
providing support for specialist accommodation to meet the needs of the district's older population.

14.33 The government published the 'Independent review of build out' in October 2018 which was
prepared by Sir Oliver Letwin. The Letwin review provides an analysis on the cause of the gap between
housing completions and the amount of land either with permission or allocated for new homes within
the country. The review concluded that a fundamental driver of the build out rates for sites with planning
permission is the 'absorption rate' which is the rate at which newly built homes can be sold into the
local market without materially disturbing the market price. The report further concluded that if house
builders and others involved in the delivery of new homes were to offer housing of varying types,
designs and tenures on large sites then this could greatly accelerate the absorption and build out
rates.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions64

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-build-out-final-report


14.34 The lack of affordable housing within the district has been identified as one of the key issues
which we will seek to address through the local plan review. National planning policy requires strategic
policies to make sufficient provision for housing including affordable housing. The existing local plan
sets an aspirational target of 40% for the provision of affordable housing, this target is calculated on
an annual basis to provide a viable target based upon the current market. Such an approach has
been difficult to implement as it provides a variable level of certainty for applicants and the council
when determining applications.

14.35 The council will undertake further work in support of the local plan review including a housing
and economic development needs assessment which will allow us to understand the different
components of our local housing need including the level of affordable housing, needs to meet specific
groups within the community and the type and tenure of homes to meet these needs. Additionally
any policy which sets housing mix and appropriate provision for affordable homes will need to be
tested to ensure this does not render developments unviable. The council proposes to undertake
viability work as part of the evidence base for the local plan review. The anticipated timescales
associated with this evidence are set out at Appendix A.

14.36 The scope, issues and options document concluded that the existing policies relating to
housing mix and affordable housing (policy H1 and policy H2 respectively) be replaced through the
local plan review as both would need to be updated to reflect the evidence base relating to housing
need. The preferred approach is to replace these policies with one strategic policy relating to delivering
a housing mix to meet our needs, including affordable housing.

Preferred policy direction: Our housing mix, including homes to meet specialist needs

The policy will seek to deliver a balanced housing market which meets the needs of the district's
communities, including groups such as; people who require affordable housing, family homes,
homes for older people including specialist care provision, people with disabilities, students and
people who wish to build their own homes. New residential developments will include an integrated
mix of dwelling types, sizes and tenures based on the assessment of local housing need, including
the provision for those groups identified above to contribute to the creation of mixed and sustainable
communities.

Additional work which will allow the council to further define elements of the strategic policy relating
to the components of housing need. It is considered the policy should include and be focused upon
the following:

Establishing the affordable housing need within the district and the thresholds and levels of
affordable housing which will be set.
Establishing the appropriate mix of dwellings in terms of size, type and tenure. This should
also be informed by local housing need evidence related to specialist groups within the
community.
Consideration of the appropriate densities for new residential development (see below for
further detail).

Question 10

Do you agree with the policy direction for the strategic policy considering housing mix including
homes to meet specific needs?

65Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 74



Density of housing development

14.37 National planning policy requires the council to develop policies which support the efficient
use of land through development. The national planning policy framework is specific that where there
is a known shortage of land to meet housing needs, as is the case within the housing market area, it
is important that policies ensure developments make optimal use of sites and avoid homes being built
at low densities. National policy states that minimum density standards should be used for town and
city centres and locations well served by public transport. The framework goes further and suggests
councils should consider the use of minimum density standards for other parts of their area.

What you told us

14.38 The scope, issues and options consultation asked whether the local plan review should
include a density policy, or policy wording relating to density. This generated a considerable and wide
ranging response. There was support for a policy or policy wording relating to density and ensuring
that appropriate densities were achieved on developments to ensure the effective use of land with
many recognising that national policy requires such an approach.

14.39 However, many comments felt that if such an approach were to be pursued the policy should
not be overly prescriptive, and a more nuanced policy which accounted for local character would be
appropriate. A high proportion of the comments received suggested that a density policy could be
appropriate but this would need to be locally distinctive and rather than set one 'blanket' density across
the district an approach which applies density standards appropriate to specific locations would be
supported. Such an approach would accord with national planning policy.

14.40 A number of comments made the point that housing density is also closely related to the
housing mix on a particular site. Clearly where a mix of smaller house types is achieved this will lead
to higher overall density on a particular development. With this in mind it is clear that any policy
wording relating to the density of housing development should be intrinsically linked to the housing
mix and that these two issues should be part of the same policy.

What the evidence tells us

14.41 National planning policy requires policies to be included within the local plan which seek to
ensure that appropriate densities of development are delivered, particularly where there is a shortfall
in land for housing.

14.42 The strategic growth study provided a recommendation that if consistent density uplifts were
provided across the housing market area this could greatly assist in meeting a proportion of the unmet
need. The study concluded that it would be reasonable to assume a density of 40 dwellings per
hectare within the conurbation (Birmingham and the Black Country) and 35 dwellings per hectare in
other parts of the housing market area, including our district. Such an approach could provide an
additional supply of around 13,000 homes over the period to 2031.

14.43 The average density of new housing development is monitored on an annual basis though
our authority monitoring report and enables the council to see how effective its current policies are
at ensuring appropriate densities are being delivered to ensure land is being used efficiently. The
average density delivered across the last seven years is around 38 dwellings per hectare, this
demonstrates that it is possible that the council could deliver growth at density of around thirty five
dwellings per hectare.

14.44 Further evidence should be produced in order to understand the areas where a specific
density standard may be appropriate and what that standard should be.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions66

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 75

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Monitoring/Annualauthority-monitoring-report-AMR.aspx


Preferred policy direction: Density of housing development

The preferred approach is to incorporate the appropriate policy wording relating to the density of
housing development into the policy relating to housing mix (see above). This will ensure that the
strategic policy relating to housing mix considers all elements of need and issues around housing
mix and density which are intrinsically linked are considered through one policy.

The policy should include a range of density standards specific to particular areas of the district to
ensure that the density is appropriate to the character of the surrounding area. Additional work
should be undertaken that will allow the council to conclude on appropriate areas for density
standards and the specific standard for those areas.

As a minimum residential development should seek to achieve a density of thirty five dwellings per
hectare or the specific density standard which has been identified to ensure the efficient use of
land and to assist in the delivery of developments which provide the identified housing mix. Where
a density below this threshold is proposed, it will be considered on a case by case basis and it will
be for the applicant to demonstrate why such a density is appropriate in that location.

In town and city centres and locations with good accessibility to public transport higher minimum
density standards may be applied.

Question 11

Do you agree with the policy direction relating to housing density?

Self-build and custom house-building

14.45 Self-build and custom-build refer to homes where individuals or groups of individuals either
build or have persons working for them to build a home to be occupied by them. National planning
policy requires the needs of people wishing to build their own homes to be established as part of the
duty to deliver the range of housing types for groups within the community. 'The Self-Build and Custom
Housebuilding Act' was introduced in 2015 and requires the council to maintain a register of those
people who are seeking land to build their own home. The register must be promoted by the council
and should be used as part of the evidence base supporting the review of the local plan.The current
local plan does not include a policy related specifically to self-build or custom-house building. Presently
applications for developments of this type would be considered using the current local plan. Therefore
the local plan review provides the opportunity to promote and encourage self-build and custom build
within the policy framework for the district.

14.46 The scope, issues and options document considered there were twomain options for a policy
relating to self-build and custom-build housing, these being to include specific site allocations for this
type of development which would be made available to those wishing to build their own home or
include within policy a requirement for developments to include a specific proportion of serviced plots
which would be made available to self and custom builders.

What you told us

14.47 Through the scope, issues and options consultation there was a good level of comment on
issues relating to self-build and custom build homes. Generally the provision of self and custom build
homes to assist in boosting housing delivery was supported, however there was some disagreement
as to how such provision should be secured.

67Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 76

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents/enacted


14.48 A large proportion of the responses were received from the house building industry and
suggested that a policy approach which required larger developments to provide a specific proportion
of serviced plots for self and custom builders was not supported. There were concerns that such an
approach would not be flexible and could have impacts on the viability and overall quality of larger
developments. Other responses suggested that if a policy approach seeking a specific proportion of
self and custom build homes was pursued that this should not be at the expense of the delivery of
affordable housing and the overall impact of such a requirement would need to be tested in terms of
viability. If such a policy approach is taken in the local plan review this would be assessed through
the full plan viability work which we propose to undertake. The timescales associated with this are
set out at Appendix A.

14.49 There was a much greater level of support for a policy which provided broad support for
proposals for or incorporating self-build and custom-build homes rather than requiring it. Such
comments also suggested that specific allocations could be made through the local plan for self-build
and custom-build homes, these comments suggested that such allocations would tend to be for
smaller developments. Such an approach could assist the council in allocating a range of sites,
including smaller sites which is encouraged by national planning policy.

14.50 A smaller number of comments suggested that the council undertake a proactive review of
land within its ownership to identify any suitable sites which could then be promoted and allocated
for self and custom build purposes. Those responses recognised that such an approach may not be
suitable for all local authorities.

What the evidence tells us

14.51 The council has prepared and maintains a register of those persons who are seeking to build
or commission their own homes. The authority monitoring report published in July 2018 identifies that
there were thirty four individuals and one association currently included on the council's self build
register. This demonstrates that the need for such homes is relatively limited within our district.
Notwithstanding this, the council needs to meet the demand on its register.

14.52 National regulations mean that self-build and custom build dwellings can be exempt from
paying community infrastructure levy (CIL). The authority monitoring report demonstrates that since
April 2016 thirty one plots for new homes have been considered as self-build and therefore granted
exemption from the community infrastructure levy. This demonstrates that supply is generally meeting
demand.

14.53 Through the call for sites there are a small number of sites which have been promoted for
self-build and custom-build housing developments as illustrated in the call for sites schedule. The
council will undertake a detailed urban capacity assessment and housing and economic development
needs assessment as part of its evidence base which alongside the strategic housing land availability
assessment will enable the council to consider if there are appropriate and deliverable sites which
could be allocated for self and custom build developments, if it is considered appropriate to allocate
specific sites.

Preferred policy direction: self-build and custom-build housing

The preferred approach is to incorporate the appropriate policy wording relating to the support for
self-build and custom-build developments into the policy relating to housing mix (see above). This
will ensure that the strategic policy relating to housing mix considers all elements of need.

Additional evidence will be undertaken in terms of the dwelling mix, self-build and custom-build
homes. However it is suggested that any policy should focus on:

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions68

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 77

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Monitoring/Downloads/Annual-monitoring-report/Authority-monitoring-report-2018.pdf


Providing support for self-build and custom-build developments where these are sustainably
located and consistent with other national and local planning policies.
Consideration of identifying specific allocations, or parts of an allocation, for self-build and
custom-build development should the evidence base suggest there is sufficient need which
needs to be met.
The council will be maintaining, promoting and updating its self-build register which will assist,
along with other evidence, in demonstrating the need for this type of development.

Question 12

Do you agree with the preferred policy direction in relation to self-build and custom-build housing?

Gypsies and travellers

14.54 National planning policy in relation to gypsies and travellers is set out within the 'National
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites' (PPTS) which sits alongside the national planning policy framework.
This requires the council to set targets for gypsy and traveler pitches to accommodate the likely
permanent and transit needs within the plan period.

14.55 The current local plan was informed by a gypsy and traveller accommodation assessment
which identified a need for 14 residential pitches and 5 transit pitches within the district to 2029. The
current local plan approach is to locate gypsy and traveller sites in sustainable locations based on a
number of criteria including locating sites close to sustainable settlements and the A38 and A5
corridors.

What you told us

14.56 The scope, issues and options document suggested that the district council should continue
to prioritise sustainable settlements and the A5 and A38 corridors as locations for gypsy and traveller
sites. A number of responses agreed with this approach suggesting it would still represent an
appropriate strategy for the locating of gypsy and traveller sites through the local plan review.

14.57 Some comments suggested that there was a need to update the evidence relating to gypsy
and traveller needs to inform the local plan review. Since the production of the current local plan
national planning policy in relation to gypsies and travellers has been updated. As such it will be
important to undertake further evidence to inform the local plan review and ensure this is consistent
with national policy. The National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups stated that the Gypsy Traveller
Accommodation Needs Assessment should cover Tamworth and Lichfield as a minimum.

What the evidence tells us

14.58 The scope, issues and options document recognised that the existing planning policies
relating to gypsy and travellers needs to be revisited through the local plan review. This is necessary
for several reasons, the first being that national planning policy was revised and published after the
adoption of the local plan, as such the policy needs to be considered in light of the new national policy.
The second reason being that the council will need to establish the gypsy and traveller need which
will need to be met within the plan period. The district council is working with Tamworth and North
Warwickshire borough councils to establish its gypsy and traveller requirement through the preparation
of gypsy and traveller needs assessment. The timescales associated with this are set out inAppendix
A.

69Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

14
O
ur

ho
m
es

fo
rt
he

fu
tu
re

Page 78

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457420/Final_planning_and_travellers_policy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457420/Final_planning_and_travellers_policy.pdf


14.59 Through the evidence associated with the current local plan we know that there is a limited
supply of potential sites to meet the needs of gypsies and travellers. The council produced a gypsy
and traveller paper in 2016 to support the current local plan, this concluded that there were insufficient
deliverable sites to meet the current need. The five year housing land supply paper includes a
consideration of the supply to meet gypsy and traveller requirements. This also acknowledges the
current lack in supply to meet this need. Through the call for sites no further sites specifically for gypsy
and traveller provision have been submitted to the authority, although one site has been suggested
for varying residential uses including the potential for gypsy and traveller needs. The council will
undertake a proactive review of possible sites for such provision in order to seek to identify land
allocations to meet the need to 2036.

14.60 Given the potential lack of deliverable sites a criteria based policy, much like that within the
current local plan, which would assist in the search for sites and assist in decision making on planning
applications is the preferred approach. This will provide support for proposals and seek to encourage
the delivery of sites to meet the gypsy and traveller need in sustainable and appropriate locations.

Preferred policy direction: Provision for gypsies and travellers

The district council will support the delivery of residential and transit pitches to meet the identified
requirement to 2036 on sustainably located sites, including specific sites sufficient to provide for
the first five years of the plan period. This requirement will be established through the evidence
base and included within the final policy. Site allocations for such pitches will be made through non
strategic policies within the local plan. The location of site allocations to meet the identified need,
and the determination of planning applications will be informed by the following criteria and having
regard to other national and local planning policies:

the site is within or adjacent to a settlement identified as sustainable within the settlement
hierarchy or close to the transport corridors of the A38 and A5.
where a proposal is located adjacent or close to a settlement, the location, number of pitches
or plots should relate and be appropriate to the surrounding population's size and density
and so as not to put unacceptable strain on local infrastructure.
the site should be capable of providing adequate on-site facilities for parking, storage, play
and residential amenity appropriate to the number of plots or pitches.
vehicular and pedestrian access to the site is safe and reasonably convenient.
the site should be located within flood zones one or two.
the site will be landscaped and screened to provide privacy for occupiers and to maintain
visual amenity with the landscape/townscape within which it is located.
development of the site should protect the local amenity and environment and will have no
significant detrimental impact on adjoining properties or neighbouring land by virtue of noise
and other disturbance cased by movement of vehicles to and from the site.

Question 13

Do you agree with the preferred policy direction and approach for the locating of sites to meet the
gypsy and traveller needs which will need to be identified? Are there any alternative approaches
we should consider? If so please explain why this approach should be considered.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions70

14
O
urhom

es
forthe

future

Page 79

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Gypsy-traveller-needs-assessment/Gypsy-and-traveller-methodology-paper-2016.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Gypsy-traveller-needs-assessment/Gypsy-and-traveller-methodology-paper-2016.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Five-year-housing-land-supply.aspx


15 Our economic growth, enterprise & tourism

Sustainable communitiesStrategic objective & priority 1

Rural communitiesStrategic objective & priority 2

Economic prosperityStrategic objective & priority 7

Employment opportunitiesStrategic objective & priority 8

Our centresStrategic objective & priority 9

TourismStrategic objective & priority 10

Introduction

15.1 Planning is a key enabler for economic growth. National policy is committed to building a
strong and competitive economy and planning polices should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. The review of the local plan will aim to provide a framework
that supports investment and development to achieve a successful and sustainable local economy.

15.2 The following section deals with a range of topics that relate to different aspects of employment
and enterprise, including the need for employment land, fostering skills and enterprise, rural
employment, the role of town centres and tourism. These aspects of employment and enterprise are
grouped together within section nine of the current local plan strategy and supported by further detailed
policies within section five of the local plan allocations document.

Employment & economic development

15.3 Our strategic plan seeks to support a 'vibrant and prosperous economy' and ensuring that the
district is 'open for business' as an attractive location for investment. The strategic plan acknowledges
the important role of the local plan in promoting the district as a good place for business and commerce
to invest. A key aspect of the local plan review will be to plan for the right amount of land for
employment and commercial development, and a variety of opportunities to meet different needs.
This will be balanced to ensure that the right amount of jobs are created to align with the amount of
new homes we are planning for.

15.4 The current local plan sets out to provide up to 9,000 new jobs and achieve a job balance ratio
of 85% by the end of the plan period. To achieve this almost 80 hectares of land has been allocated
for employment uses across a range of locations including in Lichfield city, Burntwood and Fradley
Park. Growth in the district has increased by 24.4% since 2009. The recent high level of growth has
been driven by key growth sectors, including toursim and leisure, professional services and logistics.
Within the top 20 largest employers in the district, the majoirty of jobs are full time with part time
employment being dominant in only three of the businsesses.

What you told us

15.5 There was a limited number of responses to the scope, issues and options document with
regards to employment growth. Those comments which were received were generally supportive of
the need to ensure sufficient employment land is made available to support the delivery of jobs for
our communities. The scope, issues and options document included several strategic options for
future employment growth and a number of specific comments were made through the consultation
to these options, these are considered in greater detail within the 'Our strategic options for spatial
growth' chapter of this document.

71Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

15
O
ur

ec
on

om
ic
gr
ow

th
,e
nt
er
pr
is
e
&
to
ur
is
m

Page 80

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Performance-efficiency/Downloads/Strategic-plan-2016-2020.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-plan-strategy.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


What the evidence tells us

15.6 In order to understand the level of employment growth we will need to plan for and how this
relates to our housing growth we will need to obtain further evidence in support of the local plan
review. The council will produce an housing and economic development needs assessment as part
of its evidence base to assist in the formulation of future policy. The timescales associated with the
production of this evidence are set out at Appendix A.

15.7 In terms of the supply of land for employment uses the evidence supporting our current local
plan has consistently shown us that there is a good supply of land to more than meet our current
needs. The employment land availability assessment provides a strategic assessment of the land
which could be available for employment development. This demonstrates that there is currently a
range of sites, primarily located within our existing employment areas, which are available to meet
our needs.

15.8 The economic development service work in partnership with other services throughout the
Council to promote economic prosperity, creating a vibrant and prosperous economy. As part of this,
further understanding on the local business population and commercial property market is essential
to steer and develop knowledge to shape future actions to support the local economy and economic
growth. The service have and will commission in the future tenders to expand local business and
commercial property intelligence.

Preferred policy direction: Our employment and economic development

The strategic policy for types of provision to meet employment and economic development will set
the overall level of jobs and land to be planned for within the district to 2036 to ensure that a sufficient
supply of deliverable and developable land is available to deliver the established requirement for
employment land. Employment growth will be focused on our current employment areas, particularly
in Lichfield city, Burntwood and at Fradley Park.

The strategic policy should seek to maintain and enhance a diverse local economy and encourage
opportunities for inward investment. The high environmental qualities of the district will be
safeguarded to attract further investment from new and existing employers and links between the
environment and the economy will be fostered. Opportunities for new business formations will be
actively pursued and the long-term survival of these business encouraged with sustainable forms
of business, including home-working and the expansion of ICT particularly supported. The district
council will encourage education and skills development in order to provide employers with access
to a skilled labour force as well as reducing levels of out-commuting.

The strategic policy should provide support for the redevelopment and modernisation of our existing
industrial and employment areas to ensure businesses are able to grow and adapt. Support should
also be provided for economic development and diversification of the rural economy where these
do not conflict with other policies.

Additional work is taking place which will allow the council to further define elements of the strategic
policy relating to employment development. It is considered the policy should include and be focused
on:

Evidence to understand and underpin the employment and economic development need for
the district and how this relates to the local housing need;
The spatial distribution of growth which will be linked to the spatial strategy. This should
include the identification of employment areas and/or strategic allocations for employment
development;

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions72

15
O
ureconom

ic
grow

th,enterprise
&
tourism

Page 81

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Economic-Development-Enterprise/Employment-land-availability-assessment-ELAA.aspx


Understanding the phasing and delivery of new development to ensure there is a sufficient
supply of land for employment development and that any infrastructure requirements can be
delivered at the appropriate times;
A focus on the delivery of brownfield sites before greenfield sites and the re-use and
redevelopment of older employment sites. This will be informed by further evidence including
a detailed understanding of the brownfield land capacity of the district through the employment
land availability assessment and urban capacity work; and
Should additional employment growth be required beyond the existing identified employment
areas then this should be located in the most sustainable locations, such an approach could
require the consideration of changes to the green belt boundary, any such changes would
be informed by evidence including a comprehensive green belt review and would only be
proposed in exceptional circumstances through strategic policy.

Question 14

Do you agree with the preferred policy direction for the strategic policy on employment and economic
development? Do you think the policy should consider any other issues, and if so what should
these be?

Our centres

15.9 Over the past few years, town centres across the country have faced the challenge of major
economic and social change which has had an impact on the way we shop and utilise our centres.
This has resulted in a change to our high streets and centres, with the rapid growth of discount retailers,
introduction of convenience shopping and an overall decline in demand for town centre retail floorspace
apart from in the most successful centres. A key aspect of national policy is the need to ensure the
vitality of town centres by supporting the role that town centres play at the heart of local communities
and taking a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation. Attractive, vibrant and
prosperous town centres can act as a catalyst for attracting growth and investment into the wider
area.

15.10 There are a wide range of shopping and service facilities within our district. Core policy eight
of the current local plan strategy identifies Lichfield city centre and Burntwood town centre as the
focus for new office, leisure, office and cultural facilities and differentiates between the centres based
on their roles and functions. Lichfield is identifed as the strategic centre, Burntwood as a town centre
and then key rural centres and neighbourhood centres are listed.

15.11 To inform the local plan allocations document, the Lichfield centres report was prepared and
consequently the specific policies relating to Lichfield city centre and Burntwood town centre were
updated. Current policy seeks to promote Lichfield City as a strategic centre by improving its range
of shopping, leisure, business, cultural, education and tourist facilities whilst sustaining and enhancing
the significance of its historic environment and heritage assets and their setting. Achieving this through
redevelopment opportunities identified in the city centre whilst retaining the special architectural and
historical character of the City.

15.12 The policies map which accompanies the current local plan defines the extent of the city
centre boundary, primary shopping area and primary and secondary frontages. In line with national
policy, any proposals (for retail uses) outside of the primary shopping area or city centre boundary
(for all other main town centre uses) are required to undertake a sequential test and impact
assessment. Office provision is supported within the city centre boundary to meet the evidence based

73Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

15
O
ur

ec
on

om
ic
gr
ow

th
,e
nt
er
pr
is
e
&
to
ur
is
m

Page 82

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Economic-Development-Enterprise/Downloads/Retail-evidence/Lichfield-centres-report-2017.pdf


annual floorspace requirement of 1,000m2 - 1,400m2 and a sequential approach to the location of
offices will be applied where there is clear evidence that there are no suitable office sites within the
city centre.

15.13 In Burntwood the current policy focus is on the creation of a vibrant and diverse town centre,
through regeneration. This is primarily to meet local needs. The town will be promoted as an area of
increased and more diverse economic activity, to include new retail, employment, leisure, residential,
recreation, health, education resources and improvements to its environment quality and public realm.
To assist in this regeneration, Burntwood will be a main focus for investment, including public and
private sector funding.

15.14 The scope, issues and options document considers whether the current local plan policies
relating to centres remain appropriate for purposes of the local plan review given that the policies are
supported by the Lichfield centres report which was published in 2017. Also, whether supporting
development plan documents for Lichfield city centre and Burntwood town centre should be progressed
as part of the local plan review.

What you told us

15.15 The scope, issues and options consultation document listed core policy 8 as a policy which
may require minor amendments. Whilst no specific comments were received in relation to this policy,
in general comments were supportive of the policies listed within this category.

15.16 In general, it is considered that the retail and office requirement remains appropriate for the
local plan review. However, some representations were received that commented that the distribution
of housing growth needs to be determined before future household expenditure and floor space
requirements can be determined, therefore the provision may need to be reviewed at this point.
Several comments weremade stating that the evidence needs to be completed following the completion
of committed retail schemes within the district and neighbouring authorities.

15.17 In relation to progressing supporting development plan documents, in general the responses
received from the development industry support a single comprehensive local plan with local planning
matters being considered through neighbourhood plans. There is local support from residents within
Burntwood for an area action plan to be prepared.

What evidence tells us

15.18 In relation to core policy eight, whilst the thrust of this policy remains broadly relevant, aspects
of this policy will need to be updated as part of the review to reflect any new centres established as
a result of new development once the spatial strategy and level of housing growth have been
established.

15.19 The retail and office requirements for our district have been established recently through the
Lichfield centres report. The report also identified the town centre boundaries and primary and
secondary retail frontages for Lichfield City. As a result of this evidence, the relevant policies, namely
Policy Lichfield 3: Lichfield Economy and Policy Burntwood 3: Burntwood Economy were updated as
part of the local plan allocations document in line with the recommendations of the report.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions74

15
O
ureconom

ic
grow

th,enterprise
&
tourism

Page 83

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Economic-Development-Enterprise/Downloads/Retail-evidence/Lichfield-centres-report-2017.pdf


Preferred policy: Our centres

Development proposals for retail, leisure, office and cultural facilities will be focused within the city
centre of Lichfield and commercial centre of Burntwood in line with the hierarchy of centres as set
out below, having regard to centres outside of the District. In Lichfield City and Burntwood, town
centre boundaries have been defined and set out along with the primary shopping area for Lichfield
City. Retail assessments will be required in line with local threshold set out within the retail
assessments policy.

Leisure uses, cultural development, attractive spaces and a balanced night time economy will be
encouraged within both Lichfield City and Burntwood town centres.

Rural centres will be protected and enhanced to provide shops, services, employment and facilities
to meet the needs of local communities within the settlement and as a focus for those living and
working in nearby smaller villagers.

New neighbourhood centres providing local services and facilities will be required to meet the day
to day needs arising from new communities that are proposed within housing growth locations.
The diversity of local services will be protected and supported and mix of facilities in existing
neighbourhood centres will be maintained to provide for day to day local shopping services and
facilities.

Improvements to the accessibility of centres will be supported, especially sustainable means of
transport together with improvements to traffic management within our settlements.

Table 15.1 Hierarchy of centres

LocationHierarchy of Centres

Lichfield.Strategic Centre (with many shops, services, employment and
entertainment which service a much wider catchment than just the local
population).

Burntwood.Town Centre (shops and services primarily serving local catchments but
providing for main weekly convenience shopping) .

Alrewas, Armitage with Handsacre, Fazeley, Fradley, Little Aston,
Shenstone, Whittington, Stonnall, Kings Bromley, Streethay & Hopwas.

Rural Centres (shops and services for day to day needs within villages
to serve the wider rural area).

E.g. Boley Park, Curborough, Darwin Park, Netherstowe, Dimbles Lane,
Morley Road, Park Hill Road, Chasetown, Swan Island.

Neighbourhood Centres (shops and services for day to day needs within
urban neighbourhoods).

Will be defined once the level of housing need and growth locations have
been established.

Proposed Neighbourhood Centres.

15.20 Following the strategic policy our preferred approach is to include two non-strategic policies
which focus on the two main centres identified within the proposed hierarchy of centres; Lichfield City
and Burntwood. These two non-strategic policies are included within the current local plan allocations
document and our considered important to bring forward within the local plan review.

15.21 There are several non-strategic policies within our existing local plan relating to our centres
which we think should be carried forward into the local plan review. These are set out at Appendix
B.

75Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

15
O
ur

ec
on

om
ic
gr
ow

th
,e
nt
er
pr
is
e
&
to
ur
is
m

Page 84



Preferred policy: Lichfield economy

Lichfield City Centre will be promoted as a strategic centre by improving its range of shopping,
leisure, business, cultural, education and tourist facilities whilst sustaining and enhancing the
significance of its historic environment and heritage assets and their setting. This will be achieved
by exploiting redevelopment opportunities identified in the City Centre whilst retaining the special
architectural and historical character of the City.

Lichfield City Centre will be the focus for new office, leisure and shopping development. The Policies
Map identifies the extent of the city centre boundary, primary shopping area and primary and
secondary frontages.

The primary shopping area is the retail heart of Lichfield and its protection is key to the vitality and
viability of the city centre. As such any proposals (for retail uses) outside of the primary shopping
area or the town centre boundary (for all other main town centre uses) will be required to undertake
a sequential test and impact assessment in accordance with national guidance and local retail
assessment policy.

Within the primary frontages, any change of use applications from retail to other non-retail uses
will be resisted where it would undermine the vitality and viability of the city centre. Other town
centre uses, such as cafés, restaurants and offices should be directed towards the secondary
frontages.

The provision of new office space will be supported within the City centre boundary in order to meet
the evidence based annual floorspace requirement of 1,000 m2-1,400m2. Managed workspace style
office accommodation will be encouraged as part of mixed use schemes and new proposals should
have regard to the potential development sites set out in the City Centre Development Strategy.
All proposals for new office floorspace should have regard to the need to protect and enhance the
City's historic character. A sequential approach to the location of offices will be applied and where
there is clear evidence that there are no suitable office sites within the city centre, locations on the
edge of the city centre will be considered before locations elsewhere within and accessible to
Lichfield City. All sites should benefit from excellent public transport links to Lichfield City and should
not prejudice further office development within other town centres, including those outside the
district.

In order to meet the requirements from national/regional office market, the committed Lichfield
South Business Park extension site is allocated for Grade A office development (up to 12,500 m2)

Preferred policy: Burntwood economy

In Burntwood the focus will be on the creation of a vibrant and diverse town centre, through
regeneration. The town will be promoted as an area of increased and more diverse economic
activity, to include new retail, employment, leisure, residential, recreation, health, educational
resources and improvements to its environmental quality and public realm. These uses, together
with enhancements to pedestrian linkages and public transport facilities, will further assist in the
regeneration of the area and help to meet the needs of the residential population of the town.

To assist in this regeneration, Burntwood will be a main focus for investment, including public and
private sector funding. Specific projects that have been identified as part of a package of measures
to deliver Burntwood's town centre regeneration are detailed within the Infrastructure Delivery Plan
(IDP).

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions76

15
O
ureconom

ic
grow

th,enterprise
&
tourism

Page 85



Employment opportunities will be maximised to encourage Burntwood residents to be able to access
a range of locally accessible opportunities suitable to their skills and aspirations. Support will be
given for an enlarged town centre to meet local needs. The District Council will encourage new
retail development comprising both comparison and convenience floorspace as well as leisure
uses on the two key opportunity sites in order to increase the attractiveness and market share of
the centre.

Question 15

Do you agree with the preferred policy approach and non-strategic policies relating to our centres?
If not, what would you change and why?

Tourism

15.22 Lichfield District has a strong tourist sector, and a wealth of tourism facilities and activities
of local, regional and national importance. National policy tells us that the tourism economy can help
and support the viability and vitality of our town centres, and that it can support the rural economy
through rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the countryside.
National policy guidance also states that local planning authorities should consider specific needs of
the tourist industry including particular location and operational requirements and analyse the
opportunities for tourism to support local services, vibrancy and enhance the natural environment.

What you told us

15.23 The scope, issues and options consultation document listed in the review of existing local
plan policies that Core Policy 9: Tourism was to be reviewed and may require minor amendments.
Responses received were generally supportive of the current tourism policy.

15.24 Comments were received that the review document needs to expand on how it will support
the future development of the key tourist attractions in the district, namely Drayton Manor Park,
Lichfield Cathedral and the National Memorial Arboretum so that that planning restrictions do not
hinder future investment.

What evidence tells us

15.25 Our strategic plan acknowledges the important role that tourism plays in the district and seeks
to encourage increased visitor numbers to the district, increased spend in the local economy along
with more overnight visitors.

15.26 The Greater Birmingham and Black Country Visitor Economy Strategy seeks to inform and
support strategies and tourism activity within destinations, ensuring that the visitor economy works
effectively with other sectors to deliver wealth and position the Greater Birmingham area as a place
to live, work, invest and visit. Within the vistor economy strategy, the importance of Lichfield's key
tourist attractions are characterised by the historic city of Lichfield, the Staffordshire Hoard and the
Mercian Trail, the National Memorial Arboretum, Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB) and Drayton Manor Theme Park. The strategy outlines recent investment in Drayton Manor
Park and the new vistor centre which has recently opened at the National Memorial Arboretum. This
highlights the importance of supporting future investments in the tourism industry.

77Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

15
O
ur

ec
on

om
ic
gr
ow

th
,e
nt
er
pr
is
e
&
to
ur
is
m

Page 86

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Performance-efficiency/Strategic-plan-2016-2020.aspx
http://www2.lichfielddc.gov.uk/ldta/files/2011/01/Item-18-Appendix-A-GBVES-Framework-260814-FINAL-20-11-14.pdf


15.27 The Lichfield City Centre Development Strategy & Action Plan sets out five strategic objectives.
The vision of the document and purpose of the strategy is to increase visitor numbers in Lichfield City
and develop the city in a strategic way. The Economic Growth Service Plan 2018- 2019 sets out the
tourism priorities for the next financial year, one of which is the relocation of the tourist information
centre back into the refurbished St Mary's Centre.

15.28 In order to understand current and future hotel and visitor accommodation, Destination
Staffordshire, the official tourist board for Staffordshire have commissioned a study to be undertaken
taking a study for the whole of Staffordshire which will look to understand the future potential for hotel
and visitor accommodation development and establish an action plan to accelerate hotel development
across the city in line with identified opportunities.

Preferred policy direction: Tourism

The preferred policy approach for the strategic tourism policy is to retain some wording from the
current tourism policy where this is considered still relevant and in line with national policy. This
policy will then be amended to reflect the key tourism schemes and priorities for the district once
the evidence base is up to date.

Proposed wording to be retained:

The District Council will support the growth of sustainable tourism in the district where this does
not conflict with other local plan polices.

To help support the local economy, a variety of types of accommodation will be encouraged
increasing overnight capacity and encouraging longer tourist stays.

The existing local and national tourism attractions in the district, including those in Lichfield City
Centre, the National Memorial Arboretum, Drayton Manor Theme Park, Chasewater Country Park,
Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the National Forest and the Forest
of Mercia, the Central Rivers Initiative, the Trent Valley way and the Canal Network will be supported
and promoted where they do not conflict with other local plan policies.

Preferred policy direction:

Additional evidence base work will be undertaken in relation to tourism, however it is considered
that the strategic tourism policy should focus on:

Identification of tourism initiatives which will be supported in line with national and local policy;
and
Identification of preferred locations where appropriate for hotel and overnight stay
accommodation to encourage and enable longer tourist stays.

Question 16

Do you agree with the preferred policy approach relating to tourism? If not, what would you change
and why?

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions78

15
O
ureconom

ic
grow

th,enterprise
&
tourism

Page 87

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/Lichfield-City-Centre-Development-Strategy.pdf


16 Our healthy & safe communities

InfrastructureStrategic Objective & Priority 4

Healthy & Safe LifestylesStrategic Objective & Priority 11

High Quality DevelopmentStrategic Objective & Priority 15

Introduction

16.1 A person’s health and wellbeing is influenced by many things, including where they live, where
they work, education, how they interact with their local community and the lifestyle choices they make.
The environment that surrounds them is also very important, for example what shops, facilities and
services are available in their community and what access they have to local transport. When we
think of health we often consider our physical resilience and our ability to prevent, recover from and
live free of illness, injury or disability. Well-being is about feeling good and functioning well.

16.2 The current local plan seeks to creating communities in the district that are healthy, safe and
sustainable. Three of the current plans core polices relate to healthy and safe lifestyles, participation
in sport and physical activity and provision for arts and culture.

Healthy and safe lifestyles

What you told us

16.3 The responses that we received as part of the scope, issues and options consultation linked
to this section of the plan have a clear focus. Existing and proposed communities require the right
type and the right level of infrastructure for their local needs. Health provision is important but so is
having the opportunities to be active and lead a healthy lifestyle. It should however be noted that
some of our communities do not respond as well as others to our consultations and that in its self
could be an indication that those communities lack cohesion.

What the evidence tells us

16.4 National planning policy requires policies that aim to improve and change places to enable
them to support healthy and safe communities. There are three clear themes, promotion of social
interaction, creation of safe and accessible places and support for healthy lifestyles, especially where
this would address identified local health and well-being needs. The integration of places, connectivity,
and active and shared spaces are identified as key components of delivery. There is a clear
requirement to link infrastructure provision to reflect local health and well-being needs and to protect
unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services. There is a requirement that policies also take into
account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well -being
for all sections of the community. Access to a network of open space and recreation as a way of
providing for opportunities for sport and physical activity is promoted. It sets out the need to protect
existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land including playing fields and there is
a clear recognition that policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of need.
There is also an emphasis on the benefit of recreational open spaces in terms of contributing to
creating sustainable patterns of urban and rural growth.

16.5 In relation to healthy lifestyles, the local health and well-being needs of our district have been
explored and documented recently by a number of organisations including the District Council. The
result of this work is a number of documents that fit together to provide a clear picture of local need,

79Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

16
O
ur

he
al
th
y
&
sa
fe

co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 88

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


and set out actions that will respond to this in the future. The important headlines from each of these
documents relating to delivering healthy, inclusive and safe places have been summarised in the
following paragraphs.

16.6 The Lichfield locality profile 2016 identifies the following key messages that are important to
this theme within our plan. Whilst life expectancy has increased, there are a significant number of
people who spend a number of years at the end of their life in poor health. There are a high number
of people providing unpaid care who are, often older, in poor health and isolated themselves. There
are inequalities in relation to social isolation and ill health within a number of our wards, namely
Chasetown, Chadsmead, Stowe, Boney Hay & Central and Curborough and these areas require a
particular focus across partnerships. Obesity, unhealthy diets and inactive lifestyles are identified as
needing to be addressed to improve quality of life and reduce demand for services.

16.7 The latest district health profile for Lichfield District states that the health of our residents is
generally better than the national average. However, childhood obesity, smoking in pregnancy, drug
misuse and ageing well are identified as local priorities for Lichfield.

16.8 The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) of the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent
NHS partnership 2016 -2021 aims to support an improvement in health across Staffordshire &
Stoke-on-Trent, seeking to reduce health inequalities, delivering better outcomes for citizens, and
reducing the impact of the wider impacts on health. The plan seeks to deliver change through five
strategic objectives and identifies the following as health issues for the population: obesity, complex
frail older people, smoking, preventable mortality, diabetes and coronary heart disease, alcohol, and
mental health.

16.9 The Staffordshire Health andWell-being strategy for 2018 – 2023 outlines that 40% of ill-health
can be prevented if more people stop smoking, drink less, eat more healthily and get active, and
highlights the huge impact our aging population will have on health and care services.

16.10 The District Council's first health and well-being strategy was prepared in 2018 and covers
a two year period, it builds on the evidence contained in our strategic plan, provides a picture of the
key local health and well-being indicators and highlights areas that could be improved, namely
childhood obesity, smoking in pregnancy, drug misuse and ageing well. The strategy provides a
foundation for delivering future activities to maintain or improve health and well-being. The strategy
identifies key priorities for action which include encouraging people of all ages to be more active,
supporting older and vulnerable people in our communities to live and age well and to improve
workplace health, well-being and safety.

16.11 Therefore, in summary the reports above have identified that the priorities for our district
include a need to address its inactivity levels, causes for obesity and plan for the impact of our ageing
population to ensure people can age well and address pockets of increased need. We know that the
information contained within these reports are helping to shape policies across the council and will
also impact on how we work with our partners to ensure positive change in the health and well-being
of all our residents.

16.12 We understand the positive opportunities that policies relating to health and safe communities
can have on how our communities come together, meet and interact. To ensure that our policies are
positive and address priority health issues we will undertake a health impact assessment.

16.13 With regards to safe lifestyles, the Lichfield Locality Profile 2016 states that there are lower
than average levels of crime and anti-social behaviour within our district however the perception of
crime is greater than the experience of crime.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions80

16
O
urhealthy

&
safe

com
m
unities

Page 89

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Residents/Community/Community-funding/Downloads/Lichfield-locality-profile.pdf
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2017/e07000194.pdf
http://www.twbstaffsandstoke.org.uk/index.php/73-publication-of-staffordshire-and-stoke-on-trent-sustainability-and-transformation-plan
https://www.staffordbc.gov.uk/live/Documents/Policy%20and%20Plans/Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy.pdf


16.14 In terms of making safe places for our communities the community safety strategic assessment
2018 identifies domestic abuse, antisocial behaviour, child sexual exploitation, alcohol and mental
health as priorities. Priority wards for action include Boney Hay & Central, Chase Terrace, Chasetown,
Summerfield & All Saints, Chadsmead, Curborough, Leomansley and Stowe. A focus on prevention
and early intervention has been proven to work well within our district. The Community safety delivery
plan 2018-2021 reflects the priority actions and priority wards identified within the community safety
strategic assessment 2018 with the addition of child sexual exploitation. In terms of feeling safe,
around 99% of residents stated that they felt safe during daylight hours, and 83% feel safe after dark.

16.15 The reports set out above are detailed up to date evidence that we can base our strategic
healthy and safe communities policy on. However it is clear that national planning policy sees inclusive,
safe and health communities being delivered through a wide range of physical improvements, for
example sustainable transport options, quality design features. These elements will be addressed
within other theme areas and with alignment being achieved as each of them are completed. Therefore,
at this stage we have only produced a preferred policy direction.

16.16 The council is not the lead agency for many services and initiatives that support health and
well-being in our district, but through a health in all policies approach advocated with the health and
well-being strategy and supported by our future health impact assessment we can ensure that polices
can provide a foundation for delivery of activities and services that maintain and improve the health
and well- being of our communities.

Preferred policy direction: Healthy & safe communities

The district council will support initiatives that deliver positive impact on targets identified within the
current community safety strategic assessment and are in line with the Community Safety Delivery
Plan 2018-2021 or future equivalent replacement documents. An emphasis will be placed on
prevention and early intervention will be encouraged.

Support will be given to improvements in community infrastructure that are intending to improve
access to or enable delivery of positive improvements against locally evidenced health and well-being
needs.

Focus on supporting strategies that address current health priorities as identified in the district
health and well-being in particular those that tackle obesity will be encouraged.

The district will support investment in health infrastructure that will address health requirements
identified within the strategic transformation plan or future equivalent document.

Development proposals will understand the impact they will have on existing health infrastructure
and work with those partners responsible for the delivery and maintenance of such infrastructure
to ensure that any impact is addressed.

Open space and recreation

What you told us

16.17 The consultation responses that we received to the scope, issues and options consultation
were linked to this section of the plan have a clear focus. Existing and proposed communities require
the right type and the right level of infrastructure for their local need. Indoor leisure provision and
green spaces that give communities the opportunities to be healthy are important. Standards of open

81Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

16
O
ur

he
al
th
y
&
sa
fe

co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 90

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Residents/Community/Community-safety/Downloads/Community-safety-strategic-assessment.pdf


space should be based on up to date evidence. There were limited comments relating to open space
provision. More general comments were received from residents regarding the need to protect green
belt and greenfield land and preserve existing open space for future generations to enjoy.

What the evidence tells us

16.18 The physical activity and sport strategy sets out the council's approach to promoting sport
and physical activity to encourage more residents to become active. This overarching document
identifies a current picture of our district of high participation levels in sport, relative to national and
regional figures, offset by large numbers of people who are classed as inactive.

16.19 The strategy links physical inactivity with excess weight and obesity issues, evidence that
supports our strategic health theme. In Lichfield district it is estimated that 16.5% of children are
obese. In the period 2012-14, 66.7% of adults in Lichfield were estimated as having excess weight
which is higher than the national average, of these 23.5% are classed as obese. The strategy
advocates a link to both the health, social and economic benefits to sport, seeing the benefits of an
active community in the whole.

16.20 The strategy aims to not just bring the district up to the average but to aspire to achieve and
maintain high levels of participation. It sets out eleven wide ranging objectives to achieve this including
influencing attitudes and behaviours, supporting clubs and providers, provide good quality, access
places to be active and increase active travel levels.

16.21 Within the district there are many such spaces and facilities that are of varying quality which
are well used, these include leisure centres, parks, equipped children’s play areas, outdoor
football/rugby pitches, allotments, semi-natural green spaces and amenity green spaces.

16.22 Whilst the physical activity and sports strategy provides an action plan for support our current
evidence which focuses on open space and recreation it is out dated. The clear emphasis within
national planning policy is for open spaces, sports and physical activities policies to be based on
robust on up-to-date assessment for the need for open space, sport and recreation facilities. There
will also be a number of cross overs with other proposed and preferred policies which are being
shaped by a changing evidence base. To ensure that there is robust alignment it is felt that our
strategic open space and recreation policy will continue to evolve.

16.23 We also know that we will need a number of non- strategic policies that set out standards
around facilities to support open space provision and sports and recreation provision at a local level.
We are going to complete a number of studies which will support these topic areas. Timescales of
completion of these documents can be found in Appendix A.

16.24 We know that a policy that supports the delivery of facilities which will enable people to
continue to be active and also start being active will to some extent address the obesity figures the
district records. Also the health impact assessment could identify a policy direction to specifically
address inactivity and obesity within our communities.

16.25 The role neighbourhood plans can play in the identification and delivery of open space and
recreational provision is summarised within the infrastructure section of this plan.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions82

16
O
urhealthy

&
safe

com
m
unities

Page 91

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Residents/Sports-fitness-and-wellbeing/Downloads/Lichfield-District-Physical-Activity-and-Sport-Strategy.pdf


Preferred policy: Open space and recreation

The protection of existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing
fields, should not be built on unless it is for one of the exceptions listed in the national planning
policy framework.

In line with the evidence base the District Council will seek to encourage and enhance existing
open space, sport and and recreation facilities. This includes initiatives and the provision of
supporting infrastructure that enhance and increase accessibility of existing provision where this
does not conflict with other policies in this document.

Support will be given for appropriate improvements to community infrastructure which increase the
opportunities to access activities that increase health and well being in our communities.

Support will be given to shared facilities which increase the opportunities to access activities that
increase health and well being in our communities including provision within schools and colleges.

Sustainable places that make easy for our communities to become active including open space
infrastructure that provides a connective active travel routes (walking and cycling) between existing
open space, sports and recreational infrastructure will be supported.

Initiatives that influence attitudes and behaviours to inspire demand for sport and physical activity
will be supported including those that aim to address obesity, work with our schools and colleges
and support our aging population to live and age well.

Initiatives that support leisure providers including clubs will be supported.

We will support the development and growth of annual or one off sporting events that are accessible
to our communities and promote an activity lifestyle where they are not in conflict with other polices
within this plan.

Question 17

We know that obesity is one of our challenges and we are currently tacking this through the provision
of infrastructure and support initiatives and organisations that will increase activity in our
communities. Are there any other opportunities that can be supported by policy that will address
the issue of obesity directly in our district?

Provision for arts and culture

What you told us

16.26 The scope, issues and options consultation did not result in any representations that specifically
address culture or arts. We do know that infrastructure to ensure our communities function inclusively
is important. Whilst comments received talked generally about community needs no specific response
indicated that lack of social interaction or community was identity as current issue for any of our
communities.

83Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

16
O
ur

he
al
th
y
&
sa
fe

co
m
m
un

iti
es

Page 92



What the evidence tells us

16.27 The current local plan provides support for improvements to facilities that promote art and
cultural activity. It is acknowledged that these elements can play an important role in promoting social
inclusion, instilling identity and contributing to ensuring the vitality of town centres. The district is rich
in cultural and art assets and activities. We need to ensure these assets are protected, but can also
grow and adapt to be relevant to our communities and play a part in social interaction.

16.28 There is very little current independent evidence that identifies gaps or plans for the future
beyond that of which is available on a individual asset level. The main overarching document is the
Lichfield City Centre Development Strategy and Action Plan. The development of this document
involved a number of key organisations and groups responsible for cultural and arts assets coming
together to agree a shared vision and supporting action plan for the city. The overarching vision
makes reference to cultural and heritage and the action plan contains a number of objectives that
raise awareness of and support improvements to the districts assets. The document does not however
have a particular cultural or arts focus or provide a district wide assessment of need. This lack
evidence is a constraint in terms of developing a strategic policy for this for this plan.

16.29 Therefore due to the current nature of the existing evidence base and further the strong links
to other strategic policy themes we have decided to not developed a proposed strategic policy or a
proposed policy direction at this stage. We are instead going to take this opportunity to further seek
views from the District Councils partners who currently delivering cultural/ art programmes and are
responsibility for art and cultural assets.

16.30 We aim to use this consultation to understand more fully the cultural and art landscape of
our district to inform the context and detail of this emerging policy. We also need to understand,
following consultation, where gaps remain in the evidence that will support our future policy. We will
review where the provision of arts and culture is best placed with the local plan to enable meaningful
delivery. As this and other strategic themes develop we will take the opportunity to consider whether
a stand alone policy is required or if integration within other strategic policies offers a greater opportunity
to enable deliver provision for arts and culture.

Question 18

Are you aware of current evidence supporting arts and culture provision or identifying lack of
provision within our district?

Question 19

Do you think a stand alone arts and cultural strategic policy is required or would integration of
requirements within one or a number of other strategic polices facilitate greater opportunity for
delivery?

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions84

16
O
urhealthy

&
safe

com
m
unities

Page 93

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/Lichfield-City-Centre-Development-Strategy.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/Lichfield-City-Centre-Development-Strategy.pdf


17 Our natural resources

Countryside CharacterStrategic Objective & Priority 12

Natural ResourcesStrategic Objective & Priority 13

Introduction

17.1 Our district has a rich natural and built landscape, including heritage assets, protected and
important landscapes and habitats. Our preferred vision seeks to protect, conserve and enhance our
natural resources as well these being recreational assets for our communities.

17.2 There are a variety of wildlife rich habitats within the district including heathlands, ancient
woodlands and semi-improved grasslands, along with water features supporting a wide range of flora
and fauna. There are a number of internationally important areas within and close to the district
including the Cannock Chase and River Mease Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), several Sites
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI’s) and the Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB).

17.3 National planning policy makes clear that through their local plans authorities must plan
appropriately for their natural environment including internationally, nationally and locally important
sites.

What you told us

17.4 There were a number of comments made in response to the scope, issues and options
consultation which made clear that the districts natural resources are valued as important assets
which communities value. The landscapes surrounding Lichfield city and Burntwood were considered
as making an important contribution to the setting of each of these settlements.

17.5 A number of comments made in response to the consultation suggested that the green belt
and the wider countryside should be protected from development while others viewed development
as a way of enabling improvements and better managing our assets.

17.6 Through its response to the scope, issues and options consultation Natural England suggested
that parts of the evidence base in relation to the natural environment which support our current local
plan would need to be updated and revised. The timescales associated with the production of this
evidence base is set out at Appendix A.

What the evidence tells us

17.7 National planning policy is clear in its commitment to conserve and enhance the natural
environment and requires local authorities to plan appropriately for these areas. National policy
suggests local plans should identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats
and wider ecological networks. There are clear requirements relating to development and designated
sites, and a move towards connecting ecological networks and facilitating an increase in biodiversity.

17.8 The current local plan provides protection and support for enhancements to the districts natural
environment. It focuses on improving the relationship, connectivity, interpretation and integration of
our natural resources and seeks to deliver overall net gain for biodiversity. It offers protection to
mineral resources, commits to contributing toward themanagement and protection of the internationally,
nationally and locally important natural assets. Within the current local plan there are a number of

85Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

17
O
ur

na
tu
ra
lr
es
ou

rc
es

Page 94

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


specific development management policies relating to the enhancement and protection specific
elements of our natural environment for example the Cannock Chase and River Mease Special Areas
of Conservation.

17.9 Our evidence base in terms of identifying and mapping the districts habitats and biodiversity
requires updating in order to ensure that we are able to comply with national planning policy
requirements. There is a need to understand the ecological diversity of the district as a whole. There
is a range of evidence which the district council will prepare and produce, the timescales associated
with this evidence are set out at Appendix A.

17.10 Evidence has been prepared recently national and at county council levels in relation to
landscape character. This suggests that the district falls within four broad landscape character areas.
This work needs to be supported by up to date evidence which enables the areas of local significance
to be identified and their qualities and special characteristics to be understood. Specific evidence for
the Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty has been prepared detailing the landscape
character types which make up this important area.

17.11 There are a number of internationally important landscapes within and close to the district
which must be considered within the local plan review.

17.12 The River Mease Special Area of Conservation is located in the north east of the district.
Evidence prepared to support the current local plan identified that development within the water
catchment of the river could potentially have negative impacts on the water quality, habitats and
species of the river system. Working in partnership with other authorities and agencies a set of
measures have been established to prevent harm arising to the SAC and also enable appropriate
development. We know that this way of working has led to improvements to water quality.

17.13 Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation is located outside our district. A significant
body of evidence has been prepared by a number of local authorities around the Cannock Chase
SAC. The evidence established that some types of development within a zone of influence of the
SAC can have a harmful effect upon this sensitive environment, part of this zone falls within Lichfield
District.

17.14 Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green or water spaces and other
environmental features. It includes a wide variety of green and blue assets including formal parks,
gardens woodlands, waterways, street trees and open countryside, wildlife sites, lakes, rivers, private
gardens and allotments. These assets are multi-functional, in private and public ownership and can
cross administrative boundaries. The national planning policy framework states that we should set
out a strategic approach which plans positively for the creation and protection of networks of green
infrastructure. Biodiversity and landscapes can form part of the districts response to climate change,
in particular the risk of overheating from rising temperatures and how our natural environment can
enable and support healthy lifestyles.

17.15 To support the local plan review the council intends to produce a green infrastructure study,
the timescales for this work are outlined at Appendix A. The study will identify the sub-regional and
local green infrastructure assets we have in our district. We will then be able to create policies that
can support identified needs and opportunities that facilitate the protection, enhancement, restoration
and extension of the green infrastructure networks. We will use this evidence to enable policies to
support partnerships organisations and initiatives that seek to deliver opportunities including canal
networks, Central Rivers Initiative, Forest of Mercia, National Forest and Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions86

17
O
urnaturalresources

Page 95



17.16 There are a number of non-strategic policies relating to our natural resources within the
current local plan which it is suggested be carried forward subject to some alterations to ensure
consistency with the revised national planning policy framework. Appendix B provides details of
these policies and why it is considered that they should be considered further through the local plan
review.

17.17 The individual elements of our natural resources section are broad but their robustness and
ability to deliver in a consistent and cohesive manner requires an overarching strategic policy. We
are also clear that we will need to address a number of statutory responsibilities. We are also mindful
that we are currently gathering a significant amount of evidence across most aspects of this section
which will inform the final version of the local plan policy.

Preferred policy direction

The strategic policy will set out the overarching approach relating to the districts natural resources
and environmental assets to deliver a consistent and cohesive approach to managing development
and protecting our assets.

The countryside of Lichfield District is valued as an asset in its own right and will be protected.
Sites that receive statutory protection as part of their designation will be protected and enhanced
in line with their relevant legislation.

The preferred approach will be to support the overarching strategic policy with a suite of non-strategic
policies relating to specific environments and natural resources. These policies should cover:

Green Belt and Local Green Spaces;
Internationally important natural environments such as the Special Areas of Conservation,
including Cannock Chase SAC and the River Mease SAC;
Natural and historic landscapes;
Water quality;
Biodiversity and habitats including seeking to delivery an overall net gain for biodiversity; and
Green Infrastructure and connectivity. Enhancement, restoration and extension of our green
infrastructure will be supported including opportunities that enable connections or stepping
stones between elements.

Question 20

Do you agree with the proposed approach towards natural resources? Is there an alternative policy
approach we should be considering?

87Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

17
O
ur

na
tu
ra
lr
es
ou

rc
es

Page 96



18 Our built & historic environment

TourismStrategic objective & priority 10:

Countryside characterStrategic objective & priority 12:

Built environmentStrategic objective & priority 14:

High quality developmentStrategic objective & priority 15:

Introduction

18.1 Our built and historic environment gives Lichfield District its unique character and influences
our perceptions of a place. Within Lichfield District there is an existing and extensive high quality
historic environment, the district currently has 21 Conservation Areas and over 750 listed buildings
including Lichfield Cathedral which acts as a focal point to the historic settlement pattern and visually
from many points across the district. Other heritage assets across the district include Scheduled
Monuments, locally listed buildings and historic parks and gardens. These heritage assets are inherently
sustainable and their re-use reduces energy expenditure in the manufacture and sourcing of new
construction materials and makes maximum use of existing embedded energy. This plan will seek
the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment which will ensure our historic assets are
sustained and enhanced and the valuable contribution they make to the character of Lichfield and
their cultural, economic and environmental benefits can be realised.

18.2 Good quality design is an integral part of sustainable development and should enhance the
buildings and spaces around them and promote well-being now and for the future. Good quality design
can raise the standard of design more generally in an area and for some areas in Lichfield District
this relates to the surroundings not just new buildings. Changes such as more tree planting and
improving paths can make an area more attractive and appealing and encourage people to walk
more. Walking has many benefits as it can help tackle obesity and encourage community cohesion
through increased opportunities for social interactions and can help address climate change by
reducing the number of car journeys.

What you told us

18.3 Through the scope, issues and options consultation Historic England provided comments
referring to their national guidance and advising that an up to date and robust evidence base should
support the local plan. Staffordshire County Council also suggest a review of the evidence to assist
in giving a better understanding of the archaeological potential. Lichfield Civic Society expressed
concern about the city centre and its capability to absorb any more development, they considered
that there should be greater protection and enhancement for heritage assets, particularly in relation
to Lichfield city centre with its special character and environment. The civic society consider there
should be a policy for protecting and extending the open space network, links and corridors within
Lichfield City and the policies which seek high quality design need strengthening.

18.4 A number of representations provided by the development industry considered they had
protected the character of the conservation areas within their proposed development options. Equally
a number of representations by residents and interest groups expressed concern at the impact upon
conservation areas, particularly those of Shenstone and Lichfield and the setting of the historic
settlements of Burntwood, Thorpe Constantine and the setting of the National Memorial Arboretum.
A member of the public was concerned about the impact upon Knowle Hill and the potential for
archaeological remains.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions88

18
O
urbuilt&

historic
environm

ent

Page 97

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf


What the evidence tells us

18.5 There is a duty upon council's to preserve listed buildings and their setting and to preserve
and enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area. National policy states that our
heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and sets out that different levels of protection should
be given to certain heritage assets and this should be reflected in local policy. National policy should
establish a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment , including
heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay or the threats. It includes tests for assessing the
impacts upon the 'significance' of heritage assets and how harm to the 'significance' or loss of a
heritage asset should be considered in decision making which it is not necessary to duplicate in local
policy.

18.6 The council has completed a review of the 17 conservation area appraisals and management
plans which have helped identify positive and negative impacts within the conservation areas. We
assist in maintaining the Historic Environment Record which identifies heritage assets across the
district and can assist the greatest potential for archaeology. We protect and sustain our historic
assets by annually reviewing the buildings classed as 'at risk' through neglect and decay to see if any
action is necessary to prevent harm and assist developers in delivering good, sensitive design through
the advice in the historic environment supplementary planning document. To inform the current local
plan, evidence was prepared on the historic landscape. Whilst little changes in the historic environment
an update of this evidence to consider the changes is appropriate to provide a robust and up to date
evidence base, this will enable a refresh of the Historic Environment supplementary planning document
and inform this plan.

18.7 New evidence on the landscape character of the county and a new management plan is being
prepared for the AONB.

Preferred policy: Historic and built environment

The district council will protect and improve the built environment and have special regard to the
conservation and enhancement of the historic environment through positive action and partnership
working. The historic environment contributes to sustainable communities, including economic
vitality and new development must make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and
local character of the historic environment.

Designated heritage assets of the highest significance including Grade 1 and Grade 2* listed
buildings and their settings and scheduledmonuments and their settings will be conserved, enhanced
and given the highest level of protection. Conservation areas, archaeological sites, locally listed
buildings, locally important parks and gardens and other heritage assets will be conserved and
enhanced. The character and appearance of conservation areas will be protected and enhanced
by development and any physical improvements to conservation areas will be linked to the objectives
contained within conservation areas appraisals and their management plans where appropriate.
In conjunction with the landscape policy, landscapes and views that form the setting to the built
and historic environment will also be conserved and enhanced.

Change will be directed to the most appropriate locations taking into account the District’s heritage
assets and their settings, including the historic landscape, as informed by local evidence base and
the need to safeguard the future economic use of our centres and heritage assets. The re-use
maintenance and repair of listed buildings and other heritage assets will be supported, particularly
those that have been identified as being at risk. Development proposals which conserve and
enhance a heritage asset or its setting will be supported where clear and convincing justification
has been provided as explained further in the policy on supporting information.

89Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

18
O
ur

bu
ilt
&
hi
st
or
ic
en

vi
ro
nm

en
t

Page 98

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Supplementary-planning-documents/Downloads/Historic-environment-SPD/Historic-Environment-SPD.pdf


Opportunities to improve the understanding of the District’s historic environment and local character
will be supported through partnership working with local communities and societies.

The District Council will seek to maintain local distinctiveness through the built environment in terms
of buildings and public spaces and enhance the relationship and linkages between the built and
natural environment. Views and vistas can add to the legibility and distinctiveness of an area and
help create a strong sense of place, especially in new developments. Evidence has shown that
Lichfield City is characterised by the five spires emerging above the roofs and tree canopy and this
will be protected and should inform the height, scale and layout for new developments, this and
other important views will be identified through evidence.

High quality design, tree planting, landscaping and green spaces will be required as part of new
development throughout the district to improve quality of place, reduce the heat island effect,
contribute to community safety and well being.

Question 21

What do you consider are the significant long distance views which help to identify that you are in
Lichfield District and are worth further consideration for local protection?

Built environment

18.8 Design has a great influence on how we interact with our environment. It can help us identify
our village or even the estate where we live. It can make us feel safe or unsafe and can promote pride
and respect for our area. Not all of our settlements are protected through conservation areas or historic
environment legislation, however often an area can have a locally distinct appearance which is worth
respecting and can be enhanced through good design which relates well to the area. New development
should help deliver an attractive environment and help sustain the historic environment by not imposing
restrictions upon the potential for heritage assets to be sustained and for a changes of use to be made
which enables them to be put to viable use consistent with their conservation. Promotion of high
quality design throughout the district is important and relates not just to the built vernacular but also
the natural environment and hard and soft landscaping. There is considerable potential to achieve a
high quality built environment which can be responsive to changing weather patterns and help sustain
our historic environment.

18.9 The current local plan strategy contains Policy BE1 which seeks to ensure a high quality built
environment by providing a list of criteria to be considered when assessing new development proposals.

What you told us

18.10 Through the response to the scope issues and options the civic society considered that
policies relating to design needed significant amendment to ensure it supports truly 'high quality
development' in an effective manner.

What evidence tell us

18.11 National policy considers good design a key aspect of sustainable development as it creates
better places in which to live and work and can help support the sustained use of the historic
environment. National policy seeks to promote development which will function well throughout its
lifetime and should make efficient use of the land. Development should be visually attractive as a

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions90

18
O
urbuilt&

historic
environm

ent

Page 99



result of good architecture, layout and appropriate landscaping, sympathetic to local character and
history. Policies should not prevent or discourage appropriate innovation or change, and should give
consideration to the future use of electric vehicles and smart technologies within developments.

18.12 Development which helps raise the standard of designmore generally in an area, development
should create a strong sense of place which is attractive, welcoming, inclusive, accessible and
promotes health and well-being. National guidance advises that good design should be considered
early in the evolution of a proposal and plans should include policies which reflect an understanding
and evaluation of the area's defining characteristics and provide clear expectations for the quality of
development to provide a framework for distinctive places with a consistent and high quality standard
of design. It is also recognised that it is important to maintain a high quality of design throughout the
construction phases of development. The cumulative impacts of minor changes to a scheme such as
changes in materials or changes over time for example minor changes to advertisements are not
allowed to diminish the quality of the scheme and the built environment.

18.13 The council requires the submission of design and access statements as part of its validation
guidance for development of buildings in conservation areas and all major development, which includes
proposals of more than 10 dwellings. The council currently has a policy promoting high quality design
which has proved effective in negotiating design within proposals, however it is worth investigating
how the existing policy can be improved and strengthened. Locally a gap in evidence which supports
local standards to be expected in promoting good design has been identified. Evidence will need to
be prepared in order to establish local design standards. Some policies relating to design currently
exists this includes neighbourhood plans, conversation area appraisals and management plans and
the AONB management plan. These can be used to inform the design of new development in the
areas to which they relate and which promote local distinctiveness and high quality design.

Preferred policy: High quality design

All development proposals should ensure that a high quality sustainable built environment can be
achieved. Development will be permitted where it can be clearly and convincingly demonstrated
that it will have a positive impact upon:

The significance of the historic environment, such as archaeological sites, sites of historic
landscape value, listed buildings, conservation areas, locally listed buildings and skylines
containing important historic, built and natural features. Where the proposal does not relate
to a heritage asset it will be necessary to demonstrate that the proposed development will
not restrict the ability for the heritage asset to be sustained and be used for a viable economic
use consistent with their conservation.
Reducing carbon emissions, by ensuring all new development and conversion schemes are
located and designed to maximise energy conservation and utilise sustainable design and
construction techniques appropriate to the size and type of development, using local and
sustainable sources of building materials wherever possible.
The built vernacular. New development, including extensions and alterations to existing
buildings, should carefully respect the character of the surrounding area and development in
terms of plan, layout, size, scale, materials, proportion, detail, architectural design and public
views.
Public safety and perception of safety, health and reducing inequality, including the latest
'designing out crime' principles and inclusive design.
Amenity, by avoiding development which causes disturbance through unreasonable traffic
generation, noise, light, dust, fumes or other disturbance.
The natural environment. Effective hard and soft landscaping including tree planting will be
required and should be implemented in an integrated manner, making use of green corridors
for movement of people as well as for biodiversity.

91Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

18
O
ur

bu
ilt
&
hi
st
or
ic
en

vi
ro
nm

en
t

Page 100



Sustainable travel. New development should be located in areas which have a good safe
access to public transport to reduce the need to travel by private car and should optimise
choice of sustainable travel, particularly walking, cycling and public transport, creating new
public transport nodes where necessary and providing space in the design for infrastructure
which can encourage the use of smart technologies such as electric and driverless cars.
Where opportunity exists for the creation of new views to important landmarks and vistas
these should be encouraged and incorporated into developments.
Specifically designed features, which are incorporated into developments in order to enhance
the bespoke nature and individuality of design solutions will be encouraged where these are
appropriate to the context of the area.
The public realm, patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport
considerations integral to the design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places.

For strategic development a masterplan will be necessary to ensure the vision of the development
is not diluted over time and through cumulativeminor changes. Small andmedium scale development
can use area wide design assessments to assist in bringing forward sites.

Question 22

Do you think having a masterplan for small and medium scale developments would assist in bringing
forward sites and retaining the design quality of a development? How can we future proof through
design to create sustainable development and deliver the listed buildings and conservation areas
of the future?

Are there any communities in Lichfield District which would benefit from improvements to their built
environment?

Evidence supporting heritage proposals

18.14 Our heritage assets are irreplaceable and great weight will be given to their conservation, it
is therefore essential to identify and understand the particular significance of any heritage asset and
its setting that may be affected by a proposal.

What you told us

18.15 Through the scope, issues and options consultation Lichfield Civic Society consider the policy
in the current local plan should strengthened to ensure the special character of our heritage assets
are safeguarded and enhanced.

What evidence tells us

18.16 Policy BE2 within the Local Plan Allocations requires sufficient information to be submitted
to support the understanding of proposals affecting heritage assets. Understanding how proposals
impact upon a heritage asset is essential in order to promote good design and assist in making
informed decisions and assist in reducing delays in decision making. There is a considerable amount
of information available which can be utilised to assist in carrying out a heritage statement and liaison
with our conservation officers is recommended as the statement needs to contain enough information
to be sufficient to understand the the impact of the proposal upon the heritage asset and proportionate
to the asset's importance, advice will be particularly important where there is a potential impact upon
archaeological assets which are either known or could potentially exist.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions92

18
O
urbuilt&

historic
environm

ent

Page 101



18.17 Understanding the wider context of the historic environment is important, for example within
Lichfield City the view of the five spires above the roof and tree canopy is a significant local view and
is part of the setting of the historic settlement. Understanding the impact of proposals upon the setting
of the historic environment is important, especially where proposals are of a large scale or increase
the mass and height of development.

18.18 Two policies which also influence design were included within the local plan allocations these
relate to shopfronts and advertisements and service access within our centres. It is proposed to retain
these policies unchanged from their current wording as part of the suite of policies relating to our built
and historic environment. Detail of the policy is included at Appendix B of this document.

Preferred policy direction: Evidence supporting heritage proposals

To enable the effect of a proposal on a heritage asset (designated or non-designated) and/or their
setting to be assessed a heritage statement should accompany a proposal. The Heritage Statement
should be undertaken by someone with appropriate expertise and should include:

an assessment of the significance of the heritage asset including any contribution made by
their setting;
an assessment of the impact of the proposals on the significance including how the proposal
has sought to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage assets conservation and
any aspect of the proposal. This may require an assessment of the impact of the proposal
upon longer distance significant views and vistas.

It should include an archaeological assessment where relevant.

Clear and convincing evidence will be required for any harm or loss to the significance of a heritage
asset.

Question 23

Are there any alternative approaches which should be considered?

93Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

18
O
ur

bu
ilt
&
hi
st
or
ic
en

vi
ro
nm

en
t

Page 102



19 Our growth needs & requirements

19.1 The preceding chapters of this document have set out the preferred policy options and policy
directions for theme based strategic and non-strategic policies. The 'Our homes for the future' and
'Our economic growth, enterprise and tourism' chapters in particular have begun to set out the possible
levels of growth that will need to be planned for.

19.2 Notwithstanding this the scope, issues and options document included a range of strategic
growth options which the council felt should be considered as possible approaches to the locating
and spatial distribution of growth within the district. Four strategic options for residential growth were
included, along with two strategic options for employment growth. Within these options were a range
of options, some of which, have been informed by the strategic growth study and the strategic housing
needs study. Depending on the levels of growth which the local plan review will need to plan for it
may be that a combination of options may be required.

19.3 The strategic growth options identified were as follows:

Town focused development: focusing development in and around the two largest settlements
in the district, Lichfield and Burntwood, and allowing growth adjacent to towns just beyond the
district boundary;
Town and key rural village focused development: focusing development in and around the two
largest settlements, Lichfield and Burntwood, and other sustainable villages identified as key
rural settlements;
Dispersed development: allowing the dispersal of development across all settlements including
smaller rural settlements which may have a more limited range of services and facilities; and
New settlement development: focusing the majority of growth on a new settlement to be located
within the district.

19.4 Through the scope, issues and options document the potential opportunities and challenges
of each option were set out and we asked through the consultation for peoples views on these.
Generally there was a high level of response with wide ranging views these options, these are
considered in greater detail in the following chapters which consider the options in turn. Generally
there were varying levels of support for each option, such a response is not uncommon, particularly
when issues concerning the possible locations of new growth are involved. There was a significant
level of opposition to the potential option of large scale growth in the form of a new settlement close
to Shenstone.

19.5 These options have now been considered in further detail, and we have undertaken a high
level assessment in light of national planning policy and our current evidence in order to understand
the options and consider which of those may be preferred. Options have been considered having
regard to the following:

The recommendations of the strategic growth study including the possible growth options and
'preferred' options;
The preferred settlement hierarchy as set out within the 'Our spatial strategy' chapter of this
document;
Consideration of areas of importance including areas of constraint as set out within national
planning policy (including green belt, local green space, areas of flood risk and areas of ecological
importance);
The availability of land as assessed through our land availability assessments, the call for sites
schedule and other related evidence; and
Sustainability appraisal.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions94

19
O
urgrow

th
needs

&
requirem

ents

Page 103

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Strategic-HousingGrowth-Studies/Greater-Birmingham-HMA-Strategic-Growth-Study.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Strategic-HousingGrowth-Studies/Strategic-housing-needs-study-stage-3-2015.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Strategic-HousingGrowth-Studies/Strategic-housing-needs-study-stage-3-2015.pdf


19.6 For each of the options the high level assessment is illustrated by a colour-coded table. The
assumptions behind this assessment and the colour-coding are set out below.

Table 19.1 Option assessment assumptions

RedAmberGreenHigh level assessment
criteria

Residential growth optionsResidential growth optionsResidential growth optionsStrategic growth study
recommended options

Not applicable - this category
is not applicable for this
criteria. If an option is not

The option is identified within
the strategic growth study but
is not identified as an option for
further exploration.

The option is identified as one
of the options for further
exploration through a council's
local plan within the strategic
growth study.

identified within the strategic
growth study then this criteria
is assessed as 'not applicable'.Employment growth options

Employment growth options
Employment growth optionsNot applicable - this criteria is

not applicable to the
employment growth options so
is excluded from the high level
assessment.

Not applicable - this criteria is
not applicable to the
employment growth options so
is excluded from the high level
assessment.

Not applicable - this criteria is
not applicable to the
employment growth options so
is excluded from the high level
assessment.

Residential growth optionsResidential growth optionsResidential growth optionsPreferred settlement hierarchy
or Preferred employment
locations The option is not consistent

with the preferred settlement
hierarchy included within this
document.

Not applicable - no residential
options are assessed as
'amber' through the high level
assessment.

The option is consistent with
the preferred settlement
hierarchy included within this
document.

Employment growth optionEmployment growth optionsEmployment growth options

The option is not consistent
with the preferred employment
locations set out within this
document.

The option is located within or
adjacent to existing
employment areas which are
not identified as preferred
employment locations set out
within this document (e.g.
smaller rural employment
areas).

The option is consistent with
the preferred employment
locations set out within this
document.

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Green belt or local green
space

The option is either located
wholly within the green belt or
an area where growth would

The option is in an area where
it is possible to for growth to
both impact or not impact upon

The option is not within the
green belt and therefore would
not impact upon the green belt.

impact upon the green belt. Orthe green belt or a local greenNo local green spaces are
designated within the area of
the option.

where an option is wholly
designated as a local green
space.

space (e.g. a settlement where
green belt or local green space
is only present at one part of
the settlement such as
Lichfield city or Armitage with
Handsacre).

Residential growth optionsResidential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Areas of flood risk

The option is within an area
where flood risk risk is
identified on the environment
agency's flood mapping.

95Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

19
O
ur

gr
ow

th
ne

ed
s
&
re
qu

ire
m
en

ts

Page 104



RedAmberGreenHigh level assessment
criteria

The option is located in an
area where a small area of
flood risk is identified on the
environment agency's flood
mapping.

The option is not within an area
of flood risk as identified on the
environment agency's flood
mapping.

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Areas or assets of ecological
importance

Areas or assets of ecological
importance are located within
the area of the option.

The option is an area which is
within the zone of influence of
an area of ecological
importance.

The option is not within an area
of ecological importance
including zones of influence
(e.g. is not within the zone of
influence of Cannock Chase
SAC or the River Mease SAC).

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Known heritage assets

There are a significant number
of known heritage assets which
could be impacted by the
option.

There are some known
heritage assets which may be
impacted by development
within the option (e.g. this
includes listed buildings,
designated conservation areas
and the setting of historic
towns).

There are no known heritage
assets in the options area.

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential & employment
growth options

Residential &
employment growth options

Land availability

The land availability evidence
demonstrates that there is no
or not sufficient land known to
be available within the area of
the option.

There is a more limited level of
land known to be available
within the option to deliver a
level of growth considered to
be appropriate to the size of
the option.

There is sufficient land known
to be available within the
option to deliver a level of
growth which is considered to
be appropriate to the size of
the option.

19.7 All of the choices within each of the residential and employment growth options have been
subject to environmental assessment through the sustainability appraisal. The results of this
assessment are set out after each option within the following chapters.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions96

19
O
urgrow

th
needs

&
requirem

ents

Page 105



20 Residential growth options

Residential growth option 1: Town focused development

Figure 20.1 Option 1: Town focused

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

Sutton Coldfield/Birmingham

Burntwood

Rugeley

Brownhills

Options identified through the
Strategic Growth Study
Potential other options

Lichfield

Tamworth

Lichfield District
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

20.1 This possible option would see
themajority of new housing being located
within and around the largest settlements
within and adjacent to the district. Growth
would be delivered within the existing
urban areas of settlements, re-using
brownfield land and increasing the
density of development where possible.
It is likely that given the possible levels
of growth to be planned for sustainably
located sites beyond the existing urban
area of settlements would be needed.

20.2 This approach could also include
the consideration of sustainable
extensions within our district next to
towns which are just outside of the district
boundary including Rugeley, Tamworth
and Sutton Coldfield. The current local
plan includes growth next to Rugeley and
Tamworth to assist in meeting their
needs.

What you told us

20.3 The scope, issues and options
consultation showed a generally positive
response to this strategic option. Many
of these positive comments were

supportive of the approach as it would focus development on the largest settlements which have the
best level of services and facilities. Unsurprisingly there were many supportive comments which then
related specific sites and locations across the district to the strategic options identified. Whilst this is
not unusual it does also demonstrate that there are various available sites which could be considered
if this strategic option were chosen.

20.4 Not all the comments received in relation to the town focused development growth option
were supportive, indeed a number preferred other growth options or suggested this option should not
be pursued as it had the potential to impact upon the countryside and the green belt.

What the evidence tells us

20.5 The strategic growth study identifies a number of options for sustainable urban extensions to
towns and settlements; including land to the east of Lichfield, to the north and to the west of Tamworth
and to the north of Brownhills. Of these options the growth study recommends that more detailed
consideration be given to east of Lichfield and north of Tamworth.

20.6 The strategic growth options within the scope, issues and options document were subject to
environmental assessment. The sustainability assessment assessed the town focused growth option
and concluded that broadly this approach would be sustainable and was one of the better scoring of
the strategic options assessed. This is partly because this approach would reduce the geographic

97Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

20
R
es
id
en

tia
lg
ro
w
th

op
tio
ns

Page 106

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Strategic-HousingGrowth-Studies/Greater-Birmingham-HMA-Strategic-Growth-Study.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Sustainability-assessment-Scope-issues-options.pdf


spread of development, contribute to economic growth as well as reducing the need to travel by
utilising and enhancing public transport links. Further environmental assessment has been undertaken
on the individual options within this strategic growth option and this is considered in more detail below.

20.7 To further understand the possible growth options within the town focused option we have
undertaken a high level assessment of the various options. This assessment draws on evidence
including the strategic growth study and the strategic housing land availability assessment and call
for sites schedule. The results of this assessment are set out in the following table.

Table 20.1 Option 1: Town focused growth

Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
settlement
hierarchy

Strategic
growth study
recommended
options

Option

Known
heritage
assets

Areas or
assets of
ecological
importance

Areas of
flood risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Not applicableGrowth at
Lichfield city

Growth to the
north of
Lichfield

Not applicableGrowth at
Burntwood

Growth to the
north of
Brownhills

Not applicableGrowth to the
north of Little
Aston / Sutton
Coldfield

Growth to the
north of
Tamworth

Growth to the
west of
Tamworth

Not applicableGrowth around
Rugeley

20.8 The strategic growth study included a strategic green belt review of the entire green belt within
the housing market area. This review identified areas of green belt which were assessed as providing
either a 'principal contribution' or a 'supporting contribution' to the purposes of the green belt as defined
in national planning policy. This high level review would suggest that growth options to the south,
east and west of Lichfield city and Burntwood, to the west of Tamworth and around Shenstone would
be in areas of green belt assessed as providing a 'principal contribution'. The council will undertake
a comprehensive green belt review which will provide further detailed evidence in respect of the green
belt. Through this more localised evidence the council will be able to consider the green belt in greater
detail. The timescales for this are set out at Appendix A.

20.9 The options within table 20.1 have been assessed through the sustainability appraisal. Broadly
the options were assessed as having similar effects on the environment, being assessed as providing
positive effects in terms of the delivery of homes to meet housing needs,improving access to health
facilities and promote welling being and increasing opportunities and access to sustainable forms of

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions98

20
R
esidentialgrow

th
options

Page 107



transport. The two options which focus growth on Lichfield City could potentially have negative effects
in terms of the protection of the historic environment and its setting. The growth around Rugeley
option which was assessed as having significant negative effects with regards to flood risk.

20.10 National policy provides protection for areas or assets of particular importance which includes
green belt, local green spaces, areas of flood risk, areas of ecological importance including sites of
special scientific interest and special areas of conservation and known heritage assets. A high level
desk top analysis of each of these possible options has been undertaken, and this shows that all
options could potentially impact upon areas and assets of importance to some degree. It should be
noted that it is possible for such impacts to be avoided or mitigated and in some instances positive
impacts to be achieved.

20.11 The high level analysis of these options suggests that all of the options are consistent with
the preferred settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus development on the most sustainable
settlements within and close to the district. Of the options only growth to the north of Lichfield and to
the north of Tamworth were identified as options which should be explored further within the strategic
growth study. Indeed, both of these options are assessed most positively through this high level
analysis and should therefore continue to be explored further as preferred options for growth.

20.12 Clearly further work to understand such options will need to be undertaken, in particular the
option of growth to the north of Tamworth is an an area where there are potential infrastructure
constraints. The council will continue to collect further evidence which will inform the local plan review.
In the context of growth to the north of Tamworth the council will work with Tamworth borough council
and prepare joint evidence which will include an infrastructure study to assist in understanding the
cross boundary infrastructure issues which may exist. The timescales for this are set out atAppendix
A.

20.13 Through the strategic housing land availability assessment and following the call for sites
consultation there is some doubt over land availability to deliver two of the possible growth options.
Given that land availability forms a key aspect of whether a site could be delivered for development
it is suggested that the options where such doubt exists should be discounted.

99Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

20
R
es
id
en

tia
lg
ro
w
th

op
tio
ns

Page 108



Residential growth option 2: Town and key rural focused development

Figure 20.2 Option 2: Town & key rural focused

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

Lichfield District Boundary
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

Sutton Coldfield/Birmingham

Burntwood

Rugeley
Armitage with 

Handsacre

Shenstone

Fazeley, Mile Oak
& Bonehill

Whittington

Fradley

Alrewas

Norton Canes/Penkridge

Lichfield

Tamworth

Options identified through the
Strategic Growth Study
Potential other options

20.14 This option is broadly similar to
the first growth option and includes many
of the same possible growth locations
with a focus for growth in the largest
urban areas within and adjacent to the
district. However, in this strategic growth
option this would supplemented by
growth at some of the large rural villages
which have access to a range of services
and facilities.

20.15 In the current local plan the key
villages identified are Alrewas, Armitage
with Handsacre, Fradley, Fazeley,
Shenstone and Whittington. These
villages would, along with Lichfield and
Burntwood and possible extensions to
settlements beyond the council's
boundary deliver the majority of the
districts growth with limited growth being
accommodated outside these
settlements.

What you told us

20.16 As with the other strategic
growth options set out within the scope,
issues and options document there was
a wide array of views expressed through

the consultation. Many comments acknowledged that such an approach would see a continuation of
the strategy of the current local plan. On the whole there were a large number of comments which
favoured this growth option as it would deliver growth in the most sustainable locations and also would
assist in meeting the needs of the wider rural areas closer to where the need arises. As with strategic
growth option 1 many of these supportive comments were made by parties promoting sites within
and adjacent to the locations which could see growth under this option. A number of comments also
suggested that other villages could be included within such an approach, not just those which had
been identified previously.

20.17 Fradley Parish Council in particular provided representations that it was supportive of additional
growth beyond that planned for in the current local plan which could assist in meeting the villages
needs in terms of housing and community facilities.

20.18 There were also a number of comments which were less supportive of this option, these
comments tended to relate to the possibility of this option leading to green belt release around particular
settlements and concerns over the level of growth particular settlements could accommodate. Other
comments which were less supportive of this approach suggested that the option was similar to the
current strategy some individuals felt that this had not been successful.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions100

20
R
esidentialgrow

th
options

Page 109



What the evidence tells us

20.19 As with the first strategic growth option a number of the possible growth options could include
sustainable urban extensions to towns and settlements within and close to the district. These options
would remain unchanged from those considered under strategic growth option 2. In addition to these
options, growth would also be directed toward a number of sustainable villages across the district.

20.20 The settlement sustainability study concluded that there were a number of rural settlements
which were considered to be capable of supporting growth and these were included in levels three
and four of the preferred settlement hierarchy. This suggests that some of these villages could be
appropriate locations for a level of growth within the local plan review. These villages were not included
within strategic growth option 2 within the scope, issues and options document. However, these could
play an important role in the distribution of growth through the local plan review. As such these
settlements have been included on the high level assessment set out in table 20.2.

20.21 The strategic growth option was subject to environmental assessment which, much like the
option 1, concluded that broadly such an approach would be sustainable. It also scored well along
side growth option 1. This is understandable given the similarities between the two growth options
and that this would see development spread between the most sustainable settlements. Of the four
residential growth options set out within the scope, issues and options document options 1 and 2
were assessed as being the most sustainable.

Table 20.2 Option 2: Town and key rural focused development

Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
settlement
hierarchy

Strategic
growth study
recommended
options

Option

Known
heritage
assets

Areas or
assets of
ecological
importance

Areas of
flood risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Not applicableGrowth at
Lichfield city

Growth to the
north of
Lichfield

Not applicableGrowth at
Burntwood

Growth to the
north of
Brownhills

Not applicableGrowth to the
north of Little
Aston / Sutton
Coldfield

Growth to the
north of
Tamworth

Growth to the
west of
Tamworth

Not applicableGrowth around
Rugeley

Not applicableGrowth at
Armitage with
Handsacre

101Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

20
R
es
id
en

tia
lg
ro
w
th

op
tio
ns

Page 110



Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
settlement
hierarchy

Strategic
growth study
recommended
options

Option

Known
heritage
assets

Areas or
assets of
ecological
importance

Areas of
flood risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Not applicableGrowth at
Alrewas

Not applicableGrowth at
Fazeley

Not applicableGrowth at
Fradley

Not applicableGrowth at
Shenstone

Not applicableGrowth at
Whittington

Further settlements identified in preferred settlement hierarchy

Not applicableGrowth at
Little Aston

Not applicableGrowth at
Stonnall

Not applicableGrowth at
Kings Bromley

Not applicableGrowth at
Streethay

Not applicableGrowth at
Longdon

20.22 Alongside the rural settlements identified within this option, the settlement sustainability study
suggested that Little Aston could be considered to be a sustainable settlement. Along side this is also
suggested that four further villages could be considered as sustainable. This approach would be
consistent with the preferred settlement hierarchy. Streethay is located directly adjacent to Lichfield
city and has, through the current local plan, seen significant growth. For the purposes of the spatial
strategy growth around Streethay is considered as growth around Lichfield city.

20.23 Of the identified key rural settlements only Fradley and Alrewas are not constrained by the
green belt, although Alrewas has an area of local green space to the north of the village designated
through the community's neighbourhood plan. Of those villages which are located within the green
belt, Armitage with Handsacre does have areas to the north of the village which are outside of the
green belt. The strategic green belt review within the growth study illustrates that the green belt located
around Armitage with Handsacre, Fazeley, Shenstone andWhittington serves a principal contribution.
Of those further settlements identified in the preferred spatial strategy, Kings Bromley and Streethay
are not constrained by the green belt.

20.24 With regards to the areas or assets of importance as identified within national policy each of
the rural settlements is affected by these to a degree, with Fradley being the least constrained. Alrewas
is the most constrained settlement in terms of these areas and assets and also has more limited land
availability when compared to other villages which would suggest the village could take a lesser role
in delivering growth than the other settlements identified.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions102

20
R
esidentialgrow

th
options

Page 111



20.25 The options within table 20.2 were assessed through the sustainability appraisal. The
assessments for the town focused choices within the option is consistent with those undertaken for
growth option 1. The assessment of the rural settlements included at table 20.2 were broadly consistent
with the main differences relating to the effects in terms of flood risk where some settlements were
considered to have varying negative effects. On the whole those options relating to the villages were
assessed as being less sustainable than options relating to larger settlements. This is primarily due
to less opportunities to access sustainable transport and the potential for greater effects on the historic
environment and its setting.

20.26 As with those options included under strategic growth option 1 there is clearly significant
further work and evidence which will need to be undertaken to support the local plan. This evidence
would help to inform the levels, distribution and locations for growth which could be attributed to
individual settlements within the settlement hierarchy.

103Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

20
R
es
id
en

tia
lg
ro
w
th

op
tio
ns

Page 112



Residential growth option 3: Dispersed development

Figure 20.3 Option 3: Dispersed development

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

LichfieldBurntwood

Armitage with 
Handsacre

Shenstone

Fazeley, Mile Oak
& Bonehill

Whittington

Fradley

Alrewas

Potential other options

Lichfield District
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

20.27 This potential growth option
would see the new housing for the district
distributed across a wide range of
settlements, from our largest urban
centres to the smaller villages and
hamlets. The level of new housing
apportioned to specific settlements would
relate to the level of services and facilities
available within the settlement. Such an
approach would likely lead to lower levels
of growth at the larger settlements than
strategic growth options 1 and 2, with the
balance being made up by new homes
being delivered within and next to other
smaller settlements.

20.28 Given the geographical spread
of development which this strategic
growth option would entail it is likely that
sustainably located sites beyond the
existing built up areas of the settlement
could be required and that where
settlements are located within the green
belt this could result in the need to
change green belt boundaries.

What you told us

20.29 Through the consultation on the
scope, issues and options document a range of comments were provided in relation to the dispersed
development option. A majority of those responses seemed to suggest that such an option would be
less sustainable than those options which would focus more growth to the larger settlements within
the district. These comments made the case that many of the smaller settlements have much poorer
access to services and facilities and that such an approach would lead to increased car usage due
to a lack of public transport serving smaller settlements.

20.30 A smaller number of comments did suggest that a dispersed approach to growth could help
to meet housing needs closest to where they arise, particularly in those smaller villages, and that this
could help to support services and facilities within those settlements where they already exist or even
encourage new provision.

What the evidence tells us

20.31 This strategic option would have no relationship to the options which were set out within the
strategic growth study. Indeed it is unlikely that those smaller settlements that could potentially see
growth under the dispersed approach would deliver the significant levels of development which were
considered within the growth study.

20.32 The strategic growth option of dispersed development was subject to an environmental
assessment which concluded that this option is less sustainable than option one and two. This is
primarily due to the fact that this option will spread growth across settlements including rural settlements
and therefore it does not contribute positively towards the objective of reducing the need to travel.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions104

20
R
esidentialgrow

th
options

Page 113



20.33 The settlement sustainability study identified the relative sustainability of settlements across
the district and this assisted in determining the preferred settlement hierarchy. This demonstrates
that the wide range of settlements across the district differ greatly in terms of their access to services
and facilities. This approach would lead to growth at less sustainable settlements.

Table 20.3 Option 3: Dispersed development

Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
settlement
hierarchy

Strategic
growth study
recommended
options

Option

Known
heritage
assets

Areas or
assets of
ecological
importance

Areas of
flood risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Not applicableDevelopment
dispersed
across all
settlements

20.34 In relation to areas or assets of particular importance, this option would see growth dispersed
across a wide range of settlements within the district. Given the known constraints of the district, this
option could impact upon a greater number of areas or assets of importance in some way depending
on the scale and location of development within each settlement.

20.35 Further, land availability varies in each settlement and this has a significant impact on the
ability for this option to be explored further, given that some settlements have a plethora of options
for growth whilst others are restricted.

20.36 The sustainability appraisal of this option demonstrated that such an approach would be less
sustainable than options 1 and 2. This is primarily because such an option would spread growth
across the district which would have the potential for wider environmental effects. In particular such
an approach is assessed negatively with regards to potential impacts upon the historic environment,
landscape and opportunities to use sustainable transport.

20.37 It is considered that this option would not be a sustainable strategy for growth as it would
disperse too high a proportion of growth to settlements within the district that are relatively unsustainable
and potentially constrained in terms of green belt, subject to flood risk and impact on ecological
importance and heritage assets. It would not build on existing infrastructure that exists within the
district and therefore it is not considered that this is a preferred option for growth.

105Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

20
R
es
id
en

tia
lg
ro
w
th

op
tio
ns

Page 114



Residential growth option 4: New settlement development

Figure 20.4 Option 4: New settlement

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

Lichfield District Boundary
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

LichfieldBurntwood

Options identified through the
Strategic Growth Study
Potential other options

20.38 This growth option would see
growth focused on one or more new
sustainable settlement(s) located within
the District. This approach could absorb
themajority of new development required
in the District across the plan period, with
a small amount of growth allocated to the
key settlements to ensure their continued
vitality.

20.39 The strategic growth study
identified two potential locations for new
settlements within Lichfield District
including land around Shenstone and
land around Fradley and Alrewas. A
further option was identified by the
Council to the north east of Tamworth as
this is an area of limited constraints.

What you told us

20.40 Many of the responses to the
scope, issues and options consultation
regarding this option acknowledged
whilst there are benefits associated with
a new settlement, there are significant
constraints notably the infrastructure
costs and requirements, the long lead in
times for delivery and risk of market

saturation.

20.41 As anticipated a significant amount of objections were received from residents in the
Shenstone, Stonnall and Little Aston area opposing a new settlement around Shenstone given its
location within the green belt and the impact it could have on existing infrastructure.

20.42 Highways Englandmade specific comments regarding the strategic road network with regard
to the possibility of new settlements. It made clear that the options for new settlements at Shenstone
and east of the A38 would adversely impact the strategic road network.

20.43 Staffordshire County Council commented with regards to education in general a minimum
of 5,000 dwellings would be required in any new settlement to make a secondary school viable.
Comments were provided in relation to landscape and ecology and extensive further work on these
aspects would be required if this option is to be progressed further.

What the evidence tells us

20.44 The strategic growth study identifies a number options for new settlements comprising of
10,000 dwellings or more; including locations around Shenstone and Fradley and Alrewas. The growth
study recommends that more detailed consideration should be given to the possibility of development
at Shenstone.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions106

20
R
esidentialgrow

th
options

Page 115

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Strategic-housinggrowth-studies.aspx
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Housing/Downloads/Strategic-HousingGrowth-Studies/Greater-Birmingham-HMA-Strategic-Growth-Study.pdf


20.45 The sustainability appraisal which supported the scope, issues and options document assessed
the new settlement option and concluded that this option is less sustainable than residential growth
option one and two. In particular, this option scored negatively in terms of reducing the need to travel
and encouraging the efficient use of land as it will focus new development outside of existing settlement
boundaries.

20.46 To further understand the possible growth options within the new settlement option we have
undertaken a high level assessment of the options. The results of this assessment are set out in the
following table.

Table 20.4 Option 4: New settlement development

Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
settlement
hierarchy

Strategic
growth study
recommended
options

Option

Known
heritage
assets

Areas or
assets of
ecological
importance

Areas of
flood risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Land around
Shenstone

Brookhay

Land around
Thorpe
Constantine

20.47 The new settlement option is contrary to the preferred settlement hierarchy which seeks to
focus development in the most sustainable settlements within and close to the district.

20.48 A high level desk top analysis of these new settlement options highlights that each of the
options could potentially impact upon areas and assets of importance to some degree. In particular
land around Shenstone scored poorly when compared with land around Thorpe Constantine as it is
Green Belt, subject to flood risk and within the Cannock Chase SAC Zone of Influence.

20.49 The possible new settlement options have been considered through the sustainability appraisal
and all are assessed as having broadly similar effects.

20.50 With regards to land availability, whilst the strategic housing land availability assessment
and call for sites consultation has identified that there is land available around Shenstone and at
Fradley and Alrewas to accommodate growth, this is not of a scale for a new settlement which has
been defined within the strategic growth study (10,000 dwellings). No land around Thorpe Constantine
has been promoted to the Council and therefore this is not considered a deliverable option which
should be explored any further.

107Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

20
R
es
id
en

tia
lg
ro
w
th

op
tio
ns

Page 116



21 Economic growth options

Employment growth option 1: Expansion of existing employment areas

Figure 21.1 Employment Option 1: Existing areas

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

Lichfield District Boundary
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

Existing employment areas

LichfieldBurntwood

21.1 This option would see new
employment development focused on
our existing employment areas including
at Lichfield city, Burntwood and Fradley
Park and was set out within the scope,
issues and options document. These
locations have traditionally been the
focus for employment development within
the district through previous local plans.
Both Fradley Park and Burntwood
Business Park are focused on onemajor
area, whilst in Lichfield there are a
number of employment areas across the
settlement. These employment areas
mainly consist of brownfield land and
would also offer the potential for
redevelopment and expansion of existing
employment areas.

What you told us

21.2 Generally those people whomade
comments on this option through the
scope, issues and options consultation
were supportive of an approach which
focused growth on the established
employment areas. A number of the
comments also acknowledged that there
is land within these areas which could

accommodate further growth and that the provision of employment land could enhance the settlements.

21.3 There were a small number of comments which disagreed with this approach and suggested
new locations for employment growth should also be considered, including possible options that are
included within the strategic employment growth option 2. Other comments suggested that employment
growth should reflect housing growth to enable a sustainable pattern of growth.

21.4 Through the consultation a number of responses were made which suggested other smaller
existing employment areas including Shenstone and Fazeley should also be considered for growth
and expansion. These employment areas are considerably smaller than those located in Burntwood,
Fradley and Lichfield but do currently contribute to the supply of land for employment within the district.
These existing areas have been considered through the high level assessment explained below.

What the evidence tells us

21.5 The employment land availability assessment demonstrates that there are large areas of land
available within our existing employment areas which could deliver employment growth. The
assessment demonstrates that there is a significant supply of land within these areas which could be
appropriate for development. A majority of the land assessed within the employment land availability
assessment is located within or close to these existing employment areas.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions108

21
E
conom

ic
grow

th
options

Page 117

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Local-Plan-Review-Scope-Issues-Options.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Resource-centre/Evidence-base/Economic-Development-Enterprise/Employment-land-availability-assessment-ELAA.aspx


21.6 This strategic employment growth option from the scope, issues and options document was
subject to environmental assessment as set out within the sustainability assessment. The assessment
concluded that the employment growth option focused on the existing employment areas scored best
overall primarily as this would reduce the geographic spread of development and the option offers
the best opportunities to increase non-car travel and reducing the need to travel.

Table 21.1 Option 1: Existing employment areas

Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
hierarchy

Option

Known
heritage assets

Areas of
ecological
importance

Areas of flood
risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Lichfield
employment
areas and
growth at
Lichfield

Burntwood
employment
areas and
growth at
Burntwood

Fradley Park
employment
areas and
growth at
Fradley

Shenstone
employment
area and growth
at Shenstone

Fazeley
employment
area and growth
at Fazeley

21.7 The table above sets out the high level desktop analysis of the possible locations for growth
within this strategic growth option which were identified with the scope, issues and options document.
Through this assessment the three locations all score consistently with the exception of Lichfield city
where the high-level analysis considers there could be an impact upon known heritage assets. As
with the residential growth options it should be recognised that this is a high level analysis and that
where possible impacts upon areas or assets of importance are identified these can often be avoided
or mitigated or even in some instances positive impacts could be achieved.

21.8 With regards to the green belt and local green spaces it is considered that these options are
unlikely to impact upon this as the existing employment areas are not located within the green belt,
nor have sites been promoted through the employment land availability assessment of call for sites
adjacent to these settlements within the green belt. However, given that Burntwood and Lichfield city
are both located within the green belt it is possible that future options to extend employment areas
beyond the current urban areas at these locations could be explored. Clearly if this were the case the
above assessment would need to be reconsidered.

109Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

21
E
co
no

m
ic
gr
ow

th
op

tio
ns

Page 118

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Downloads/Local-plan-review/Sustainability-assessment-Scope-issues-options.pdf


21.9 The options set out in table 21.1 have been assessed through the sustainability appraisal and
generally are concluded to be broadly similar. These options are assessed as having a number of
positive impacts, particularly in terms of making use of brownfield land and achieving sustainable
levels of economic growth.

21.10 The employment land availability assessment and call for sites schedule demonstrate that
there is a significant supply of potential employment land within these locations which could be
delivered to meet the employment needs of the district. As with the residential growth options, as the
level of employment growth required has yet to be defined it may be that additional sites beyond the
existing employment areas could be required to meet our needs.

21.11 Further evidence will need to be undertaken to help define the level of employment growth
which the district needs. The council will prepare a housing and employment development needs
assessment to support the local plan review. This evidence along with further evidence on land
availability and the wider evidence base will help the council to identify locations for employment
growth. The anticipated timescales associated with this evidence base are set out at Appendix A.

21.12 The preferred policy direction set out within the 'Our economic growth, enterprise and tourism'
chapter of this document suggests that employment growth will be focused on our current employment
areas. Therefore the high-level analysis set in the table is consistent in suggesting such an approach
should be the preferred option for employment growth and would align with the preferred directions
for residential growth.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions110

21
E
conom

ic
grow

th
options

Page 119



Employment growth option 2: New locations

Picture 21.1 Employment Option 2: Potential new locations

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2018. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

Lichfield District Boundary
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

Potential employment areas

Lichfield
Burntwood

21.13 This option included within the
scope, issues and options document
would involve employment growth at new
locations across the district beyond the
existing employment areas. Using the
employment land availability assessment
three possible new locations for
employment growth were identified based
upon the council's land availability
evidence. Three possible locations were
identified in the scope, issues and
options document based upon the known
land availability.

What you told us

21.14 Through the scope, issues and
options consultation there was a fairly
limited number of comments made
specifically on this possible growth
option. These comments varied from
those being supportive of new locations
for employment growth and those which
were less supportive. There were a
number of comments which suggested
that locating employment growth in new
locations could be less sustainable than
other options as these areas have less
access to services and facilities. There

were a number of comments which opposed further growth at the Shenstone employment area
primarily over concerns relating to increased heavy goods vehicle journeys through the village and
also because of the possible impact upon the green belt.

21.15 Of the supportive comments a number were received from those persons promoting new
locations for employment development, particularly land around Shenstone business park and land
around Bassetts Pole.

What the evidence tell us

21.16 The employment land availability assessment demonstrates that there is a potential supply
of sites within these locations which have been promoted for employment development. However,
the assessment does conclude that those sites are not currently appropriate for employment
development, partly because the sites which would make up all three possible options are within the
green belt.

21.17 Through the scope, issues and options consultation and the call for sites process there were
very few further sites put forward for potential future employment use. This has demonstrated that
whilst there is a considerable supply of possible sites these are focused on a small number of areas
of the district.

111Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

21
E
co
no

m
ic
gr
ow

th
op

tio
ns

Page 120



21.18 This potential strategic growth option was assessed through the sustainability assessment
which accompanied the scope, issues and options document. The assessment concluded that the
approach would score less well than the option which would focus growth on the existing employment
areas as it would constitute amuch wider spread of development which could have wider environmental
impacts.

Table 21.2 Option 2: New employment locations

Land
availability

NPPF areas or assets of importancePreferred
hierarchy

Option

Known
heritage assets

Areas of
ecological
importance

Areas of flood
risk

Green belt /
local green
space

Land at Seedy
Mill (Between
Lichfield and
Armitage with
Handsacre)

Land at
Shenstone
employment
area

Land around
Bassetts Pole

21.19 The high-level assessment of the potential options for new locations for employment growth
demonstrates that these are inconsistent with the preferred approach to locating employment growth
and would all have impacts upon the green belt. The land around Shenstone, in particular, is the most
constrained given the presence of areas of flood risk which are illustrated on figure 4.4.

21.20 All of the potential options identified are located within the green belt, The strategic green
belt review within the strategic growth study concludes that the green belt in these three areas serves
a principal contribution. The council will prepare a comprehensive green belt review as part of the
evidence supporting its local plan, the timescales associated with this are set out at Appendix A.

21.21 The possible new locations for employment have been assessed through the sustainability
appraisal. The three possible locations in table 21.2 scored less well than those options within growth
option 1.

21.22 Subject to the level of growth needed being established, it is considered that these options
would not represent the preferred approach to employment growth and should not be explored further.
If further evidence demonstrates that there is not sufficient land at the existing employment locations
to meet our need then the possible new locations for growth may need to be considered.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions112

21
E
conom

ic
grow

th
options

Page 121



22 Our preferred strategic options for growth

22.1 The previous chapters have provided high level consideration of the potential strategic growth
options for both housing and employment development for our district. Within these strategic options
are a range of areas which have now been considered in more detail. Through this process a number
of these locations have been scoped out from the possible options for various reasons, including
where there is a known lack of land within the area, or where a strategic growth option would not be
consistent with our preferred settlement hierarchy. In turn this means that there are also other locations
and options which should be considered in greater detail.

Our preferred options for growth

22.2 The preferred strategic approach to growth would see new homes focused on those sustainable
settlements identified in the preferred settlement hierarchy. Growth would be attributed in accordance
with the levels of the hierarchy, with larger levels of growth to those settlements higher in the hierarchy
such as Lichfield and Burntwood. With regards to employment growth the preferred approach is to
focus this on the existing employment areas within Lichfield, Burntwood and at Fradley Park.

22.3 Figure 22.1 illustrates our preferred strategic options for growth.

113Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

22
O
ur

pr
ef
er
re
d
st
ra
te
gi
c
op

tio
ns

fo
rg

ro
w
th

Page 122



Figure 22.1 Preferred growth options

© Crown Copyright. Database Rights 2019. Lichfield District Council. Licence No: 100017765

°

Lichfield District
M6 Toll
Railways
Main roads
Urban areas

National Forest
Area of Outstanding Natrual Beauty
Forest of Mercia
Green Belt
District Settlement

Sutton Coldfield/Birmingham

Burntwood

Rugeley

Armitage with 
Handsacre

Shenstone

Fazeley, Mile Oak
& Bonehill

Whittington

Alrewas

Lichfield

Tamworth

Preferred areas for 
employment growth

Kings Bromley

Stonnall
Hopwas

Fradley

Preferred areas for 
residential growth

Little Aston

22.4 At this stage the analysis of options has suggested we should further explore growth focused
on the settlements identified within the preferred settlement hierarchy, as illustrated on figure 22.1.
Alongside the settlement hierarchy, the strategic growth study and the high level analysis of growth
options has concluded that there are two specific areas for further exploration. These being growth
to the north-east of Lichfield city and growth to the north of Tamworth given that they score more
positively when compared with the other options. All options will need to be explored in much greater
detail before it can be determined that they are options to be included within the local plan review.
Evidence will need to be collected and considered to help determine the final locations of growth.

22.5 A number of the settlements within the preferred hierarchy are located within the green belt.
It may be that in such instances there is a need to consider the green belt boundaries in some locations.
Any changes to the green belt boundary would need to be made through a strategic policy within the
local plan review. If such changes are identified it may be that the detail of such changes could be
made through non-strategic plans including community's neighbourhood plans.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions114

22
O
urpreferred

strategic
options

forgrow
th

Page 123



22.6 Whilst the overall levels of growth and the distribution of that growth in terms of specific levels
of growth for each settlement are not known at this stage it is worth noting that some communities
have expressed a desire to accept growth. For example Fradley Parish Council has, through comments
made to the scope, issues and options document, suggested it would wish to take further growth
which can help to deliver facilities the community wishes to have.

22.7 The table below set outs the key advantages and disadvantages of the preferred strategic
growth options.

Table 22.1 Advantages and disadvantages

DisadvantagesAdvantages

Need to release Green Belt land around some
settlements to facilitate growth

Focuses the majority of growth in the most
sustainable locations in line with national policy
Maximises the use of existing infrastructure Public transport improvements required to prevent

increased car travel within rural areasSupports regeneration and growth of large
settlements as a foci for the district
Supports and develops services and facilities to
ensure sustainable rural communities
Provides increased levels of rural housing within
sustainable locations

22.8 The council will now undertake further work and evidence to further define the strategic growth
options which will be part of the local plan review. Through the collection of evidence it may be the
case that additional growth locations are identified or that locations identified within this scope, issues
and options document are no longer identified as areas for growth.

115Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

22
O
ur

pr
ef
er
re
d
st
ra
te
gi
c
op

tio
ns

fo
rg

ro
w
th

Page 124



23 Our next steps

23.1 It is important that we gain your feedback on the local plan review preferred options and policy
directions document, both positive and negative. This will help us prepare the next stage of the local
plan review in the most effective and appropriate manner.

23.2 The 'how can you get involved' section at the start of this document explains how you can
submit your comments to us either online, via email or post.

23.3 At the end of the consultation period, the Councils Spatial Policy and Delivery Team will
consider all the comments received together with evidence collected on issues relevant to the plan
which will inform the next stage of the local plan review. The council will publish a report which
summarises the comments received on this document.

23.4 Please note any comments you make will be in the public domain and will be available for
public scrutiny. All information will be held on a database and used to assist with the preparation of
the local plan review, in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018.

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions116

23
O
urnextsteps

Page 125



A
pp

en
di
x
A
O
ur

ev
id
en

ce
ba

se
Ta
bl
e
A
.1

A
nt
ic
ip
at
ed

da
te

of
pr
od

uc
tio

n
W
hy

w
e
ne

ed
it

Ev
id
en

ce
ba

se

P
ub

lis
he

d
an

nu
al
ly
ea

ch
Ju
ly.

To
m
on

ito
rt
he

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
of

th
e
lo
ca
lp
la
n
an

d
it'
s

po
lic
ie
s.

A
ut
ho

rit
y
m
on

ito
rin

g
re
po

rt
(A
M
R
)

M
ar
ch

20
19

.
To

co
m
pl
y
w
ith

le
gi
sl
at
io
n
an

d
in
fo
rm

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t.

B
io
di
ve
rs
ity

m
ap

pi
ng

P
ub

lis
he

d
an

nu
al
ly
ea

ch
D
ec
em

be
r.

To
co
m
pl
y
w
ith

le
gi
sl
at
io
n
an

d
to

un
de

rs
ta
nd

ou
rs

up
pl
y

br
ow

nf
ie
ld
la
nd

w
hi
ch

is
su
ita
bl
e
fo
rr
es
id
en

tia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t.

B
ro
w
nf
ie
ld
la
nd

re
gi
st
er

(B
LR

)

N
ov
em

be
r2

01
8.

To
ga

in
a
th
or
ou

gh
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

th
e
lo
ca
lb
us
in
es
s

po
pu

la
tio
n
an

d
to

ex
am

in
e
th
e
ra
ng

e
of

ec
on

om
ic

im
pa

ct
s
su
pp

or
te
d
by

th
e
bu

si
ne

ss
ba

se
.

B
us
in
es
s
da

ta
an

d
an

al
ys
is
st
ud

y

M
ar
ch

20
19

.
To

de
ve
lo
p
a
st
ro
ng

er
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

th
e
co
m
m
er
ci
al

pr
op

er
ty
m
ar
ke
tw

ith
in
an

d
in
cl
os
e
pr
ox
im
ity

to
Li
ch
fie
ld

D
is
tri
ct
an

d
Ta
m
w
or
th

B
or
ou

gh
.

C
om

m
er
ci
al
pr
op

er
ty
st
ud

y

P
ub

lis
he

d
an

nu
al
ly
ea

ch
Ju
ly.

To
un

de
rs
ta
nd

th
e
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
of

po
te
nt
ia
ll
an

d
fo
r

em
pl
oy
m
en

td
ev
el
op

m
en

t.
E
m
pl
oy
m
en

tl
an

d
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
as
se
ss
m
en

t(
E
LA

A
)

P
ub

lis
he

d
an

nu
al
ly
ea

ch
Ju
ly.

To
pr
ov
id
e
th
e
cu
rr
en

tp
os
iti
on

in
te
rm

s
of

th
e
fiv
e
ye
ar

su
pp

ly
of

bo
th

ho
us
in
g
si
te
s
an

d
si
te
s
fo
rg

yp
sy

an
d

tra
ve
lle
rn

ee
ds
.

Fi
ve

ye
ar

ho
us
in
g
la
nd

su
pp

ly
pa

pe
r

Ju
ne

20
19

.
R
eq

ui
re
d
to

un
de

rs
ta
nd

th
e
ro
le
of

th
e
gr
ee

n
be

lt
w
ith

th
e
di
st
ric
ta

nd
w
he

th
er

ch
an

ge
s
to

th
e
gr
ee

n
be

lt
bo

un
da

ry
ar
e
re
qu

ire
d.

G
re
en

be
lt
re
vi
ew

Ju
ne

20
19

.
To

in
fo
rm

gr
ee

n
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
st
an

da
rd
s.

G
re
en

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
st
ud

y

A
pr
il
20

19
.

To
un

de
rs
ta
nd

th
e
gy
ps
y
an

d
tra

ve
lle
rn

ee
ds
.

G
yp
sy

an
d
tra

ve
lle
rn

ee
ds

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
as
se
ss
m
en

t
(G

TA
A
)

O
ng

oi
ng

.
To

co
m
pl
y
w
ith

le
gi
sl
at
io
n
an

d
in
fo
rm

th
e
lo
ca
lp
la
n.

H
ab

ita
tr
eg

ul
at
io
ns

as
se
ss
m
en

t(
H
R
A
)

M
ay

20
19

.
To

un
de

rs
ta
nd

ho
us
in
g
an

d
em

pl
oy
m
en

td
ev
el
op

m
en

t
ne

ed
s.

H
ou

si
ng

an
d
em

pl
oy
m
en

td
ev
el
op

m
en

tn
ee

ds
as
se
ss
m
en

t(
H
E
D
N
A
)

117Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

A
pp

en
di
x
A
O
ur

ev
id
en

ce
ba

se

Page 126



A
nt
ic
ip
at
ed

da
te

of
pr
od

uc
tio

n
W
hy

w
e
ne

ed
it

Ev
id
en

ce
ba

se

Ju
ne

20
19

.
To

un
de

rs
ta
nd

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
tri
gg

er
s
an

d
ca
pa

ci
ty
.

In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
ca
pa

ci
ty
st
ud

y

M
ay

20
19

.
To

un
de

rs
ta
nd

th
e
se
ns
iti
vi
tie
s
of

th
e
la
nd

sc
ap

e.
La

nd
sc
ap

e

Ju
ne

20
19

.
To

in
fo
rm

op
en

sp
ac
e
st
an

da
rd
s.

O
pe

n
sp
ac
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t

Ju
ne

20
19

.
To

in
fo
rm

sp
or
ts
an

d
re
cr
ea

tio
n
pr
ov
is
io
n.

P
la
y
pi
tc
h
ev
id
en

ce

C
on

tin
ua

lly
up

da
te
d.

To
co
m
pl
y
w
ith

le
gi
sl
at
io
n
an

d
to
un

de
rs
ta
nd

th
e
de

m
an

d
fo
rs

el
fb

ui
ld
an

d
cu
st
om

ho
us
e
bu

ild
in
g
w
ith
in
ou

r
di
st
ric
t.

S
el
fb

ui
ld
re
gi
st
er

O
ng

oi
ng

.
To

id
en

tif
y
th
e
im
pa

ct
s
of

ne
w
de

ve
lo
pm

en
tu

po
n
S
A
C

an
d
a
m
iti
ga

tio
n
st
ra
te
gy

to
pr
ev
en

th
ar
m
.

S
pe

ci
al
A
re
as

of
C
on

se
rv
at
io
n

Ju
ne

20
19

.
To

pr
ov
id
e
co
m
pr
eh

en
si
ve

ev
id
en

ce
ba

se
in
re
la
tio
n
to

flo
od

in
g
an

d
id
en

tif
y
an

y
ca
pa

ci
ty
is
su
es

an
d
su
st
ai
na

bl
e

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
re
qu

ire
d
in
re
la
tio
n
to

w
at
er

an
d

w
as
te
w
at
er

se
rv
ic
es
.

St
ra
te
gi
c
flo
od

ris
k
as
se
ss
m
en

t(
le
ve
l1
)a

nd
w
at
er

cy
cl
e

st
ud

y

P
ub

lis
he

d
an

nu
al
ly
ea

ch
Ju
ly.

To
un

de
rs
ta
nd

th
e
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
of

po
te
nt
ia
ll
an

d
fo
r

ho
us
in
g
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t.

S
tra

te
gi
c
ho

us
in
g
la
nd

av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
as
se
ss
m
en

t(
S
H
LA

A
)

O
ng

oi
ng

.
To

co
m
pl
y
w
ith

le
gi
sl
at
io
n
an

d
in
fo
rm

th
e
lo
ca
lp
la
n.

S
us
ta
in
ab

ili
ty
A
pp

ra
is
al
(S
A
)

O
ng

oi
ng

.
To

in
fo
rm

th
e
lo
ca
lp
la
n
an

d
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
de

liv
er
y
pl
an

.
Tr
an

sp
or
tM

od
el
lin
g

M
ay

20
19

.
To

as
se
ss

th
e
po

ss
ib
le
su
pp

ly
of

la
nd

w
ith
in
th
e
ur
ba

n
ar
ea

s
of

ou
rs

et
tle
m
en

ts
.

U
rb
an

ca
pa

ci
ty
as
se
ss
m
en

t

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions118

A
ppendix

A
O
urevidence

base

Page 127



A
pp

en
di
x
B
O
ur

ex
is
tin

g
po

lic
ie
s
to

be
ca
rr
ie
d
fo
rw

ar
d

B
.1

Th
er
e
ar
e
a
nu

m
be

ro
fe

xi
st
in
g
no

n-
st
ra
te
gi
c
po

lic
ie
s
w
hi
ch

w
e
co
ns
id
er

ar
e
fit
fo
rp

ur
po

se
an

d
sh
ou

ld
be

ca
rr
ie
d
fo
rw
ar
d
as

pa
rt
of

th
e
lo
ca
l

pl
an

re
vi
ew

.T
he

se
ar
e
se
to
ut
in
th
e
ta
bl
e
be

lo
w
,i
tm

ay
be

th
at
so
m
e
of
th
es
e
in
di
vi
du

al
po

lic
ie
s
ca
n
be

gr
ou

pe
d
in
to
on

e
la
rg
er

th
em

e
ba

se
d
po

lic
y.

O
ur

pr
ef
er
re
d
ap

pr
oa

ch
w
ou

ld
be

to
gr
ou

p
su
ch

po
lic
ie
s
fo
rc

la
rit
y.

Ta
bl
e
B
.1

W
hy

th
e
po

lic
y
sh

ou
ld

be
ta
ke
n
fo
rw

ar
d

D
oc

um
en

t
Ex

is
tin

g
po

lic
y

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y
an

d
is
ba

se
d
on

th
e
la
te
st

av
ai
la
bl
e
ev
id
en

ce
w
ith
in
th
e
Li
ch
fie
ld
ce
nt
re
s
st
ud

y.
Lo

ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
E
1:

R
et
ai
la
ss
es
sm

en
ts

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

P
ol
ic
y
E
2:

S
er
vi
ce

ac
ce
ss

to
ou

rc
en

tre
s

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

P
ol
ic
y
E
3:

S
ho

p
fro

nt
s
an

d
ad

ve
rti
se
m
en

ts

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y
an

d
is
ba

se
d
in
ev
id
en

ce
w
ith
in
th
e
la
nd

av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
an

d
la
nd

ca
pa

ci
ty
as
se
ss
m
en

ts
.T

he
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
te
rm

s
of

th
e
st
at
us

of
th
e
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

w
hi
ch

ov
er

tim
e
w
ill
be

de
liv
er
ed

.W
he

re
si
te
s
ha

ve
be

en
de

liv
er
ed

th
es
e
sh
ou

ld
be

re
m
ov
ed

fro
m

th
e

po
lic
y.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

P
ol
ic
y
LC

1:
Li
ch
fie
ld
ci
ty
ho

us
in
g
la
nd

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

Po
lic
y
LC

2:
Li
ch
fie
ld
ci
ty
m
ix
ed

-u
se

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

Po
lic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt
w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y
an

d
th
e
ro
ut
e
of
th
e
Li
ch
fie
ld

C
an

al
in
cl
ud

in
g
th
e
H
er
ita
ge

To
w
pa

th
Tr
ai
lw

ill
co
nt
in
ue

to
be

sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d.
Ev

id
en

ce
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue

to
be

co
lle
ct
ed

an
d
th
e
as
so
ci
at
ed

w
or
di
ng

in
th
e
In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
D
el
iv
er
y

P
la
n
am

en
de

d
if
ne

ce
ss
ar
y.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

P
ol
ic
y
IP
2:

Li
ch
fie
ld
C
an

al

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
1:

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
up

da
te
d
in
lig
ht

of
an

y
st
ra
te
gi
c
po

lic
y
re
la
tin
g
to

th
e
gr
ee

n
be

lt,
fo
re

xa
m
pl
e
if

ch
an

ge
s
to

th
e
gr
ee

n
be

lt
bo

un
da

ry
ar
e
pr
op

os
ed

.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
2:

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
th
e
gr
ee

n
be

lt

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
3:

B
io
di
ve
rs
ity
,p

ro
te
ct
ed

sp
ec
ie
s

an
d
th
ei
rh

ab
ita
ts

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

Po
lic
y
N
R
4:
Tr
ee

s,
w
oo

dl
an

ds
an

d
he

dg
er
ow

s

119Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

A
pp

en
di
x
B
O
ur

ex
is
tin
g
po

lic
ie
s
to
be

ca
rr
ie
d

fo
rw
ar
d

Page 128



W
hy

th
e
po

lic
y
sh

ou
ld

be
ta
ke
n
fo
rw

ar
d

D
oc

um
en

t
Ex

is
tin

g
po

lic
y

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
5:

N
at
ur
al
&
H
is
to
ric

La
nd

sc
ap

es

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
7:

C
an

no
ck

C
ha

se
sp
ec
ia
la
re
a
of

co
ns
er
va
tio
n

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
8:

R
iv
er

M
ea

se
sp
ec
ia
la
re
a
of

co
ns
er
va
tio
n

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht
of
th
e
la
te
st
ev
id
en

ce
av
ai
la
bl
e
on

ce
th
e
W
at
er

C
yc
le
S
tu
dy

ha
s

be
en

pu
bl
is
he

d
an

d
if
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
w
at
er
co
ur
se

ca
tc
hm

en
ts
w
ill
be

ad
de

d
or

re
m
ov
ed

to
th
e
po

lic
y.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
st
ra
te
gy

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
9:

W
at
er

qu
al
ity

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
10

:C
an

no
ck

C
ha

se
A
re
a
of

O
ut
st
an

di
ng

N
at
ur
al
B
ea

ut
y.

P
ol
ic
y
is
co
ns
id
er
ed

to
be

co
m
pl
ia
nt

w
ith

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y.
Th

e
po

lic
y
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
co
ns
id
er
ed

in
lig
ht

of
th
e
up

da
te
d
ev
id
en

ce
.

Lo
ca
lp
la
n
al
lo
ca
tio
ns

P
ol
ic
y
N
R
11
:N

at
io
na

lf
or
es
t

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions120

A
ppendix

B
O
urexisting

policies
to
be

carried
forw

ard

Page 129



Glossary & abbreviations
MeaningAbbreviationTerm

The final confirmation of a development plan or Local
Development Document as having statutory status by a Local
Planning Authority (LPA).

Adoption

Affordable housing includes social rented and intermediate
housing, provided to specified eligible households whose needs
are not met by the market. Affordable housing should:

Affordable Housing

Meet the needs of eligible households including
availability at a cost low enough for them to afford,
determined with regard to local incomes and local
house prices; and

Include provision for the home to remain at an
affordable price for future eligible households or, if
these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be
recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.

Affordable rented homes are made available to tenants at up
to a maximum of 80% of market rent and are allocated in the
same way as present social housing.

Affordable Rent

Areas such as parks or recreational fields which can be used
by all people either through visual amenity and/or for informal
sport and leisure.

Amenity Greenspace

A report published by local planning authorities assessing
Local Plan progress and policy effectiveness. Formally known
as the Annual Monitroing Report this is now knwon as the
Authroity Monitroing Report.

AMRAuthority/Annual Monitoring Report

An assessment of the potential effects of a proposed plan, in
combination with other plans and projects, on one or more
European sites of nature conservation/biological importance.
As required as part of the Habitats Regulations Assessment.

AAAppropriate Assessment

A statutory National Landscape designation to provide special
protection to defined areas of natural beauty. These are
designated by Natural England.

AONBArea of Outstanding Natural Beauty

The whole variety of life encompassing all genetics, species
and ecosystem variations. This includes diversity within
species, between species and of ecosystems.

Biodiversity

The biodegradable fraction of products, wastes and residues
from agriculture (including plant and animal substances),
forestry and related industries.

Biomass

A broad development location is a broad area of search, within
which, allocations for development will be considered through
the Local Plan Allocations document.

Broad Development Location

Site available for re-use which has been previously developed,
and is either abandoned or underused. The definition covers
the curtilage of the development.

Brownfield Development or Sites

(Previously Developed Land)

A partnership approach to managing the River Trent and River
Tame in the region between Tamworth and Burton upon Trent.

CRICentral Rivers Initiative

A charge on development, calculated on a £ per square meter
basis of development as set out within the adopted CIL
Charging Schedule. CIL is intended to be used to help fund

CILCommunity Infrastructure Levy

infrastructure to support the development of an area rather
than making an individual planning application acceptable in
planning terms. CIL does not replace Section 106 agreements.
Clinical commissioning groups are NHS organisations set up
by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to organise the delivery
of NHS services in England. They replace primary care trusts.

CCGClinical Commissioning Groups

The use of waste heat from power generation to provide
heating for a building or a neighbourhood.

CHPCombined Heat and Power

A new provision which empowers, but not requires, Local
Authorities to obtain a financial contribution on most types of
new development based on the size and type of the
development. The proceeds of the levy are to be spent on
local and sub-regional infrastructure to support the community.

CILCommunity Infrastructure Levy

121Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

G
lo
ss
ar
y
&
ab

br
ev
ia
tio
ns

Page 130



MeaningAbbreviationTerm
Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character,
appearance or setting of which it is desirable to preserve or
enhance.

Conservation Area

The use of energy from on-site or renewable sources limiting
the need to draw energy from the national supply.

Decentralised Energy Supply

Monetary contributions which may be made by a developer
as part of a legal agreement (S106 or CIL) when a planning
permission is granted. Monies are used to provide local
facilities and all types of infrastructure.

Developer Contributions

An assessment of potential employment sites to inform the
Local Plan. The ELAA has been prepared in line with good
practice guidance with the involvement of the development

ELAAEmployment Land Availability Assessment

industry, local property agents and the local community,
identifies the committed sites, additional capacity within
employment areas and a range of other sites that have been
submitted for consideration. The ELAA is not a policy
document, but identifies the range of sites that are being given
further consideration through the formulation of the Local Plan.
The information and data gathered by local authorities to justify
the “soundness” of the policy approach set out in Local Plan
and supporting documents, including physical, economic, and
social characteristics of an area. This includes consultation
responses.

Evidence Base

The consideration of public views on a development plan
document, or proposed changes to it, held before an
independent inspector.

EIPExamination in Public

Generally flat-lying areas adjacent to a watercourse, tidal
lengths of a river or the sea where water flows in times of flood
or would flow but for the presence of flood defences.

Flood plain

Available space for office, retail or industrial units within a
specific area.

Floorspace capacity

A statutory designation of land around certain cities and large
built-up areas, which aims to keep the defined area
permanently open or largely undeveloped. Areas of Green
Belt within Lichfield District form part of the West Midlands
Green Belt. The purposes of Green Belt are to:

Green Belt (not to be confused with the term ‘greenfield
’)

check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas;

prevent neighbouring towns from merging;

safeguard the countryside from encroachment;

preserve the setting and special character of historic
towns; and

assist urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling
of derelict and other urban land.

The physical environment within and between our cities, towns
and villages. It is a network of multi-functional open spaces,
including formal parks, gardens, woodlands, green corridors,
waterways, street trees and open countryside.

Green Infrastructure

Linking rights of way, cycle routes, canals, rivers, parks and
woodland to create greater accessibility to the countryside and
provide potential for improved biodiversity.

Green Networks or Corridors

Land (or a defined site) which has not been built on before or
where the remains of any structure or activity have blended
into the landscape over time.

Greenfield Land or Site

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin,
including such persons who on grounds only of their own or
their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or
old age have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently.

Gypsies & Travellers

See appropriate assessment.HRAHabitat Regulations Assessment
An area of defined character in the landscape, such as
medieval field patterns.

HECAHistoric Environment Character Area

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions122

G
lossary

&
abbreviations

Page 131



MeaningAbbreviationTerm
A system for recording information, such as known
archaeological sites & finds, designated sites, historic
landscapes, historic buildings and other features in the
landscape.

HERHistoric Environment Record

The identification of the historic development of today's
landscape, and the resultant pattern of physical features due
to geography, history and tradition.

Historic Landscape Character

Private, non-profit organisations that provide social housing
for people in need of a home.

HAHousing Association

A geographical area which is relatively self-contained in terms
of housing demand

Housing Market Area

The provision of a mix of house types, sizes and tenures in an
area.

Housing mix

The index combines a number of indicators which focus on a
range of social, economic and housing issues, and are then
used to provide an overall deprivation rank for these areas.
Published by the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

IMDIndices of Multiple Deprivation

The basic structures and facilities needed to support a society
or organisation.

Infrastructure

A plan to implement the necessary social, physical and green
infrastructure, required to create sustainable communities in
line with a Local Plan.

IDPInfrastructure Delivery Plan

Housing at prices and rents above those of social rent, but
below market price or rents. These can include shared equity
products (e.g. HomeBuy), other low cost homes for sale and
intermediate rent.

Intermediate Affordable Housing

The “pre-submission” consultation stages carried out on an
emerging Local Plan document with the objective of gaining
public consensus over proposals ahead of submission to
Government for independent examination.

Issues, Options & Preferred Options , Policy Directions
and Shaping Our District

Small shops and perhaps limited services, serving a small
catchment. Sometimes also referred to as a local
neighbourhood centre or key rural centre.

Local Centre

Document which sets out the timescales associated with the
progression of the councils local plan and development plan
documents.

LDSLocal Development Scheme

The Local Authority or Council that is empowered by law to
exercise planning functions. Often the local Borough or District
Council.

LPALocal Planning Authority

The plan for future development within Lichfield District up to
2029, drawn up by the local planning authority in consultation
with communities and other bodies. The Local Plan when

Local Plan

adopted forms the statutory plan for the District. The Lichfield
District Local Plan will be divided into two documents; the Local
Plan Strategy and the Local Plan Allocations.
This document. The local plan strategy contains the broad
policy directions and long term strategy to manage
development, infrastructure and services across the District.

Local Plan Strategy

The strategy consists of strategic policies which set out how
the strategy will be implemented and monitored. The Local
Plan Strategy was adopted on 17 February 2015
Second part of the Lichfield District Local Plan which will
contain policy based allocations to manage development within
the District until 2029

Local Plan Allocations

Non-statutorily protected sites of regional and local importance
for geodiversity (geology and geomorphology) in the United
Kingdom. Local Geological Sites together with Local Wildlife
Sites are often referred to as Local Sites.

Local Geological Sites

A five-year integrated transport strategy, prepared by local
authorities in partnership with the community. The plan sets
out the resources for delivery of the targets identified in the
strategy.

LTPLocal Transport Plan

For residential development this includes sites of 1.5ha or
more, or for sites of 10 dwellings or more. For commercial
development this includes sites of 1 ha or more, or change of
use of site for 1,000 square metres or more.

Major Development

123Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

G
lo
ss
ar
y
&
ab

br
ev
ia
tio
ns

Page 132



MeaningAbbreviationTerm
Measures to avoid, reduce or offset the significant adverse
effects of an external factor e.g. Lessening the effects of
climate change.

Mitigation

A national project for woodland creation, tourism and economic
revival.

National Forest

Document containing all national planning policy published in
March 2012. The National Planning Policy Framework replaced
all previously issued Planning Policy Statements (PPS) and
Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPG).

NPPFNational Planning Policy Framework

An online resource containing the governments updated
planning practice guidance which supports the NPPF. The
online guidance is updated on a regular basis.

PPGNational Planning Practice Guidance

Stocks of natural raw materials, including forests, fisheries,
soil, and minerals; and the capacity of the environment media
such as air and water to absorb and decompose the wastes
from production and consumption.

Natural assets

Includes woodlands, wetlands, urban forestry, Local Geological
Sites, scrub and grassland.

Natural & Semi-natural Greenspace

A protected area of wildlife or other geological interest. Can
also be used to provide opportunity for special areas of
research.

Nature Reserves

An group of essential local services which may comprise a
shop, post office, take away, health centre and a pharmacy.
See also, local centre.

Neighbourhood Centre

An area based plan prepared by it's community as defined in
the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.
Once 'made' a neighbourhood plan becomes part of the
development plan for the area.

Neighbourhood Plan

All space of public value, including not just land, but also areas
of water such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs, which
can offer opportunities for sport and recreation. They can also
act as a visual amenity and a haven for wildlife.

Open Space

Smaller villages that do not have a good range of public
services.

Other Rural Settlements

Distinct stages of development implemented in a sequential
manner appropriate to demand.

Phasing

Land which is currently or has in the past been occupied by a
permanent structure and associated infrastructure.

PDLPreviously Developed Land

Amap of the District which shows planning policy designations
spatially.

Policies Map

The economic, social and environmental renewal and
improvement of rural and urban areas.

Regeneration

Also known as Registered Social Landlords. Is the generic
name for all social landlords who provide low-cost social
housing for people in housing need on a non-profit making
basis.

RPRegistered Provider

Elements of a building's energy consumption to whichminimum
standards must be achieved to comply with Building
Regulations. 'Regulated' energy includes space heating, hot
water, lighting and ventilation (fans and pumps), but does not
include appliances and small electrical items.

Regulated Energy

Energy produced from a sustainable source that avoids the
depletion of the earth’s finite natural resources, such as oil or
gas. Sources in use or in development include energy from
the sun, wind, hydro-power, ocean energy and biomass.

Renewable Energy

Total floor area of the property that is associated with all retail
uses. Usually measured in square metres.

Retail Floorspace

Research to establish housing demand and the satisfaction
of existing residents within the rural area.

Rural Housing Needs Survey

The first stage in the Sustainability Appraisal process.Scoping Report
A legal agreement under Section 106 of the 1990 Town &
Country Planning Act. It is a way of addressing matters that
are necessary to making a development acceptable in planning
terms such as providing highways, recreational facilities,
education, health and affordable housing.

Section 106 Agreement

A non-statutory designation used to protect locally valued sites
of biodiversity. Also referred to as Local Wildlife Sites.

SBISite of Biological Importance

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions124

G
lossary

&
abbreviations

Page 133



MeaningAbbreviationTerm
A site identified under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
(as incorporated in the Countryside and Rights of Way Act
2000) as an area of special interest by reason of any of its

SSSISite of Special Scientific Interest

flora, fauna, geological or physiographical features (basically,
plants, animals, and natural features relating to the Earth’s
structure).
Spatial planning goes beyond traditional land use planning to
bring together and integrate policies for the development and
use of land with other policies and programmes which influence

Spatial Planning

the nature of places and how they function. This includes
policies which can impact on land use, for example by
influencing the demands on, or needs for, development, but
which are not capable of being delivered solely or mainly
through the granting or refusal of planning permission and
which may be implemented by other means.
The overview and overall approach to the provision of jobs,
homes, and all infrastructure over the plan period.

Spatial Strategy

Strictly protected sites for rare and threatened species and
habitats on land or sea as designated under the EC Habitats
Directive.

SACSpecial Area of Conservation

A framework for all agencies, sectors and partners to work
collectively to promote the economic, social and environmental
well being of the County.

SSPStaffordshire Strategic Partnership

A local or town centre which provides a wide range of services
and facilities such as shops, supermarkets, post office, banks,
health centres etc.

Strategic Centre

An area which has been identified and allocated for new
development, which is significant to the spatial strategy as a
whole. These allocations are usually complex, have long lead
in times and can assist in the delivery of strategic infrastructure.

SDAStrategic Development Allocation

An assessment of the likelihood of flooding in a particular area
so that development needs and mitigation measures can be
carefully considered.

SFRAStrategic Flood Risk Assessment

An assessment of potential housing sites to inform the Core
Strategy and subsequent allocations of land. The Strategic
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) which has

SHLAAStrategic Housing Land Availability Assessment

been prepared in line with good practice guidance with the
involvement of the development industry, local property agents
and the local community, identifies the committed sites,
additional urban capacity and a range of other sites that have
been submitted for consideration. The SHLAA is not a policy
document, but identifies the range of sites that are being given
further consideration through the formulation of the Local Plan.
An assessment of the estimated demand for market housing
and need for affordable housing in a defined geographical
area, in terms of distribution, house types and sizes and the
specific requirements of particular groups and which considers
future demographic trends.

SHMAStrategic Housing Market Assessment

An SPD is a document that supports the Local Plan. It may
cover a range of issues, thematic or site specific, and provides
further detail of policies and proposals in a ‘parent’ Local Plan.

SPDSupplementary Planning Document

A housing service aimed at helping people live more stable
lives, including those who may have suffered from
homelessness, addiction or other serious challenges to life.

Supported Housing

An assessment to establish if the plan is promoting sustainable
development. An assessment to comply with Section 39(2) of
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and further
guidance, and the requirements for Strategic Environmental
Assessment from European Directive 2001/42/EC

SASustainability Appraisal

A widely used definition drawn up by the World Commission
on Environment and Development in 1987: "development that
meets the needs of the present without compromising the

Sustainable Development

ability of future generations to meet their own needs". The
Government has set out four aims for sustainable development
in its strategy “A Better Quality of Life, a Strategy for
Sustainable Development in the UK”. The four aims, to be
achieved at the same time, are: social progress which
recognises the needs of everyone; effective protection of the

125Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

G
lo
ss
ar
y
&
ab

br
ev
ia
tio
ns

Page 134



MeaningAbbreviationTerm
environment; the prudent use of natural resources; and
maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and
employment.
Often meaning walking, cycling and public transport (and in
some circumstances “car sharing”), which is considered to be
less damaging to the environment and which contributes less
to traffic congestion than one-person car journeys.

Sustainable travel / Sustainable Transport

A replicate natural system which aims to reduce the potential
impact of new and existing developments on surface water
drainage discharges such as permeable paving or on site
retention basins.

SuDSSustainable Drainage Systems

An assessment of the effects upon the surrounding area by
traffic as a result of a development, such as increased traffic
flows that may require highway improvements.

TIATraffic Impact Assessment

The expected energy use in a building which is not 'regulated'
(see 'Regulated energy' above). Unregulated energy does
not fall under Building Regulations, and most typically includes
appliances and small electrical items.

Unregulated energy

The effect which can be achieved by increasing vegetation
cover and reducing hard surface cover in built up areas to
reduce very high temperatures.

Urban Cooling

Trees that are of interest biologically, culturally or aesthetically
because of age, size or condition. Normally this means the
tree is over 250 years old with a girth at breast height of over
3 metres. However, other factors must be considered such as
the location and past management of the tree.

Veteran Trees

In terms of retailing, a centre that is capable of success or
continuing effectiveness. More generally the economic
circumstances which would justify development taking place.

Viability

The waste hierarchy is the cornerstone of most waste
minimisation strategies and refers to the 3Rs of reduce, reuse
and recycle. The Staffordshire & Stoke-on-Trent Joint Core

Waste Hierarchy

Strategy refers to 5 stages: eliminate, reduce, re-use, recycle,
energy recovery & dispose. The aim of the waste hierarchy is
to to generate the minimum amount of waste and to extract
the maximum practical benefits from products.
A European Union Directive committing member states to
achieve good qualitative and quantitative status of all water
bodies by 2015.

WFDWater Framework Directive

A site not specifically allocated for development in a
development plan, but which unexpectedly becomes available
for development during the lifetime of a plan. Most “windfalls”
are referred to in a housing context.

Windfall Development or Site

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions126

G
lossary

&
abbreviations

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Lichfield District Local Plan Review Preferred Options and Policy 
Directions

Sustainability Appraisal

January 2019

Page 137



2

Contents Page

1.0 Introduction 3

2.0 Methodology of the Sustainability Appraisal          11

3.0 Sustainability Assessment – Context and Objectives           29

4.0 Developing and assessing options and ‘reasonable alternatives’ (Stage B)                     36 

5.0 Appraisal of significant environmental effects                                                    38

6.0 Mitigation                                                                                                        45

7.0 Monitoring and Next Steps                                                                                   46

8.0 Conclusions                                                                                                           47

Appendix Contents

Appendix A  - Sustainability Issues and Interactions

Appendix B -  Summary and Matrices of Preferred Option and Policy Directions 

Page 138



3

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Lichfield District Council (The Council) is currently preparing the Lichfield District Local Plan 
Review (the Plan), which will set out the following:

 Spatial Strategy;

 Vision for the District;

 Strategic objectives for the District;

 Strategic and local  policies; 

 Site allocations; and

 Monitoring and implementation framework for the next 15 years.

1.1.2 The extant Lichfield District Local Plan comprises:

 The Local Plan Strategy (adopted 17th February 2015)

 Saved Policies of the 1998 Lichfield District Local Plan (adopted 17th February 2015 
a set out at Appendix J of the Local Plan Strategy) and

 The Local Plan Allocations (currently at an advanced stage of preparation within 
consultation being undertaken on the Main Modifications. Once adopted Local Plan 
Allocations document will replace the saved policies of the 1998 local plan).

1.1.2 The above documents will guide new development in the District for the period 2008 to 2029. 
The Local Plan Review, the subject of this sustainability appraisal, comprises a review of the 
Spatial Strategy set out in the adopted Local Plan Strategy and an associated review of the 
vision, strategic objectives and planning policies that support the Spatial Strategy. 
 

1.1.3 The Council prepared and consulted upon the Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues & Options 
document between April and May 2018. This represented the first stage in the Local Plan 
Review process. The council has now reached the next stage of this process and produced 
the Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions document.

1.1.4 The preparation of the Lichfield District Local Plan Review will be the subject of an integrated 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) (hereafter 
referred to as SA) in line with the requirements of:

 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004;

 Statutory Instrument 2004 No. 1633: The Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations);

Page 139



4

 Statutory Instrument 2012 No. 767: Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012;

 Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); and

 Planning Policy Guidance (the Guidance).

1.1.5 Lichfield District Council has prepared the Sustainability Appraisal Report ‘in house’ but has 
retained WYG as a ‘critical friend’ in this process. WYG are highly experienced in completing 
SAs and SEAs of spatial planning documents.

1.1.6 The District Council has prepared a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Lichfield 
District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions. The HRA is presented as a 
separate ‘standalone’ document but the findings of the HRA have been taken into account in 
this SA.

1.1.7 This document comprises the draft Sustainability Appraisal Report (SA Report) for the 
Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions (2019). The SA 
report meets the requirements of an ‘Environmental Report’ set out at Paragraph 12 and 
Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations 2004 and a ‘Sustainability Appraisal Report’ required by 
Section 19 (5) (b) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The SA report has 
also been prepared in line with the Government’s Guidance “Strategic environmental 
assessment and sustainability appraisal” 9 February 2015.

1.2 Lichfield District Local Plan Review – Purpose and Objectives

1.2.1 Lichfield District Council is preparing a plan that meets the future social, economic and 
environmental needs of the District. The Local Plan Review’s purpose is to shape the future 
of the District up to 2036 with the following vision:

“In 2036, residents of our district will continue to be proud of their communities. They 
will experience a strong sense of local identity, of safety and of belonging. Our 
communities will take pride in our district's history and culture, its well cared for built 
and natural environment, its commitment to addressing issues of climate change, and 
the range of facilities our district has to offer. Our residents will live in healthy and safe 
communities which provide opportunities for people to keep fit and
healthy and people will not be socially isolated. Our residents will be able to access 
quality homes which meet their needs, local employment, facilities and services all of 
which provide communities with clean, green and welcoming places to live, to work 
and to play. Our residents will have access to provision for education to provide the 
skills and training to suit their aspirations and personal circumstances.

Those visiting the district will experience the opportunities and assets which our 
residents take pride in. Visitors to our district will be encouraged to stay for longer and 
wish to return and promote the area to others. The need to travel by car will be reduced 
through improvements to public transport, walkways, cycle routes and the canal 
network.

Page 140



5

New sustainably located development will meet the requirements of our district and 
will have regard to the needs arising from within the housing market area. Such 
development, coupled with associated infrastructure provision will also address 
improvements to education, skills, training, health and incomes, leading to reduced 
levels of deprivation.

The districts natural environments and varied landscapes will be conserved and 
enhanced. Locally important green spaces and corridors will meet recreational and 
health needs. Sustainable development will help protect the biodiversity, cultural and 
amenity value of the countryside and will minimise use of scarce natural and historic 
resources, contributing to mitigating and adapting to the effects of climate change.”

1.2.2 The above vision for the District was the subject of an earlier Sustainability Appraisal as part 
of the  the Scope, Issues and Options stage. The District Council is not proposing nificant 
changes to the existing Vision as part of the Preferred Options stage, it has been summarised 
and refined, thus the vision is not specifically assessed in this Sustainability Appraisal. The 
Vision has been reviewed as part of this Preferred Options stage and is considered to be ‘fit 
for purpose’ for identifying the spatial options to be taken forward in the Lichfield District 
Local Plan Review. Future stages of the emerging Lichfield District Local Plan Review may 
result in amendments to the Local Plan Strategy Vision which should be fully assessed in 
future version of the SA Report.

1.2.3 The current Local Plan Strategy sets 15 strategic objectives for delivering sustainable 
economic growth, healthy and safe communities and an integrated infrastructure network 
within an attractive environment. These are:

Objective 1 - Sustainable Communities:

To consolidate the sustainability of existing settlements, including key settlements which will 
be identified to accommodate sustainable growth. This will ensure the development of new 
homes, employment, commercial development and other facilities will contribute to the 
creation of balanced and sustainable communities by being focused on appropriate 
settlements and locations and by containing or contributing towards a mix of land uses, 
facilities and infrastructure appropriate to its location.

Objective 2 - Rural Communities:

To develop and maintain more sustainable rural communities through locally relevant 
employment and housing development and improvements to public transport and access to 
an improved range of services whilst protecting the character of rural settlements.

Objective 3- Climate Change

To be a district where development meets the needs of our communities whilst minimising 
its impact on the environment and mitigating and adapting to the effects of climate change.

Page 141



6

Objectives 4 – Our Infrastructure

To provide the necessary infrastructure to support our existing and new communities 
including regeneration initiatives on those existing communities where needs have been 
identified.

Objectives 5 – Sustainable Transport

To reduce the need for people to travel by directing growth towards the most sustainable 
locations and increasing the opportunities for travel using sustainable forms of transport 
including securing improvements to public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure.

Objectives 6 – Meeting Housing Need

To provide an appropriate mix of market, specialist and affordable homes that are well 
designed and meet the needs of our existing and new residents.

Objectives 7 – Economic Prosperity

To promote economic prosperity for the district and its residents by supporting measures 
which enable the local economy to thrive and adapt to changing economic circumstances 
and make the most of newly arising economic opportunities.

Objectives 8 – Employment Opportunities

To ensure that employment opportunities within the district are created through the 
development of new enterprise and the support and diversification of existing businesses to 
meet the identified needs and the aspirations of our communities.

Objectives 9 – Our Centres

To create a prestigious city centre serving Lichfield City and beyond, and an enlarged and 
improved town centre for Burntwood which meets the community's needs and aspirations 
and a vibrant network of district and local centres which stimulate economic activity, 
enhance the public realm and provide residents' needs at accessible locations.

Objectives 10 – Tourism

To increase the attraction of the district as a tourist destination through supporting and 
promoting the growth of existing tourist facilities and attractions, the provision of a greater 
variety of accommodation for visitors, the development of new attractions which are 
appropriate in scale and character to their locations and the enhancement of our existing 
attractions. 

Objectives 11 – Health & Safe Lifestyles

To create environments that promote and support healthy choices and enable our residents 
to be healthy and safe. To improve outdoor and indoor leisure and cultural facilities available 
to those that live and work and those that visit the district and to ensure a high standard of 
community safety, promoting healthier living and reducing inequalities in health and 
wellbeing.

Page 142



7

Objectives 12 – Countryside Character

To protect and enhance the quality and character of the countryside, its landscapes and 
villages by ensuring that development which takes place to meed identified rural 
development needs contributes positively to countryside character through enhancements to 
the local environment and preserves the openness of the Green Belt.

Objectives 13 – Natural Resources

To protect, enhance and expand the quality and diversity of the natural environment within 
and outside of our urban areas and help realise the positive contributions which can be 
made to address climate change.

Objectives 14 - Built Environment

To protect and enhance our built environment and heritage assets, the districts historic 
environment and local distinctiveness, ensuring an appropriate balance between built 
development and open space, protecting the character if residential areas, protecting 
existing open spaces and improving the accessibility to open spaces.

Objective 15 - High Quality Development:

To deliver high quality development which focuses residential, community and commercial 
facilities on the most sustainable locations whilst protecting and enhancing the quality and 
character of the existing built and natural environment.

1.2.4 The current Strategic Objectives for the District were the subject of an earlier Sustainability 
Appraisal process as part of the Scope, Issues and Options stage.  The findings of the earlier 
Sustainability Appraisal have been reviewed and are considered ‘fit for purpose’ for identifying 
the spatial options to be taken forward in the Lichfield District Local Plan Review. Based on 
this review, the District Council is not proposing significant changes to the existing Strategic 
Objectives as part of the Preferred Options stage and thus the Strategic Objectives are not 
specifically assessed in this Sustainability Appraisal. Future stages of the emerging Lichfield 
District Local Plan Review may result in amendments to the Local Plan Strategic Objectives 
which will be fully assessed in subsequent SA Report.

1.2.5 To meet the above objectives and overall vision, the Lichfield District Local Plan Review will 
bring forward a proportionate level of new development for the period up to 2036. The 
precise level of growth, including the associated new dwellings and the provision of new 
employment land, is currently under consideration by the District Council and will be set out 
in future stages of the emerging Local Plan Review. However, the Vision and Strategic 
objectives sets out the Council’s aim to accommodate growth and associated infrastructure, 
including the needs within the Greater Birmingham and Black Country Housing Market Area, 
whilst protecting the District’s built and natural environment and delivering a high quality of 
life for the District’s residents, visitors and workers.

Page 143



8

1.3 Baseline Context

1.3.1 Lichfield District is located in south east Staffordshire and is situated adjacent to the West 
Midlands Conurbation. The District has a population of 103,100 (mid 2016) which has 
increased by 2.18% since 2010. However, the population of the District is growing at a slower 
rate than the West Midlands (3.4%). The age structure of Lichfield shows that the District 
has a higher than the national average of elderly people over 65 years old. In addition, the 
number of people of 65 years old exceeds the number of children under the age of 15.

1.3.2 The District has two main settlements, the cathedral city of Lichfield and the town of 
Burntwood but also supports many villages that are set within a predominantly rural 
landscape. The six key rural settlements are Armitage with Handsacre, Alrewas, Shenstone, 
Whittington Fradley and Fazeley. The southern extent of Lichfield District is covered by the 
West Midlands Green Belt.

1.3.3 The District has excellent transport links being well served by local routes such as the A51, 
A515 and A5127 together with easy access from the M6 Toll, A38 (T), A5148 (T) and A5(T). 
Lichfield District has four train stations, Lichfield City, Lichfield Trent Valley, Rugeley Trent 
Valley and Shenstone.

1.3.4 Economic inactivity in the working age population of Lichfield is lower than the regional and 
national indicators. This is due, in part, to the high level (38.5%) of working age people in 
Lichfield who are retired. This level is more than double the West Midlands and Great Britain 
figure. The number of benefit claimants in Lichfield is significantly below the regional and 
national averages.

1.3.5 The weekly earnings by residents of Lichfield District are higher than both the regional and 
national figures. However, as the weekly earnings by workplace within the District is lower 
than the national average, this indicates the significant amount of out migration of workers 
from the District to higher salaried jobs elsewhere. The District is ranked 252 out of 326 local 
authorities in terms of deprivation but Chadesmead and Chasetown represent two pockets 
of deprivation in the District.

1.3.6 Male and female life expectancy are similar to both the County and National averages at 79.9 
for males and 83.1 for females. Obesity rates in the District shows that two thirds of adults 
are either obese or overweight which is similar to the national average. In children aged 4-5 
years around 23% have excess weight (either overweight or obese) increasing to 31% for 
children aged 10-11.

1.3.7 The District contains 2 European scale environmental Sites (Cannock Chase SAC and the 
River Mease SAC), 4 SSSI’s and an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The District also 
supports 78 sites of Biological Interest.

1.3.8 The District also contains 16 scheduled monuments, a registered park and garden, 763 Listed 
Buildings and has 21 Conservation Areas that are designated for their ‘special architectural 
or historic interest, the character or appearance of which is desirable to preserve or enhance’.

Page 144



9

1.4 Integrated Sustainability Appraisal

1.4.1 The Lichfield District Local Plan Review and accompanying SA represent an important 
opportunity to drive forward the sustainability agenda and assist with urban and rural 
renaissance across the District. SA is a powerful tool that can not only evaluate the 
sustainability of the Local Plan but also help promote patterns of development and ensure 
that sustainability considerations are reflected in the evolution of the plan and policy 
preparation, or mitigate negative effects. An independent Sustainability Appraisal will be 
undertaken at each stage in the preparation of the Local Plan Review.

1.4.2 This draft SA Report has been prepared to assist in the production of the Lichfield District 
Local Plan Review: Preferred Options and Policy Directions to ensure that the principles of 
sustainable development are at the core of the decision-making process in a transparent and 
open manner. The report provides an independent quantitative and qualitative assessment 
of the sustainability implications of the preferred potential spatial development options 
considered as part of the emerging Local Plan Review and Strategic Policy Directions. Some 
options are in the form of Policy Directions at this stage and further assessments will be 
undertaken upon the resultant policies and site selections as part of future stages of the Local 
Plan Review’s evolution.

1.4.3 Some policies are proposed to be retained and carried forward from the adopted Local Plan 
Strategy. The policies recommended for retention have been the subject of an updated SA 
assessment to take account of changing scope and evidence base associated with the Local 
Plan Review and in order to ensure sustainability considerations maintain relevance. 

1.0.1 The SA Report is made available for public consultation alongside the Lichfield District Local 
Plan Review: Preferred Options and Policy Directions.

1.0.2 The Council has considered representations on the SA for the Local Plan Review: Scope, 
Issues and Options and these are referenced and responded to in the rest of this report.

1.1 Structure of this Sustainability Appraisal Report

1.1.1 This chapter of the SA report provides an introduction to the Lichfield District Local Plan 
Review, the baseline context of Lichfield District and the integrated SA process. The 
remainder of the report is structured as follows:

 Chapter 2 – outlines the methodology of the SA;

 Chapter 3 –provides sustainability context and objectives of the Plan;

 Chapter 4 – appraisal of ‘reasonable’ options/alternatives considered;

 Chapter 5 – appraisal of the significant effects associated with the options;

 Chapter 6 – Mitigation;

 Chapter 7 – Monitoring and Next Steps; and

 Chapter 8 - Conclusions.

Page 145



10

1.2 How to comment on this Sustainability Appraisal Report

1.2.1 This SA is being published for comment as part of the statutory consultation process 
alongside the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions. The 
consultation methods and bodies (including the three statutory environmental consultation 
bodies set out in the SEA Regulations, namely Natural England, Environment Agency and 
Historic England). 

1.2.2 If you have any comments on this report please respond in either of the following ways:

 Online via the website: http://lichfielddc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal 
 Email: developmentplans@lichfielddc.gov.uk 
 In writing to: Spatial Policy & Delivery, Lichfield District Council, Frog Lane, 

Lichfield, WS13 6YZ.

Page 146

http://lichfielddc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal
mailto:developmentplans@lichfielddc.gov.uk


11

2.0 Methodology of the Sustainability Appraisal

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Under Section S19(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the SEA 
Regulations which came into force in England and Wales in July 2004, SA and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) are mandatory for all Local Plans and Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPDs). Section 39 of the Act requires Local Plans/Supplementary 
Planning Documents to be prepared with a view to contributing to the achievement of 
sustainable development. SA is one way of helping fulfil this duty through a structured 
appraisal of the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the plan. The production 
of a SA is one of the “tests of soundness” of a Local Plan/SPD.

2.1.2 The requirement to undertake SEA is established in the EU by the European Directive 
2001/42/EC, ‘The Assessment of the Effects of Certain Plans and Programmes on the 
Environment’ (commonly known as the SEA Directive). The SEA Directive is transposed into 
English law by the SEA Regulations.

2.1.3 SEA and SA are closely linked. SA aims to integrate sustainability issues into decision making 
by appraising the plan or strategy using environmental, social and economic objectives, whilst 
SEA also aims to facilitate sustainable development but its emphasis is on integrating 
environmental considerations into decision making through analysis of environmental issues.

2.1.4 Although the requirement to undertake both SA and SEA is mandatory, it is possible to satisfy 
the requirements of both parties of the legislation through a single appraisal process. This 
approach is confirmed at Paragraph 32 of the Revised NPPF.

2.1.5 Further guidance on the preparation of the SA in relation to the stages of Local Plan 
production together with the information to be covered within the SA Report is set out in the 
Planning Practice Guidance (the Guidance). The Guidance states at paragraph 11-009 “The 
sustainability appraisal should only focus on what is needed to assess the likely significant 
effects of the Local Plan. It should focus on the environmental, economic and social impacts 
that are likely to be significant. It does not need to be done in any more detail, or using more 
resources, than is considered to be appropriate for the content and level of detail in the Local 
Plan”. The level of detail set out in this SA Report is considered to be commensurate with the 
stage of Local Plan production.

2.1.6 The Guidance goes on to state at paragraph 11-018 “sustainability appraisal should identify 
any likely significant adverse effects and measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and, as fully 
as possible, offset them. The sustainability appraisal must consider all reasonable alternatives 
and assess them in the same level of detail as the option the plan-maker proposes to take 
forward in the Local Plan (the preferred approach)”. This is the current stage of the SA 
process being undertaken. The findings of this SA will be used by the Council to assess “the 
overall sustainability of the different alternatives, including those selected as the preferred 
approach in the Local Plan” and ultimately “inform the selection, refinement and publication 
of proposals”. An assessment of the alternatives/options considered as part of the SA process 
is set out at Chapter 4.

Page 147



12

2.2 SA Key Steps and Tasks

2.2.1 SA/SEA is a five-stage process. Figure 1 below sets out each of the stages and the stage 
currently reached.

2.2.2 The preparation of this draft SA Report comprises part of the second major step in the SA of 
the Lichfield District Local Plan Review and relates to Stage B of the five stage SA process 
set out at Paragraph 11-013 of the Guidance (06 03 2014).

2.2.3 The District Council published the ‘Lichfield District Local Plan Review Scoping Report’ in 
December 2017. This document related to Stage A of the SA process. The comments received 
during the formal consultation period on the Scoping Report were reviewed by the District 
Council and the SA Framework has been refined. These are considered in more detail in 
Chapter 3.

2.2.4 This draft SA Report will be the subject of a consultation process in line with the Lichfield 
District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions (Stage B) in January 2019.

Page 148



13

Table 1: SA Process Stages 

Stage A: Setting the context and objectives, establishing the 
baseline and deciding on the scope

1: Identify other relevant policies, plans and programmes, and 
sustainability objectives
2: Collecting baseline information
3: Identify sustainability issues and problems
4: Develop the SA framework
5: Consult the consultation bodies on the scope of the SA 
report

Stage B: Developing and refining options and assessing effects

1: Testing the Local Plan objectives against the SA framework
2: Developing the Local Plan options including reasonable 
alternatives
3: Evaluate the likely effects of the Local Plan and alternatives
4: Considering way of mitigating adverse effects and 
maximising beneficial effects
5:Propose measures to monitor the significant effects of 
implementing the Local Plan 

Stage C: Preparing the Sustainability Appraisal Report

Stage D: Seek representations on the SA report from 
consultation bodies and the public

Stage E: Post adoption reporting and monitoring

1: Prepare and publish post-adoption statement
2: Monitor significant effects of implementing the Local Plan 
3: Respond to adverse effects

 STAGE A     
COMPLETE        

WE ARE HERE 

Page 149



14

2.2.5 The SA Report will be reviewed in light of all consultation representations received. The 
consultation responses and the draft SA Report will be used by the District Council to develop 
a consultation draft of the Local Plan Review.

2.3 Stage A – Establishing the baseline, scope and sustainability objectives

 Tasks A1-A3 – Sustainability Context and baseline

2.3.1 The Sustainability Objectives upon which this SA is based were developed as part of the SA 
Stage A and represent a key aspect of the Appraisal process. The scoping stage of a SA 
involves the collation of evidence relating to the baseline position and policy context for the 
Local Plan Review, culminating in a series of key sustainability issues and problems that 
should be a focus for the SA and to establish a sustainability framework. The Scoping Report 
(2017) set out, at Appendix A, a summary of the findings of the baseline review of relevant 
policies, plans and programmes.

2.3.2 The sustainability problems and issues relevant to the emerging Local Plan Review were set 
out in Section 4 (Table 4.1) of the Scoping Report. The sustainability problems and issues 
have been reviewed prior to the commencement of this SA and were considered to represent 
the current baseline position in Lichfield District. The sustainability problems and issues are 
presented at Appendix A of this report.

 Inter-relationships

2.3.3 Each of the SA topics and issues listed in the Scoping Report, whilst presented individually, 
have clear inter-relationships. For example, an increase in population can result in increased 
pressure on community facilities and infrastructure or traffic generation, and thus air quality.

2.3.4 The main inter-relationships between each of the SA topics considered in this SA is discussed 
in the Scoping Report (2017). No other potential inconsistencies in the assessment were 
identified during this SA process.

 Task A4 – Develop the SA Framework/Objectives

2.3.5 The SA Framework and associated objectives were developed on an iterative basis to reflect 
the sustainability problems and issues relevant to the emerging Local Plan Review. The SA 
Framework objectives were defined taking into account the national, EU and international 
obligations set out at Appendix A of the Scoping Report. The Sustainability Objectives were 
used in the SA for the Local Plan Review Scope, Issues and Options stage.  

2.3.6 The Sustainability Objectives were reviewed prior to the commencement of this SA and were 
considered ‘fit for purpose’. The Sustainability Objectives used in this SA are set out in Table 
2. Table 2 also shows how all of the topics set out in the SEA Regulations, except inter-
relationships, are linked to the SA objectives. Inter- relationships are discussed at paragraphs 
2.3.3. to 2.3.5 above.

Page 150



15

Table 2 – Sustainability Objectives (SO)

Ref. no. Sustainability Objective

Link to topics in 
SEA Regulations

1 To provide housing to meet local need 
including provision of affordable homes.

Population Material 
assets

2 To promote safe communities and reduce 
fear of crime

Population Human 
Health

3 Improve access to health facilities and 
promote wellbeing

Population Human 
Health

4 Maximise the use of previously developed 
land/ buildings and encourage the efficient 
use of land

Population Human 
Health Material 
Assets

5 To improve educational attainment of the 
working age population

Population Human 
Health

Page 151



16

6 To achieve stable and sustainable levels of 
economic growth and maintain economic 
competitiveness

Population Human 
Health

7 To manage availability of water resources, 
and to reduce water and air pollution

Soil Water Air

Climatic factors

8 To minimise waste and increase the 
recycling and reuse of waste materials

Climatic factors

9 9. To reduce and manage flood risk and 
surface water run off

Water Material 
Assets

10 To reduce and manage the impacts of 
climate change and the Districts 
contribution to the causes of.

Climatic Factors

11 To promote biodiversity protection 
enhancement and management of species 
and habitats

Biodiversity Flora 
Fauna Soil

Page 152



17

12 To ensure the protection and enhancement 
of the historic environment and its setting

Cultural heritage

13 Protect, enhance and manage the 
character and quality of the landscape and 
townscape

Landscape Cultural 
Heritage

14 To increase opportunities for non-car travel 
and reduce the need for travel

Population Human 
Health

2.3.7 In order to assess the preferred options & policy directions against each of the SA objectives 
in a consistent manner, a number of appraisal questions and associated indicators have been 
developed. These were set out at Section 5 (Table 5.1) of the Scoping Report (2017). 

2.3.8 The SA questions and indicators have been reviewed prior to the commencement of this 
preferred options and policy direction stage and no modifications are made. The Revised 
NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance were also considered but did not highlight any 
significant visionary issues which changed the circumstances for the Council’s SA Objectives, 
questions or indicators.

 Tasks A5 – Consultation of the Scope of the SA - Scoping Report

2.3.9 The Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scoping Report was published in December 2017 and 
was the subject of formal consultation with statutory consultees/stakeholders and the 
comments received taken into account. This included, as a minimum the three statutory 
environmental consultation bodies set out in the SEA Regulations (namely Natural England, 
Environment Agency and Historic England).

2.3.10 The consultation response from Historic England requested that the Council considered 
Historic England’s document entitled “Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental 
Assessment”. Following a review of this document, the Council has chosen a separate and 
specific objective on the historic environment (SA Objective 12) in accordance with paragraph 
2.10 of the Advice Note 8.

2.3.11 Natural England’s consultation response wished to see a move away from the reliance on the 
private car for transport. This matter is covered by SA Objective 14.

Page 153



18

2.3.12 A consultation response from GVA required the Council to produce and keep up to date 
throughout the plan-making process, a new Sustainability Appraisal. This is accepted. 
However, the request that the Council should take care to consider whether certain measures 
of sustainability should be afforded more weight in the overall planning balance (e.g. because 
they are more important / significant and deliver more economic, social or environmental 
gains than other measures) is not accepted. Sustainability is, in itself a balancing act and 
additional weighting is not appropriate. 

2.3.13 Similarly, the suggestion that the SA should also factor in the ability of the Council and 
developers to mitigate adverse impacts, is not accepted until full details of site and proposals 
are known. This approach accords with the Court of Justice of the European Union judgment 
on HRA, which is linked with this SA, as the principle of assessing plans at a base level seems 
appropriate.

2.3.14 The latest Authority Monitoring Report (2018) has the following findings with possible 
implications for this SA:-

 the weekly earnings by workplace within Lichfield District are lower than the regional 
and national figures. This highlights the significant amount of out migration of workers 
from the District to higher salaried jobs elsewhere with travel implications.

 There was an increase in fatal road related casualties in 2017.

 The average density of completions has decreased this year when compared to the 
previous year as a result of over 80% of completions being 2, 3 and 4 bed houses. 
Whereas in previous years flatted and/or apartment schemes have led to a higher 
than average densities being recorded. This is contrary to current Government policy.

 The Southern Staffordshire Districts Housing Needs Study and Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment published in May 2012 identified variations in the dwellings mix 
within the District. It identifies an imbalance of housing types across the District with 
high concentrations of larger, detached properties and a lack of smaller affordable 
dwellings.

 Lichfield District has an identified deficit of affordable and social housing, particularly 
in the main urban areas of Lichfield City and Burntwood.

 There has been no new employment development within the Districts town centres 
this financial year.

 No new environmental improvement schemes have been completed in the 2017/2018 
financial year.

Page 154



19

2.4 Stage B – Developing and Refining options and assessing effects

2.4.1 A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) should meet all of the requirements of the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004.  Regulation 12 (2) of the 2004 Regulations states that where 
an environmental assessment is required an environmental report shall be prepared to 
“identify, describe and evaluate the likely significant effects on the environment of –

(a) Implementing the plan or programme; and

(b) Reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and the geographical scope 
of the plan or programme”.

2.4.2 An assessment of ‘reasonable’ alternatives to the selected plan is required to meet the 
requirements of Regulation 12 of the 2004 Regulations and in doing so, identify and evaluate 
their sustainability impacts. The Regulations imply that alternatives that are not reasonable 
do not need to be subject of the SA process. For the purposes of the SA it is assumed that 
unreasonable alternatives including policy options that do not meet the objectives of the plan 
or national policy (e.g. the National Planning Policy Framework) or site options that are 
unavailable or undeliverable.

2.4.3 The Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options identified six broad spatial 
options for the distribution of housing growth and economic growth. These options were 
considered the ‘reasonable alternatives’  for the purposes of that SA. The six spatial options 
were:

 Residential Growth Option 1 – Town focused development;

 Residential Growth Option 2 – Town and Key Rural Villages Focused Development;

 Residential Growth Option 3 – Dispersed Development;

 Residential Growth Option 4 – New Settlement Development;

 Employment Growth Option 1 – Expansion of existing employment locations; and

 Employment Growth Option 2 – New Locations

2.4.4 Based on the finding of the SA for the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and 
Options and consultation responses the Council has identified a Preferred Option for 
Growth. The preferred option will focus new homes on sustainable settlements identified in 
the preferred settlement hierarchy with growth attributed in accordance with the level of the 
hierarchy i.e. larger levels of growth in settlements such as Lichfield and Burntwood. The 
Preferred Option for Growth will focus employment growth on existing employment areas 
within Lichfield, Burntwood and at Fradley Park.   

2.4.5 In terms of the quantum of growth, the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options 
and Policy Directions sets out seven potential housing requirements, namely:

Page 155

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made


20

Option Annual 
Requirement

Plan Period 
Requirement (2016 -

2036)
Option 1 - Local 
Housing Need 
only

333 6,660

Option 2 – Local 
Housing need 
plus 1,000 home 
contributions

383 7,660

Option 3 – Local 
Housing need 
plus 2,000 home 
contributions

433 8,660

Option 4 – Local 
Housing need 
plus 3,000 home 
contributions

483 9,660

Option 5 – Local 
Housing need 
plus 4,500 home 
contributions

558 11,160

Option 6 – Local 
Housing need 
plus 10,000 
home 
contributions

833 16,660

Option 7 – Local 
Housing need 
plus 19,000 
home 
contributions

1,283 25,660

2.4.6 Lichfield District Council has also considered an alternative policy options against not 
implementing the plan. This ‘no development’ option will result in the Council relying on extant 
local plan policy until it becomes out of date and national guidance only.  It is acknowledged 
that this option is not supported by the Government and also does not give the Council control 
over the quantum or direction of future growth or the delivery of associated infrastructure 
requirements but represents a reasonable alternative. Policies and policy directions have been 
assessed against a no development option in order to provide a ‘baseline’ or fall back 
environmental state as required by the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive. This 
option is not the Council’s preferred option and fails to deliver Government’s planning policy 
objectives.   

2.4.7 The options set out above are considered to be the ‘reasonable alternatives’ in this SA. The 
above options are considered in more detail in Section 4.

Page 156



21

2.5 Defining ‘Significant effects’

2.5.1 An important factor to be identified as part of the scoping exercise of the environmental 
report prepared under the 2004 Regulations is the definition of ‘likely significant effects’. 
The 2004 Regulations (Schedule 1) specify the criteria that should be taken into account 
when determining likely significant effects. These criteria, which principally relate to the 
characteristics of the effects arising from the plan and the value and vulnerability of the 
area likely to be affected, are summarised as follows:

 How valuable and vulnerable is the area that is being impacted?

 What is the duration and how probable, frequent, long lasting and reversible are 
the effects?

 What is the magnitude and spatial scale of the effect?

 What is the cumulative nature of the effects?

2.5.2 Further detail on the nature of the significant environmental issues and the duration of effects 
to be assessed in the Environmental Report is provides at Schedule 2 of the 2004 Regulations 
which states that the likely significant effects on the environment include:

“issues such as biodiversity, population, human health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic 
factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and archaeological heritage, 
landscapes and the interrelationship between the above factors. These effects should include 
secondary, cumulative, synergistic, short, medium and long-term permanent and temporary, 
positive and negative effects”.

2.5.3 Whether an effect is significant or not is the product of two factors:

• The value of the environmental resource affected; and

• The magnitude of the impact.

2.5.4 A significant effect arises as a result of a minor impact on a resource of national value or a 
major impact on a resource of local value. In addition, the accumulation of many non-
significant effects on similar local resources geographically spread throughout the scheme 
may give rise to an overall significant effect.

2.5.5 This approach to assessing and assigning significance to an environmental effect relies upon 
such factors as legislative requirements, guidelines, standards and codes of practice, 
consideration of the SA/SEA Regulations, the advice and views of statutory consultees and 
other interested parties and expert judgement. Based on the above, the following questions 
are relevant in evaluating the significance of potential environmental effects:

 Is the effect positive or negative?

 Which risk groups are affected and in what way?

 Is the effect reversible or irreversible?

 Does the effect occur over the short, medium or long term?

Page 157



22

 Is the effect continuous or temporary?

 Does it increase or decrease with time?

 Is it of local, regional, national or international importance?

 Are national standards or environmental objectives threatened?

 Are mitigating measures available and is it reasonable to require these?

2.5.6 Each spatial option was assessed (guided by the above questions) to identify the potential 
impact on the SA objectives. A combination of expert judgment, analysis of baseline data 
(contained in the Scoping Report 2017) and the definitions set out below were used to judge 
the potential significance of the specified effect on the plan’s objectives.

2.6 Definitions

2.6.1 The following definitions are used in this Environmental Report:

 Duration of Effects

2.6.2 The duration of environmental effects in this SA are defined as follows:

 Short-term 0-5 years

 Medium-term 6-10 years

 Long-term 11 years plus

Nature of Effects

2.6.3 In assessing significance account will be taken as to whether effects are:

Effect Description
Positive effects Effects that have a beneficial influence on the 

environment;

Negative effects Effects that have an adverse influence on the 
environment;

Indirect/secondary effects Effects that are due to activities that are not part 
of the specific plan proposal/policy;

Page 158



23

Permanent effects Effects will have an unchanging impact on the 
plan proposal/policy;

Temporary effects Effects that are a consequence of a limited 
effect of the plan proposal/policy;

Synergistic (effects combining) Combined effects or interactive effects are the 
result of impact interactions between the plan 
proposals/policies. Assessment of the individual 
proposal/policy effects may be insignificant but 
Combined the effects can have an overall 
significant impact;

Cumulative effects Cumulative effects are the result of the 
interaction between effects associated with the 
plans proposals/policies.

2.7 Assessing effects

2.7.1 SA is a powerful tool in the development and refinement of development plan document 
options. The assessment provides a means by which the relative merits of the individual 
options can be assessed. The appraisal process seeks to ascertain the environmental, social 
and economic effects of each option as well as the identification of mitigation or enhancement 
to be included in the emerging Local Plan Review. This assessment process is done in the 
context of the level of information that is currently available for each site and so represents 
a desk based assessment. However, recommendations put forward at each stage have helped 
to refine and enhance the sustainability performance of the options.

2.7.2 This stage offers the opportunity to review the preferred spatial options against the initial 
spatial options set out in the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options, 
backed up against the Sustainability Objectives developed at the scoping stage. Each of the 
options were tested against the sustainability objectives developed for the purposes of the 
Sustainability Appraisal.

2.7.3 The assessment considers the effects of the preferred policy or site on the environment. The 
performance of each site option was scored using the following six-point scale:

Page 159



24

Score Description

++ Option likely to result in a significant positive effect

+ Option likely to result in a minor positive effect

N Neutral (neither positive or negative significant effect)

? The impact between the option and SA objective is 
uncertain

- Option likely to result in a minor negative effect

-- Option likely to result in a significant negative effect

2.7.4 The appraisal has attempted to differentiate between the most significant effects and other 
more minor effects through the use of the symbols shown above. The dividing line in making 
a decision about the significance of an effect is often quite small. Where either (++) or (--) 
has been used to distinguish significant effects from more minor effects (+ or -) this is 
because the effect of an option on the SA objective in question is considered to be of such 
magnitude that it will have a  noticeable and measurable effect taking into account other 
factors that may influence the achievement of that objective.  However, scores are relative 
to the scale of proposals under consideration.

2.7.5 The full appraisal results are set out in the matrixes presented at Appendix B for each option 
considered in this SA. Each matrix contains a summary of the overall environmental effects. 
A summary of the appraisal results is presented at Section 4.

Assumptions

2.7.6 The assessment was based on available information in respect of each sites, policies and 
options considered, and has been based on the SA team’s judgement. In order to ensure 
consistency in the appraisal of the options a set of appraisal questions were developed to 
enable the SA team to consider each effect within clear parameters. Where mitigation 
measures have been proposed within the appraisal table, the long-term effects have been 
assessed on the basis that the mitigation measures have been applied. The appraisal 
questions are set out in the table below:

Page 160



25

SA Objective Questions

1. To provide housing to meet local need 
including provision of affordable homes.

1 Will the site deliver affordable housing?

2 Will the site use previously developed 
land or buildings?
3 Will it give a high housing yield?
4 Will the site meet local need?
5 Will the site meet cross boundary and/or 
neighbouring needs?

2. To promote safe communities and 
reduce fear of crime

1 Will it reduce crime through design 
measures?

2 Will it contribute to a safe built 
environment?

3. Improve access to health facilities and 
promote wellbeing.

1 Will it improve accessibility to health care 
for existing residents (including older 
residents) and provide additional facilities 
for new residents?

2 Will it support wellbeing including 
opportunities for recreational/physical 
activity?
3 Will it provide new accessible green 
space?

4. Maximise the use of previously 
developed land/ buildings and encourage 
the efficient use of land

1 Will it result in the loss of land that has 
not previously been developed?

2 Is the site capable of supporting higher 
density development and/or a mix of uses?
3 Does the site allow for the re-use of 
existing buildings?
4 Will it reduce the amount of derelict, 
degraded and underused land within the 
District?

5. To improve educational attainment of the 
working age population.

1 Will it reduce the number of working age 
residents who have no, or lower level 
qualifications?

6. To achieve stable and sustainable levels 
of economic growth and maintain economic 
competitiveness.

1 Will it encourage higher skilled economic 
sectors in the District?

Page 161



26

2 Will it encourage new employment that is 
consistent with local needs?
3  Will it encourage growth of existing 
businesses?
4 Will it encourage small businesses to 
grow?

7. To reduce water and air pollution. 1 Which Source Protection Zone does the 
development fall within? 

2 Does the site fall within the River Mease 
SAC?
3 Is the site within or directly connected by 
road to an AQMA?

8. To minimise waste and increase the 
recycling and reuse of waste materials.

1 Will it reduce household and/or 
commercial waste?

2 Will it increase waste recovery and 
recycling?
3 Will it reduce the proportion of waste sent 
to landfill?

9. To reduce and manage flood risk and 
surface water run-off.

1 Is the site located outside an area of risk 
from flooding? 
2 Will there be an opportunity for flood risk 
reduction?

10. To reduce and manage the impacts of 
climate change and the Districts 
contribution to the causes.

1  Will it reduce the causes of climate 
change?

2 Will it encourage prudent use of energy?
3 Will it provide opportunities for additional 
renewable energy generation capacity 
within the District?

11. To promote biodiversity protection 
enhancement and management of species 
and habitats.

1 Will it conserve protected/priority 
species?

2 Will it conserve protected/ priority 
habitats and local nature conservation 
sites?
3 Will it protect statutory designated sites?
4 Will it encourage ecological connectivity 
(including green corridors and water 
courses)?

12. To ensure the protection and 
enhancement of the historic environment 
and its setting.

1 Will it preserve and enhance buildings 
and structures and their settings and 
contribute to the Districts heritage?

Page 162



27

2 Will it improve and broaden access to, 
and understanding of, local heritage , 
historic sites, areas and buildings?
3 Will it preserve and enhance conservation 
areas including their setting?
4 Will it offer opportunities to bring heritage 
assets back into active use? 

13. Protect, enhance and manage the 
character and quality of the landscape and 
townscape.

1 Will it achieve high quality and 
sustainable design for buildings, spaces and 
the public realm sensitive to the locality? 

2 Does it value and protect diverse and 
locally distinctive settlement and townscape 
character?
3 Does it safe guard historic views and 
valuable skylines of settlements?
4 Is the site within a main settlement or a 
key rural settlement? 
5 Is the site within close proximity to key 
services (e.g. Schools, food shops, public 
transport, health centres etc.)?

14. To increase opportunities for non-car 
travel and reduce the need for travel.

1 Does the site location encourage the use 
of existing or provide sustainable modes of 
travel?

2 Will it reduce the overall impact on traffic 
sensitive areas?

3 Will it help develop walking cycling rail 
and bus networks to enable residents 
access to employment, services and 
facilities?

Page 163



28

2.7.1 Further details on the assumptions used in this SA are set out at Section 5.2 of this report.

 Difficulties Encountered

2.7.2 It is a requirement of the SEA Regulations that consideration is given to any data limitations 
or other difficulties that are encountered during the SA process. During the appraisal of the 
various options the fact that options had not yet been worked up in detail (comprising only 
suggested policy approaches) meant that at times it was difficult to assess in detail the likely 
effects on each SA objective. Once the draft policies had been finalsied it was possible to 
draw more certain conclusions about their likely effects.

2.7.3 Each of the individual matrices include, to a greater or lesser degree, specific mitigation. For 
the purpose of the SA it is assumed that the proposed mitigation is delivered and the SA 
objective is ‘scored’ accordingly. To ensure consistency we have assumed that an SA ‘score’ 
may only be increased by one place on the scoring matrix i.e. a negative effect is changed to 
a neutral effect as a result of mitigation.

2.8 Stage C – Prepare SA Report

2.8.1 The Publication Draft of the Lichfield District Local Plan Review will be accompanied by an SA 
report referenced at Stage C. The report outlines the significant effects on the environment, 
social and economic factors of the options Local Plan Review. The SEA Directive sets out at 
Article 5 and Annex I the information required to form part of the environmental report. This 
information is repeated as Schedule 2 of the 2004 Regulations.

2.9 Stage D – Consultation on SA Report

2.9.1 The SA report will be published for comment alongside the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: 
Submission. The consultation period will comprise a period of 8 weeks and will be undertaken 
in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

2.10 Stage E – Post adoption Reporting and Monitoring

2.10.1 The SEA Regulations require the significant environmental effects of plans and programmes 
to be monitored in order to identify at an early stage unforeseen adverse effects.

2.10.2 The Local Plan Review will set out a monitoring programme to identify if the policies and site 
allocations meet the overall Plan Objectives and Vision. This programme will allow the Council 
to monitor the success of individual policies and also monitor the baseline environmental, 
social and economic conditions of the Plan area. The results of the monitoring programme 
will be presented in the Authority Monitoring Report.

2.10.3 The final SA monitoring programme will be included in the SA adoption Statement (once the 
Local Plan Review is adopted) and this will reflect any changes made during the Examination 
Stage.

Page 164



29

3.0 Sustainability Assessment – Context and Objectives

3.1 Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions

3.1.1 The Lichfield District Local Plan Review is a spatial development plan introduced by the 
Government under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (hereafter referred to as 
the 2004 Act) as amended by the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (hereafter referred to as the 2012 Regulations). The Act requires each Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) to prepare a Local Plan for its administrative area. Local Plans set 
out the spatial framework which largely determine where, how and what development takes 
place.

Sustainability Context – Plans, Policies and Programmes (Task A1)

3.1.2 The Lichfield District Local Plan Review is not prepared in isolation but is greatly influenced 
by other plans, policies and programmes and by broader sustainability objectives. The 
adopted plan needs to be consistent with international and national guidance together with 
relevant environmental protection legislation.

3.1.3 Appendix A of the Local Plan Review SA Scoping Report (2017) set out a comprehensive list 
of the policy documents that are relevant to the preparation of the Local Plan Review together 
with a summary of the relevance of each document to the Local Plan Review and, more 
specifically, this SA. This outline will be updated at each stage of the process and published 
online as part of the evidence base.

 Key International plans, policies and programmes

3.1.4 At the international level, Directive 2001/42/EC on the assessment of the effects of certain 
plans and programmes on the environment (the “SEA Directive‟) and Directive 92/43/EEC on 
the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the “Habitats Directive‟) are 
particularly significant as they require Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to be undertaken in relation to the Local Plan Review.

3.1.5 These processes have been undertaken in an iterative and integrated manner in tandem with 
the production of the plan in order to ensure that any potential negative environmental effects 
(including on European-level nature conservation designations) are identified and can be 
mitigated. This matter is discussed further at Section 3.5 of this report.

3.1.6 There are a wide range of other EU Directives relating to issues such as water quality, waste 
and air quality, most of which have been transposed into UK law through national-level policy; 
however a complete list of the relevant international directives have been included in 
Appendix A of the Scoping Report (2017).

 Key National plans, policies and programmes

3.1.7 Sustainable development is a cornerstone of Government policy in relation to planning and 
the use of land. The Government’s approach to sustainable development is set out in the 
national strategy “Securing the Future”. The Strategy, published in March 2005 focuses on 
five principles; Living within Environmental Limits, Ensuring a Strong, Healthy and Just 
Society, Achieving a Sustainable Economy, Promoting Good Governance and Using Sound 

Page 165



30

Science Responsibly. The Strategy identifies four key priority areas: Sustainable Consumption 
and Production, Climate Change and Energy, Natural Resource Protection and Environmental 
Enhancement, and Sustainable Communities.

3.1.8 The Government’s general statements of planning policy are set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) which establishes the policies and principles which should be taken 
into account in the preparation of development plans and consideration of individual 
proposals. The NPPF was revised in July 2018. 

3.1.9 The NPPF highlights the economic, social and environmental roles of the planning system 
and planning’s contribution towards a strong, responsive and competitive economy; strong, 
vibrant and healthy communities; and the protection of the natural, built and historic 
environment. These objectives are seen as mutually dependent and should be pursued in an 
integrated way.

3.1.10 The NPPF has at its heart a presumption in favour of ‘sustainable development’ “so that 
sustainable development is pursued in a positive way”.

3.1.11 Paragraph 11 states that  

“for plan-making this means that:

a) plans should positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of their area, 
and be sufficiently flexible to adapt to rapid change;

b) strategic policies should, as a minimum, provide for objectively assessed needs for 
housing and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas, 
unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a strong reason for restricting the overall scale, type 
or distribution of development in the plan area; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole”.

3.1.12 Section 14 of the NPPF emphasises that sustainable development involves securing radical 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions; minimising vulnerability and improving resilience to 
the impacts of climate change; and supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure. The NPPF contains a sequential approach designed to 
direct new development towards areas with the lowest probability of flooding.

Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

3.1.13 Section 15 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by, amongst other things:

 minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity; and

Page 166



31

 preventing both new and existing development from contributing to, or being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, 
water or noise pollution or land instability.

 Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment

3.1.14 Section 16 of the NPPF aims to conserve and enhance the historic environment and both 
designated an undesignated heritage assets and the general principle is that heritage assets 
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance.

3.1.15 The NPPF states at paragraph 16 that “Plans should be prepared with the objective of 
contributing to the achievement of sustainable development”. 

3.1.16 Paragraph 32 of the NPPF specifically references the approach to the Sustainability Appraisal. 
Paragraph 32 states; “Local plans and spatial development strategies should be informed 
throughout their preparation by a sustainability appraisal that meets the relevant legal 
requirements. This should demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant economic, social 
and environmental objectives (including opportunities for net gains). Significant adverse 
impacts on these objectives should be avoided and, wherever possible, alternative options 
which reduce or eliminate such impacts should be pursued. Where significant adverse impacts 
are unavoidable, suitable mitigation measures should be proposed (or, where this is not 
possible, compensatory measures should be considered)”.

 Local Plans, policies and programmes

3.1.17 At the sub-regional and local levels there are a wide range of plans and programmes that are 
specific to Staffordshire and Lichfield District, and which provide further context for the 
emerging Local Plan Review. These plans and programmes relate to issues such as housing, 
employment land, transport, renewable energy and green infrastructure.

 Summary

3.1.18 Based on the review of the relevant policies, plans and programmes the key sustainability 
issues and problems for the District were identified. These are set out in full in Appendix A.

3.2 Baseline information (Task A2)

3.2.1 The Sustainability evidence baseline for Lichfield District used for the purposes of this 
Assessment is set out Appendix B of the Scoping Report (2017) and is not repeated in this 
report. This sets out updated empirical data on all relevant economic, social and 
environmental factors. The baseline information provides the basis for identifying trends, 
predicting the likely effects of the Plan and monitoring its outcomes. This will be updated at 
each stage.

3.3 Relationship between the SA and HRA

3.3.1 In accordance with Article 6(3) of the EU Habitats Directive an assessment is required where 
a plan or project not directly connected to or necessary to the management of a European 
protected site for nature conservation (i.e. designated and proposed/candidate SPA’s and 
SAC’s sites) may give rise to significant effects upon a the designated site. The Habitats 

Page 167



32

Directive is primarily transposed in England under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010.

3.3.2 Lichfield District has two designated European sites within its boundary, namely Cannock 
Chase SAC and River Mease SAC. Lichfield District Council have prepared a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment of the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options to 
consider whether the options in the emerging plan are likely to have significant effects on 
European habitats or species. A HRA of the Lichfield District Local Plan Review is presented 
as a separate ‘standalone’ document.

Page 168



33

4.0 Developing and assessing options and reasonable alternatives (Stage B) 

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Regulation 12 (2) of the 2004 Regulations states that where an environmental assessment 
is required an environmental report shall be prepared to “identify, describe and evaluate 
the likely significant effects on the environment of –

(a) Implementing the plan or programme; and

(b) Reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and the geographical 
scope of the plan or programme”.

4.1.2 An assessment of ‘reasonable’ alternatives to the selected plan is required to meet the 
requirements of Regulation 12 of the 2004 Regulations and in doing so, identify and evaluate 
their sustainability impacts. The Regulations imply that alternatives that are not reasonable 
do not need to be subject of the SA process. For the purposes of the SA it is assumed that 
unreasonable alternatives include policy options that do not meet the objectives of the plan 
or national policy (e.g. the National Planning Policy Framework) or site options that are 
unavailable or undeliverable.

4.1.3 The Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options identified six broad spatial 
options for the distribution of housing growth and economic growth. These options were 
identified by the District Council for the purposes of that SA.  The six spatial options were:

 Residential Growth Option 1 – Town focused development;

 Residential Growth Option 2 – Town and Key Rural Villages Focused Development;

 Residential Growth Option 3 – Dispersed Development;

 Residential Growth Option 4 – New Settlement Development;

 Employment Growth Option 1 – Expansion of existing employment locations; and

 Employment Growth Option 2 – New Locations.

4.1.4 Based on the finding of the SA for the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and 
Options and consultation responses the Council has identified a Preferred Option for 
Growth and Policy Directions. The Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options 
& Policy Directions sequentially considers more detailed locations for housing in terms of 
settlement based directions for growth before identifying specific new housing sites as part 
of future stages of the Local Plan Review. 

4.1.5 The preferred strategic approach to growth will see new homes focused on those sustainable 
settlements identified in the preferred settlement hierarchy. Growth will be attributed in 
accordance with the levels of the hierarchy, with larger levels of growth to those settlements 
higher in the hierarchy such as Lichfield and Burntwood. With regards to employment growth 
the preferred approach is to focus this on the existing employment areas within Lichfield, 
Burntwood and at Fradley Park.

Page 169



34

4.1.6 The Council has also used current guidance to produce seven reasonable options for 
housing need requirements:-

 Option 1: Local housing need only.
(This option would provide only for the local housing need for the district with no 
contribution to the unmet need from within the housing market area.)

 Option 2: Local housing need plus 1,000 home contribution.
(This option uses the same approach as the current local plan which included 
provision of 1,000 dwellings to meet the needs arising from within the housing market 
area (specifically Cannock Chase and Tamworth).)

 Option 3: Local housing need plus 2,000
(Such an approach provides an annual requirement which is consistent with the 
current objectively assessed need for the district incorporated into the current local 
plan.)

 Option 4: Local housing need plus 3,000
(This option provides a reasonably significant contribution towards the unmet need 
and gives an annual requirement which is consistent with the current local plan's 
requirement of 478 dwellings per year.)

 Option 5: Local housing need plus 4,500
(This addition is the mid-point for the range given in the strategic growth study for 
the sustainable urban extension options.)

 Option 6: Local housing need plus 10,000 home contribution.
(This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard 
methodology plus a further 10,000 dwellings which related to the new settlement 
option identified within the strategic growth study.)

 Option 7: Local housing need plus 19,000 home contribution.
(This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard 
methodology plus a further 19,000 dwellings which is the total of the three options 
within the strategic growth study; 10,000 for a new settlement and two 4,500 
sustainable urban extensions using the mid-point between the range set out for 
urban extensions within the growth study.)

4.1.7 The Council’s preferred spatial options are, for residential growth in:  

 Lichfield City, Burntwood, Little Aston, Tamworth, Armitage with Handsacre, Kings 
Bromley, Alrewas, Fradley, Whittington; Fazeley, Mile Oak & Bonehill, Shenstone, 
Stonnall and Hopwas.

4.1.8 These are the options for town & key rural village focussed development, defined as    
Residential Growth Option 2 at the Scope, Issues and Options stage, with the exceptions of-  
the deletions of Rugeley, Brownhills and Norton Canes/Penkridge, and the additions of Kings 
Bromley and Hopwas from the dispersed development option (Residential Growth Option 3).

4.1.9 These options, taken together, were considered to meet the requirement for ‘reasonable’ 
alternatives in the 2004 Regulations.

4.1.10 The work undertaken by the Council to date suggests that further growth options should be 
explored. The strategic growth study and the high-level analysis of growth options has 
concluded that there are two specific areas for further exploration; these being growth to the 
north-east of Lichfield city and growth to the north of Tamworth. 

Page 170



35

4.1.11 Both these options were considered at the Scope, Issues and Options stage as part of 
Residential Growth Option 4 and scored more positively when compared with the other 
options. All options will need to be explored in much greater detail before it can be 
determined whether they are options to be included within the local plan review. Evidence 
will need to be collected and considered to help determine the final locations of growth.  

Page 171



36

5.0 Appraisal of ‘significant’ environmental effects associated with Lichfield Local 
Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions  

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 An appraisal of the policy options in the Lichfield Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & 
Policy Directions considered in this SA is contained at Appendix B. This section of the report 
summarises the findings of the Sustainability Assessment of the Lichfield Local Plan Review: 
Preferred Options & Policy Directions in respect of any significant effects associated with the 
SA objectives and also considers ways of mitigating adverse effects and any cumulative 
effects arising from the Local Plan Review as a whole. This accords with Tasks B3 and B4 of 
the five stage SA process. 

5.2 Assumptions, uncertainties and difficulties

5.2.1 An appraisal of environmental effects inevitably relies on assumptions and an element of 
subjective judgement. As the Local Plan Review contains strategic policy directions there are 
no short, medium or long term effects associated with this stage of the Local Plan. 

5.2.2 It is a requirement of the SEA Regulations that consideration is given to difficulties that are 
encountered during the SA process. This could include any data limitations or other the 
availability of other relevant assessments. This is noted in the individual option matrices. As 
the Local Plan Review evolves the evidence base for the document will expand and been 
refined resulting in a more robust understanding of the effects of the site options on the 
Sustainability Objectives.     

5.2.3 If any other uncertain effects or difficulties have been encountered as part of the assessment 
process then these are noted under the relevant sections alongside the assessor’s comments.  

5.2.4 At this stage of Local Plan Review preparation the proposed spatial options do not have clear 
geographic boundaries and dimensions and therefore the effects of the spatial options on a 
number of the SA objectives could not be determined at this stage. For example, precise 
quantum of development in flood risk areas, the Green Belt and the landscape. These 
elements will be assessed in detail during the next stages of the Local Plan Review’s evolution 
and the accompanying sustainability appraisal. 

5.3 Lichfield Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions  

5.3.1 The policies in the Local Plan Review Preferred Options and Policy Directions are set out as 
the broad themes or subject areas:

- Our spatial strategy.
- Our sustainable communities.
- Our infrastructure.
- Our sustainable transport.
- Our homes for the future.
- Our economic growth, enterprise and tourism.
- Our healthy & safe communities.

Page 172



37

- Our natural resources.
- Our built and historic environment.

5.3.2 Each Policy has been assessed. A summary of the SA assessments are set out, in turn, below 
under the three SA objective groupings of environmental, economic and social effects, 
highlighting significant effects only as required by regulation. Further general summaries are 
included from paragraph 8.2.

5.3.3 Preferred Policy Direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy- will set out the 
spatial strategy for all development within Lichfield District from 2016 to 2036. This will 
include the level of growth to be accommodated within the District and where that growth 
should be located. This is a preferred policy direction as additional work is taking place that 
will allow the council to conclude on the appropriate spatial strategy which will be included 
in the local plan review.

5.3.4 The spatial strategy was considered three reasonable scenarios based on Government policy- 
balanced growth subject to constraints such as Green Belt, meeting neighbour local planning 
authority needs, and provision above locally assessed need in order to follow market signals 
and boost economic growth. The Council is working to respond to these alternatives as 
evidence becomes available and therefore it is a policy direction.  

Environmental: most effects are neutralised by existing policy and mitigation.

Economic: no significant effects until policy detail is known.

Social: all development options deliver homes and will meet local housing need and 
therefore has a positive effect on SA Objective 1. Meeting neighbouring Authority needs 
will impact upon the state of Lichfield District without mitigation such as infrastructure. Health 
facilities may benefit from planning obligations and additional population as mitigation for 
the growth resulting a positive effect on SA Objective 3 although, again, meeting 
neighbouring Authority needs will add pressure on local provision.

5.3.5 Preferred Strategic Policy: Securing sustainable development is a preferred strategic 
policy for delivering sustainable development in Lichfield District. 

Environmental: significantly supports efficient use of land (SA Objective 4), managing 
flood risk (SA Objective 9) and climate change cause (SA Objective 10).

Economic: significant support by being positive when appropriate.

Social: significantly supports homes and community safety.

5.3.6 Preferred Strategic Policy: Sustainable development principles. This policy sets out 
the key issues that all planning applications will need to address.  

Environmental: significant positive effects on reducing water and air pollution (SA 
Objective 7), minimising waste (SA Objective 8), managing flood risk (SA Objective 9) 
and climate change (SA Objective 10).

Economic: no significant effect.

Page 173



38

Social: significant positive effects on landscape and townscape (SA Objective 13), and 
travel (SA Objective 14).

5.3.7 Preferred Policy Direction - Renewable energy. This is a preferred policy direction for 
which three policy options were considered namely a flexible policy using criteria, site 
allocations, and the preferred option of identifying areas of opportunity on the policies map.

Environmental: the preferred option would have significant positive effects on the water 
and air pollution (SA Objective 7), flood risk (SA Objective 9) and climate change 
objectives (SA Objective 10).

Economic: significant support if sites were allocated due to more certainty of delivery.

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.8 Preferred Policy Direction - Flood risk. This is a preferred policy direction in line with 
Government policy, any new development should be directed away from those areas at 
highest flood risk, and its sustainability.

Environmental: will have a significant positive effect on the management of flood risk (SA 
Objective 9).

Economic: no significant effects.

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.9 Preferred Policy Direction: Air quality. This is a preferred policy direction ensuring that 
new development is air quality management areas are consistent with the Council’s 
forthcoming air quality action plan.

Environmental: will have a significant positive effect on reducing air pollution (SA 
Objective 7).

Economic: no significant effects.

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.10 Preferred Policy Direction: Delivering our infrastructure. This is a preferred policy 
direction supporting the provision, in conjunction with other agencies, the delivery of 
appropriate infrastructure within new development.

Environmental: will have a significant positive effect on reducing water and air pollution 
(SA Objective 7), minimise waste (SA Objective 8) and managing flood risk (SA 
Objective 9).

Economic: significant positive effects on economic growth (SA Objective 6).

Social: significant positive effects on these objectives- homes provision (SA Objective 1), 
health/wellbeing (SA Objective 3) and educational attainment (SA Objective 5).

Page 174



39

5.3.11 Preferred Policy direction: Sustainable transport. This is a preferred policy direction 
as, although some content is to be retained, additional up to date evidence, including from 
other agencies, will be required as part of the evolution of anew sustainable Transport Policy.

Environmental: no significant effects until evidence detail is known.

Economic: sustainable transport is essential to economic growth and thus will have a 
significant positive effect on SA Objective 6.

Social: no significant effects until evidence detail is known.

5.3.12 Preferred Policy Direction - Our homes for the future - housing provision. This is a 
preferred policy direction for a strategic housing need policy. The Government is currently 
consulting on the changes to planning policy and guidance including the standard method 
for assessing local housing need. In the meantime, the Council has used current guidance to 
produce seven reasonable options for housing requirements during the Plan Period. The 
seven options are:-

 Option 1: Local housing need only.
(This option would provide only for the local housing need for the district with no 
contribution to the unmet need from within the housing market area.)

 Option 2: Local housing need plus 1,000 home contribution.
(This option uses the same approach as the current local plan which included 
provision of 1,000 dwellings to meet the needs arising from within the housing market 
area (specifically Cannock Chase and Tamworth).)

 Option 3: Local housing need plus 2,000
(Such an approach provides an annual requirement which is consistent with the 
current objectively assessed need for the district incorporated into the current local 
plan.)

 Option 4: Local housing need plus 3,000
(This option provides a reasonably significant contribution towards the unmet need 
and gives an annual requirement which is consistent with the current local plan's 
requirement of 478 dwellings per year.)

  Option 5: Local housing need plus 4,500
(This addition is the mid-point for the range given in the strategic growth study for 
the sustainable urban extension options.)

 Option 6: Local housing need plus 10,000 home contribution.
(This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard 
methodology plus a further 10,000 dwellings which related to the new settlement 
option identified within the strategic growth study.)

 Option 7: Local housing need plus 19,000 home contribution.
(This option would provide for local housing need established using the standard 
methodology plus a further 19,000 dwellings which is the total of the three options 
within the strategic growth study; 10,000 for a new settlement and two 4,500 
sustainable urban extensions using the mid-point between the range set out for urban 
extensions within the growth study.)

Page 175



40

Environmental: Each of the proposed options will have potential significant effects on the 
use of previously developed land (SA Objective 4), positive where local need can be met 
within or adjacent to existing settlements, significant/minor negative effects for a new 
settlement probably requiring greenfield land. Other environmental effect are unknown until 
the precise locations are defined.  

Economic: The provision of new homes are beneficial to economic growth (SA Objective 
6). Each of the proposed options will result in a significant positive effect on this objective.

Social: Each of the proposed options will have potential significant effects on the provisions 
of new homes and affordable housing (SA Objective 1). As the objective is based on the 
provision of local need, then options to provide for unmet need from neighbouring local 
planning authorities and go beyond the local needs of Lichfield objective, will put pressure 
on local infrastructure making overall delivery more difficult. Health facilities (SA Objective 
3) may significantly benefit from the local need and new settlement options because of either 
links to existing infrastructure or economies of scale in providing necessary new facilities. 
Similarly, for educational resources (SA Objective 5) in a potential new settlement.

5.3.13 Preferred Policy Direction: Our housing mix, including homes to meet specialist 
needs. This is a preferred policy direction as the Council considers the components of 
housing need. Two affordable homes options are assessed- the current 40% policy and the 
Government’s 10% minima. The benefit of mixed housing is assessed against market housing 
only, although it is acknowledged that, only on financially unviable sites, is affordable housing 
requirement absolved. 

Environmental: The policy will have a potential significant effect on use of previously 
developed land (SA Objective 4), significant positive where local need can be met within 
or adjacent to existing settlements, significant negative for a new settlement probably 
requiring greenfield land.

Economic: The provision of new homes are beneficial to economic growth and will have a 
positive effect on economic growth (SA Objective 6). 

Social: mixed housing significantly benefits the provision of homes to meet local needs (SA 
Objective 1) because it requires affordable homes for implementation. Market housing, 
however, is more financially viable for providing health facilities. A 40% affordable homes 
requirement is more likely to give educational access in appropriate locations for a sector of 
the population.

5.3.14 Preferred Policy Direction: Density of housing development. This a preferred policy 
direction seeking to set a range of housing density standards - higher around sustainable 
centres as current policy, thirty-five dwellings/hectare and variable standards for flexibility, 
and a broad density range for full flexibility. 

Environmental: the policy will result in the efficient use of land and thus represents a 
positive effect on previously developed land (SA Objective 4).

Economic: no significant effect.

Page 176



41

Social: the thirty-five dwellings/hectare and variable standards for flexibility option is 
considered to be the best opportunity for delivering housing by balancing design and viability. 
This option will also be flexible to fit design for landscape and townscape. The Policy will 
reduce the need to travel therefore resulting in a positive effect (SA Objective 14).

Preferred Policy Direction: Self-build and custom-build housing. This is a preferred 
policy direction supporting self-build and custom-build developments. 

Environmental: no significant effects.

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: This policy will have a positive effect on the provision of new homes and affordable 
housing (SA Objective 1). 

5.3.15 Preferred Policy Direction: Provision for gypsies and travellers. This is a preferred 
policy direction on the provision of gypsies and travellers pitches. 

Environmental: no significant effects.

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: This policy will have a positive effect on the provision of new homes and affordable 
housing (SA Objective 1). Site allocations will be significantly beneficial by giving certainty 
on delivery for the housing need objective.

5.3.16 Preferred Policy Direction for Strategic policy: Our employment and economic 
development. This is a preferred policy direction for delivery of strategic economic growth 
in the District. The Policy accords with Employment Growth Option 1 assessed at the Local 
Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options stage and involves the expansion of existing 
employment locations, and therefore the scope assessments are reproduced.

5.3.17 Other options considered for inclusion in the policy including- home-working, the rural 
economy, brownfield and greenfield development, and additional employment growth.

Environmental: the use of brownfield land will result in a significantly positive effect on the 
efficient use of land compared to other greenfield options (SA Objective 4).

Economic: This policy will have a positive significant effect on the provision of economic 
growth (SA Objective 6). 

Social: Given the intrinsic link between housing and employment, site allocations will be 
result in a positive indirect effect on the delivery of housing (SA Objective 1).

5.3.18 Preferred Strategic Policy: Our centres. This is a preferred strategic policy for supporting 
town and other centres.

Environmental: no significant effects.

Economic: the policy will have a significant positive effect on the economic growth (SA 
Objective 6).

Page 177



42

Social: The Policy will support centres and reduce the need to travel therefore resulting in a 
positive effect (SA Objective 14). 

5.3.19 Preferred Policy: Lichfield economy. This is a preferred policy seeking to promote the 
economy of Lichfield City.

Environmental: potential significant positive effect on the use of previously developed land 
(SA Objective 4) and the historic environment (SA Objective 12). 

Economic: this policy will result in a significant positive effect on economic growth (SA 
Objective 6). 

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.20 Preferred Policy: Burntwood economy. This is a preferred policy seeking to promote the 
economy of Burntwood Town Centre.

Environmental: potential significant positive effect on the use of previously developed land 
(SA Objective 4)

Economic: this policy will result in a significant positive effect on economic growth (SA 
Objective 6).

Social: potential significant positive effect on educational attainment (SA Objective 5) 
Preferred Policy Direction: Tourism. This is a preferred policy direction based on the 
existing adopted Policy which supports the growth of sustainable tourism in the District.

Environmental: no significant effects.

Economic: this policy will result in a Significant/Minor ositive effect on economic growth (SA 
Objective 6).

Social: no significant effects

5.3.21 Preferred Policy Direction: Healthy & safe communities This is a preferred policy 
direction for community safety, community infrastructure and health infrastructure.

Environmental: no significant effects.

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: the policy will have a significant positive effect on access to health facilities /well-
being (SA Objective 3) and community safety (SA Objective 2).

5.3.22 Preferred Policy Direction: Open space and recreation is a preferred policy direction 
seeking to protecting existing open space, sports and recreation buildings/land and seek to 
encourage and enhance existing facilities. 

Environmental: no significant effects.

Economic: no significant effect.

Page 178



43

Social: the policy will have a significant positive effect on reducing the need for travel 
through support for local facilities (SA Objective 14).

5.3.23 Preferred Policy Direction: Our natural resources. This is a preferred policy direction, 
for Green Belt and Local Green Spaces; Internationally important natural environments; 
natural and historic landscapes; water quality; biodiversity; and Green Infrastructure.

Environmental: The policy offers significant positive effects on climate change (SA 
Objective 10), biodiversity (SA Objective 11), and landscape and townscape (SA 
Objective 13).

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.24 Preferred Policy Direction: Historic and built environment This is a preferred policy 
direction seeking to protect and improve the historic and built environment. 

Environmental: The Policy offers significant positive effects on the historic environment 
(SA Objective 12), and landscape and townscape (SA Objective 13).

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.25 Preferred Policy Direction: High Quality Design This is a preferred policy direction 
seeking the promotion of high-quality design in all new development. 

Environmental: The policy offers significant positive effects on the climate change (SA 
Objective 10), biodiversity (SA Objective 11), historic environment (SA Objective 12), 
and landscape and townscape (SA Objective 13).

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: The policy offers a significant positive effect on community safety (SA Objective 
2).

5.3.26 Preferred Policy Direction: Evidence Supporting heritage proposals This is a 
preferred policy direction seeking to ensure that proposals affecting a heritage asset (whether 
designated or no-designated) are supported by a Heritage assessment. 

Environmental: The Policy offers significant positive effects on the historic environment 
(SA Objective 12), and landscape and townscape (SA Objective 13).

Economic: no significant effect.

Social: no significant effects.

5.3.27 Preferred Strategic Options for Growth. The preferred strategic options for growth 
derive from the most sustainable residential and employment growth options identified as 
part of the Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options stageThe preferred strategic option 
for growth will see new homes focused on those sustainable settlements identified in the 

Page 179



44

preferred settlement hierarchy. Growth will be attributed in accordance with the levels of the 
hierarchy, with larger levels of growth to those settlements higher in the hierarchy such as 
Lichfield and Burntwood. With regards to employment growth the preferred approach is to 
focus this on the existing employment areas within Lichfield, Burntwood and at Fradley Park.

Environmental: Lichfield City will have a significant positive effect on the efficient use of 
land (SA Objective 4). Development around Rugeley may have a significant negative effect 
on the flood risk (SA Objective 9). Lichfield City and north of Lichfield may have significant 
negative effects on the historic environment objectives (SA Objective 12) due to their high 
heritage assets.

Alrewas and Kings Bromley have potential significant negative effects on the flood risk (SA 
Objective 9).

Economic: no significant effects or for the non-key villages.

Social: Lichfield City would have a significant positive effect on the educational attainment 
(SA Objective 5) due to the potential increase in access to its infrastructure, and on the 
travel objective due to its highest local accessibility (SA Objective 14). Fazeley and 
Streethay have accessibility to high level (hospital) existing health facilities and so there will 
be a significant positive effect on access to health facilities (SA Objective 3).

5.4 Cumulative Effects

5.4.1 Cumulatively, the town focused development residential growth options are the most 
sustainable, followed by the new settlement options, the town and rural focused development 
options, and the dispersed development option.

5.4.2 Cumulatively, the expansion of existing employment areas growth options are the most 
sustainable, ahead of the new locations options.

5.5 Conclusions

5.5.1 The precise location of new development is not identified in the Lichfield District Local Plan 
Review: Preferred Option & Policy Direction document, however the appraisal of the preferred 
options reveals positive effects on SA objectives. 

5.5.2 Overall, the meeting local homes needs only option is the most sustainable, with options in 
town focused development being spatially the most sustainable for residential growth; and 
the expansion of existing employment areas growth options are the most sustainable 
employment growth options.  

5.5.3 The delivery of new development in line with the preferred option is likely to deliver a critical 
mass of development to enable significant development contributions towards community 
and transport infrastructure.

Page 180



45

6.0 Mitigation (Task B4)

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 As the Lichfield District Local Plan Review develops a number of site specific and policy 
mitigation measures will be identified via the SA process.

6.1.2 This stage has suggested some mitigation measures as part of the assessments of the Policy 
Directions in order to emphasise best sustainability or make them acceptable. The 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan is seen to be a significant contributor to this aim.  Sites could be 
selected from across the growth options as desired and combined if the most sustainable 
locations do not all fit into an assessed growth direction. 

6.1.3 During the evolution of the Local Plan Review the evidence base will expand and more 
detailed environmental assessment work will be undertaken on each of the proposed site 
allocation options. The increased information will result in the identification of the specific 
items of mitigation and enhancement which will be fully considered in future SAs that 
accompany future stages of the Local Plan Review.

Page 181



46

7.0 Monitoring (Task B5)

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 The SEA Regulations state ”the responsible authority shall monitor the significant 
environmental effects of the implementation of each plan or programme with the purpose of 
identifying unforeseen adverse effects at an early stage and being able to undertake 
appropriate remedial action”. The Environmental Report is required to provide information “a 
description of the measures envisaged concerning monitoring”. Monitoring proposals are 
designed to provide information that can be used to highlight specific issues and significant 
effects, and which could help decision-making.

7.1.2 Monitoring will be focused on the significant sustainability effects that may give rise to 
irreversible damage (with a view to identifying trends before such damage is caused) and 
the significant effects where there is uncertainty in the SA and where monitoring would 
enable preventative or mitigation measures to be taken.

7.1.3 It is considered that the Sustainability Report on the Publication document is the appropriate 
stage to identify indicators.

7.2 Next Steps

7.2.1 This SA has been prepared to support the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred 
Option and Policy Directions Document. Consultation on this version of the initial stage of the 
Plan is taking place in January 2019.

7.2.2 Following consultation on the Plan, the District Council will take into account any consultation 
responses and the findings of sustainability appraisal during the preparation of the next stage 
of the Local Plan Review.

Page 182



47

8.0 Conclusions 

8.1 Introduction

8.1.1 This SA has considered the Preferred Option and Policy Directions each of the options in the 
Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options and Policy Directions document against 
the agreed Sustainability Objectives agreed at Stage A of the SA process. The role of the SA 
process is to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to which the emerging 
Local Plan Review, taken together, will help to achieve relevant environmental, economic and 
social objectives.

8.1.2 A combination of meeting local homes needs in town focused development with expansion of 
existing employment areas is the most sustainable development.

8.1.3 The delivery of new development under all of the options assessed in this SA are likely to 
deliver a critical mass of development to enable significant development contributions 
towards community and transport infrastructure.

8.1.4 Overall, the assessment concludes that the Spatial Options set out in the Lichfield District 
Local Plan Review: Preferred Options and Policy Directions document will generally result in 
a neutral to positive effect on the majority of the SA objectives, although site options each 
have sustainable merits and drawbacks.

8.1.5 The following conclusions are made on the sustainability of the Preferred Local Plan Policy 
Directions:

Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

8.1.6 The Policy will result in the efficient use of land (SA Objective 4) by utilising previously 
development land and buildings within the Settlement Hierarchy which will, in turn, reduce 
the need to travel (SA Objective 14)

 Preferred strategic policy: securing sustainable development

8.1.7 Generally, having no policy would be significantly detrimental to sustainability. The policy has 
significant benefits on the homes, community safety, efficient use of land, economic, flood 
risk and climate change objectives; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is better 
than not.

Delivering Sustainable Development

8.1.8 The policy is generally positive with significant positive effects upon the pollution, waste, flood 
risk, climate change, landscape and townscape and travel objectives.

Preferred Policy Direction: Renewable Energy

8.1.9 No policy has generally negative effects, especially on the economic growth, pollution and 
climate change objectives. 

8.1.10  Policy Map identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy is the most sustainable 
option, significantly for the pollution, flood risk and climate change objectives, and no 
negative effects.

Page 183



48

8.1.11 Site allocations would have significant positive effects on the economic growth objective, and 
the climate change objective shared with the Policy Map option but is less effective on flood 
risk and has question marks on some objectives which could be mitigated by site choices.

8.1.12 A flexible policy has some negative effects, significantly upon the historic environment 
objective.

Preferred policy: air quality

8.1.13 No policy would have mostly negative effects upon the objectives, significantly upon the 
pollution objective. A policy would have mixed effects upon the sustainability objectives with 
a significant positive effect on the pollution objective as would be hoped.

Preferred Policy Direction: Delivering our infrastructure

8.1.14 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects upon this objective, significantly on 
the homes, community safety, health, efficient use of land and economic growth objectives. 
The policy would have significant positive effects on seven objectives; and no negatives; 
therefore having the policy is better than not.

Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

8.1.15 Generally this policy is positively sustainable, especially to the economic growth objective, 
with no negative effects.

Preferred policy direction for strategic policy: Our homes for the future - housing 
provision

8.1.16 The no development option for SEA has been considered under the our spatial strategy option 
for residential growth, therefore only development options are now considered.

8.1.17 The local housing need only option is the most sustainable, with no negative effects and 
significant benefits to the ‘housing to meet local need including provision of affordable 
homes’, ‘improve access to health facilities and promote wellbeing’, and ‘maximising the use 
of previously developed land/ buildings and encouraging the efficient use of land’ objectives.

8.1.18 The up to 4,500 home contributions options in the mid-range of sustainability.

8.1.19 The larger home contributions options are the least sustainable with significant negative 
effects on the community safety and crime, and the ‘maximising the use of previously 
developed land/ buildings and encouraging the efficient use of land’ objectives; although this 
is balanced by the significant positive effects on the ‘improve access to health facilities and 
promote wellbeing’ and ‘improve educational attainment of the working age population’ 
objectives.

Preferred policy direction: Our housing mix, including homes to meet specialist 
needs

Preferred policy direction: self-build and custom-build housing

8.1.20 Having a housing mix has significant positive effects on the housing provision and efficient 
use of land objectives. Having open market housing could have a significant benefit of 
generating finance for other planning obligations such as health facilities.

8.1.21 Other parts of the housing mix are generally positive but the only potential significant benefit 
is to high affordable housing through providing access to educational attainment.

Page 184



49

Preferred policy direction: Density of housing development

8.1.22 The proposed thirty five dwellings per hectare or the specific density standard option has 
mostly positive effects on most objectives, significant with respect to the housing provision, 
use of previously developed land, landscape and townscape, and travel objectives. The 
current higher density around sustainable centres policy is also mostly positive but less so 
because of a lack of certainty without specific standards; and, to an even lesser extent, the 
broad density range option. The no density policy option is mostly negative or neutral with 
no positives. Therefore, a density policy is recommended.

Preferred policy: Provision for gypsies and travelers

8.1.23 No policy will have generally negative effects, significantly upon the homes provision and 
health objectives.

8.1.24 Site allocations are the most sustainable option, especially for the homes provision and health 
objectives, although they would have some uncertainties until sites are identified and they 
can be assessed.

8.1.25 The criteria and over-provision options are similar in effects and have some positives but no 
significant benefits.

Preferred policy direction for strategic policy: Our employment and economic 
development

8.1.26 This latest appraisal assesses the details of the policy which support the locational direction.  
Having no policy generally has neutral or negative effects, significant in respect of previously 
developed land use and economic growth objectives.

8.1.27 Home-working is generally positive across objectives but its significance is limited by its 
current limited scale relative to all employment and economic development.

8.1.28 Supporting the rural economy is marginally more positive than detrimental to sustainability, 
but significantly beneficial to economic growth objective. The minor negatives result from 
remoteness reducing accessibility.

8.1.29 Promoting brownfield development is significantly more beneficial than greenfield 
development, especially, of course, on use of previously developed land, with no negatives; 
whilst use of greenfield land would be marked by negative effects.

8.1.30 Additional economic growth has some negative effects but none significant, balanced by 
positive effects on economic related objectives.

Preferred strategic policy: Our centres

8.1.31 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, 
significantly upon efficient use of land, economic growth, the historic environment and travel; 
with no positives. The policy would have generally positive effects and significant benefits on 
the economic growth and travel objectives; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is 
better than not.

Preferred policy: Lichfield economy

8.1.32 Generally this policy is positively sustainable, especially to the economic growth objective, 
with no negative effects.

Page 185



50

Preferred policy: Burntwood economy

8.1.33 Generally this policy is positively sustainable, significantly to the efficient use of land, 
educational attainment, economic growth and travel objectives, with no negative effects.

Preferred Policy Direction: Healthy & Safe Communities

8.1.34 No policy will have a significant negative effect on the health objective. The policy will have 
significant positive effects on the health and community safety objectives.

Preferred Policy Direction: Open Space and Recreation

8.1.35 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives; with no 
positives. The policy would have generally positive effects and significant benefit on the travel 
objective; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is better than not.

Preferred policy direction: Our natural resources

8.1.36 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, 
significantly upon the climate change and biodiversity objectives; with no positives. The policy 
would have mostly positive effects and significantly for the climate change, biodiversity, and 
landscape and townscape objectives; therefore having the policy is better than not.

8.1.37 Preferred Policy Direction : Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation

8.1.38 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, 
significantly upon the biodiversity objective; with no positives. The policy would have mostly 
positive effects and significant benefits on the biodiversity and travel objectives as hoped; 
therefore having the policy is better than not.

8.1.39 Preferred Policy Direction historic and built environment

8.1.40 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, 
significantly upon the historic environment and landscape and townscape objectives; with no 
positives. The policy would have mostly positive effects and significantly for the historic 
environment and landscape and townscape objectives as expected; therefore having the 
policy is better than not.

Preferred Policy Direction: High Quality Design

8.1.41 Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, 
significantly upon the community safety, historic environment and, landscape and townscape 
objectives; with no positives. The policy would have mostly positive effects and significantly 
for the community safety, climate change, biodiversity, historic environment, and landscape 
and townscape, and travel objectives as expected; therefore having the policy is better than 
not.

Preferred Policy Direction: Evidence supporting heritage proposals

8.1.42 Having no policy would have some negative effects on sustainability objectives, significantly 
upon the historic environment and its setting objective; with no positives. The policy would 
have some positive effects and significantly for the historic environment and its setting 
objective; therefore having the policy is better than not.

Preferred Option for Growth

Page 186



51

8.1.43 Our preferred strategic options for growth generally derive from the most sustainable 
residential and employment growth options from the scope, including town focused Lichfield 
City, Brentwood, north and north-west of Tamworth, and Little Aston, and Armitage with 
Handsacre, Kings Bromley, Alrewas, Fradley, Whittington, Fazeley, Mile Oak & Bonehill, 
Shenstone key rural settlements. However, the addition of Hopwas and Stonnall from the 
dispersed option would share the generally negative effects, significantly so on the travel 
objective.

8.1.44 The preferred areas for employment growth derive from the most sustainable existing 
employment areas Option 1 at the Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options stage.

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix A – Key Sustainability Issues identified in the Scoping Report (December 2017)

Scoping Report Topics Sustainability Issues Likely Evolution without the Plan

Population, Housing and 
Communities

Lichfield has a higher elderly population, 5% higher than the national average. Over 
65s already outnumber the under 15s.

Significant growth in people over 65 and 85 is projected between 2015 – 2025.

The working age population has decreased by 3% since 2010 which is higher than 
both the regional and national average.

Average house price in Lichfield is considerably more expensive when compared 
to the regional and national averages. The lowest quartile house price is 6.72 
times the lowest quartile income.

Crime in the District has increased by 16.1% when compared to the previous 
12 months. There has been an increase of burglary from dwellings, other violence 
against the person and public order offences.

There has been a decrease in the proportion of completions on brownfield land, 
although the majority of development still occurs on brownfield land.

Services and infrastructure unable to keep up 
with requirements of an ageing population, 
leading to communities without access to
required infrastructure and service’s.

A less co-ordinated approach to housing and 
delivery and risk of undersupply of affordable 
housing.

Population forced to move out of District to have 
access to affordable housing

Risk the ability for communities to interact and 
remain inclusive. Reduce the ability to create 
environment where crime and disorder and the 
fear of crime does not undermine quality of life or 
community cohesion.

Health and Inequalities Higher than national average number of working age people having no 
qualifications. The District has a lower proportion of working age adults qualified to 
NVQ Level 4 than the national average.

The population will be less likely to contribute to and 
enable the reinforcement of a strong competitive 
economy.

The district will be unable to proactively meet
development needs of business and support a fit 
economy.

P
age 189



Although Lichfield has a higher life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
than the national average, residents can still expect to spend a large 
number of years in ill health. There is also some disparity between wards.

A high rate of obesity can be seen in the District, from an early age 
through to adulthood.

A Local Plan can ensure the built environment 
contributes to delivering health benefits and 
supports the wellbeing of a population. 
Without a  Plan developments are less likely to 
provide accessible open space or other 
infrastructure requirements that will have a 
positive impact on health and wellbeing.

Economy and 
Employment

High level of out commuting by residents of the District.

Disparity between the gross weekly pay of residents in the District 
and those whose workplace is within the District.

Both Lichfield City Centre and Burntwood Town Centre have the lowest 
vacancy rates in a number of years, with 19 out of 302 shops in Lichfield 
City Centre and 3 out of 67 in Burntwood being vacant.

Fewer residents being employed within the 
District leading to a lack of a skilled 
workforce and a strong competitive 
economy.

Less co-ordinated approach to new employment 
and commercial infrastructure leading to the 
impediment of sustainable growth.

Place at risk the continued vitality of our 
town centres to remain competitive 
providing
customer choice access to services and facilities.

Townscape and 
Historic Environment

There are 21 conservation areas within the District, a total of 16 scheduled 
ancient monuments, a registered historic park and garden and 762 listed 
buildings of which 12 are Grade I, 63 are Grade II* and 687 Grade II. 17
listed buildings are on the ‘Buildings at risk survey’ with 4 of those 
being Grade I and II*.

Within Lichfield there are many rural villages that are set within a varied 
and attractive rural area.

Loss of heritage assets due to a less co-ordinated 
approach to housing and delivery.

Uncontrolled or unsympathetic development 
could harm local landscape and townscape 
character.

P
age 190



Landscape and 
Ecology

Lichfield supports a variety of wildlife rich habitats and species, with 2 SACs, 
4 SSSIs, an AONB, and 78 Sites of Biological Interest.

Areas within the District are at risk of pluvial and fluvial flooding.

Lack of local protection could lead to a 
degradation and loss of valued landscapes.

P
age 191



Within the District there is a large amount of high quality agricultural land, 
in particular Grades 2 and 3.

Lack of strategic oversight leading to 
inappropriate development, damaging Districts 
valuable habitats and species.

Potential risks from inappropriately located 
development.

Transport and 
Movement

Public transport provision across the District is variable.

3% of employed residents commute by rail, which is the highest in 
Staffordshire.

49.1% of residents commute out of the District to work. Lichfield District also 
has one of the highest rates of car drivers at 75%.

In Lichfield City 83% of households are within 350 metres of a half hourly or 
better weekday bus service. Some settlements are limited to just 1-2 bus 
services a week with some rural villages having no bus service at all.

A less strategic overview of development and 
infrastructure delivery may occur.

Necessary highway infrastructure may not be 
strategically implemented.

Ensure that new development is in accessible 
locations that reduce the need to travel.

Ensuring that new growth is integrated with new 
transport infrastructure.

Climate, Energy and 
Waste

Traffic continues to compromise air quality in the AQMA.

50.65% of all household waste was recycled in 2015/16 which is above the 
EU target of 50% of waste being recycled by 2020.

Over a ten year period average domestic consumption has decreased by 26% 
in Lichfield which is larger than both the regional (-22%) and national (-12%) 
figures.

Bring up water to a ‘good quality’ rating in line with Environment Agency 
objectives.

Without a strategic approach to development 
and infrastructure, existing issues of air quality 
may be exacerbated.

Positive trends could be reversed reducing the 
ability of the District to contribute a low carbon 
future.

A Local Plan can provide further support in the 
long-term approach to climate change mitigation 
and adaption. Therefore, without a Local Plan 
development may be less ambitious in its energy
performance.

P
age 192



Appendix B - Assessments of the Preferred Options & Policy Directions

Score Description

++ Option likely to result in a significant positive effect

+ Option likely to result in a minor positive effect

N Neutral (neither positive or negative significant effect)

? The impact between the option and SA objective is 
uncertain

- Option likely to result in a minor negative effect

-- Option likely to result in a significant negative effect

P
age 193



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 
affordable 
homes.

-- ++ - ++ Providing everyone with an opportunity to live in a decent and affordable home 
is a key objective of the Lichfield Local Plan Review (Strategic Objective 6). 
There is a shortage of affordable housing in the district.

No growth would have a significant effect by not meeting local need especially 
for those who cannot afford to live in the district in existing stock.

By definition, helping to meet neighbouring lpa needs is not meeting local need 
but there may be some benefit if in-migrants work locally and boost the local 
economy.

Responding to local market signals would meet not just basic need but also 
latent demand to live in an attractive district.

The preferred balanced growth option is a significantly beneficial one in that it 
would meet exactly local need.

To promote safe 
communities and 

reduce fear of 
crime

+ N - - Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and 
theft rates have increased in recent years. Crime and anti-social behaviour 
could further increase due to the anticipated levels of growth in all three growth 
options. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of 
community safety and thus the preferred growth option will need to include 
reference to specific measures, including designing out crime and investment 
in local policing, to minimise crime and fear of crime.  On this basis, the 
preferred growth option will have a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.

A no development option would maintain the status quo on crime rate.

Taking neighbouring district’s needs increases crime opportunities but is small 
risk relative to the overall situation and therefore insignificantly negative.

P
age 194



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N ++ + ++ Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and 
healthier living. New development has the potential to offer the opportunity to 
‘design-in’ new indoor and outdoor leisure facilities and bring forward new or 
expanded health facilities therefore all of the residential growth options will 
have a positive effect on this sustainability objective. No future development 
would prevent the opportunity for health-related regeneration.

Balanced growth and above need development offer the opportunity for a 
significant positive effect. Helping to meet neighbour needs would mean 
relatively lower level of investment/resources for health and leisure related 
facilities for that need and thus will only have a minor positive effect on this 
sustainability objective.

The IDP will mitigate on this objective.

Maximise the 
use of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 

land

-- + + - No development would miss the opportunity to positively use previously 
developed land and thus will have a significant negative effect on this 
sustainability objective.

Balanced growth seeks to focus development within or adjacent to the 
settlement boundaries of the Towns and Key Villages. This will include 
previously developed land but also open land outside the settlement 
boundaries; however, this approach will ensure that land is used efficiently and 
thus represents a minor positive effect on this sustainability option. Meeting 
neighbour needs may have a similar effect on this sustainability objective 
depending upon development locations and whether the growth can be 
accommodated on previously developed land . There may be opportunities for 
cross boundary locations on neighbouring previously developed land.

P
age 195



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

Above need growth may put pressure on to focus new development outside of 
existing settlement boundaries on open land. This option, therefore, represents 
a negative effect on this sustainability objective.

To improve 
educational 

attainment of 
the working age 

population

- + + + All growth options have the potential to indirectly improve education 
attainment providing new education investment/facilities are brought forward 
if brought forward within a mix of uses in conjunction with the residential 
development. No development negates the opportunity for improvement.

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 
economic 

growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitiveness

-- + + + All growth options have the potential to indirectly improve economic growth in 
the District by providing employment in the housing building sector and within 
a mix of uses being brought forward in conjunction with the residential 
development. The policy explicitly promotes integrated development to prevent 
unsustainable out-commuting.

No development would stagnate the local economy and possibly export growth.

The promotion of economic prosperity is a strategic objective of the Local Plan 
Review (Strategic Objective 8). The development of all the Growth Options 
will contribute to this sustainability objective and represents a minor positive 
effect.

To manage 
water availability 

and reduce 

N N N N Specific measures relating to the management of water availability and the 
minimisation of water or air pollution levels have been considered in the 
Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Core Policy 3.

P
age 196



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

water and air 
pollution

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development will not result in water or air pollution. These policies will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the growth options. Based on the above, all the options 
represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials

N + + + Specific measures relating to the minimisation of waste and recycling have 
been considered in the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Core Policy 3. This 
is an important consideration as waste arisings will inevitably increase due to 
the increase in the District’s households and economic activity, which it is 
hoped CP3 will mitigate.

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development will provide facilities to allow the recycling of materials. These 
policies will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the 
implementation of the existing policies will apply to all the growth options. 
Based on the above, all the growth options represent a positive effect on this 
sustainability objective.

A no development alternative would maintain the current situation.

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off

N N N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due 
to climate change.

The spatial options of the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options 
document do not have geographic boundaries and therefore impacts on flood 
risk areas cannot be fully assessed at this stage. The future stages of the 
Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Plan Review will assess flood risk in detail.  
Development under all options will inevitably increase impermeable surfaces 
resulting in increased water run-off and potential pollution of water courses.

P
age 197



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development is accompanied by initiatives to reduce run off. These policies will 
be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of 
the existing policies will apply to all the growth options. Based on the above, 
all the options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of.

N N N N Strategic Objective 3 seeks to minimise the effect of new development, 
required to meet the needs of the District, on the environment and help the 
District mitigate and adapt to the adverse effects of climate change.

Mitigating the effects of climate change is a ‘cross discipline’ issue and existing 
policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy, especially Core Policy 3, seek to 
address this sustainability objective in the context of promoting sustainable 
development. These policies will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review 
and thus the implementation of the existing policies will apply to all the growth 
options. Based on the above, all the options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats

N N N N All growth options have the potential to impact negatively on the District’s 
biodiversity assets in both the urban and countryside areas but also offer the 
opportunity for significant ecological enhancement and habitat creation. 
Ultimately impacts on the biodiversity will depend on quantum of new land take 
together with the location and design of the proposed growth areas.

Existing Policy NR3 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seeks to ensure that 
new development does not result in an adverse effect on biodiversity, protected 
species or their habitats. This policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of the policy will apply to all the growth 

P
age 198



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

options. Based on the above, all the options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting

- N N N All growth options have the potential to result in negative impacts on the 
historic environment, including archaeological remains, and their settings.

The spatial options Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options 
document do not have specific geographic boundaries and therefore impacts 
on the historic environment cannot be assessed at this stage.

Existing Core Policy 14 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seeks to ensure that 
new development does not result in an adverse impact on the built or historic 
environment. This policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the policy will apply to all the growth options. Based 
on the above, all the growth options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.

The no development option would have a negative effect as there would be no 
opportunity for enhancement of the historic environment.

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape

- N N N All growth options have the potential to impact negatively on the District’s 
landscape and townscape. Ultimately impacts on the landscape and townscape 
will depend on quantum of new land take together with the location and design 
of the proposed growth areas. The spatial options Lichfield District Local Plan 
Review: Preferred Options document does not have specific geographic 
boundaries and therefore impacts on the landscape and townscape cannot be 
fully assessed at this stage.

Strategic Objective 12 seeks to protect and enhance the quality and 
character of the District’s landscape character including the openness of the 
Green Belt.  Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure 

P
age 199



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

that new development does not result in an adverse effect on the landscape 
and townscape of the District. These policies will be taken forward into the 
Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the policies will apply to all 
the growth options. Based on the above, all the growth options represent a 
neutral effect on this sustainability objective.

The no development option would have a negative effect as there would be no 
opportunity for enhancement of the character and quality of the landscape and 
townscape.

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

N + N - The Balanced Growth option offers the best opportunity to increase non-car 
travel and reducing the need for travel due to the focussing of new 
development in existing settlements where public transport, including 
opportunities for enhanced services, is available. Based on this, it has a minor 
positive effect on this sustainability objective.

No development would maintain the status quo on travel pattern.

Meeting neighbour needs is assessed as neutral as it would depend on how the 
compulsion to live in Lichfield District rather than in the need hosts areas will 
lead to sustainability negative travel needs to work and services. It is for the 
host lpas to help assess these effects.

Above need growth would lead to increased travel pressures on infrastructure 
which become less mitigatable as growth spreads.

It is accepted that existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to 
promote sustainable transport which, if implemented, will improve the 
assessment for growth options by the provision/investment in new or 
enhanced public transport in conjunction with the proposed residential 

P
age 200



Preferred policy direction for Strategic policy: Our spatial strategy

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
development

Balanced 
growth-

Urban  & 
Key Rural  

Settlements

Plus 
neighbour 

needs

Above 
need for 
market 
signals

Appraisal Comments

development. Specific measures have been considered in the Lichfield District 
Local Plan Review: Preferred Options document under Core Policy 5.

Summary

On the maximising the use of previously developed land/ buildings and encouraging the efficient use of land objective, the Council’s balanced growth 
preferred option is not as sustainable as the Scope document Option1: Town focussed Development but is still positive effect. It is much more sustainable 
than no development which would not use land positively and efficiently, and better than above need growth option which would become dependent upon 
undeveloped land.

For the travel objective, the balanced growth option is less sustainable than Option1: Town focussed Development with its concentrated travel availability 
but better than the greater than local need options which lead to more dispersed development with diminishing infrastructure.

Preferred strategic policy: securing sustainable development

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainable 

development
Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 

-- ++ Providing everyone with an opportunity to live in a decent and affordable home is a key objective of the 
Lichfield Local Plan Review (Strategic Objective 6). There is a shortage of affordable housing in the 
district. 

No policy would not give the certainty developers need to provide homes.

P
age 201



Preferred strategic policy: securing sustainable development

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainable 

development
Appraisal Comments

affordable 
homes. 

 The policy would have a significant positive effect upon the objective as homes are the principal 
contribution to sustainable development.    

To promote safe 
communities and 

reduce fear of 
crime

-- ++ Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft rates have 
increased in recent years. Crime and anti-social behaviour could further increase due to the anticipated 
levels of growth in all three growth options. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard 
of community safety.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective as it is contrary to delivering the social conditions SD 
involves.

The policy’s reference to social conditions would include community safety.

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

- + Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. New 
development has the potential to offer the opportunity to ‘design-in’ new indoor and outdoor leisure 
facilities and bring forward new or expanded health facilities.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective through planning, although health facilities may be delivered 
by other means.

Health facilities would be part of the social conditions promoted by the policy.

The IDP will mitigate on this objective.  

Maximise the 
use of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 

land 

-- ++ No policy would fail to deliver this objective as the Council could not ensure efficient use of land.

Efficient use of land is the core of securing sustainable development.  

   

To improve 
educational 

attainment of 

- + No policy would fail to promote the social condition of this objective, however, education could be 
provided irrespectively.

P
age 202



Preferred strategic policy: securing sustainable development

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainable 

development
Appraisal Comments

the working age 
population

The policy would support education as part of social conditions but is beyond the total control of 
planning.     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 
economic 

growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitiveness 

-- ++ No policy would fail to deliver this objective due to lack of management.

This may be the principal result of the policy on this objective.   

To manage 
water availability 

and reduce 
water and air 

pollution

- + No policy would limit control on this objective, although other agencies share responsibility.

The policy’s support for environmental conditions would include this objective.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

- + No policy would limit control on this objective.

The policy’s support for environmental conditions would include this objective.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 

-- ++ Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No policy would significantly remove the Council’s control on this objective.

P
age 203



Preferred strategic policy: securing sustainable development

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainable 

development
Appraisal Comments

risk and surface 
water run off 

The policy will be a significant contributor to this objective, as a significant component of environmental 
conditions.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

-- ++ No policy would fail to deliver on this objective which is central to sustainable development.

The policy would be a significant contributor to the Council supporting this wide objective.  

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

-- + No policy would fail to deliver on this objective.

The policy will contribute to this environmental condition but balanced against other needs arising from 
economic and social conditions.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

-- + Because the historic environment is so ubiquitous, no policy would significantly fail to deliver on this 
objective.

The policy will contribute to this environmental condition but balanced against other needs arising from 
economic and social conditions.   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 

-- + Because the spatial scope of this objective is universal, no policy would significantly fail to deliver on it.

The policy will contribute to this environmental condition but balanced against other needs arising from 
economic and social conditions.

P
age 204



Preferred strategic policy: securing sustainable development

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainable 

development
Appraisal Comments

landscape and 
townscape

  

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

- + No policy would reduce the Council’s control on this objective but other agencies are also involved.

The policy would contribute to this objective so long as opportunities are taken up, including by other 
agencies. 

Summary

Generally, having no policy would be significantly detrimental to sustainability. The policy has significant benefits on the homes, community safety, efficient 
use of land, economic, flood risk and climate change objectives; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is better than not.

P
age 205



Delivering Sustainable Development Policy

Sustainability Objective

Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development 
policy Appraisal Comments

To provide housing to meet

 local need

? Most of the policy criteria could be seen as a constraint on housing provision by limiting options, but the 
affordable housing criteria mitigate this negativity.

Local need including 
provision of

The limitations will be locationally determined and  
therefore uncertain.

To promote safe 
communities and reduce 

fear of crime

N The policy could be enhanced on this objective by reference to community safety.

Improve access to health 
facilities and promote 

wellbeing

+ Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. Air quality has an 
effect on wellbeing in various ways including health.

References in criteria to facilities include health, therefore positive.

P
age 206



Sustainability Objective

Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development 
policy Appraisal Comments

Maximise the use of 
previously developed land/ 
buildings and encourage 
the efficient use of land

+ There is a criteria for previously developed land, therefore positive but may be limited by other criteria 
locationally.

To improve educational 
attainment of the working 

age population

?

The facilities criteria may support this objective but delivery of them uncertain.

P
age 207



Sustainability 
Objective

Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development policy
Appraisal Comments

To achieve stable and 
sustainable levels of 

economic growth and 
maintain economic 
competitiveness

+ Several criteria support this objective but other criteria may limit delivery.

To manage water 
availability and reduce 
water and air pollution

++ Criteria are designed to meet this objective.

To minimise waste and 
increase the recycling 
and reuse of waste 

materials

++ Criteria are designed to meet this objective.

P
age 208



Sustainability 
Objective

Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development policy
Appraisal Comments

To reduce and manage 
flood risk and surface 

water run off

++ Criteria are designed to meet this objective.

P
age 209



Sustainability 
Objective

Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development policy
Appraisal Comments

To reduce and manage 
the impacts of climate 

change and the Districts 
contribution to the 

causes of.

++ Strategic Objective 3 seeks to 18ocalize the effect of new development, required to meet the needs of the 
District, on the environment and help the District mitigate and adapt to the adverse effects of climate change.

The overarching purpose of this policy is to deliver this objective.

To promote biodiversity 
protection enhancement 

and management of 
species and habitats

+ There is a positive criteria on this objective but delivery may be limited by other criteria promoting 
development in conflicting locations.

P
age 210



Sustainability 
Objective

Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development policy
Appraisal Comments

To ensure the protection 
and enhancement of the 
historic environment and 

its setting

+ There is a positive criteria on this objective but delivery may be limited by other criteria promoting 
development in conflicting locations.

Protect, enhance and 
manage the character 

and quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape

++ There is a strongly positive criteria on this objective.

P
age 211



Sustainability 
Objective

 Delivering 
Sustainable 

Development policy
Appraisal Comments

To increase 
opportunities for non-

++ There is a positive criteria on this objective.

Non-car travel and 
reduceand reduce the need for 
travelneed for travel

Summary

The policy is generally positive with significant positive effects upon the pollution, waste, flood risk, climate change, landscape and townscape and travel 
objectives.

P
age 212



Preferred Policy Direction: Renewable Energy

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Flexible Site 
allocations

areas of 
opportunity Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 
affordable homes. 

N N N N No relevance to this objective.    

To promote safe 
communities and 

reduce fear of 
crime

N N N N No direct link to this policy.  

Improve access 
to health facilities 

and promote 
wellbeing

? ? ? ? No direct relevance to this policy but renewable energy could 
contribute to wellbeing through tackling issues like fuel poverty.   

Maximise the use 
of previously 

developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 

land 

- - + ? No policy would fail to deliver this objective as the Council could not 
ensure delivery of renewables.

A flexible policy would fail to deliver this objective as the Council 
could not ensure efficient use of land.

Specific allocation of sites for renewable energy could guide options 
to previously developed land.

Identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy could include 
guidance to previously developed land.   

To improve 
educational 

attainment of the 

N N N N No direct link to this policy.

 

     

P
age 213



Preferred Policy Direction: Renewable Energy

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Flexible Site 
allocations

areas of 
opportunity Appraisal Comments

working age 
population

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 

levels of 
economic growth 

and maintain 
economic 

competitiveness 

-- + ++ + No policy would fail to deliver this objective.

A flexible policy would allow developers to choose sites to their 
perceived economic advantage.

Site allocations would provide most certainty on delivery.

Identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy would give 
some certainty on delivery and would be in line with the 
opportunities to maximise the economic benefit but within 
environmental limits.

   

To manage water 
availability and 

reduce water and 
air pollution

-- - + ++ No policy would fail to deliver on this objective.

A flexible policy would fail to sufficiently guide developers in meeting 
this objective.

Specific allocation of sites for renewable energy would support the 
air pollution element of this policy.

Identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy would have 
the benefit of supporting the air pollution element of this policy and 
protect the water environment where relevant.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 

N N N N No direct link to this policy.

P
age 214



Preferred Policy Direction: Renewable Energy

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Flexible Site 
allocations

areas of 
opportunity Appraisal Comments

recycling and 
reuse of waste 

materials 

  

To reduce and 
manage flood risk 
and surface water 

run off 

- ? + ++ Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may 
expand due to climate change. 

No policy would remove the Council’s control on this objective.

Site allocations would provide infrastructure to indirectly reduce 
flood risk by contributing to reducing climate change.

Identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy will be a 
significant contributor to this objective as it could provide 
infrastructure to indirectly reduce flood risk by contributing to 
reducing climate change, and guide options away from sensitive 
landscapes which could include those at flood risk.

  

To reduce and 
manage the 

impacts of climate 
change and the 

Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

-- + ++ ++ No policy would fail to deliver on this objective for an issue which 
could significantly contribute.

A flexible policy may support this objective through infrastructure 
which contributes.  

Both site allocations and identifying areas of opportunity would be a 
significant contributor to the Council supporting this objective 
through relevant infrastructure.  

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement and 

N N N N No direct link to this policy but this type of energy is the least harmful 
to biodiversity so long as the buildings are appropriately located, 
which would be best controlled by site allocations and guiding away 
from sensitive landscapes which may support biodiversity.  

P
age 215



Preferred Policy Direction: Renewable Energy

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Flexible Site 
allocations

areas of 
opportunity Appraisal Comments

management of 
species and 

habitats 

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

- -- ? + No policy would miss the opportunity to promote a type of energy 
which indirectly benefits the historic environment by reducing 
harmful pollution and climate change.

Renewable energy infrastructure can often conflict with the historic 
environment. 

A flexible policy may lead to conflict with the historic environment 
through other objectives.

 Depends upon the location of site allocations in relation to the 
historic environment.

Identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy may include 
guidance to locations away from sensitive landscapes which could 
include historic environment.

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

- - ? + No policy would miss an opportunity to control conditions which are 
harmful to this objective such as degrading pollution and climate 
change.

A flexible policy may lead to options which conflict with this objective.

Renewable energy infrastructure may be presently alien to some 
landscape and townscape so site allocations could conflict with this 
objective.

The safeguards on sensitive landscapes in identifying areas of 
opportunity for renewable energy benefit this objective and by 

P
age 216



Preferred Policy Direction: Renewable Energy

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Flexible Site 
allocations

areas of 
opportunity Appraisal Comments

guiding options to appropriate locations for the mutual benefit of the 
policy and the objective.  

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

N N N N No direct link to this policy as options depend upon resources 
locations but accessibility for workers would be determined by 
location which is better controlled by the less flexible policy options. 

Summary

Having no policy would be generally negative, significantly for economic growth, pollution and climate change objectives. 

A Policy Map identifying areas of opportunity for renewable energy is the most sustainable option, being mostly positive with significant benefits for the 
pollution, flood risk and climate change objectives.

A flexible policy would have a significant negative effect upon the historic environment objective and no significant benefit. Site allocations would have 
significant positive effects on the economic and climate change objectives.

P
age 217



P
age 218



Preferred policy direction: flood risk

Preferred policy direction: Flood Risk

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
Flood Risk Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N No direct link to this policy 

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N No direct link to this policy.  

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N No direct link to this policy.

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

N No direct link to this policy.

 

     

To improve 
educational 

N No direct link to this policy.

P
age 219



Preferred policy direction: Flood Risk

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
Flood Risk Appraisal Comments

attainment of the 
working age 
population

 

     

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

N No direct link to this policy.

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

++ This policy will contribute to this objective.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

N No direct link to this policy.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

++ Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable urban drainage systems will support it.  

To reduce and 
manage the 

N No direct link to this policy.

P
age 220



Preferred policy direction: Flood Risk

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
Flood Risk Appraisal Comments

impacts of 
climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N No direct link to this policy.

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

N No direct link to this policy.

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N No direct link to this policy.

  

To increase 
opportunities for 

N No direct link to this policy.

P
age 221



Preferred policy direction: Flood Risk

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
Flood Risk Appraisal Comments

non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

Summary

The Policy will have a significant effect on managing water resources and flood risk. The policy is in line with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and therefore shares its assessment as sustainable.

P
age 222



Preferred policy direction: Air quality

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Air quality policy 

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 
affordable 
housing

local need

N ? No policy has no correlation to this objective. In the presence of AQMAs, if homes cannot be allocated 
in these areas or permitted in combination which impact upon them, then an air quality could be a 
constraint on housing provision.

To promote safe 
communities and 

reduce fear of 
crime

N N There is no direct link to the objective. 

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

- + No policy would fail to promote wellbeing.

Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. Air quality 
has an effect on wellbeing in various ways including health.

Maximise the use 
of previously 

developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 

land

N - No policy would maintain the current situation.

Existing adverse air quality areas are more likely to be in built up areas of previously developed land/ 
buildings, therefore air quality constraints on development location are likely to negatively affect the 
use of previously developed land/ buildings. 

To improve 
educational 

attainment of the 
working age 
population

N N

No relationship is expected.

P
age 223



Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Air quality policy

Appraisal Comments

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 

levels of 
economic growth 

and maintain 
economic 

competitiveness

N N

There would be negligible effect on a sustainable economy.

To manage 
water availability 

and reduce 
water and air 

pollution

-- ++ No policy would fail to meet this objective.

The proposed policy is designed to meet this objective.

To localise waste 
and increase the 

recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials reuse 

of waste 
materials

N N No correlation.

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off

N N No correlation.

P
age 224



Sustainability Objective

No policy Air quality 
policy

Appraisal Comments

To reduce and manage the 
impacts of climate change 

and the Districts 
contribution to the causes 

of.

- + Strategic Objective 3 seeks to 33ocalize the effect of new development, required to meet the 
needs of the District, on the environment and help the District mitigate and adapt to the adverse 
effects of climate change.

No policy would fail to support this objective.

An air quality policy will help to meet this objective by controlling a source of climate change.

To promote biodiversity 
protection enhancement 

and management of 
species and habitats

- + No policy would fail to support this objective.

An Air quality policy will have a positive effect on biodiversity as air quality is known to have a 
negative impact on biodiversity, especially the SAC.

P
age 225



Sustainability Objective

No policy Air quality 
policy

Appraisal Comments

To ensure the protection 
and enhancement of the 

historic environment and its 
setting

N + No policy would maintain the status quo.

An Air quality policy will have a positive effect on the historic environment as air quality is known to 
have a negative impact on it through deterioration of asset materials.

Protect, enhance and 
manage the character and 
quality of the landscape 

and townscape

? ? Any effects on this objective would be determined by the alternative locations of development if it is 
displaced by implementation of an air quality policy.

P
age 226



Sustainability Objective

No policy Air  quality 
policy

Appraisal Comments

To increase opportunities 
for non-

? ? Any effects on this objective would be determined by the alternative locations of development if it 
is displaced by implementation of an air quality policy.

Non-car travel and reduce There may be a link as travel is the source of air pollution in Lichfield district. 
And reduce the need for 

travelneed for travel

Summary

No policy would have mostly negative effects upon the objectives, significantly upon the pollution objective. A policy would have mixed effects upon the 
sustainability objectives with a significant positive effect on the pollution objective as would be hoped.

P
age 227



Preferred Policy Direction: Delivering our infrastructure

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Delivering our 
infrastructure Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable homes. 

-- ++ Providing everyone with an opportunity to live in a decent and affordable home is a key objective 
of the Lichfield Local Plan Review (Strategic Objective 6). There is a shortage of affordable 
housing in the district. It is considered that homes are a key part of the infrastructure of the 
District. 

No policy would not give the certainty developers need to provide homes.

The policy would have a significant positive effect upon the objective.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

-- + Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft rates have 
increased in recent years. Crime and anti-social behaviour could further increase due to the 
anticipated levels of growth. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of 
community safety.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective as infrastructure contributes to the conditions for 
community safety.

The policy would be positive to this objective through meeting local needs to support 
development but reference could be made to community safety engineered through infrastructure 
in line with paragraphs 91 and 95 0f the NPPF.  

Improve access 
to health facilities 
and promote 
wellbeing

-- ++ Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. New 
development has the potential to offer the opportunity to ‘design-in’ new indoor and outdoor 
leisure facilities and bring forward new or expanded health facilities.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective through planning, although health facilities may be 
delivered by other means.

The policy is intended to deliver health facilities as part of infrastructure.

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 

-- + No policy would fail to deliver this objective as the Council could not ensure efficient use of land.

The policy would assist this objective by supporting the efficient use of land. 

P
age 228



Preferred Policy Direction: Delivering our infrastructure

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Delivering our 
infrastructure Appraisal Comments

encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

To improve 
educational 
attainment of the 
working age 
population

- ++ No policy would fail to deliver on this objective, however, education could be provided 
irrespective.

The policy would support education as part of infrastructure delivery.

 

     

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

-- ++ No policy would fail to deliver this objective by not delivering infrastructure to support 
development in order to support economic growth.

Provision of infrastructure is critical to achieving economic growth.   

To manage water 
availability and 
reduce water and 
air pollution

- ++ No policy would fail to deliver on this objective due to the necessary infrastructure requirements, 
although other agencies share responsibility.

The policy includes provision for this objective.  

P
age 229



To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

- ++ No policy would limit control on this objective.

The policy supports provision for this objective.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

- ++ Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No policy would remove the Council’s provision for this objective, although other providers exist.

The policy will be a significant contributor to this objective.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

- + No policy would fail to deliver on this objective through appropriate infrastructure.

The policy would contribute to infrastructure which could support this objective.  

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N ? There is no direct link to this objective. Delivering infrastructure could be mitigated on this 
objective by location and design.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

N ? No policy would remove the circumstances which could impact on this objective.

Effects would depend upon the locations of the infrastructure.   

P
age 230



environment and 
its setting 

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N ? No policy would remove the circumstances which could impact on this objective.

Effects would depend upon the locations of the infrastructure which could be mitigated by design.

  

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

- + No policy would reduce the Council’s control on this objective but other agencies are also involved.

The policy could contribute to this objective by the design of the infrastructure, including by other 
agencies. 

Summary

Generally, having no policy would have negative effects upon this objective, significantly on the homes, community safety, health, efficient use of land 
and economic growth objectives. The policy would have significant positive effects on seven objectives; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is 
better than not.     

Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
sustainable transport Appraisal Comments

P
age 231



Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
sustainable transport Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N No direct link to this policy but homes are difficult to deliver without sustainable transport 
especially if the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N No direct link to this policy.  

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N No direct link to this policy.

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

+ Sustainable transport is a contributor to delivering this objective by encouraging the efficient use 
of land.   

   

To improve 
educational 
attainment of the 

N No direct link to this policy.

 

     

P
age 232



Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
sustainable transport Appraisal Comments

working age 
population

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

++ Sustainable transport is a significant contributor to economic growth.  

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

+ Sustainable transport as promoted by this policy will contribute to this objective.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

? No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable construction method will support it. 

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

? Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable urban drainage systems will support it.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

+ Sustainable transport supports this objective but some projects will lead to consequential 
negative effects on this objective through provision for traffic.  

P
age 233



Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
sustainable transport Appraisal Comments

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

? Sustainable transport would be beneficial to this objective but dependent upon location and 
consequential effects such as pollution.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

? Depends upon locations.   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

? Depends upon project locations and if the landscape and townscape can absorb constructions.

  

To increase 
opportunities for 

+ By definition the policy should meet this objective but the road linked projects negate some 
positive effect.  

P
age 234



Preferred policy direction: sustainable transport

Sustainability 
Objective

Preferred policy direction: 
sustainable transport Appraisal Comments

non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

Summary

Generally this policy is positively sustainable, especially to the economic growth objective, with no negative effects.

P
age 235



Preferred policy direction for strategic policy: Our homes for the future – housing provision

The assessment of this policy is covered by assessments of the various options to deliver it, as included:-

housing requirement reasonable alternatives;  our spatial strategy reasonable alternatives; our housing mix reasonable alternatives; the traveller policy; 
and maximising the use of previously developed land/ buildings and encouraging the efficient use of land is an objective for this sustainability appraisal.

P
age 236



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

To provide 
housing to 
meet local 

need including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

++ + + N N - - Providing everyone 
with an opportunity 
to live in a decent 

and affordable home 
is a key objective of 
the Lichfield Local 

Plan Review 
(Strategic 

Objective 6). There 
is a shortage of 

affordable housing in 
the district. 

By definition, helping 
to meet 

neighbouring lpa 
needs, all the 

options except the 
local housing need 
only option, is not 
meeting local need 
but there may be 
some benefit if in-

migrants work locally 
and boost the local 

economy.

The up to 2000 
homes contributions 

P
age 237



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

options would have 
positive effects as 

the contributions are 
consistent with the 
current objectively 
assessed need for 

the district 
incorporated into the 

current local plan.

The 3, and 4,500 
options are 

considered to be 
neutral as they are 

consistent with 
sustainable urban 

extensions evidence.

The greatest 
contributions options 

are considered to 
have negative 
effects as they 

provide significantly 
beyond local need 
with consequential 
negative effects on 

sustainable 
infrastructure 

P
age 238



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

supporting local 
need.

All options do 
however give 

positive potential for 
affordable housing 
which reduces any 
significant effect 
which would be 
contrary to this 

objective.      

To promote 
safe 

communities 
and reduce 

fear of crime

N - - - - - - Crime rates in the 
District are lower 
than the national 

average but burglary 
and theft rates have 
increased in recent 
years. Crime and 

anti-social behaviour 
could further 

increase due to the 
anticipated levels of 
growth in all these 

growth options. 

P
age 239



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

Strategic 
Objective 11 seeks 

to ensure a high 
standard of 

community safety 
and thus the 

preferred growth 
option will need to 
include reference to 
specific measures, 
including designing 

out crime and 
investment in local 

policing, to minimise 
crime and fear of 

crime.  On this basis, 
the local need only 
growth option will 

have a neutral effect 
on this sustainability 

objective.

Taking neighbouring 
district’s needs 
increases crime 

opportunities but is 
small risk relative to 
the overall growth 

and therefore 

P
age 240



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

insignificantly 
negative. It may 

therefore be 
considered that LDC 
is importing crime 

opportunities but at 
this scale of growth 
it is considered that 
the above mitigation 
could be absorbed.

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

++ + + + + ++ ++ Strategic 
Objective 11 seeks 

to promote and 
ensure healthy 

choices and healthier 
living. New 

development has the 
potential to offer the 

opportunity to 
‘design-in’ new 

indoor and outdoor 
leisure facilities and 

bring forward new or 
expanded health 

facilities therefore all 
of the residential 

growth options will 
have a positive 

P
age 241



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

Meeting local 
residential need 

offers the 
opportunity for a 

significant positive 
effect. 

Meeting neighbour 
needs would mean 

relatively lower level 
of 

investment/resource
s for health and 
leisure related 

facilities for that 
need and thus will 
only have a minor 
positive effect on 
this sustainability 

objective.

A new settlement 
may have a 

significant positive 
effect as new self-
contained health 

P
age 242



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

facilities would be 
required.

The IDP will mitigate 
on this objective.  

Maximise the 
use of 

previously 
developed 

land/ buildings 
and encourage 

the efficient 
use of land 

++ + + + - -- -- Meeting local 
housing need only  
growth seeks to 

focus development 
within or adjacent to 

the settlement 
boundaries of the 
Towns and Key 

Villages. This will 
include previously 
developed land but 
maybe also open 
land outside the 

settlement 
boundaries; 

however, this 
approach will ensure 

that land is used 
efficiently and thus 

represents a 
significant positive 

effect on this 
sustainability option 

P
age 243



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

relative to making 
contributions, which 

will increase 
pressure on the 

previously developed 
land  resource and 
the likelihood of 

passing the 
threshold where 
greenfield land 

would be required. 
Meeting neighbour 
needs may have a 
positive effect on 
this sustainability 

objective depending 
upon development 

locations and 
whether the growth 

can be 
accommodated on 

previously developed 
land . There may be 

opportunities for 
cross boundary 

locations on 
neighbouring 

P
age 244



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

previously developed 
land .

The 4,500 home 
contribution growth 
option will require 
sustainable, but 

probably greenfield, 
extensions through 
pressure to focus 
new development 
outside of existing 

settlement 
boundaries on open 
land. This option, 

therefore, represents 
a negative effect on 
this sustainability 

objective.  

   The largest growth 
options requiring a 
new settlement will 
almost inevitably 

involve use of 
greenfield land 

unless a substantial 
previously developed 

P
age 245



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

land  site is 
available. 

To improve 
educational 

attainment of 
the working 

age population

+ + + + + ++ ++ All growth options 
have the potential to 

indirectly improve 
education 

attainment providing 
new education 

investment/facilities 
are brought forward 
if brought forward 

within a mix of uses 
in conjunction with 

the residential 
development.

The larger growth 
options offer the 
probability of new 

educational facilities 
to service a new 

settlement. 

     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 

+ + + + + + + All growth options 
have the potential to 

indirectly improve 
economic growth in 

P
age 246



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

economic 
growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitivenes
s 

the District by 
providing 

employment in the 
housing building 

sector and within a 
mix of uses being 
brought forward in 

conjunction with the 
residential 

development. 

The promotion of 
economic prosperity 

is a strategic 
objective of the 

Local Plan Review 
(Strategic 

Objective 8). The 
development of all 
the Growth Options 

will contribute to this 
sustainability 
objective and 

represents a minor 
positive effect.

A new settlement 
may offer the 

opportunity to be a 

P
age 247



Sustainability 
Objective

Local 
housin
g need 
only.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
1,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
2,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
3,000 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
4,500 home 
contribution

.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
10,000 
home 

contribution
.

Local 
housing 

need plus 
19,000 
home 

contribution
.

Appraisal 
Comments

self-contained 
economic unit so 
long as it doesn’t 

become a dormitory 
for larger economic 

areas.  

To manage 
water 

availability and 
reduce water 

and air pollution

N N N N N N N Specific measures 
relating to the 

management of 
water availability and 
the minimisation of 

water or air pollution 
levels have been 
considered in the 

Lichfield District Local 
Plan Review: Core 

Policy 3.

Existing policies in 
the Lichfield Local 

Plan Strategy seek to 
ensure that new 

development will not 
result in water or air 

P
age 248



pollution. These 
policies will be taken 

forward into the 
Local Plan Review 

and thus the 
implementation of 

the existing policies 
will apply to all the 

growth options. 
Based on the above, 

all the options 
represent a neutral 

effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

+ + + + + + + Specific measures 
relating to the 
minimisation of 

waste and recycling 
have been 

considered in the 
Lichfield District Local 

Plan Review: Core 
Policy 3. This is an 

important 
consideration as 

waste arisings will 
inevitably increase 
due to the increase 

in the District’s 
households and 

economic activity, 

P
age 249



which it is hoped CP3 
will mitigate.    

Existing policies in 
the Lichfield Local 

Plan Strategy seek to 
ensure that new 
development will 

provide facilities to 
allow the recycling of 

materials. These 
policies will be taken 

forward into the 
Local Plan Review 

and thus the 
implementation of 

the existing policies 
will apply to all the 

growth options. 
Based on the above, 

all the growth 
options represent a 

positive effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

N N N N N N N Areas of Lichfield 
District lie within 

areas of flood risk, 
which may expand 

due to climate 
change. 

P
age 250



The spatial options of 
the Lichfield District 
Local Plan Review: 
Preferred Options 
document do not 
have geographic 
boundaries and 

therefore impacts on 
flood risk areas 
cannot be fully 
assessed at this 

stage. The future 
stages of the 
Sustainability 

Appraisal of the Local 
Plan Review will 

assess flood risk in 
detail.  Development 
under all options will 
inevitably increase 

impermeable 
surfaces resulting in 
increased water run-

off and potential 
pollution of water 

courses. 

Existing policies in 
the Lichfield Local 

Plan Strategy seek to 
ensure that new 
development is 
accompanied by 

initiatives to reduce 

P
age 251



run off. These 
policies will be taken 

forward into the 
Local Plan Review 

and thus the 
implementation of 

the existing policies 
will apply to all the 

growth options. 
Based on the above, 

all the options 
represent a neutral 

effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the 
Districts 

contribution to 
the causes of. 

N N N N N N N Strategic 
Objective 3 seeks 

to minimise the 
effect of new 
development, 

required to meet the 
needs of the District, 
on the environment 
and help the District 
mitigate and adapt to 
the adverse effects 
of climate change.  

Mitigating the effects 
of climate change is 
a ‘cross discipline’ 
issue and existing 

policies in the 

P
age 252



Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy, especially 

Core Policy 3, seek to 
address this 
sustainability 

objective in the 
context of promoting 

sustainable 
development. These 
policies will be taken 

forward into the 
Local Plan Review 

and thus the 
implementation of 

the existing policies 
will apply to all the 

growth options. 
Based on the above, 

all the options 
represent a neutral 

effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.   

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N N N N N N N All growth options 
have the potential to 
impact negatively on 

the District’s 
biodiversity assets in 
both the urban and 

countryside areas but 
also offer the 

opportunity for 
significant ecological 
enhancement and 
habitat creation. 

Ultimately impacts on 

P
age 253



the biodiversity will 
depend on quantum 

of new land take 
together with the 

location and design 
of the proposed 
growth areas. 

Existing Policy NR3 in 
the Lichfield Local 

Plan Strategy seeks 
to ensure that new 
development does 

not result in an 
adverse effect on 

biodiversity, 
protected species or 
their habitats. This 
policy will be taken 

forward into the 
Local Plan Review 

and thus the 
implementation of 

the policy will apply 
to all the growth 
options. Based on 
the above, all the 

options represent a 
neutral effect on this 

sustainability 
objective.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

N N N N N N N All growth options 
have the potential to 

P
age 254



enhancement of 
the historic 

environment 
and its setting 

result in negative 
impacts on the 

historic environment, 
including 

archaeological 
remains, and their 

settings.  

The spatial options 
Lichfield District Local 

Plan Review: 
Preferred Options 
document do not 

have specific 
geographic 

boundaries and 
therefore impacts on 

the historic 
environment cannot 
be assessed at this 

stage. 

Existing Core Policy 
14 in the Lichfield 
Local Plan Strategy 
seeks to ensure that 
new development 

does not result in an 
adverse impact on 
the built or historic 
environment. This 
policy will be taken 

forward into the 
Local Plan Review 

P
age 255



and thus the 
implementation of 

the policy will apply 
to all the growth 
options. Based on 
the above, all the 
growth options 

represent a neutral 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

   

Protect, 
enhance and 
manage the 

character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N N N N N - - All growth options 
have the potential to 
impact negatively on 

the District’s 
landscape and 

townscape. 
Ultimately impacts on 

the landscape and 
townscape will 

depend on quantum 
of new land take 
together with the 

location and design 
of the proposed 

growth areas. The 
spatial options 

Lichfield District Local 
Plan Review: 

Preferred Options 
document does not 

have specific 

P
age 256



geographic 
boundaries and 

therefore impacts on 
the landscape and 

townscape cannot be 
fully assessed at this 

stage. 

Strategic 
Objective 12 seeks 

to protect and 
enhance the quality 
and character of the 
District’s landscape 
character including 
the openness of the 
Green Belt.  Existing 

policies in the 
Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy seek to 
ensure that new 

development does 
not result in an 

adverse effect on the 
landscape and 

townscape of the 
District. These 

policies will be taken 
forward into the 

Local Plan Review 
and thus the 

implementation of 
the policies will apply 

to all the growth 
options. Based on 

P
age 257



the above, the up to 
4,500 homes growth 
options represent a 

neutral effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

The largest growth 
options will introduce 

alien development 
into the landscape 
but other design 

policy should ensure 
a high quality 
townscape. 

 

  

To increase 
opportunities 
for non-car 
travel and 
reduce the 

need for travel

+ N N N N N N The local housing 
need only Growth 
option offers an 
opportunity to 

increase non-car 
travel and reducing 
the need for travel 

due to the focussing 
of new development 

in existing 
settlements where 
public transport, 

including 
opportunities for 

enhanced services, is 
available. Based on 
this, it has a minor 

positive effect on this 

P
age 258



sustainability 
objective.

Meeting neighbour 
needs is assessed as 
neutral as it would 
depend on how the 
compulsion to live in 

Lichfield District 
rather than in the 

need hosts areas will 
lead to sustainability 
negative travel needs 
to work and services. 
It is for the host lpas 
to help assess these 

effects.

Above local housing 
need growth would 
lead to increased 

travel pressures on 
infrastructure which 

become less 
mitigatable as growth 

spreads.

A new settlement for 
the larger growth 

options offers 
potential for new 

travel infrastructure 
at major scale, as 
long as it is self-

contained for 

P
age 259



facilities to dissuade 
outcommuting.  

It is accepted that 
existing policies in 
the Lichfield Local 

Plan Strategy seek to 
promote sustainable 
transport which, if 
implemented, will 

improve the 
assessment for 

growth options by 
the 

provision/investment 
in new or enhanced 
public transport in 

conjunction with the 
proposed residential 

development. 
Specific measures 

have been 
considered in the 

Lichfield District Local 
Plan Review: 

Preferred Options 
document under 
Core Policy 5.

Summary

P
age 260



The no development option for SEA has been considered under the our spatial strategy option for residential growth, therefore only development 
options are now considered.

The local housing need only option is the most sustainable, with no negative effects and significant benefits to the ‘housing to meet local need including 
provision of affordable homes’, ‘improve access to health facilities and promote wellbeing’, and ‘maximising the use of previously developed land/ 
buildings and encouraging the efficient use of land’ objectives.

The up to 4,500 home contributions options are in the mid-range of sustainability.

The larger home contributions options are the least sustainable with significant negative effects on the community safety and crime, and the ‘maximising 
the use of previously developed land/ buildings and encouraging the efficient use of land’ objectives; although this is balanced by the significant positive 
effects on the ‘improve access to health facilities and promote wellbeing’ and ‘improve educational attainment of the working age population’ objectives.

P
age 261



Our  housing mix reasonable alternatives

Sustainabili
ty Objective

No 
housin

g.

Marke
t 

housin
g only.

Mixed 
housing.

Self build 
and 

custom.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current)
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

10%

(NPPF).

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to 
meet local 

need 
including 

provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

-- N ++ + + ? Providing everyone with an opportunity to live in a decent 
and affordable home is a key objective of the Lichfield Local 
Plan Review (Strategic Objective 6). There is a shortage 

of affordable housing in the district. 

Providing no housing would obviously not meet local need or 
affordable need.

Market housing only would meet local need but not 
affordable need, therefore neutral overall on this objective.

Mixed housing meets all needs.

Self build and custom housing meet some needs but 
insignificant relative to all housing provision.

40% affordable housing maximizes local possibilities on sites 
but reduces viability of those sites.

10% affordable housing meets less need and the NPPF 
criteria do not guarantee delivery so uncertain sustainability.    

To promote 
safe 

communities 
and reduce 

fear of crime

N N N - N N Crime rates in the District are lower than the national 
average but burglary and theft rates have increased in recent 
years. Crime and anti-social behaviour could further increase 

due to the anticipated levels of growth in all these growth 
options. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high 

standard of community safety and thus the preferred option 
will need to include reference to specific measures, including 

designing out crime and investment in local policing, to 

P
age 262



Our  housing mix reasonable alternatives

Sustainabili
ty Objective

No 
housin

g.

Marke
t 

housin
g only.

Mixed 
housing.

Self build 
and 

custom.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current)
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

10%

(NPPF).

Appraisal Comments

minimise crime and fear of crime. The delivery of community 
safety standards should be the same for all housing mixes.

No housing will have a neutral (status quo) effect on this 
sustainability objective.

There should be no variation between market and mixed 
housing for this objective.

Self build and custom housing is mostly at the discretion of 
the developer and therefore LDC has less input on 

community safety mitigation leading to a negative effect on 
this objective.

There should be no variation on this objective with affordable 
housing, giving a neutral effect.

   

Improve 
access to 

health 
facilities and 

-- ++ + - N + Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure 
healthy choices and healthier living. New development has 

the potential to offer the opportunity to ‘design-in’ new 
indoor and outdoor leisure facilities and bring forward new or 

expanded health facilities.

P
age 263



Our  housing mix reasonable alternatives

Sustainabili
ty Objective

No 
housin

g.

Marke
t 

housin
g only.

Mixed 
housing.

Self build 
and 

custom.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current)
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

10%

(NPPF).

Appraisal Comments

promote 
wellbeing

No housing provision would not improve health at best and at 
worst see degeneration without renewal.

Market housing may generate the funding for health.

Mixed housing reduces the viability for health provision but 
provides some stimulus.

Self build and custom housing will provide no input or 
stimulus to significant health resourcing.

40% affordable housing absorbs funding from the pot for all 
obligations including health, although its provision adds to 
the stimulus for health facilities, therefore a neutral effect. 

10% affordable housing would leave, potentially, a relatively 
larger pot for health facilities. All affordable housing is a 

major contributor to wellbeing. 

The IDP will mitigate on this objective.

  

Maximise the 
use of 

previously 

-- + ++ ? - N No housing would fail to contribute to this objective.

The contribution of market housing may depend upon 
viability and attractiveness to that market, and not all 

P
age 264



Our  housing mix reasonable alternatives

Sustainabili
ty Objective

No 
housin

g.

Marke
t 

housin
g only.

Mixed 
housing.

Self build 
and 

custom.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current)
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

10%

(NPPF).

Appraisal Comments

developed 
land/ 

buildings and 
encourage 
the efficient 
use of land 

developers favour or take up options on previously developed 
land .

Mixed housing offers more options which may take 
advantage of previously developed land  and its usual better 
proximity to services, benefitting some community groups.

Self build and custom contribution will be relatively small and 
will depend upon land availability and desirability, therefore 

an uncertain effect.

Maximum affordable housing obligation may impact upon the 
viability of previously developed land  development.

The NPPF requirement would allow flexibility on viability and 
therefore be neutral on the effect of land type.  

 

To improve 
educational 

attainment of 
the working 

age 
population

- + + + ++ + No housing would fail to deliver on this objective.

All housing options have the potential to indirectly improve 
education attainment providing new education 

investment/facilities are brought forward if brought forward 
within a mix of uses in conjunction with the residential 

development.

P
age 265



Our  housing mix reasonable alternatives

Sustainabili
ty Objective

No 
housin

g.

Marke
t 

housin
g only.

Mixed 
housing.

Self build 
and 

custom.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current)
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

10%

(NPPF).

Appraisal Comments

Affordable housing at the maximum level in particular would 
provide the opportunity for disadvantaged people to access 

Lichfield’s education provision. 

     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 
economic 

growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitiven
ess 

N + + + + + All housing options have the potential to indirectly improve 
economic growth in the District by providing employment in 

the housebuilding sector and within a mix of uses being 
brought forward in conjunction with the residential 

development. 

The promotion of economic prosperity is a strategic objective 
of the Local Plan Review (Strategic Objective 8). The 

development of all the Housing Options will contribute to this 
sustainability objective and represents a minor positive effect.

  

P
age 266



To manage 
water 

availability 
and reduce 
water and 

air pollution

- N N N N N Specific measures relating to the management of water 
availability and the minimisation of water or air pollution 

levels have been considered in the Lichfield District Local Plan 
Review: Core Policy 3.

No housing would negate the opportunity to reduce water 
and air pollution.

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to 
ensure that new development will not result in water or air 
pollution. These policies will be taken forward into the Local 

Plan Review and thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the housing options. Based on the 
above, all the options represent a neutral effect on this 

sustainability objective.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling 

and reuse of 
waste 

materials 

N + + + + + Specific measures relating to the minimisation of waste and 
recycling have been considered in the Lichfield District Local 

Plan Review: Core Policy 3. This is an important consideration 
as waste arisings will inevitably increase due to the increase 
in the District’s households and economic activity under the 

housing mix options, which it is hoped CP3 will mitigate.    

No housing would miss the opportunity to increase the 
recycling and reuse of waste materials.

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to 
ensure that new development will provide facilities to allow 

the recycling of materials. These policies will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the 

implementation of the existing policies will apply to all the 
options. Based on the above, all the housing mix options 
represent a positive effect on this sustainability objective.

P
age 267



To reduce 
and manage 

flood risk 
and surface 

water run off 

N N N N N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which 
may expand due to climate change. 

The spatial options of the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: 
Preferred Options document do not have geographic 

boundaries and therefore impacts on flood risk areas cannot 
be fully assessed at this stage. The future stages of the 

Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Plan Review will assess 
flood risk in detail.  Development under all options will 

inevitably increase impermeable surfaces resulting in increased 
water run-off and potential pollution of water courses. 

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to 
ensure that new development is accompanied by initiatives to 
reduce run off. These policies will be taken forward into the 

Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the housing mix options. Based on the 

above, all the options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.  

To reduce 
and manage 
the impacts 
of climate 

change and 
the Districts 
contribution 

to the causes 
of. 

- N N N N N Strategic Objective 3 seeks to minimise the effect of new 
development, required to meet the needs of the District, on 
the environment and help the District mitigate and adapt to 

the adverse effects of climate change.  

No housing would miss the opportunity for regeneration and 
to reduce the impacts of climate change and the Districts 

contribution to the causes of.

Mitigating the effects of climate change is a ‘cross discipline’ 
issue and existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy, 

especially Core Policy 3, seek to address this sustainability 
objective in the context of promoting sustainable 

development. These policies will be taken forward into the 

P
age 268



Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the housing mix options. Based on the 
above, all the housing options represent a neutral effect on 

this sustainability objective.   

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management 
of species 

and habitats 

N N N N N N No housing would maintain the status quo.

All development options have the potential to impact 
negatively on the District’s biodiversity assets in both the 

urban and countryside areas but also offer the opportunity for 
significant ecological enhancement and habitat creation. 

Ultimately impacts on the biodiversity will depend on quantum 
of new land take together with the location and design of the 

proposed growth areas. 

Existing Policy NR3 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seeks to 
ensure that new development does not result in an adverse 

effect on biodiversity, protected species or their habitats. This 
policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the policy will apply to all the 

growth options. Based on the above, all the options represent 
a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.  

To ensure 
the 

protection 
and 

enhancement 
of the 
historic 

environment 
and its 
setting 

N N N N N N No housing would maintain the status quo.

All growth options have the potential to result in negative 
impacts on the historic environment, including archaeological 

remains, and their settings.  

The spatial options for Lichfield District Local Plan Review: 
Preferred Options document do not have specific geographic 
boundaries and therefore impacts on the historic environment 

cannot be assessed at this stage. 

P
age 269



Existing Core Policy 14 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy 
seeks to ensure that new development does not result in an 

adverse impact on the built or historic environment. This 
policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the policy will apply to all the 
housing mix options. Based on the above, all the options 
represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.

   

Protect, 
enhance and 
manage the 
character 

and quality 
of the 

landscape 
and 

townscape 

N N N N N N No housing would maintain the environment for this objective.

All housing options have the potential to impact negatively or 
positively on the District’s landscape and townscape. 

Ultimately impacts on the landscape and townscape will 
depend on quantum of new land take together with the 

location and design of the proposed housing mix 
developments. The spatial options for the Lichfield District 

Local Plan Review: Preferred Options document do not have 
specific geographic boundaries and therefore impacts on the 

landscape and townscape cannot be fully assessed at this 
stage. 

Strategic Objective 12 seeks to protect and enhance the 
quality and character of the District’s landscape character 

including the openness of the Green Belt.  Existing policies in 
the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development does not result in an adverse effect on the 

landscape and townscape of the District. These policies will be 
taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the 

implementation of the policies will apply to all the options. 
Based on the above, the options represent a neutral effect on 

this sustainability objective.

P
age 270



There should be no variation in standards between the 
housing mix types, although self build and custom may 

become more distinctive. 

  

To increase 
opportunities 
for non-car 
travel and 
reduce the 
need for 
travel

N N N N N N It is accepted that existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy seek to promote sustainable transport which, if 

implemented, will improve the assessment for housing mix 
options by the provision/investment in new or enhanced public 

transport in conjunction with the proposed residential 
development. Specific measures have been considered in the 

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Preferred Options 
document under Core Policy 5.

No housing would be neutral in maintaining the status quo.

Opportunities for non-car travel may be more significant to 
occupiers of affordable housing.

Proposed commentary

Having a housing mix has significant positive effects on the housing provision and efficient use of land objectives. Having open market housing could 
have a significant benefit of generating finance for other planning obligations such as health facilities.

Other parts of the housing mix are generally positive but the only potential significant benefit is to high affordable housing through providing access to 
educational attainment.        

P
age 271



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

-- N ++ + + ? Providing 
everyone 
with an 

opportunity 
to live in a 
decent and 
affordable 
home is a 

key objective 
of the 

Lichfield 
Local Plan 

Review 
(Strategic 
Objective 
6). There is 
a shortage of 

affordable 
housing in 
the district. 

Providing no 
housing 

- + ++ + No density 
policy may 
reduce the 
amount of 

housing due to 
a lack of 

enforceability 
on efficient 
use of land, 
especially 
affordable 
homes of 

smaller units.

The existing 
policy has a 

positive effect 
on providing 
more homes 
but is open 
worded and 

less certain in 
delivery than 

P
age 272



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

would 
obviously not 

meet local 
need or 

affordable 
need.

Market 
housing only 
would meet 
local need 

but not 
affordable 

need, 
therefore 
neutral 

overall on 
this 

objective.

Mixed 
housing 
meets all 
needs.

defined 
standards.

A defined limit 
which is 
spatially 
flexible 

maximises 
efficient use of 

land and 
amount of 
housing 
including 
affordable 
homes.

A broad 
density range 

across the 
District would 
be still positive 

on this 
objective but 

likely to reduce 
delivery by 

P
age 273



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

Self build 
and custom 

housing 
meet some 
needs but 

insignificant 
relative to all 

housing 
provision.

40% 
affordable 
housing 

maximizes 
local 

possibilities 
on sites but 

reduces 
viability of 
those sites.

10% 
affordable 
housing 

meets less 

following the 
lowest 

common 
density in the 

District. 

P
age 274



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

need and the 
NPPF criteria 

do not 
guarantee 
delivery so 
uncertain 

sustainability
.       

To promote 
safe 

communities 
and reduce fear 

of crime

N N N - N N Crime rates 
in the 

District are 
lower than 
the national 
average but 
burglary and 
theft rates 

have 
increased in 
recent years. 
Crime and 
anti-social 

N N N N It is 
considered 
that there is 

no correlation 
between 
housing 

density and 
community 

safety, 
although there 

may be 
incidental 
variations 

P
age 275



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

behaviour 
could further 
increase due 

to the 
anticipated 
levels of 

growth in all 
these growth 

options. 
Strategic 
Objective 
11 seeks to 

ensure a 
high 

standard of 
community 
safety and 
thus the 
preferred 
option will 
need to 
include 

reference to 
specific 

between the 
city and town 
centres the 

NPPF requires 
higher 

densities in 
and other 

parts of the 
plan area. Self 

build and 
custom 

housing is 
considered to 
be a negative 

due to the 
uncertainty of 

design, 
including 
therefore 

designing out 
crime. 

P
age 276



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

measures, 
including 
designing 
out crime 

and 
investment 

in local 
policing, to 
minimise 
crime and 

fear of 
crime. The 
delivery of 
community 

safety 
standards 
should be 

the same for 
all housing 

mixes.

No housing 
will have a 

neutral 
(status quo) 

P
age 277



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

There should 
be no 

variation 
between 

market and 
mixed 

housing for 
this 

objective.

Self build 
and custom 
housing is 

mostly at the 
discretion of 

the 
developer 

and 
therefore 

LDC has less 
input on 

P
age 278



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

community 
safety 

mitigation 
leading to a 

negative 
effect on this 

objective.

There should 
be no 

variation on 
this objective 

with 
affordable 
housing, 
giving a 
neutral 
effect.

   

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 

-- ++ + - N + Strategic 
Objective 
11 seeks to 

N + + N There is 
considered to 

be no link 

P
age 279



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

promote 
wellbeing

promote and 
ensure 
healthy 

choices and 
healthier 

living. New 
development 

has the 
potential to 
offer the 

opportunity 
to ‘design-in’ 
new indoor 
and outdoor 

leisure 
facilities and 

bring 
forward new 
or expanded 

health 
facilities.

No housing 
provision 
would not 

between 
uniform or nil 

density 
requirements 
and health.

The 
implementatio

n of higher 
density 

standards is 
considered to 

improve 
accessibility to 
health facilities 

as they are 
likely to be 

located in city 
and town 
centres or 

other locations 
that are well 
served by

P
age 280



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

improve 
health at 

best and at 
worst see 

degeneration 
without 
renewal.

Market 
housing may 
generate the 
funding for 

health.

Mixed 
housing 

reduces the 
viability for 

health 
provision but 

provides 
some 

stimulus.

Self build 
and custom 

public 
transport.  

P
age 281



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

housing will 
provide no 
input or 

stimulus to 
significant 

health 
resourcing.

40% 
affordable 
housing 
absorbs 

funding from 
the pot for 

all 
obligations 
including 
health, 

although its 
provision 

adds to the 
stimulus for 

health 
facilities, 

therefore a 

P
age 282



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

neutral 
effect. 10% 
affordable 
housing 

would leave, 
potentially, a 

relatively 
larger pot for 

health 
facilities. All 
affordable 

housing is a 
major 

contributor 
to wellbeing. 

The IDP will 
mitigate on 

this 
objective.  

Maximise the 
use of 

previously 

-- + ++ ? - N No housing 
would fail to 
contribute to 

- + ++ N No density 
policy is likely 
to lead to an 

P
age 283



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 

land 

this 
objective.

The 
contribution 
of market 

housing may 
depend upon 
viability and 

being 
attractive to 
that market, 
and not all 
developers 
favour or 
take up 

options on 
previously 
developed 

land .

Mixed 
housing 

offers more 
options 

inefficient use 
of land with no 
compulsion to 
use previously 
developed land  
which is more 

likely to be 
suitable for 

high density.

The current 
policy directs 
development 
to sustainable 
centres which, 
by definition, 

are more likely 
to recycle land.

A 
differentiated 
policy is highly 
likely to guide 
development 
to locations 

P
age 284



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

which may 
take 

advantage of 
previously 
developed 

land  and its 
usual better 
proximity to 

services, 
benefitting 

some 
community 

groups.

Self build 
and custom 
contribution 

will be 
relatively 
small and 

will depend 
upon land 
availability 

and 
desirability, 

with previously 
developed land  

given the 
specified 

requirement 
which favours 

built up 
locations which 
are more likely 

to have 
previously 

developed land  
and dissuade 
low density 
suburban 

development.

A district-wide 
density policy 

would be 
neutral as use 
of previously 

developed land  
would be 

irrespective of 

P
age 285



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

therefore an 
uncertain 

effect.

Maximum 
affordable 
housing 

obligation 
may impact 
upon the 
viability of 
previously 
developed 

land  
development

.

The NPPF 
requirement 
would allow 
flexibility on 
viability and 
therefore be 
neutral on 

location for 
policy purpose. 

P
age 286



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

the effect of 
land type.  

 

To improve 
educational 

attainment of 
the working age 

population

- + + + ++ + No housing 
would fail to 
deliver on 

this 
objective.

All housing 
options have 
the potential 
to indirectly 

improve 
education 
attainment 
providing 

new 
education 

investment/f
acilities are 

N + + N No and 
universal policy 
options would 
be neutral as 
they would 

have no 
population 

implications.

Targeted 
options may 
have positive 

effects as 
higher density 
developments 
of smaller size 

would be 
located in 

P
age 287



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

brought 
forward if 
brought 
forward 

within a mix 
of uses in 

conjunction 
with the 

residential 
development

.

Affordable 
housing at 

the 
maximum 
level in 

particular 
would 

provide the 
opportunity 

for 
disadvantage
d people to 

access 

town and city 
centres giving 
ready access 
to educational 

facilities 
and/or public 
transport to 

facilities.

P
age 288



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

Lichfield’s 
education 
provision. 

     

   

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 
economic 

growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitiveness 

N + + + + + All housing 
options have 
the potential 
to indirectly 

improve 
economic 
growth in 
the District 

by providing 
employment 

in the 
housebuildin
g sector and 
within a mix 
of uses being 

N + + + No density 
policy would 

leave the 
market to 
determine 

growth pattern 
with potentially 

no local 
consideration.

Density 
options would 

give local 
control of 

development 

P
age 289



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

brought 
forward in 
conjunction 

with the 
residential 

development
. 

The 
promotion of 

economic 
prosperity is 
a strategic 
objective of 
the Local 

Plan Review 
(Strategic 
Objective 

8). The 
development 

of all the 
Housing 

Options will 
contribute to 

this 

patterns to 
benefit local 

circumstances, 
especially the 
town and city 

centres.

P
age 290



Our housing mix reasonable alternatives incorporating density of housing development

Sustainability 
Objective

No 
housin

g.

Market 
housin
g only.

Mixed 
housin

g.

Self 
build 
and 

custom
.

Affordabl
e 

housing-

40%

(current).

Affordable 
housing-

10%

(NPPF). Appraisal 
Comments

No 
density 
policy

Higher 
around 

sustaina
ble 

centres  
(current)

Thirty-
five 

dwellin
gs/

hectare 
and 

variable 
standar

ds

Broad 
densit

y 
range

Appraisal 
Comments

sustainability 
objective 

and 
represents a 

minor 
positive 
effect.

  

To manage 
water 

availability and 
reduce water 

and air 
pollution

- N N N N N Specific 
measures 
relating to 

the 
management 

of water 
availability 
and the 

minimisation 
of water or 
air pollution 

N N N N Density 
should have 
no effect on 

this objective, 
although 
mitigation 

may need to 
be considered 
where higher 

density 
buildings in 

P
age 291



levels have 
been 

considered 
in the 

Lichfield 
District Local 
Plan Review: 
Core Policy 

3.

No housing 
would 

negate the 
opportunity 
to reduce 
water and 

air pollution.

Existing 
policies in 

the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seek to 

ensure that 
new 

development 
will not 
result in 

water or air 
pollution. 

These 
policies will 
be taken 

forward into 
the Local 

Plan Review 

town and city 
centres lead 
to a potential 

negative 
‘canyon’ effect 
on air quality. 

P
age 292



and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
existing 

policies will 
apply to all 
the housing 

options. 
Based on the 

above, all 
the options 
represent a 

neutral 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

N + + + + + Specific 
measures 
relating to 

the 
minimisation 
of waste and 

recycling 
have been 
considered 

in the 
Lichfield 

District Local 
Plan Review: 
Core Policy 
3. This is an 
important 

consideratio
n as waste 

N N N N Density 
should have 
no effect on 

this objective.

P
age 293



arisings will 
inevitably 

increase due 
to the 

increase in 
the District’s 
households 

and 
economic 
activity 

under the 
housing mix 

options, 
which it is 
hoped CP3 

will mitigate.    

No housing 
would miss 

the 
opportunity 
to increase 

the recycling 
and reuse of 

waste 
materials.

Existing 
policies in 

the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seek to 

ensure that 
new 

development 
will provide 

P
age 294



facilities to 
allow the 

recycling of 
materials. 

These 
policies will 
be taken 

forward into 
the Local 

Plan Review 
and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
existing 

policies will 
apply to all 
the options. 
Based on the 

above, all 
the housing 
mix options 
represent a 

positive 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and 
surface water 

run off 

N N N N N N Areas of 
Lichfield 

District lie 
within areas 
of flood risk, 
which may 
expand due 
to climate 
change. 

? ? ? ?  The impact 
of density 

control or lack 
of it on 

flooding is 
locationally 
dependent 

and therefore 

P
age 295



The spatial 
options of 

the Lichfield 
District Local 
Plan Review: 

Preferred 
Options 

document do 
not have 

geographic 
boundaries 

and 
therefore 

impacts on 
flood risk 

areas cannot 
be fully 

assessed at 
this stage. 
The future 

stages of the 
Sustainability 
Appraisal of 
the Local 

Plan Review 
will assess 
flood risk in 

detail.  
Development 

under all 
options will 
inevitably 
increase 

impermeable 
surfaces 

indeterminate 
at this stage.

Higher density 
development 
reduces the 
development 
surface area 
for surface 

water run off.

P
age 296



resulting in 
increased 

water run-off 
and potential 
pollution of 

water 
courses. 

Existing 
policies in 

the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seek to 

ensure that 
new 

development 
is 

accompanied 
by initiatives 

to reduce 
run off. 
These 

policies will 
be taken 

forward into 
the Local 

Plan Review 
and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
existing 

policies will 
apply to all 
the housing 

P
age 297



mix options. 
Based on the 

above, all 
the options 
represent a 

neutral 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate 
change and 
the Districts 

contribution to 
the causes of. 

- N N N N N Strategic 
Objective 3 

seeks to 
minimise the 
effect of new 
development
, required to 

meet the 
needs of the 
District, on 

the 
environment 
and help the 

District 
mitigate and 
adapt to the 

adverse 
effects of 
climate 
change.  

No housing 
would miss 

the 
opportunity 

for 
regeneration 

N N N N Density 
should have 
no effect on 
this objective 
at the District 
scale as the 

distribution of 
development 
will only re-

distribute the 
effects.   

P
age 298



and to 
reduce the 
impacts of 

climate 
change and 
the Districts 
contribution 

to the 
causes of.

Mitigating 
the effects of 

climate 
change is a 

‘cross 
discipline’ 
issue and 
existing 

policies in 
the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy, 
especially 

Core Policy 
3, seek to 

address this 
sustainability 
objective in 
the context 

of promoting 
sustainable 

development
. These 

policies will 
be taken 

forward into 
the Local 

P
age 299



Plan Review 
and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
existing 

policies will 
apply to all 
the housing 
mix options. 
Based on the 

above, all 
the housing 

options 
represent a 

neutral 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management 
of species and 

habitats 

N N N N N N No housing 
would 

maintain the 
status quo.

All 
development 
options have 
the potential 

to impact 
negatively 

on the 
District’s 

biodiversity 
assets in 
both the 

urban and 
countryside 

- + + -  No and broad 
density 

options would 
have negative 

effects by 
potentially 
dispersing 

development 
and thus land 

take.

Controlling 
density would 

conversely 
concentrate 
development 
and reduce 

risk of 

P
age 300



areas but 
also offer 

the 
opportunity 

for 
significant 
ecological 

enhancemen
t and habitat 

creation. 
Ultimately 
impacts on 

the 
biodiversity 
will depend 
on quantum 
of new land 

take 
together 
with the 

location and 
design of the 

proposed 
growth 
areas. 

Existing 
Policy NR3 in 
the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seeks to 

ensure that 
new 

development 

negative 
impacts on 
biodiversity 
rich areas.  

P
age 301



does not 
result in an 

adverse 
effect on 

biodiversity, 
protected 
species or 

their 
habitats. 

This policy 
will be taken 
forward into 

the Local 
Plan Review 
and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
policy will 
apply to all 
the growth 

options. 
Based on the 

above, all 
the options 
represent a 

neutral 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

To ensure the 
protection and 
enhancement 
of the historic 

N N N N N N No housing 
would 

maintain the 
status quo.

N ? ? ? No density 
policy would 
maintain the 
status quo so 

long as 

P
age 302



environment 
and its setting 

All growth 
options have 
the potential 
to result in 
negative 

impacts on 
the historic 

environment, 
including 

archaeologic
al remains, 
and their 
settings.  

The spatial 
options for 
Lichfield 

District Local 
Plan Review: 

Preferred 
Options 

document do 
not have 
specific 

geographic 
boundaries 

and 
therefore 

impacts on 
the historic 

environment 
cannot be 

assessed at 
this stage. 

Historic 
England’s 

design 
guidance is 
followed for 
individual 

applications.

Density 
control 
options 
effects 

depend upon 
location so 

are 
indeterminate 
but density 
can have a 
negative 
effect on 
heritage 

assets, and 
conservation 

areas in 
particular are 
more likely to 
occur in town 

and city 
centres where 
higher density 
is promoted.   

P
age 303



Existing Core 
Policy 14 in 
the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seeks to 

ensure that 
new 

development 
does not 

result in an 
adverse 

impact on 
the built or 

historic 
environment. 
This policy 

will be taken 
forward into 

the Local 
Plan Review 
and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
policy will 
apply to all 
the housing 
mix options. 
Based on the 

above, all 
the options 
represent a 

neutral 
effect on this 

P
age 304



sustainability 
objective.

Protect, 
enhance and 
manage the 

character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N N N N N N No housing 
would 

maintain the 
environment 

for this 
objective.

All housing 
options have 
the potential 

to impact 
negatively or 
positively on 
the District’s 
landscape 

and 
townscape. 
Ultimately 
impacts on 

the 
landscape 

and 
townscape 
will depend 
on quantum 
of new land 

take 
together 
with the 

location and 
design of the 

proposed 
housing mix 
development

- + ++ +  No density 
policy would 
give a lack of 

control of 
effects on this 

objective.

The current 
policy 

supports this 
objective but 
is not detailed 

enough to 
judge effects.

A detailed 
policy would 

have a 
significant 

positive effect 
on this 

objective due 
to the control 
over design 

which 
supports 

meeting this 
objective.

A broad 
density range 
gives support 
but relatively 

lacks a 
reflection on 

P
age 305



s. The 
spatial 

options for 
the Lichfield 
District Local 
Plan Review: 

Preferred 
Options 

document do 
not have 
specific 

geographic 
boundaries 

and 
therefore 

impacts on 
the 

landscape 
and 

townscape 
cannot be 

fully 
assessed at 
this stage. 

Strategic 
Objective 
12 seeks to 
protect and 
enhance the 
quality and 
character of 
the District’s 
landscape 
character 

the locational 
aspect of 

landscape and 
townscape.

 

  

P
age 306



including the 
openness of 
the Green 

Belt.  
Existing 

policies in 
the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seek to 

ensure that 
new 

development 
does not 

result in an 
adverse 

effect on the 
landscape 

and 
townscape 

of the 
District. 
These 

policies will 
be taken 

forward into 
the Local 

Plan Review 
and thus the 
implementati

on of the 
policies will 
apply to all 
the options. 
Based on the 
above, the 

P
age 307



options 
represent a 

neutral 
effect on this 
sustainability 

objective.

There should 
be no 

variation in 
standards 

between the 
housing mix 

types, 
although self 

build and 
custom may 

become 
more 

distinctive.

To increase 
opportunities 
for non-car 
travel and 
reduce the 

need for travel

N N N N N N It is 
accepted 

that existing 
policies in 

the Lichfield 
Local Plan 
Strategy 
seek to 
promote 

sustainable 
transport 
which, if 

implemented
, will 

improve the 
assessment 

- + ++ + No density 
policy would 

have a 
negative 

effect due to 
not acting 

positively on 
this objective.

The current 
policy has a 

positive effect 
but is limited 
due to a lack 
of specifity 

and certainty.

P
age 308



for housing 
mix options 

by the 
provision/inv
estment in 

new or 
enhanced 

public 
transport in 
conjunction 

with the 
proposed 
residential 

development
. Specific 
measures 
have been 
considered 

in the 
Lichfield 

District Local 
Plan Review: 

Preferred 
Options 

document 
under Core 
Policy 5.

No housing 
would be 
neutral in 

maintaining 
the status 

quo.

Opportunitie
s for non-car 

A specific 
density policy 
would have a 

significant 
positive effect 

by 
concentrating 
development 
in town and 
city centres 
with specific 
reference to 

good 
accessibility to 

public 
transport in 
accordance 

with the NPPF 
and this 

objective.

A broad 
density range 
would have a 
positive effect 
but does not 

steer 
development 

to the 
locations of 

highest 
accessibility. 

P
age 309



travel may 
be more 

significant to 
occupiers of 
affordable 
housing.

Summary

The proposed thirty five dwellings per hectare or the specific density standard option has mostly positive effects on most objectives, significant with 
respect to the housing provision, use of previously developed land, landscape and townscape, and travel objectives. The current higher density around 
sustainable centres policy is also mostly positive but less so because of a lack of certainty without specific standards; and, to an even lesser extent, the 
broad density range option. The no density policy option is mostly negative or neutral with no positives. Therefore, a density policy is recommended.

P
age 310



Preferred Policy Direction – Provisin for Gypsies and Travellers

Sustainability Objective

No Traveller 
policy

Criteria 
based 

Site 
allocations

Over GTANA 
provision

Appraisal Comments

To provide housing to meet 
local need

-- + ++ + Providing everyone with an opportunity to live in a decent and 
affordable home is a key objective of the Lichfield Local Plan 
Review (Strategic including provision of Objective 6). There is a shortage of local sites in the District. 
Allocations and otheraffordable homes. No policy would fail this objective.
A criteria-based policy would deliver but subject to applications 
bydevelopers.
Site allocations would give greater certainty to developers about 
suitability.
Over provision to meet localize needs and mitigate localised 
encampments would partially exceed this objective, being 
beyond local need. 

To promote safe 
communities and reduce 
fear of crime

N N N N Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average 
but burglary and theft rates have increased in recent years. 
Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of 
mutual community safety for localized and the settled 
community. On this basis, the proposed option will have a neutral 
effect on this sustainability objective.

P
age 311



Improve access to health 
facilities and promote 
wellbeing

-- ? ++ ? Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy 
choices and healthier living. New localize sites have the potential 
to offer the opportunity to give localized access to health 
facilities.

No policy would fail to deliver this policy for localized.

A criteria-based policy would leave delivery of this policy 
indeterminate, dependent upon developer applications but 
guidance towards key settlements should place sites closer to 
existing facilities.

Site allocations would give greater certainty over linking to this 
objective.

Over provision would be similar to criteria based issue but 
increased need would lead to more difficulty in connecting sites 
to this objective.

P
age 312



Maximise the use of 
previously developed land/ 
buildings and encourage 
the efficient use of land

N N N N None of the options have a direct effect upon this objective 
unless it is made a criteria of policy, in which case site allocations 
could be made to meet this objective.    

To improve educational 
attainment of the working 

age population

- + + + The promotion of sustainable communities is a strategic objective 
of the Local Plan Review (Strategic Objective 1). The 
proposed policy by giving potential access to education for a 
disadvantaged community will contribute to this sustainability 
objective.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective.

The development options would help by giving localized potential 
access, the criteria by guiding developers to existing educational 
provision locations; the sites could be allocated in appropriate 
locations.

P
age 313



Preferred policy direction: Provision for gypsies and travellers

Sustainability Objective

No Traveller 
policy

Criteria 
based

Site 
allocations

Over GTANA 
provision

Appraisal Comments

To achieve stable and 
sustainable levels of 

economic growth and 
maintain economic 
competitiveness

- + ? + The promotion of economic prosperity is a strategic objective of the Local 
Plan Review (Strategic Objective 8). The promotion of mixed use 
sites will contribute to this sustainability objective and represents a minor 
positive effect.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective.

The effect of site allocations would depend upon whether they would be 
mixed use.

To manage water 
availability and reduce 
water and air pollution

N N N N This is not considered to be an appropriate criterion for the proposed 
policy and is therefore neutral.

To localise waste and 
increase the recycling and 
reuse of waste materials

N + + + This is an important consideration as waste arisings will inevitably 
increase due to the increase in the District’s sites and economic activity. 
The local authority will need to provide a waste service to the sites.

P
age 314



Sustainability Objective

No Traveller 
policy

Criteria 
based

Site 
allocations

Over GTANA 
provision

Appraisal Comments

No policy would maintain the current situation.

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that 
new development will provide facilities to allow the recycling of 
materials. These policies will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review 
and thus the implementation of the existing policies will apply to the 
option. Based on the above, the development options represent a 
positive effect on this sustainability objective.

To reduce and manage 
flood risk and surface water 

run off

N + + + No policy would maintain the current situation.

The current policy includes a criterion of the site is located within Flood 
Zones 1 or 2 which represents an insignificant positive effect on this 
sustainability objective as localize accommodation needs are relatively 
lower than other homes; if this criteria is carried forward then the effect 
would still be positive and site allocations could be made accordingly. 

P
age 315



Sustainability Objective

No Traveller 
policy

Criteria 
based

Site 
allocations

Over GTANA 
provision

Appraisal Comments

To reduce and manage the 
impacts of climate change 

and the Districts 
contribution to the causes 

of.

N N N N Strategic Objective 3 seeks to localize the effect of new development, 
required to meet the needs of the District, on the environment and help 
the District mitigate and adapt to the adverse effects of climate change. 
Mitigating the effects of climate change is a ‘cross discipline’ issue and 
existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to address this 
sustainability objective in the context of promoting sustainable 
development. These policies will be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of the existing policies will apply to 
these options.

Based on the above, all the growth options represent a neutral effect on 
this sustainability objective.

P
age 316



To promote biodiversity 
protection enhancement 

and management of 
species and habitats

N N ? N No policy would maintain the current situation.

The development options have the potential to impact negatively on the 
District’s biodiversity assets in both the urban and countryside areas, 
although development is guided towards urban areas, but also offer the 
opportunity for ecological enhancement and habitat creation.

Ultimately impacts on the biodiversity will depend on quantum of new 
land take together with the location and design of the proposed sites, 
which will be better controlled by site allocations.

Existing Policy NR3 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seeks to ensure 
that new development does not result in an adverse effect on 
biodiversity, protected species or their habitats. This policy will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the 
policy will apply to all the sites. Based on the above, the development 
options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective but the 
site allocations would have a potentially better controlled link to the 
objective dependent upon land availability.

P
age 317



Sustainability Objective

No Traveller 
policy

Criteria 
based

Site 
allocations

Over GTANA 
provision

Appraisal Comments

To ensure the protection 
and enhancement of the 

historic environment and its 
setting

N N ? N No policy would maintain the status quo.

All sites have the potential to result in negative impacts on the historic 
environment, including archaeological remains, and their settings. The 
specific sites are not identified and therefore impacts on the historic 
environment cannot be assessed at this stage. Existing Core Policy 14 
in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seeks to ensure that new 
development does not result in an adverse effect on the built or historic 
environment. This policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of the policy will apply.

Based on the above, the development options represent a neutral 
effect on this sustainability objective but the site allocations would have 
a potentially better controlled link to the objective dependent upon land 
availability.

P
age 318



Protect, enhance and 
manage the character and 
quality of the landscape 

and townscape

N N N N No policy would maintain the current situation.

All sites have the potential to impact negatively on the District’s 
landscape and townscape. Ultimately impacts on the landscape and 
townscape will depend on quantum of new land take together with the 
location and design of the proposed sites. The sites are not identified 
and therefore impacts on the landscape and townscape cannot be fully 
assessed at this stage.

Strategic Objective 12 seeks to protect and enhance the quality and 
character of the District’s landscape character including the openness 
of the Green Belt. Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy 
seek to ensure that new development does not result in an adverse 
effect on the landscape and townscape of the District. These policies 
will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the 
implementation of the policy will apply to the option. Based on the 
above, the option represents a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.

P
age 319



Sustainability Objective

No Traveller 
policy

Criteria 
based

Site 
allocations

Over GTANA 
provision

Appraisal Comments

To increase opportunities 
for non-

- + + + No policy would fail to deliver this objective.

Car travel and reduce
the need for travel

It is accepted that existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy 
seek to promote sustainable transport which, if implemented, will 
improve,  
by the provision/investment in new or enhanced 
public transport in conjunction with the proposed residential 
development.
This policy is carried forward into the LPR, 
therefore, this would be a minor positive for the assessment. This

will be enhanced by a criteria in the policy, and site allocations would 
be made in line with it; although it should be acknowledged that 
128ocalize development is relatively limited.

P
age 320



Summary

No policy will have generally negative effects, significantly upon the homes provision and health objectives.

Site allocations are the most sustainable option, especially for the homes provision and health objectives, although they would have some uncertainties 
until sites are identified and they can be assessed.

The criteria and over-provision options are similar in effects and have some positives but no significant benefits. 

P
age 321



Preferred Policy Direction: Our Employment and economic development

Sustainability Objective

Employment 
Growth 

Option 1 – 
Expansion 
of existing 

employment 
locations 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 2 – 
New 

locations
Appraisal Comments

Social Factors 

To provide housing to meet 
local need including provision 

of affordable homes. 

N N Both Growth Options have the potential to indirectly improve housing growth in the 
District by promoting economic growth. 

However, as the Growth options are focussed on the delivery of employment land 
only it is considered that both the options will result in a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective. 

To promote safe communities 
and reduce fear of crime

N N Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft 
rates have increased in recent years. Crime and anti-social behaviour could further 
increase due to the anticipated levels of growth in each option. 

Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of community safety and 
thus the preferred growth option will need to include reference to specific measures, 
including investment in local policing, to minimise crime and fear of crime.  On this 
basis, both the growth options will have a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.

Improve access to health 
facilities and promote 

wellbeing

N N Both Growth Options seek to bring forward new employment land in order to 
contribute to economic growth in the District. Accordingly, there is no direct link 
between the Growth Options and this sustainability objective. 

P
age 322



Sustainability Objective

Employment 
Growth 

Option 1 – 
Expansion 
of existing 

employment 
locations 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 2 – 
New 

locations
Appraisal Comments

On this basis, both the growth options will have a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.

Maximise the use of 
previously developed land/ 

buildings and encourage the 
efficient use of land 

N -- Employment Growth Option 1 seeks to focus new development within or adjacent 
to existing employment locations in the first instance. However, this will not occur 
in all cases and thus it cannot be concluded that this option will maximise the use 
of previously developed land. This growth option will, on balance, result in a neutral 
effect on this sustainability objective.

Employment Growth Option 2 will focus new development outside of existing 
settlement boundaries on open land. This option, therefore, represents a significant 
negative effect on this sustainability option.  

 

To improve educational 
attainment of the working 

age population

+ + Both Growth Options have the potential to indirectly improve education attainment 
by bringing forward opportunities for apprenticeships and on-job training in 
conjunction with the employment development. 

The promotion of sustainable communities is a strategic objective of the Local Plan 
Review (Strategic Objective 1). The development of both the Growth Options will 
contribute to this sustainability objective and represent a minor positive effect.  

Economic Factors 

To achieve stable and 
sustainable levels of 

economic growth and 

++ ++ The promotion of economic prosperity is a strategic objective of the Local Plan 
Review (Strategic Objective 8). 

P
age 323



Sustainability Objective

Employment 
Growth 

Option 1 – 
Expansion 
of existing 

employment 
locations 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 2 – 
New 

locations
Appraisal Comments

maintain economic 
competitiveness 

Both options will bring forward economic growth and prosperity to the District. On 
this basis, both the growth options will have a significant adverse effect on this 
sustainability objective.

Environmental Factors 

To manage water availability 
and reduce water or air 

pollution

N N Specific measures relating to the management of water availability and the 
minimisation of water or air pollution levels have not been considered in the Lichfield 
District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options document.    

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development will not result in water or air pollution. These policies will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to both the employment growth options. Based on the above, the 
growth options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.  

To minimise waste and 
increase the recycling and 
reuse of waste materials 

+ + Specific measures relating to the minimisation of waste and recycling have not been 
considered in the Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options 
document. This is an important consideration as waste arisings will inevitably 
increase due to the increase in the District’s economic activity.    

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development will provide facilities to allow the recycling of materials. These policies 
will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the 
existing policies will apply to all the growth options. Based on the above, both the 
growth options represent a positive effect on this sustainability objective.  

To reduce and manage flood 
risk and surface water run off 

N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to 
climate change. 

P
age 324



Sustainability Objective

Employment 
Growth 

Option 1 – 
Expansion 
of existing 

employment 
locations 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 2 – 
New 

locations
Appraisal Comments

The proposed Employment Growth Options do not have precise geographic 
boundaries and therefore impacts on flood risk areas cannot be fully assessed at 
this stage. The future stages of the Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Plan Review 
will assess flood risk in detail.  Employment Development in either options will 
inevitably increase impermeable surfaces resulting in increased water run-off and 
potential pollution of water courses. 

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development is accompanied by initiatives to reduce run off. These policies will be 
taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the growth options. Based on the above, all the growth 
options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.  

To reduce and manage the 
impacts of climate change 

and the Districts contribution 
to the causes of. 

N N Strategic Objective 3 seeks to minimise the effect of new development, required 
to meet the needs of the District, on the environment and help the District mitigate 
and adapt to the adverse effects of climate change.  

Mitigating the effects of climate change is a ‘cross discipline’ issue and existing 
policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to address this sustainability 
objective in the context of promoting sustainable development. These policies will 
be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus the implementation of the 
existing policies will apply to all the growth options. Based on the above, all the 
growth options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability objective.   

To promote biodiversity 
protection enhancement and 
management of species and 

habitats 

N N Both Employment Growth Options have the potential to impact negatively on the 
District’s biodiversity assets via the loss of open land but also offer the opportunity 
for significant ecological enhancement and habitat creation. Ultimately impacts on 
the biodiversity will depend on quantum of new land take together with the location 
and design of the proposed growth options. 

P
age 325



Sustainability Objective

Employment 
Growth 

Option 1 – 
Expansion 
of existing 

employment 
locations 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 2 – 
New 

locations
Appraisal Comments

Existing Policy NR3 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development does not result in an adverse effect on biodiversity, protected species 
or their habitats. This policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the policy will apply to all the growth options. Based on 
the above, both the growth options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.  

To ensure the protection and 
enhancement of the historic 
environment and its setting 

N N Both Employment Growth Options have the potential to result in negative impacts 
on the historic environment, including archaeological remains, and their settings.  

The spatial options Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options 
document do not have specific geographic boundaries and therefore impacts on the 
historic environment cannot be assessed at this stage. 

Existing Core Policy 14 in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development does not result in an adverse effect on the built or historic 
environment. This policy will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and thus 
the implementation of the policy will apply to all the growth options. Based on the 
above, all the growth options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.   

Protect, enhance and manage 
the character and quality of 

the landscape and townscape 

N N Both Employment Growth Options have the potential to impact negatively on the 
District’s landscape and townscape. Ultimately impacts on the landscape and 
townscape will depend on quantum of new land take together with the location and 
design of the proposed growth areas. The spatial options Lichfield District Local Plan 
Review: Scope, Issues and Options document do not have specific geographic 
boundaries and therefore impacts on the landscape and townscape cannot be fully 
assessed at this stage. 

P
age 326



Sustainability Objective

Employment 
Growth 

Option 1 – 
Expansion 
of existing 

employment 
locations 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 2 – 
New 

locations
Appraisal Comments

Strategic Objective 12 seeks to protect and enhance the quality and character of the 
District’s landscape character including the openness of the Green Belt.  

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development does not result in an adverse effect on the landscape and townscape 
of the District. These policies will be taken forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the policies will apply to all the growth options. Based 
on the above, all the growth options represent a neutral effect on this sustainability 
objective.  

    

To increase opportunities for 
non-car travel and reduce the 

need for travel

+ - Employment Growth Option 1 offer the best opportunities to increase non-car travel 
and reducing the need for travel due to the focussing of new development in existing 
employment locations were public transport, including opportunities for enhanced 
services, is available. Based on the above, Employment Growth Option 1 score as a 
minor positive effect on this sustainability objective.  

Employment Growth Option 2 is less suited to reducing the need for travel due to 
the dispersed nature of the likely development, i.e. away from existing public 
transport route. 

It is accepted that existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to 
promote sustainable transport which, if implemented, will improve the score for 
Employment Growth Options 2 by the provision/investment in new or enhanced 
public transport in conjunction with the proposed employment development. 
However, as no specific measures have been considered in the Lichfield District Local 
Plan Review: Scope, Issues and Options document impacts on this objective cannot 
be fully assessed at this stage. Based on the above, Employment Growth Options 2 
represent a minor negative effect on this sustainability objective.  

P
age 327



 Summary

Both options tend to match each other except for a significant negative effect on the efficient use of land objective. Both have a significant positive 
effect on the economic growth objective as anticipated.

P
age 328



Sustainability 
Objective

No policy. Home-
working.

Rural 
economy.

Brownfield. Greenfield. Additional 
employment 

growth.
Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to 
meet local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

? N N N - - Although employment and economic 
development may occur incrementally in 
any case, this would be speculative and 
therefore any arising need to provide for 
new local employees is difficult to predict.

Home-working would be locally neutral 
but may lead to more need if employees 
who would have worked outside the 
District find Lichfield to be a more 
desirable residential location.

Support for the rural economy would tend 
to benefit local residents.

Brownfield sites would tend to favour local 
residents as by definition they are in the 
built up areas. Greenfield sites may be 
more accessible and attractive to the 
external workforce, and increase local 
need.

Additional employment growth may 
increase pressure on local need to the 
detriment of existing residents.

To promote 
safe 
communities 
and reduce fear 
of crime

N N - N - - Crime rates in the District are lower than 
the national average but burglary and 
theft rates have increased in recent years. 
Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure 
a high standard of community safety and 
thus the preferred option will need to 

P
age 329



Sustainability 
Objective

No policy. Home-
working.

Rural 
economy.

Brownfield. Greenfield. Additional 
employment 

growth.
Appraisal Comments

include reference to specific measures, 
including designing out crime and 
investment in local policing, to minimise 
crime and fear of crime. 

No policy would maintain the status quo 
on this objective.

Home-working has the potential to reduce 
commercial crime if less facilities are 
needed.

A more prosperous rural economy offers 
more opportunity for crime and in more 
remote places.

Brownfield sites should be integrated with 
existing community safety operations. 
Greenfield sites would add new 
operational community safety areas.  

Additional employment growth offers new 
opportunities for crime.

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N N N N N N None of the policy options would have a 
direct effect on this objective.  

Maximise the 
use of 
previously 
developed 
land/ buildings 
and encourage 

-- + ? ++ - + Having no policy would fail to deliver on 
this objective.

In several senses, home-working helps 
this objective by using existing spaces 
more effectively and potentially reducing 

P
age 330



Sustainability 
Objective

No policy. Home-
working.

Rural 
economy.

Brownfield. Greenfield. Additional 
employment 

growth.
Appraisal Comments

the efficient 
use of land 

land take by decreasing the need for 
workspace.

The effect on this objective depends on 
the demand for any additional 
development on non-brownfield land, for 
example outside the curtilage of rural 
buildings.

The brownfield part of the policy delivers 
this objective. Greenfield development 
would be contrary, although there may 
always be a choice of these types of land 
for developers even with a greenfield 
option.

Additional employment growth offers 
more option for re-use of land.

To improve 
educational 
attainment of 
the working 
age population

- + + + N + No policy would limit the opportunity for 
employment and economic development 
which enables education. This could be 
mitigated by a policy supporting high 
quality jobs in sectors appropriate to the 
area.

Home-working could accompany access to 
wider educational opportunities.

Boosting the rural economy will improve 
access to educational opportunities from 
those areas.

 The land type will have no effect on this 
objective.

P
age 331



Sustainability 
Objective

No policy. Home-
working.

Rural 
economy.

Brownfield. Greenfield. Additional 
employment 

growth.
Appraisal Comments

The greater the employment and 
economic development, generally the 
greater the educational opportunities.

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 
levels of 
economic 
growth and 
maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

-- + ++ + + +

The promotion of economic prosperity is a 
strategic objective of the Local Plan 
Review (Strategic Objective 8). The 
promotion of employment and economic 
development through all the policy options 
will contribute to this sustainability 
objective.

No policy would have a significant 
negative effect on this objective because 
of the vacuum in support.

Home-working may have a positive effect 
by helping productivity.

The rural economy will make a significant 
positive on this objective in Lichfield 
District, especially in that area. 

P
age 332



To manage 
water 

availability and 
reduce water 

and air pollution

- N - + - - No policy would miss the opportunity to 
improve current conditions.

Home-working would only displace any 
effects and these would currently be 
relatively minimal.

Growth in the rural economy could 
potentially increase negative effects in 
that area and in an area more likely to 
have effects due to reduced 
infrastructure.

Brownfield areas are more likely to have 
existing infrastructure and be adaptable. 
Greenfield areas would be converse, 
requiring infrastructure and in areas of 
new susceptibility.

No housing would negate the opportunity 
to reduce water and air pollution.

Additional employment growth adds to 
the risk against this objective including 
through expansion into new areas. This 
may be mitigated by the opportunity to 
develop more efficient operations.

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development will not result in water or air 
pollution. These policies will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the employment 
and economic development options.  

P
age 333



To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

N + + + + + No policy would maintain the status quo 
on this objective.

Specific measures relating to the 
minimisation of waste and recycling have 
been considered in the Lichfield District 
Local Plan Review: Core Policy 3. This is 
an important consideration as waste 
arisings will inevitably increase due to the 
increase in the District’s economic activity 
under the growth options, which it is 
hoped CP3 will mitigate.    

Home-working would just displace the 
issue.

The geographic spread of options will 
have no effects.

Additional employment growth will 
further increase waste but it is considered 
that the mitigation for the other policy 
options will accommodate this. 

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development will provide facilities to allow 
the recycling of materials. These policies 
will be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of 
the existing policies will apply to all the 
growth options. Based on the above, all 
the policy options represent a positive 
effect on this sustainability objective.

To reduce and 
manage flood 

N N N N N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas 
of flood risk, which may expand due to 
climate change. 

P
age 334



risk and surface 
water run off 

No policy will not change effects, 
although employment and economic 
development is likely as a continuation of 
history without policy support.

Home-working maintains the status quo.

The future stages of the Sustainability 
Appraisal of the Local Plan Review will 
assess flood risk in detail.  Development 
under all growth options will inevitably 
increase impermeable surfaces resulting 
in increased water run-off and potential 
pollution of water courses. 

Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development is accompanied by 
initiatives to reduce run off. These policies 
will be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of 
the existing policies will apply to all the 
growth options. Based on the above, all 
the policy options represent a neutral 
effect on this sustainability objective.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

- N N N N N Strategic Objective 3 seeks to 
minimise the effect of new development, 
required to meet the needs of the District, 
on the environment and help the District 
mitigate and adapt to the adverse effects 
of climate change.  

No policy would miss the opportunity for 
regeneration and to reduce the impacts of 

P
age 335



climate change and the Districts 
contribution to the causes of.

Mitigating the effects of climate change is 
a ‘cross discipline’ issue and existing 
policies in the Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy, including Core Policy 3, seek to 
address this sustainability objective in the 
context of promoting sustainable 
development. These policies will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the existing 
policies will apply to all the policy options. 
Based on the above, all the growth 
options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.   

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N N N N N N No policy would maintain the status quo, 
although employment and economic 
development is likely as a continuation of 
history even without policy support.

Home-working maintains the status quo.

All development options have the 
potential to impact negatively on the 
District’s biodiversity assets in both the 
urban and countryside areas but also 
offer the opportunity for significant 
ecological enhancement and habitat 
creation. Ultimately impacts on the 
biodiversity will depend on quantum of 
new land take together with the location 
and design of the proposed growth areas. 

Existing Policy NR3 in the Lichfield Local 
Plan Strategy seeks to ensure that new 

P
age 336



development does not result in an 
adverse effect on biodiversity, protected 
species or their habitats. This policy will 
be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of 
the policy will apply to all the growth 
options. Based on the above, all the 
options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment 
and its setting 

N N N N N N No policy would maintain the status quo, 
although employment and economic 
development is likely as a continuation of 
history even without policy support.

Home-working is unlikely to affect this 
objective unless there are adaptations to 
a listed building.

All growth options have the potential to 
result in negative impacts on the historic 
environment, including archaeological 
remains, and their settings. 

Existing Core Policy 14 in the Lichfield 
Local Plan Strategy seeks to ensure that 
new development does not result in an 
adverse impact on the built or historic 
environment. This policy will be taken 
forward into the Local Plan Review and 
thus the implementation of the policy will 
apply to all the employment and 
economic development policy options. 
Based on the above, all the growth 

P
age 337



options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.

   

Protect, 
enhance and 
manage the 

character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N N N N N N No policy would maintain the 
environment for this objective, although 
employment and economic development 
is likely as a continuation of history even 
without policy support.

Home-working would maintain the status 
quo.

All growth options have the potential to 
impact negatively or positively on the 
District’s landscape and townscape. 
Ultimately impacts on the landscape and 
townscape will depend on quantum of 
new land take together with the location 
and design of the proposed housing mix 
developments. 

Strategic Objective 12 seeks to protect 
and enhance the quality and character of 
the District’s landscape character 
including the openness of the Green Belt.  
Existing policies in the Lichfield Local Plan 
Strategy seek to ensure that new 
development does not result in an 
adverse effect on the landscape and 
townscape of the District. These policies 
will be taken forward into the Local Plan 
Review and thus the implementation of 
the policies will apply to all the policy 

P
age 338



options. Based on the above, the growth 
options represent a neutral effect on this 
sustainability objective.

  

To increase 
opportunities 
for non-car 
travel and 

reduce the need 
for travel

N + - + - ? It is accepted that existing policies in the 
Lichfield Local Plan Strategy seek to 
promote sustainable transport which, if 
implemented, will improve the 
assessment for growth options by the 
provision/investment in new or enhanced 
public transport in conjunction with the 
proposed development. Specific 
measures have been considered in the 
Lichfield District Local Plan Review: 
Preferred Options document under Core 
Policy 5.

No policy would be neutral in maintaining 
the status quo, although employment and 
economic development is likely as a 
continuation of history even without 
policy support.

Home-working reduces the need for 
travel.

Boosting the rural economy would lead to 
increased travel due to reduced non-car 
travel options and the need for travel.

Brownfield development is more likely to 
be in areas with opportunities for non-car 
travel and reduce the need for travel. 
Conversely, greenfield development is 
less likely to be in areas with 

P
age 339



opportunities for non-car travel and 
increase the need for travel.

The effect of additional employment 
growth will depend upon precise location 
but will be mitigated by the steer to the 
most sustainable locations.

Overall Summary – Preferred Policy Direction: Our Employment and economic development

The scope assessments are repeated here as the preferred option of employment growth will be focused on our current employment areas, particularly in 
Lichfield City, Burntwood and at Fradley Park, which was one of the two options in the Scope consultation now selected. The conclusion to the Scope 
assessment, paragraph 5.10.1, was that Employment Growth Option 1 assessed best overall as it reduces the geographic spread of development, 
represents the efficient use of land, contributes to economic growth, as well as reducing the need to travel by using and enhancing existing public transport 
links. It is therefore logical from the sustainability perspective to present it as the preferred option.

This latest appraisal assesses the details of the policy which support the locational direction.  

Having no policy generally has neutral or negative effects, significant in respect of previously developed land use and economic growth objectives.

Home-working is generally positive across objectives but its significance is limited by its current limited scale relative to all employment and economic 
development.

Supporting the rural economy is marginally more positive than detrimental to sustainability, but significantly beneficial to economic growth objective. The 
minor negatives result from remoteness reducing accessibility.

Promoting brownfield development is significantly more beneficial than greenfield development, especially, of course, on use of previously developed land, 
with no negatives; whilst use of greenfield land would be marked by negative effects.

Additional economic growth has some negative effects but none significant, balanced by positive effects on economic related objectives.             

P
age 340



Preferred strategic policy: Our centres

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainabl
e 
developme
nt

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N N No direct link to this objective.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N N Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft rates have increased 
in recent years. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of community safety.

No direct link to this objective but centres have distinctive crime characteristics and would benefit from 
consideration in locations, design and community safety provision. 

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

- ? Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. New 
development has the potential to offer the opportunity to ‘design-in’ new indoor and outdoor leisure 
facilities and bring forward new or expanded health facilities.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective through planning, although health facilities may be delivered 
by other means.

Health facilities may be part of the uses in our centres.  

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 

-- + No policy would fail to deliver this objective as the Council could not ensure efficient use of land.

Managing development in our centres is likely to meet this objective because of the locations.  

   

P
age 341



Preferred strategic policy: Our centres

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainabl
e 
developme
nt

Appraisal Comments

efficient use of 
land 

To improve 
educational 
attainment of the 
working age 
population

- + No policy would fail to benefit this objective, however, education could be provided irrespectively.

The policy would support education as part of centres economies but is beyond the total control of planning.     

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

-- ++ No policy would fail to deliver this objective due to lack of management.

The policy is designed to meet this objective.   

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

N N No direct link to this objective but implementation may impact upon it depending upon locations and 
construction methods, especially air pollution in high density areas.  

To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 

N N No direct link to this objective so long as the service can absorb the commercial provision.

  

P
age 342



Preferred strategic policy: Our centres

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy securing 
sustainabl
e 
developme
nt

Appraisal Comments

reuse of waste 
materials 

To reduce and 
manage flood 
risk and surface 
water run off 

N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective subject to site locations and the inevitable run off from the built environment.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 
climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

N N No direct link to this objective but implementation should consider any incidental impacts on this objective. 
Concentration in centres could maintain the existing situation.  

P
age 343



To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N N No direct link to this objective but urban wildlife could be temporarily impacted by development.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

-- + Because the historic environment is prevalent in our centres, no policy would significantly fail to deliver on 
this objective.

The policy will contribute to positive management of our centres for this objective but there may be conflict 
with other objectives for the centres.   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

- + No policy would fail to deliver on this objective due to a lack of management of our centres.

The policy will contribute to this objective by managing our centres in terms of townscape but subject to 
high design quality.

  

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

-- ++ No policy would miss the Council’s opportunity to manage for this objective.

The policy would contribute to this objective by concentrating on our centres with existing infrastructure 
and through supporting improvements to the accessibility of centres, especially sustainable means of 
transport.

Summary

Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, significantly upon efficient use of land, economic growth, the 
historic environment and travel; with no positives. The policy would have generally positive effects and significant benefits on the economic growth and 
travel objectives; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is better than not.

P
age 344



Preferred policy: Lichfield economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Lichfield economy Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N No direct link to this policy but the need for homes in the area will be linked to the Lichfield economy.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft rates have increased 
in recent years. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of community safety.

No direct link to this objective but Lichfield has distinctive crime characteristics and would benefit from 
consideration in design and community safety provision.   

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N No direct link to this policy but the leisure facilities would promote wellbeing.

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

++ The policy will be a significant contributor to delivering this objective through exploiting redevelopment 
opportunities, and encouraging the efficient use of land.   

   

To improve 
educational 
attainment of the 

+ Education facilities are included in the policy.

 

P
age 345



Preferred policy: Lichfield economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Lichfield economy Appraisal Comments

working age 
population

     

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

++ A policy on the Lichfield economy is designed to deliver this objective locally.  

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

? No direct link to this objective but implementation may affect it subject to design and construction 
methodology.  

To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials 

? No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable construction method will support it and so long 
as the service can absorb the commercial input. 

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 
risk and surface 
water run off 

? Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable urban drainage systems will support it.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

+ Concentrating development in this centre supports this objective but some projects will lead to 
consequential negative effects on this objective through development processes.  

P
age 346



Preferred policy: Lichfield economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Lichfield economy Appraisal Comments

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 
enhancement 
and 
management of 
species and 
habitats 

? No direct link to this objective but local urban wildlife could be temporarily impacted by development.  

To ensure the 
protection and 
enhancement of 
the historic 
environment and 
its setting 

++ The policy explicitly supports this objective by sustaining and enhancing the significance of its historic 
environment and heritage assets and their setting.   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 
townscape 

? Depends upon project locations and if the landscape and townscape can absorb constructions.

  

P
age 347



To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

+ By definition the policy should meet this objective but the road linked projects negate some positive 
effect.  

Summary

Generally this policy is positively sustainable, especially to the economic growth objective, with no negative effects.

Preferred policy: Burntwood economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Burntwood economy Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N No direct link to this policy but the need for homes in the area will be linked to the Burntwood economy.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft rates have increased 
in recent years. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of community safety.

No direct link to this objective but Burntwood town centre has distinctive crime characteristics and would 
benefit from consideration in design and community safety provision.   

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

+ The policy explicitly references new health, leisure and recreational resources, although other partner 
agencies are needed to help deliver this objective. 

P
age 348



Preferred policy: Burntwood economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Burntwood economy Appraisal Comments

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

++ The policy will be a significant contributor to delivering this objective through regeneration and specific 
projects in the IDP, and encouraging the efficient use of land in a town centre where previously developed 
land is available.   

   

To improve 
educational 
attainment of the 
working age 
population

++ Education resources are included in the policy and there is reference to employment opportunities will be 
maximised to encourage Burntwood residents to be able to access a range of locally accessible 
opportunities suitable to their skills and, significantly, aspirations.

 

     

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

++ A policy on the Burntwood economy is designed to deliver this objective locally.  

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

? No direct link to this objective but implementation may affect it subject to design and construction 
methodology.  

To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 

? No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable construction method will support it, and so long 
as the service can absorb the commercial input. 

  

P
age 349



Preferred policy: Burntwood economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Burntwood economy Appraisal Comments

reuse of waste 
materials 

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

? Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective but the use of sustainable urban drainage systems will support it.  

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

+ Concentrating development in this centre supports this objective but some projects will lead to 
consequential negative effects on this objective through development processes.  

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

? No direct link to this objective but local urban wildlife could be temporarily impacted by development.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

N The historic environment is relatively insignificant in Burntwood.   

P
age 350



Preferred policy: Burntwood economy

Sustainability 
Objective

Burntwood economy Appraisal Comments

environment and 
its setting 

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

? No reference is made to townscape management in the policy.

  

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

++ As a town centre in Lichfield District, Burntwood is already an accessible location for development. The 
policy also includes references to enhancements to pedestrian linkages and public transport facilities.   

Summary

Generally this policy is positively sustainable, significantly to the efficient use of land, educational attainment, economic growth and travel objectives, 
with no negative effects.

P
age 351



Preferred Policy Direction: Tourism

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Tourism Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N N No direct link to this objective but this objective if met would support the policy.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

N ? The impact on this objective is uncertain.     

To improve 
educational 
attainment of the 
working age 
population

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

P
age 352



Preferred Policy Direction: Tourism

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Tourism Appraisal Comments

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

N ++ Tourism offer economic benefits to the District     

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective so long as the service can absorb the provision.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 
risk and surface 
water run off 

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 
climate change 
and the Districts 

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

P
age 353



Preferred Policy Direction: Tourism

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Tourism Appraisal Comments

contribution to 
the causes of. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

N + Tourism offer indirect benefits to this objective     

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 

N ? No direct impact on this objective.     

P
age 354



Preferred Policy Direction: Tourism

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Tourism Appraisal Comments

and reduce the 
need for travel

Summary

This Policy has no direct effect on the majority of SA objectives.

The policy will have significant positive effects on the economic development and conversation and protection of the historic environment. 

P
age 355



Preferred Policy Direction: Healthy & Safe Communities

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Healthy & 
Safe 
Communities

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N N No direct link to this objective but this objective if met would support the policy, especially affordable 
homes.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N ++ Crime rates in the District are lower than the national average but burglary and theft rates have increased 
in recent years. Strategic Objective 11 seeks to ensure a high standard of community safety.

Policy includes community safety. 

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

-- ++ Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. New 
development has the potential to offer the opportunity to ‘design-in’ new indoor and outdoor leisure 
facilities and bring forward new or expanded health facilities.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective through planning, although health facilities may be delivered 
by other means.

Policy is designed to deliver this objective.  

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

N ? No policy would maintain the current situation.

Policy effects will be determined by locations.  

   

To improve 
educational 

N N No direct impact on this objective.     

P
age 356



Preferred Policy Direction: Healthy & Safe Communities

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Healthy & 
Safe 
Communities

Appraisal Comments

attainment of the 
working age 
population

To achieve stable 
and sustainable 
levels of 
economic growth 
and maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

N N No direct effect on this objective but health and safety contribute to the economy.   

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

N N No direct link to this objective but implementation may impact upon it depending upon locations and 
construction methods.  

To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective so long as the service can absorb the provision.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 
risk and surface 
water run off 

N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective subject to site locations and the inevitable run off from the built 
environment.  

P
age 357



Preferred Policy Direction: Healthy & Safe Communities

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Healthy & 
Safe 
Communities

Appraisal Comments

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 
climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

N N No direct link to this objective but implementation should consider any incidental impacts on this objective.

Delivery of the objective will support the policy.  

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N N No direct link to this objective subject to infrastructure locations.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

N N No direct link subject to infrastructure locations.   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

N N No direct link subject to infrastructure locations, although any development will affect the objective.

  

P
age 358



Preferred Policy Direction: Healthy & Safe Communities

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Healthy & 
Safe 
Communities

Appraisal Comments

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

N ? No policy would miss the Council’s opportunity to manage for this objective.

Effects of the policy will depend upon infrastructure locations. 

Summary

No policy will have a significant negative effect on the health objective.

The policy will have significant positive effects on the health and community safety objectives.

Preferred Policy Direction: Open Space and Recreation

P
age 359



Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Open 
Space and 
Recreation

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N N No direct link to this objective.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N N No direct link to this objective but such policy may support an acknowledged diversionary activity for some 
communities.  

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

- + Strategic Objective 11 seeks to promote and ensure healthy choices and healthier living. New 
development has the potential to offer the opportunity to ‘design-in’ new indoor and outdoor leisure facilities 
and bring forward new or expanded health facilities.

No policy would fail to deliver this objective through planning, although health facilities may be delivered by 
other means.

The policy will support appropriate improvements to community infrastructure which increase the
opportunities to access activities that increase health and wellbeing in our communities; and shared facilities 
which increase the opportunities to access activities that
increase health and wellbeing in our communities including provision within schools and colleges.  

Maximise the use 
of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

- N No policy would fail to deliver this objective as the Council could not ensure efficient use of land and 
previously developed land  is not explicitly mentioned.

The policy does not explicitly support use of previously developed land  but the protection of buildings and 
land encourages the efficient use of land.  

   

P
age 360



To improve 
educational 

attainment of 
the working age 

population

N N There is no explicit link to this objective but shared facilities provision within schools and colleges and 
initiatives that influence attitudes and behaviours to inspire demand for sport and physical activity
will be supported including those that aim to address obesity, work with our schools and colleges implies 
that there may be a link.     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 
economic 

growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitiveness 

N N There is no direct link to this objective.   

To manage 
water availability 

and reduce 
water and air 

pollution

N N No direct link to this objective but implementation of building may impact upon it depending upon locations 
and construction methods.  

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

N N Areas of Lichfield District lie within areas of flood risk, which may expand due to climate change. 

No direct link to this objective subject to facilities locations and the inevitable run off from built environment 
but this is in the control of providers, but open space is a potential contributor to flood risk management 
and surface water runoff, especially if protected land is in relevant flood zones. 

P
age 361



To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

- + The loss of open space in the absence of a protective policy could impact upon this objective.

The protection of open space will counter the negative effect of loss to potentially damaging uses including 
hard surfaces. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

N N No direct link to this objective but the loss of open space may be detrimental to biodiversity which has 
benefit from its presence, and, to the contrary, the protection of open space is more likely to have incidental 
benefit to biodiversity, especially in wildlife corridors.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

- ? No policy would fail to deliver on this objective by not managing land uses which are usually beneficial to 
the historic environment and its setting.

Depends upon the locations of open space and recreation, but open space is generally beneficial to the 
historic environment and its setting.   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

- + No policy would fail to deliver on this objective due to a lack of management of development.

Open space is usually integral to management which is of benefit to this objective, especially in townscape 
and the arrangement of spaces.

  

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 

- ++ No policy would miss the Council’s opportunity to manage for this objective, especially if users have to travel 
to alternative provision due to loss of local provision.

P
age 362



and reduce the 
need for travel

The policy would contribute to this objective by managing accessibility. The protection of existing buildings 
and land ensures local accessibility.

The policy’s point that sustainable places that make easy for our communities to become active including 
open space infrastructure that provides a connective active travel routes (walking and cycling) between 
existing
open space, sports and recreational infrastructure will be supported; and support the development and 
growth of annual or one off sporting events that are accessible
to our communities, will both contribute to this objective.   

Summary

Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives; with no positives. The policy would have generally positive effects 
and significant benefit on the travel objective; and no negatives; therefore having the policy is better than not.

P
age 363



Preferred policy direction: Our natural resources

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Our 
natural 

resources
Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 
affordable 
homes.

N - Currently no direct link to this objective.

The policy will be a constraint on homes provision.

To promote safe 
communities and 

reduce fear of 
crime

N N No direct link to this objective.

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N + No direct link to this objective for no policy.

Interaction with natural resources is proven to help wellbeing.

Maximise the 
use of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 

land

N + No policy would maintain the current circumstances.

Natural resources as a constraint would tend to promote previously developed land.

P
age 364



To improve 
educational 
attainment of 
the working age 
population

N N There is no direct link to this objective.     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 
levels of 
economic 
growth and 
maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

N - Currently no direct link to this objective.

The policy will be a potential constraint on economic activity.

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

N N There is no direct link to this objective, although natural resources could reduce pollution. 

To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 
risk and surface 
water run off 

N N No direct link to this objective. 

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

-- ++ No policy will fail to deliver on this objective.

Management of natural resources is a key way to help this objective. 

P
age 365



climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 
enhancement 
and 
management of 
species and 
habitats 

-- ++ No policy will fail to deliver on this objective.

The policy promotes this objective.  

To ensure the 
protection and 
enhancement of 
the historic 
environment and 
its setting 

- + No policy fails this objective. 

The historic landscapes part of this policy partially delivers this objective.

   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 
townscape 

- ++ No policy fails this objective. 

The policy delivers this objective, covering Natural and historic landscapes.

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

N N There is no direct link to this objective.

   

P
age 366



Summary

Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, significantly upon the climate change and biodiversity objectives; 
with no positives. The policy would have mostly positive effects and significantly for the climate change, biodiversity, and landscape and townscape 
objectives; therefore having the policy is better than not.

P
age 367



Preferred Policy Direction: historic and built environment

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy historic 
and built 
environme
nt

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N - No policy would support the status quo.

The policy will be a constraint on homes provision, including in respect of conflict with density and homes 
in the historic environment trend to be higher value for affordable.

This may be mitigated by using residential development as enabling development in the historic 
environment.     

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

N N No direct link to this objective but the historic environment may conflict with the community safety 
objective, for example on security measures.  

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N + No direct link to this objective for no policy.

 High quality design, tree planting, landscaping and green spaces being required as part of new 
development throughout the District to improve wellbeing is a benefit of the policy.

Maximise the 
use of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

- + No policy would miss an opportunity to support this objective.

This environment usually has the most opportunity to support this objective.

 Policy for the re-use maintenance and repair of listed buildings and other heritage assets being supported, 
particularly those that have been identified as being at risk, supports this objective.  

P
age 368



To improve 
educational 
attainment of 
the working age 
population

N N There is no direct link to this objective.     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 
levels of 
economic 
growth and 
maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

N + No policy will maintain the current circumstance. 

The policy may be seen as a constraint through protectiveness but, as stated, the historic environment 
contributes to sustainable communities, including economic vitality.

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

N N There is no direct link to this objective. 

P
age 369



To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 
risk and surface 
water run off 

N N No direct link to this objective. 

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 
climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

- + No policy will fail to deliver on this objective where this environment is a key contributor to the causes of 
climate change.

High quality design, tree planting, landscaping and green spaces will be required as part of new 
development throughout the District to reduce the heat island effect. 

P
age 370



To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 
enhancement 
and 
management of 
species and 
habitats 

N N No direct link to this objective.  

To ensure the 
protection and 
enhancement of 
the historic 
environment and 
its setting 

-- ++ No policy fails this objective. 

The policy delivers this objective.

   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 
townscape 

-- ++ No policy fails this objective. 

The policy delivers this objective.

 In conjunction with the landscape policy, landscapes and views that form the setting to the built and 
historic environment will also be conserved and enhanced.

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

N N There is no direct link to this objective.

   

P
age 371



Summary

Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, significantly upon the historic environment and landscape and 
townscape objectives; with no positives. The policy would have mostly positive effects and significantly for the historic environment and landscape and 
townscape objectives as expected; therefore having the policy is better than not.

P
age 372



Preferred Policy Direction: High Quality Design

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Preferred 
Policy 
Direction: 
High 
Quality 
Design

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 
local need 
including 
provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N - No policy would maintain the current situation.

The built vernacular part of the policy may be a constraint on government policy to promotion of density-
driven, residential led development within and on the edge of town centres and at key transport nodes, 
which may provide additional housing and affordable homes as each unit type may be smaller due to the 
design requirement.    

To promote safe 
communities and 
reduce fear of 
crime

-- ++ No policy would miss the opportunity to build in this objective.

The policy has a part to deliver this objective.  

Improve access 
to health 
facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N N No direct link to this objective.

P
age 373



Maximise the 
use of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 
efficient use of 
land 

N N No direct link to this policy as it does not guide allocation of land, however, the policy does guide potential 
developers to consider using built up areas to best advantage. 

  

To improve 
educational 
attainment of 
the working age 
population

N N There is no direct link to this objective.     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 
levels of 
economic 
growth and 
maintain 
economic 
competitiveness 

N + No policy will maintain the current circumstance. 

The policy encourages land use that makes land most marketable.

To manage 
water availability 
and reduce 
water and air 
pollution

N + No policy will maintain the current circumstance.

Part of the policy proposes control of carbon emissions. 

To minimise 
waste and 

increase the 
recycling and 

reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective.

  

P
age 374



To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

N N No direct link to this objective but the policy could reference guidance to achieve it. 

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

- ++ No policy will fail to deliver on this objective where this environment is a key contributor to the causes of 
climate change.

The policy specifically targets carbon emissions, and sustainable travel which would be beneficial to this 
objective. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 

enhancement 
and 

management of 
species and 

habitats 

- ++ No policy would fail on this objective.

The policy has a criteria, the natural environment, to support this objective.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment and 
its setting 

-- ++ No policy fails this objective. 

The policy delivers this objective, as its first criteria.

   

Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 

-- ++ No policy fails this objective. 

The policy delivers this objective.

P
age 375



landscape and 
townscape 

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

- ++ No policy would fail this objective.

The policy has a part on sustainable travel.

   

Summary

Generally, having no policy would have negative effects on sustainability objectives, significantly upon the community safety, historic environment and, 
landscape and townscape objectives; with no positives. The policy would have mostly positive effects and significantly for the community safety, climate 
change, biodiversity, historic environment, and landscape and townscape, and travel objectives as expected; therefore having the policy is better than 
not.

P
age 376



Preferred Policy Direction historic and built environment

Preferred Policy Direction: Evidence supporting heritage proposals

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Preferred 
Policy 

Direction: 
Evidence 

supporting 
heritage 

proposals

Appraisal Comments

To provide 
housing to meet 

local need 
including 

provision of 
affordable 
homes. 

N N No direct link to this objective.    

To promote safe 
communities and 

reduce fear of 
crime

N N No direct link to this objective.  

Improve access 
to health 

facilities and 
promote 
wellbeing

N N No direct link to this objective.

Maximise the 
use of previously 
developed land/ 
buildings and 
encourage the 

N N No direct link to this objective but regeneration of heritage assets could maximise the use of previously 
developed land/ buildings. 

  

P
age 377



Preferred Policy Direction historic and built environment

Preferred Policy Direction: Evidence supporting heritage proposals

Sustainability 
Objective

No policy Preferred 
Policy 

Direction: 
Evidence 

supporting 
heritage 

proposals

Appraisal Comments

efficient use of 
land 

To improve 
educational 

attainment of 
the working age 

population

N N There is no direct link to this objective.     

To achieve 
stable and 
sustainable 

levels of 
economic 

growth and 
maintain 
economic 

competitiveness 

N + No policy will maintain the current circumstance. 

The use of heritage assets could support this objective.

To manage 
water availability 

and reduce 
water and air 

pollution

N N There is no direct link to this objective. 

P
age 378



To minimise 
waste and 
increase the 
recycling and 
reuse of waste 
materials 

N N No direct link to this objective.

  

To reduce and 
manage flood 

risk and surface 
water run off 

N N No direct link to this objective. 

To reduce and 
manage the 
impacts of 

climate change 
and the Districts 
contribution to 
the causes of. 

N N No direct link to this objective. 

To promote 
biodiversity 
protection 
enhancement 
and 
management of 
species and 
habitats 

N N No direct link to this objective.  

To ensure the 
protection and 

enhancement of 
the historic 

environment   

-- ++ No policy fails this objective. 

The policy delivers this objective.

   

P
age 379



Protect, enhance 
and manage the 
character and 
quality of the 
landscape and 

townscape 

- + No policy fails this objective. 

The policy supports this objective as heritage assets are a contributor to the character and quality of the 
landscape and townscape.

To increase 
opportunities for 
non-car travel 
and reduce the 
need for travel

N N No direct link to this objective.

   

Summary

Having no policy would have some negative effects on sustainability objectives, significantly upon the historic environment and its setting objective; with 
no positives. The policy would have some positive effects and significantly for the historic environment and its setting objective; therefore having the 
policy is better than not.

P
age 380



 

 

 

  

Habitats Regulations Assessment of 

the Lichfield District Local Plan 

Review; Screening at Preferred 

Options & Policy Directions.  

Rachel Hoskin, Durwyn Liley & Chris Panter 

Page 381



 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Footprint Contract Reference: 518 

Date:  21st December 2018 

Version: Final; screening at preferred options 

Recommended Citation: Hoskin, R., Liley, D. & Panter, C. (2018) Habitats Regulations Assessment of the 

Lichfield District Local Plan Review: Screening at Preferred Options & Policy Directions. Unpublished report 

for Lichfield District Council.

 

F O O T P R I N T  E C O L O G Y ,  F O R E S T  O F F I C E ,  B E R E  

R O A D ,  W A R E H A M ,  D O R S E T  B H 2 0  7 P A  

W W W . F O O T P R I N T - E C O L O G Y . C O . U K  

0 1 9 2 9  5 5 2 4 4 4  

Page 382



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

3 

 

 

Summary  

This report is the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Lichfield District Local 

Plan at Preferred Options and Policy Directions stage. A plan level HRA considers the 

implications of a plan or project for European wildlife sites, in terms of any possible 

harm to the habitats and species that form an interest feature of the European sites in 

close proximity to the proposed plan. This HRA report draws on a range of background 

evidence, understanding of the European sites, and the mitigation strategies currently 

in place for Cannock Chase and the River Mease SACs. 

All aspects of the emerging plan that influence sustainable development for the 

Lichfield District are checked through this assessment for risks to European sites.  Risks 

need to be identified in order to inform the screening for likely significant effects, which 

is an initial stage of assessment to establish whether there is any possibility of the 

implementation of the plan causing significant effects on any European site. Where the 

potential for significant effects is identified, or there are uncertainties, a more detailed 

appropriate assessment is made. This report has regard for relevant case law, including 

a European Court of Justice Judgment that highlights the need for appropriate use of 

avoidance and mitigation measures at the correct stage of HRA. This HRA includes an 

initial screening for likely significant effects, has highlighted the European sites at 

potential risk, and has recommended a number of themes for more detailed 

appropriate assessment. 

The appropriate assessment will be undertaken as the plan progresses through future 

stages of plan making. It will consider the Cannock Chase SAC, Cannock Extension Canal 

SAC, River Mease SAC, Pasturefields Salt Marsh SAC and Humber Estuary 

SAC/SPA/Ramsar site. The themes for appropriate assessment have been explained 

and any particular issues highlighted. The themes considered are; air quality changes 

from increased road traffic, recreation pressure, water quality and resources, 

urbanisation effects in close proximity (fire risk, lighting, noise etc), future consideration 

of growth options once progressed, and biodiversity net gains. 

The recommendations for the appropriate assessment are from a screening of policy 

options and direction, and in some instances are precautionary. Early consideration of 

these themes at appropriate assessment will ensure that the Lichfield Local Plan 

identifies clear mitigation needs and protects the European sites from any project level 

impacts. The HRA conclusion at this early stage is that there are likely significant effects 

requiring further assessment. Further iterations of HRA will be undertaken as the plan 

is developed. 

Page 383



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

4 

 

Contents 

Contents ..................................................................................... 4 

Acknowledgements .................................................................. 5 

1. Introduction and Background Information ................... 6 

Context ...................................................................................................... 6 

Habitats Regulations Assessment process ................................................. 7 

The natural environment considerations within a Local Plan ..................... 8 

The Lichfield Local Plan ............................................................................. 9 

Relevant HRA work to date ..................................................................... 10 

The Local Plan HRAs ................................................................................. 11 

Sustainability Appraisal ........................................................................... 11 

Evidence documents for the emerging Local Plan .................................... 12 

2. European sites ................................................................. 13 

European sites to be considered in the screening of the plan .................. 15 

3. Screening for likely significant effects ......................... 17 

What constitutes a likely significant effect? ............................................ 17 

4. Key themes for the HRA ................................................ 27 

The purpose of appropriate assessment ................................................. 27 

Impact pathway themes from the Preferred Options and Policy Directions

 ............................................................................................................. 28 

Air quality ................................................................................................ 29 

Recreation ............................................................................................... 33 

Strategic approach to mitigation for Cannock Chase SAC .................. 34 

Water Issues ............................................................................................ 36 

Strategic approach to mitigation for the River Mease SAC ................. 36 

Urbanisation ............................................................................................ 37 

Page 384



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

5 

 

Progressing the growth options ............................................................... 38 

Biodiversity net gain ................................................................................ 41 

5. Conclusions and Next Steps .......................................... 42 

6. References ....................................................................... 43 

7. Appendix 1 - The Habitats Regulations Assessment 

Process ...................................................................................... 46 

8. Appendix 2 Conservation Objectives ........................ 51 

9. Appendix 3  The Nature Conservation Interest of the 

European Sites ......................................................................... 53 

 

Acknowledgements 

 

Footprint Ecology is grateful to Heidi Hollins, Ashley Baldwin and Justine Lloyd at 

Lichfield District Council for their assistance, and Antony Muller of Natural England 

for helpful discussion in relation to European site sensitivities. 

  

Page 385



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

6 

 

1. Introduction and Background Information 

Context 

 This report is the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Lichfield District 

Local Plan Review: Preferred Options & Policy Directions. This HRA report has 

been prepared by Footprint Ecology, on behalf of Lichfield District Council. It has 

been written with the benefit of discussions with planning officers within the 

District Council, and forms part of the evidence base for the new Local Plan at 

‘Regulation 18’ stage, in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

 This section provides the background context for this HRA. This report is a HRA 

of the emerging Local Plan Review, and is a report that will be updated as the 

preparation of the Local Plan is progressed. At this current stage, this HRA, 

includes the initial screening of the emerging plan for likely significant effects, 

and this will help to inform the refinement of the plan and its policies. This 

report identifies key topics for further assessment, which will be undertaken 

after the Regulation 18 consultation.   

 An HRA considers the implications of a plan or project for European wildlife 

sites, in terms of any possible harm to the habitats and species that form an 

interest feature of the European sites in close proximity to the proposed plan or 

project, which could occur as a result of the plan or project being put in place.   

In this instance, the HRA is undertaken at plan level. HRA will also be required 

for development projects coming forward in the future in accordance with the 

Local Plan. An explanation of the HRA assessment process is summarised in this 

section below, and also described in greater detail in Appendix 1.  

 Lichfield District lies within south-east Staffordshire and abuts the West 

Midlands conurbation.  The District includes the two main settlements of 

Lichfield City and Burntwood. A summary of the key aspects of the emerging 

Lichfield District Local Plan in terms of growth objectives over the plan period is 

provided in this section below. 

 When embarking on new HRA work, it is important to take stock and consider 

how well the measures recommended or put in place to protect European site 

interest in previous plan iterations have progressed, and what evidence there is 

available to support the continuation of such measures, or to indicate that they 

may need modification. This HRA therefore looks at the measures that were 

recommended by previous and current HRAs of relevance. In order to protect 

European sites, and any changes in circumstances, evidence, statutory advice or 

Page 386



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

7 

 

local understanding of the issues needs to be considered. A summary of 

previous HRA work is also provided in this section below. 

Habitats Regulations Assessment process 

 A ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment,’ normally abbreviated to HRA, is the step by 

step process of ensuring that a plan or project being undertaken by, or 

permitted by a public body, will not adversely affect the ecological integrity of a 

European wildlife site.   Where it is deemed that adverse effects cannot be ruled 

out, a plan or project must not proceed, unless exception tests are met.   This is 

because European legislation, which is transposed into domestic legislation and 

policy, affords European sites the highest levels of protection in the hierarchy of 

sites designated to protect important features of the natural environment.    

 The relevant European legislation is the Habitats Directive 19921 and the Wild 

Birds Directive 20092, which are transposed into domestic legislation through 

the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.   These Regulations 

are normally referred to as the ‘Habitats Regulations’ and the most recent 

update consolidates previous versions and corrects some minor errors in 

transposition. The 2017 Regulations have not changed any of the requirements 

in relation to European sites.    

 The legislation sets out a clear step by step approach for decision makers 

considering any plan or project. In England, those duties are also supplemented 

by national planning policy through the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF). This national planning policy also refers to Ramsar sites, which are listed 

in accordance with the international Ramsar Convention. The NPPF requires 

decision makers to apply the same protection and process to Ramsar sites as 

that set out in legislation for European sites. Formally proposed sites, i.e. sites 

proposed for European designation and going through the designation process, 

and those providing formal compensation for losses to European sites, are also 

given the same protection. This report refers to all the above sites as ‘European 

sites’ for assessment purposes, as the legislation is applied to all such sites, 

either directly or as a result of policy.  

 It should be noted that the European Directives operate on the basis that sites 

are in place to serve as an ecologically functioning network, and ultimately it is 

the preservation of that network as a whole that is the overall aim of the 

                                                   

1 Council Directive 92/43/EEC 
2 Council Directive 2009/147/EC 

Page 387



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

8 

 

European Directives. The network is often referred to as the Natura 2000 

Network or ‘N2K.’ 

 The duties set out within the Habitats Regulations apply to any public body or 

individual holding public office with a statutory remit and function, referred to as 

‘competent authorities.’   The requirements are applicable in situations where 

the competent authority is undertaking or implementing a plan or project, or 

authorising others to do so.  A more detailed guide to the step by step process 

of HRA is provided in this report at Appendix 1. 

 In assessing the implications of any plan or project, in this case a local plan, for 

European sites in close proximity, it is essential to fully understand the sites in 

question, their interest features, current condition, sensitivities and any other 

on-going matters that are influencing each of the sites. Every European site has 

a set of ‘interest features,’ which are the ecological features for which the site is 

designated or classified, and the features for which Member States should 

ensure the site is maintained or, where necessary restored.  Each European site 

has a set of ‘conservation objectives’ that set out the objectives for the site 

interest, i.e. what the site should be achieving in terms of restoring or 

maintaining the special ecological interest of European importance. These 

objectives are set by Natural England, and published for each European site in 

high level generic form and then with supplementary advice that relates to the 

interpretation of these at each individual site.   

 The site conservation objectives are relevant to any HRA, because they identify 

what should be achieved for the site, and a HRA may therefore consider whether 

any plan or project may compromise the achievement of those objectives.   A 

summary of relevant European sites is provided within this section below. 

Further information on European site interest and links to the conservation 

objectives can be found at Appendix 2 of this report. The European sites of 

relevance to this HRA are discussed below and in Appendix 3. 

The natural environment considerations within a Local Plan 

 A Local Plan is produced by a local planning authority to set the quantum and 

direction of sustainable development for the forthcoming plan period. The 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 20183 states that sustainable 

development is the achievement of social, economic and environmental 

aspirations, and these three dimensions of sustainable development are 

mutually dependant. For the natural environment, the NPPF advises that 

                                                   

3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 

 

Page 388



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

9 

 

sustainable development should include protecting, enhancing and improving 

biodiversity, and moving from a net loss of biodiversity to achieving net gains. 

The recently published Defra 25 year plan4 sets out an ambitious programme for 

improving the natural environment, including the achievement of environmental 

net gains through development, of which biodiversity is an important part. 

 The Defra strategy follows on from the review of England’s wildlife sites and 

ecological network, set out in the report to Defra in 2010 entitled ‘Making Space 

for Nature,’5 which was prepared by a group of national experts chaired by 

Professor Sir John Lawton. Within this report, it is identified that in order to 

make our ecological networks and wildlife sites capable of future resilience, 

there is a need for more wildlife sites, and that existing networks need to be 

bigger, better and more connected. The future health of designated sites is very 

much dependant on the future health of wider biodiversity and the ecological 

networks that sustain them. In planning for the long-term sustainability of 

designated sites, it is therefore necessary to protect and enhance wider 

biodiversity through the planning system as well as the designated sites. This 

HRA recognises this need within the appropriate assessment section in relation 

to biodiversity gains through planning. 

 Local Plans are required by the NPPF to make provision for the protection and 

enhancement of the natural environment. The new NPPF published in 2018 

gives significant weight to the role of spatial planning in not only protecting the 

natural environment, but also restoring, enhancing and increasing natural 

capital. There is a clear opportunity for Local Plans to move from a purely 

protective approach to one where sustainable development is about high quality 

environmental gains as well as social and economic. Making the links between 

designated sites and the wider environment that underpins and supports them 

is critical to the long term maintenance of our most important wildlife sites. 

The Lichfield Local Plan 

 The Local Plan Review is being undertaken to ensure that the Lichfield Local Plan 

remains up to date in terms of government policy and guidelines in relation to 

housing need, and up to date in terms of supporting evidence and assessment. 

The new Local Plan will review two Lichfield Local Plan documents; the Lichfield 

Local Plan Strategy and the Lichfield Local Plan Allocations Development Plan 

                                                   

4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan 

 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/making-space-for-nature-a-review-of-englands-wildlife-

sites-published-today 

 

Page 389

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/making-space-for-nature-a-review-of-englands-wildlife-sites-published-today
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/making-space-for-nature-a-review-of-englands-wildlife-sites-published-today


L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

10 

 

Document. The latter is not yet adopted but is in the final stages of plan making 

and is planned for adoption in 2019. The review will take a number of years and 

commencing the early work on the review now will ensure that a new Local Plan 

is adopted towards the end of 2020. 

 The Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy forms part 1 of the current Lichfield 

Local Plan. It was adopted in 2015 and includes a vision and strategic objectives 

for the District, both core and development management policies, along with 

some allocations that are strategic in nature, referred to as Strategic 

Development Allocations and also an indication of the anticipated main growth 

location referred to as a Broad Development Location, which accord with the 

settlement hierarchy. These allocations account for the delivery of 

approximately 6,000 new homes. The Strategy recognises the need for a 

minimum of 10,030 new homes in the District, and the remaining housing need 

is taken forward in the emerging Lichfield Local Plan Allocations Development 

Plan Document 

 The Lichfield Local Plan Allocations Development Plan Document will form the 

second part of the Lichfield Local Plan alongside the adopted Core Strategy. The 

Allocations Document is nearing the end of the plan making process, having 

proceeded through the hearing sessions for Examination in Public and now 

undertaking a final round of public consultation on the main modifications that 

have emerged through the hearing sessions. This part of the plan includes 

additional policies and provides for the necessary site allocations to meet 

growth needs, including the smaller development sites that add to the strategic 

sites already adopted in the Local Plan Strategy.  

 The new Local Plan will review and update both the policies and strategic site 

allocations elements of the current Local Plan Strategy, and once adopted will 

also review the Site Allocations Document. The review of the Local Plan to 

prepare a new Lichfield Local Plan will bring all these aspects into one Local Plan 

for the District. The preferred policy direction for housing provision is indicating 

a need to plan for between 9,660 and 11,160 new homes between 2016 and 

2036. The preferred policy direction for employment sites states that the District 

has a good supply of sites to meet employment need. It is therefore anticipated 

that the employment allocations for the Local Plan review may closely align with 

those currently proposed in the emerging Allocations Development Plan 

Document.  

Relevant HRA work to date 

 The following documents are of relevance to this HRA as they are the HRA 

reports that informed the current Local Plan.   

Page 390



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

11 

 

The Local Plan HRAs 

 The Lichfield Local Plan Strategy and the Lichfield Local Plan Allocations 

Development Plan Document are both supported by HRA. Each was prepared as 

an iterative document, with updates at the various stages of plan making. 

 The HRA for the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy was undertaken as a joint HRA for 

the Lichfield and Tamworth Local Plans. It draws on the evidence base for both 

the Cannock Chase Sac and River Mease SAC, and the strategic approach to 

mitigation that at the time was in the early stages of development and 

implementation for both sites. The HRA uses the evidence base to enable a 

conclusion of no likely significant effects. For Cannock Extension Canal, the HRA 

for the Local Plan Strategy concludes that the plan will not result in increased 

traffic in close proximity that would exacerbate road run off. It should be noted 

that since the preparation of this HRA, Natural England have advised on the 

need to consider air quality for this site in addition to road run off. 

 The HRA for the Lichfield Local Plan Allocations Development Plan Document 

concluded that the site allocations within the plan would not lead to significant 

effects, and the conclusion was based on a review of the development that 

would come forward through allocations within the strategic mitigation areas for 

the River Mease and Cannock Chase SACs. The document includes one small 

development site within the River Mease catchment. For Cannock Chase, the 

assessment considered the review of evidence undertaken for Cannock Chase 

SAC. The Planning Evidence Base Review (Hoskin & Liley 2017) checks whether 

the Cannock Chase strategic approach is still fit for purpose in light of predicted 

housing delivery as part of the current local plans in the vicinity of the SAC. The 

report concludes that whilst there are some aspects that should now be 

focussed on to update the strategy in the near future, it remains fit for purpose 

for the currently adopted local plans and the local authorities can continue to 

have confidence that adverse effects from predicted housing growth figures can 

still be adequately mitigated for. The review included consideration of the large 

housing allocation at Rugeley.  

 The HRA for the Allocations Development Plan Document will inform the 

appropriate assessment of the Local Plan review as the locations for growth 

begin to be developed. 

Sustainability Appraisal  

 A sustainability appraisal is undertaken by local planning authorities on local 

planning documents to assess whether the economic, environmental and social 

needs of the local area are being met. The appraisal runs alongside the 

preparation of a local plan, appraising the options being taken forward and 

Page 391



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

12 

 

whether alternatives might have a greater positive or lesser negative effect on 

economic, environmental and social objectives. Sustainability appraisal also 

incorporates the requirements of the European Strategic Environmental 

Assessment Directive (2001/42/EC).  

 There are some elements of cross over between HRA and the sustainability 

appraisal. The appraisal will consider environmental sustainability in terms of 

natural resources such as air and water, and how they may be affected by the 

plan. These are similarly important supporting aspects of European site 

ecological integrity.  

 At the appropriate assessment stage, it will be necessary for any mitigation 

measures to be cross referenced in the sustainability appraisal, to confirm that 

the measures represent the most sustainable option for mitigating any impacts. 

This is particularly relevant where the mitigation forms part of a strategic 

approach to European site protection, which has a number of sustainability 

benefits over a project by project approach. 

Evidence documents for the emerging Local Plan 

 There are a number of documents listed within the Preferred Options and Policy 

Directions Document that are of relevance to the HRA. These will be important 

for the appropriate assessment and should be reviewed as they are published 

(publication dates taken from Appendix A of the plan): 

• Biodiversity Mapping (March 2019) 

• Green Infrastructure Study (June 2019) 

• Infrastructure capacity study (June 2019) 

• Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and Water Cycle Study (June 

2019) 

• Transport Modelling (to be confirmed). 

  

Page 392



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

13 

 

2. European sites 

 In undertaking an HRA it is necessary to gather information on the European 

sites that could be potentially affected by the plan or project.   A 20km buffer 

from the edge of the District was used to initially identify sites that may be 

potentially affected. This buffer is used by Footprint Ecology for local plan HRAs 

as it is deemed precautionary enough to capture most potential impact 

pathways (i.e. the means by which a European site may be affected) between 

plan implementation within a local planning authority’s administrative area. The 

list of European sites within 20km was then evaluated in terms of relevant 

threats, vulnerabilities and current issues.  

 European sites within 20km are shown in Map 1.  The map just shows SACs as 

there are no SPA sites within a 20km radius. In addition, it should be noted that 

Chartley Moss SSSI, which is a component part of the West Midlands Mosses 

SAC is also part of the Midland Meres and Mosses Phase I Ramsar.  Sites are 

listed in Table 1; there are eight SAC sites that fall within the 20km radius 

however only one, the River Mease SAC, intersects the District boundary. Full 

details of the interest features and current pressures/threats for each site are 

summarised in Appendix 3. It should be noted that the Humber Estuary is 

outside the 20km zone, but is fed by the River Trent, which does flow through 

the Lichfield District. 

 

Table 1: European Sites within a 20km radius 

SAC Ramsar 

Cannock Chase Midland Meres and Mosses Phase I 

Cannock Extension Canal  

Ensor's Pool  

Fens Pools  

Mottey Meadows  

Pasturefields Salt Marsh  

River Mease  

West Midlands Mosses  

 

Page 393



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

14 

 

P
age 394



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

15 

 

 In assessing the implications of any plan or project for European sites, it is 

essential to fully understand the ecology and sensitivity of the sites, in order to 

identify how they may be affected. This section and the accompanying detailed 

site information within Appendices 2 and 3 identifies those sites that could 

potentially be affected by the policies and proposals within the Lichfield District 

Local Plan. Every European site has a set of ‘interest features’ which are the 

ecological features for which the site is designated or classified, and the features 

for which Member States should ensure the site is maintained or, where 

necessary restored.  

 Each European site also has a set of ‘conservation objectives’ for the site interest, 

i.e. what the site should be achieving in terms of restoring or maintaining the 

special ecological interest of European importance. Also relevant to the HRA is 

the consideration of how a plan or project may affect the achievement of 

conservation objectives for each European site. The site conservation objectives 

are relevant to any HRA, because they identify what should be achieved for the 

site, and a HRA may therefore consider whether any plan or project may 

compromise the achievement of those objectives.   The background to 

conservation objectives and key considerations are explained in Appendix 2.  

Appendix 3 sets out the site interest features for each European site.  

 The Habitats Directive requires competent authorities to ‘maintain and restore’ 

European sites. Where sites are meeting their conservation objectives, the 

requirement is to maintain this position and not allow deterioration. Where a 

site requires restoration, competent authorities should work to bring site 

interest features back to a status that enables conservation objectives to be met.  

 In addition to conservation objectives, Natural England produces Site 

Improvement Plans (SIPS) for each European site in England as part of a wider 

programme of work under the ‘Improvement Programme for England’s Natura 

2000 sites.’ Each plan includes a set of actions for alleviating issues that are 

impeding the delivery of conservation objectives, with lead delivery bodies 

identified and indicative timescales. The SIPs can provide an additional useful 

reference for HRA work, identifying where there are site sensitivities. These have 

been reviewed to inform the appropriate assessment set out within this report. 

European sites to be considered in the screening of the plan 

 Once the Local Plan is at a more advanced stage, a more accurate assessment of 

impacts against interest features for the European sites can be undertaken in an 

updated screening assessment. At this point in time with the general text within 

the plan relating to policy directions, it is possible to still identify key issues in 

relation to growth that may affect the European sites. The SIPs help to inform 

Page 395



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

16 

 

what the key threats are and where these may originate from development, 

having regard for the interest features listed in Appendix 3. 

 In terms of threats and current issues, it is clear that both Ensor’s Pool and Fens 

Pools SACs will have a localised area of concern in terms of potential impacts 

and are at a considerable distance from the Lichfield District Boundary. Mottey 

Meadows is a lowland hay meadow SAC in a relatively rural area and again the 

distance and mainly localised concerns screen this site out from further 

consideration. The West Midlands Mosses SAC, also part of the Midland Meres 

and Mosses Phase 1 Ramsar site, is highly sensitive to deterioration in water 

quality, and is primarily threatened by diffuse pollution from agricultural land, 

although residential development in close proximity will contribute to the threat 

where septic tanks are present. These factors, and the small catchment for this 

site enables it to be ruled out at the screening stage for the Lichfield Local Plan 

review.  

 Although the River Mease is the only site within the District boundary, there is 

established evidence of recreation impacts for Cannock Chase SAC, and there 

are some concerns relating to water quality and air quality in relation to the 

Cannock Extension Canal and Pasturefields Salt Marsh SACs, which have been 

highlighted by Natural England in consultation corresponded on Lichfield 

planning documents and those for neighbouring local planning authorities. 

Initial inclusion of the Humber Estuary will allow for more in-depth consideration 

of this site in the appropriate assessment as the Local Plan is developed and any 

input to the River Trent can be checked. The inclusion of this site is on a 

precautionary basis and is specifically in relation to the need to check site 

allocations in close proximity to the River Trent once they are being developed 

within the plan. Water run off and urbanisation impacts in close proximity may 

present potential risks. 

 It is therefore concluded that the following sites should be screened in for 

consideration when screening the Lichfield Local Plan for likely significant 

effects. The inclusion of Cannock Chase, the River Mease and Cannock Extension 

Canal is consistent with previous HRA work for current and emerging Lichfield 

planning documents:  

• Cannock Chase SAC 

• Cannock Extension Canal SAC 

• Pasturefields Salt Marsh SAC 

• River Mease SAC 

• Humber Estuary SAC and SPA.  

Page 396



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

17 

 

3. Screening for likely significant effects 

 HRA is a step by step process, with the competent authority required to 

undertake screening for likely significant effects on European sites, after 

determining that the plan or project in question is not one that is entirely 

necessary for site management. Once relevant background information and 

potential impact pathways are understood, the HRA can progress to the 

screening for likely significant effects stage, fully informed by the background 

research undertaken. The screening for likely significant effects is undertaken on 

all policies within the plan. It is an initial check, made on a precautionary basis, 

to determine whether any part of the plan poses a risk to European sites in 

terms of its future implementation. 

 The Lichfield District Local Plan is being prepared to steer sustainable 

development in the District, and whilst protection and enhancement of the 

natural environment is an integral part of sustainable development, the plan is 

not singularly focussed on European site management. The screening for likely 

significant effects is therefore undertaken.  

 When a HRA is being undertaken on a plan or project that is initiated by the 

competent authority themselves, there is greater opportunity to identify 

potential issues arising from the plan or project in the initial stages of design or 

preparation.   Where a competent authority is approving a project being 

proposed by another party, the application for permission is usually made when 

the proposal has already been designed and all details finalised, thus the 

opportunity to identify issues early on is more limited unless an applicant 

chooses to hold early discussions with the competent authority. 

 For the Lichfield District Local Plan, the Council is both the plan proposer and 

the competent authority, thus allowing the HRA to influence the plan in its 

earlier stages, at later refining stages and up to submission for Examination.  

What constitutes a likely significant effect? 

 At the screening stage of HRA, there is the opportunity to identify changes to the 

plan that could be made to avoid risks to European sites.  Any requirement for 

assessing the effectiveness of changes should be made at the appropriate 

assessment stage.  The screening for likely significant effects is an initial check to 

identify risks or uncertainties in policy wording and recommend any obvious 

changes that can avoid those risks with clarifications, corrections or instructions 

for development project level HRA. Any recommendations that need to be 

justified in terms of effectiveness and applicability should be considered within 

the appropriate assessment stage of HRA.  As described in Appendix 1, 

Page 397



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

18 

 

screening for likely significant effect is an initial check to identify risks and 

uncertainties that could potentially be significant for the European sites, and to 

recommend any obvious changes that can avoid those risks. Where risks cannot 

be avoided with simple clarifications, corrections or instructions for project level 

HRA, a more detailed assessment is undertaken to gather more information 

about the likely significant effects and give the necessary scrutiny to potential 

mitigation measures. This is the appropriate assessment stage of HRA. 

 The screening check of each aspect of the plan is essentially looking for two 

things to enable a conclusion of no likely significant effect;  

• Whether it is possible to say with certainty that there are no 

possible impacts on European sites, or  

• Whether, in light of a potential risk, simple clarifications can be 

built into the policy and/or its supporting text, which serve to 

avoid any likely impacts.  

   

 If one of these can be met, it enables a competent authority to screen out from 

further stages of assessment.   Where there is the potential for European sites to 

be affected, or mitigation measures need to be checked to ensure they are 

effective and appropriate, more detailed consideration is required and this then 

screens those aspects of the plan in to the appropriate assessment.  

 A likely significant effect could be concluded on the basis of clear evidence of 

risk to European site interest, or there could be a scientific and plausible 

justification for concluding that a risk is present, even in the absence of direct 

evidence. The latter is a precautionary approach, which is one of the foundations 

of the high-level of protection pursued by EU policy on the environment, in 

accordance with the EU Treaty.6 The precautionary principle should be applied 

at all stages in the HRA process and follows the principles established in case law 

relating to the use of such a principle in applying the European Directives and 

domestic Habitats Regulations. In particular, the European Court in the 

‘Waddensee’ case7 refers to “no reasonable scientific doubt” and the ‘Sweetman’ 

case8 the Advocate General identified that a positive conclusion on screening for 

likely significant effects relates to where there “is a possibility of there being a 

significant effect”. 

 An additional recent European Court of Justice Judgment in 2018 (Case C-323/17) 

clarified that the need to carefully explain actions taken at each HRA stage, 

                                                   

6 Article 191 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the EU. Previously Article 174 of the Treaty of the 

EC. 
7 European Court of Justice case C - 127/02 
8 European Court of Justice case C - 258/11 

Page 398



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

19 

 

particularly at the screening for likely significant effects stage. The Judgment is a 

timely reminder of the need for clear distinction between the stages of HRA, and 

good practice in recognising the function of each. The screening for likely 

significant effects stage should function as a screening or checking stage, to 

determine whether further assessment is required. Assessing the nature and 

extent of potential impacts on European site interest features, and the 

robustness of mitigation options, should be done at the appropriate assessment 

stage. 

 Table 3 below records the conclusions drawn and recommendations made on a 

policy by policy check for likely significant effects of the Lichfield District Local 

Plan at Preferred Strategy Options and Policy Directions. Potential risks are 

highlighted for a number of emerging policy areas, particularly those related to 

housing growth. 

 The plan is in a relatively early stage of development, with policy options still to 

be refined. The direction for policy development remains very open, to be 

informed by consultation. At this stage the screening can only take a 

precautionary approach and highlight areas for further assessment. The 

screening table identifies potential impact pathways for further assessment, 

which should be an exploration of these impact these to establish if there is the 

potential for adverse effects on European sites, rather than the impact themes 

being clearly identified as adverse effects requiring mitigation. 

 The screening table below provides a record of screening of the entire plan at 

preferred options and policy directions, which will be the subject of public 

consultation at Regulation 18 stage. The table checks for potential risks relating 

to the European sites established as having potential impact pathways: 

• Cannock Chase SAC 

• Cannock Extension Canal SAC 

• Pasturefields Salt Marsh SAC 

• River Mease SAC 

• Humber Estuary SAC and SPA. 

  

 The Habitats Regulations require the screening for likely significant effects to 

consider potential risks alone or in-combination. European sites are often 

affected by development over a wide area or ‘zone of influence.’ The European 

sites screened in to this assessment have identified sensitivities and impact 

pathways that can originate from development of considerable distance away, 

particularly in relation to traffic emissions and water enrichment as a result of 

discharges from waste water treatment works. These impact pathways are 

indirect, i.e. they arise as a result of actions relating to the ‘operation’ of the 

Page 399



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

20 

 

development by end users rather than directly as a result of the development 

being in place. They are relevant for the River Mease, Pasturefields Saltmarsh 

and Cannock Extension Canal. Similarly, recreation pressure on Cannock Chase 

stems from a large zone of influence that encompasses several local planning 

authority areas. The combined effect of development over multiple Local Plans 

is therefore of relevance to this HRA. 

 The screening table identifies where likely significant effects are as a result of a 

combined effect of growth across the Lichfield District, because the policies for 

individual site allocations, locations or development types are not yet 

formulated, rather the policy direction described relates to growth needs as a 

whole over the plan period. Where identified likely significant effects may also 

be amplified by similar growth in neighbouring local planning authorities, this is 

also highlighted within the table. 

 

 

  

Page 400



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

21 

 

Table 3: Screening for likely significant effects – at Preferred Options and Policy Directions (Regulation 18) 

Policy direction LSE screening Potential risks Recommendations and actions taken for Reg 18 
consultation version 

 

Introductory 
chapters 1 to 6 

No LSE 
Context and background 

N/A N/A  

7. Vision No LSE 
Includes importance of the natural 

environment 

N/A N/A  

8 and 9.  Strategic 
objectives and 
policy themes 

No LSE 
Natural Environment objective included. 

N/A N/A  

10 Spatial strategy No LSE 
High level strategic focus areas for the 

development of policy, incudes the 
natural environment 

N/A N/A  

11. Securing 
sustainable 
development 

No LSE 
Sets out a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development, but includes a 
caveat for where material considerations 

indicate otherwise, including where 
adverse impacts outweigh the benefits 

N/A The material considerations caveat is important 
for a conclusion of No LSE and should be 

retained as policy develops 

 

11. Sustainable 
development 
principles 

No LSE 
A strong protective policy covering all 
aspects of sustainable development, 

including biodiversity. Incorporates both 
protection and enhancement. 

N/A Development of policy should have regard for 
emerging guidance and government focus on 

biodiversity net gain 

 

11. Renewable 
energy 

No LSE 
Renewable energy projects are likely to 
be low risk for the European sites, but 

project level HRA may be required where 
in close proximity with potential for 

hydrological risks during construction 

N/A Development of areas of opportunity should 
have regard for designated sites as well as 

sensitive landscapes.  

 

11. Flood risk LSE 
Policy needs to be protective of European 

sites 

River Mease SAC, Cannock Extension Canal SAC 
– water quality deterioration from run 

off/flooding 

Consideration of the Strategic Flood risk 
Assessment and Water Cycle Study should form 

part of the appropriate assessment (in-

 

P
age 401



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

22 

 

Policy direction LSE screening Potential risks Recommendations and actions taken for Reg 18 
consultation version 

 

 combination across the District and neighbouring 
plans) 

11. Air Quality LSE 
Further evidence gathering required in 

relation to risks from air pollution.  

Deterioration in air quality from traffic and 
industrial emissions poses a potential risk that is 

cumulative across neighbouring authorities. 
Natural England has identified a risk to 

Pasturefields SAC, and there are also potential 
sensitivities relating to Cannock Extension 

Canal, due to proximity to the A5. There should 
also be a check of air quality issues in relation to 

Cannock Chase. 

Appropriate assessment should collate available 
information and identify data gaps. Early 
consideration of traffic modelling being 

undertaken to inform the local plan review will 
provide an opportunity for targeted data 

gathering to inform the appropriate assessment 
(in-combination across the District and 

neighbouring plans). 

 

12. Delivering our 
infrastructure 

No LSE 
Policy direction is currently qualitative 
and commits to working with partners 

N/A Will require further assessment if the policy is 
developed to include specific infrastructure 

requirements for the District. 

 

13. Sustainable 
transport 

LSE 
Policy direction will be developed with 

evidence but will include transport 
improvements 

Risks to all sites from traffic related impacts (air 
pollution, run off) 

Appropriate assessment of transport 
improvements once developed further. 

Appropriate assessment to have regard for 
available evidence re transport (in-combination 

across the District and neighbouring plans). 

 

14. Our homes for 
the future 

LSE 
Explanation of how housing need will be 
calculated. The quantum of new housing 

will need to be considered once 
established 

Risks to all sites from impacts generated by new 
housing growth – recreation pressure, 

urbanisation, water resources and quality, air 
quality. Existing strategic mitigation schemes 
are in place for housing growth, supporting 

current growth figures in Lichfield and 
neighbouring Districts, but additional capacity 

needs to be checked 

Existing strategic mitigation strategies will need 
to be checked for capacity to accommodate 

additional housing growth, as part of the 
appropriate assessment (in-combination across 

the District and neighbouring plans). 

 

14. Housing 
provision 

LSE 
Explanation of the evidence that will be 

used to calculate housing need. The 
quantum of new housing will need to be 
considered once established. Potential 

for the review to plan for between 9,660 

Risks to all sites from impacts generated by new 
housing growth – recreation pressure, 

urbanisation, water resources and quality, air 
quality. Existing strategic mitigation schemes 
are in place for housing growth, supporting 

current growth figures in Lichfield and 

Existing strategic mitigation strategies will need 
to be checked for capacity to accommodate 

additional housing growth, as part of the 
appropriate assessment. 

LSE screening is for any new residential 
development, noting the figures may change, but 

the quantum is relevant in the appropriate 

 

P
age 402



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

23 

 

Policy direction LSE screening Potential risks Recommendations and actions taken for Reg 18 
consultation version 

 

and 11, 160 new homes. These figures 
may change as the plan is developed  

neighbouring Districts, but additional capacity 
needs to be checked 

assessment in relation to strategic mitigation 
scheme capacity (in-combination across the 

District and neighbouring plans). 

14. Housing mix No LSE 
Whilst new housing growth poses a risk, 
the policy direction in relation to housing 
mix does not alter this conclusion as all 

housing needs to be considered and 
where necessary mitigated for. 

Potential for mis-understanding of the need for 
all housing types to be included in strategic 

mitigation schemes 

Re-check as policy emerges as to whether more 
specific wording poses additional risks 

 

14. Density of 
housing 
development 

No LSE 
Whilst new housing growth poses a risk, 
the policy direction in relation to housing 
density does not alter this conclusion as 
all housing needs to be considered and 

where necessary mitigated for. 

Potential for mis-understanding of the need for 
all housing types to be included in strategic 

mitigation schemes 

Re-check as policy emerges as to whether more 
specific wording poses additional risks 

 

14. Self-build and 
custom build 
housing 

No LSE 
Whilst new housing growth poses a risk, 
the policy direction in relation to housing 
type does not alter this conclusion as all 

housing needs to be considered and 
where necessary mitigated for. 

Potential for mis-understanding of the need for 
all housing types to be included in strategic 

mitigation schemes 

Re-check as policy emerges as to whether more 
specific wording poses additional risks 

 

14. Provision for 
gypsies and 
travellers 

No LSE 
Whilst new housing growth poses a risk, 
the policy direction in relation to housing 
type does not alter this conclusion as all 

housing needs to be considered and 
where necessary mitigated for. Traveller 

pitches should be considered to be 
residential development for mitigation 

purposes. 
 

Potential for mis-understanding of the need for 
all housing types to be included in strategic 

mitigation schemes 

Policy wording may need to give specific 
reference to the need for the application of the 

housing growth related strategic mitigation 
schemes, if provision of pitches is included in 

policy. Pitches should equate to one house. It is 
understood that there will be further evidence 
gathering work for the Local Plan in relation to 

gypsy and traveller needs. 

 

15.Employment 
and Economic 
development 

LSE 
Explanation of the evidence that will be 

used to calculate employment need. The 

Risks to all sites from impacts generated by new 
employment growth – urbanisation, water 

resources and quality, air quality.  

Employment allocations may need to be 
checked, as part of the appropriate assessment. 

 

P
age 403



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

24 

 

Policy direction LSE screening Potential risks Recommendations and actions taken for Reg 18 
consultation version 

 

location of new employment sites will 
need to be considered once developed 

15. Our centres No LSE 
Hierarchy of retail focus towards town 

centres, therefore impact pathways 
unlikely 

N/A N/A  

15. Lichfield 
economy 

No LSE  
Focus on Lichfield city centre for 

shopping, leisure and culture, therefore 
impact pathways unlikely 

N/A N/A  

16. Burntwood 
economy 

No LSE  
Focus on Burntwood town centre for 

shopping, leisure and culture, therefore 
impact pathways unlikely 

N/A N/A  

15. Tourism No LSE 
Development of tourism policy is likely to 

focus on existing tourism assets and 
historic built environment 

N/A Re-check as policy emerges as to whether more 
specific wording poses additional risks 

 

16. Healthy and 
safe communities 

No LSE 
Focus on community safety and healthy 
lifestyles is unlikely to generate impact 

pathways 

N/A N/A  

16. Open space 
and recreation 

No LSE 
Policy will focus on protection of existing 

open space assets 

N/A N/A  

17. Our natural 
resources 

LSE 
As this policy develops it will be a critical 
part of securing the necessary measures 

to mitigate for potential impacts on 
European sites. The policy needs to be 

developed with clarity on the 
requirements applicants need to meet 

for strategic mitigation schemes, for any 

Lack of clarity in policy wording can lead to 
applications that do not fully provide mitigation 
requirements, or opportunities for biodiversity 

enhancements 

Development of the natural resources and 
biodiversity policy wording to be considered 

within the appropriate assessment, alongside the 
impact themes. 

Appropriate assessment to have regard for 
emerging evidence such as the GI strategy 

(consideration of existing and new recreation 
opportunities outside designated sites within GI 

 

P
age 404



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

25 

 

Policy direction LSE screening Potential risks Recommendations and actions taken for Reg 18 
consultation version 

 

supporting habitats and wider 
biodiversity 

network should ideally form part of the GI 
strategy scope). 

18. Historic and 
built environment 

No LSE 
Qualitative and protective policy for the 

historic environment, therefore no 
impact pathways 

N/A N/A  

18. High quality 
design 

No LSE 
Qualitative policy that will establish 

criteria to ensure high quality 
development, therefore no impact 

pathways 

N/A N/A  

18. Evidence 
supporting 
heritage proposals 

No LSE 
Qualitative and protective policy for 
heritage assets, therefore no impact 

pathways 

N/A N/A  

19. Growth needs 
options 

No LSE 
Not an emerging policy option. Sets out 

how the growth options have been 
appraised against criteria that includes 

ecological sensitivities 

N/A N/A  

20. Residential 
growth options 

LSE 
The high-level analysis suggests that all 
options could potentially impact upon 
areas of ecological sensitivity to some 

degree. 

Risks to all sites from impacts generated by new 
housing growth – recreation pressure, 

urbanisation, water resources and quality, air 
quality. 

Appropriate assessment should be undertaken 
alongside refinement of housing growth options. 
Impacts will predominantly relate to quantum of 

housing growth (in-combination across the 
District and neighbouring plans), but with some 

location specific risks in addition, particularly 
with a more dispersed development option. 

A new settlement option has the potential to 
pose the greatest risks, depending on location. 

 

21. Employment 
growth options 

LSE 
Whilst the high-level options analysis 

does not raise any significant ecological 
sensitivity issues, the location of new 

Potential risks from employment sites adding 
pressure to waste water treatment for the River 

Mease, which will require consideration of 
strategic mitigation scheme capacity. 

Employment allocations may need to be 
checked, as part of the appropriate assessment. 

 

P
age 405



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

26 

 

Policy direction LSE screening Potential risks Recommendations and actions taken for Reg 18 
consultation version 

 

employment sites will need to be 
considered once developed 

Employment allocations in the west of the 
District will need to consider the Cannock 

Extension Canal. 

22. Preferred 
strategic options 
for growth 

LSE 
A preferred option for growth is 

explained that follows the settlement 
hierarchy for preferred direction for 

housing growth. Whilst this includes a 
focus on Lichfield city, it also includes 

housing growth in areas that may bring 
additional pressure on European sites. 

Potential risks of increased housing growth 
adding pressure to waste water treatment for 

the River Mease and recreation pressure to 
Cannock Chase, which will require 

consideration of strategic mitigation scheme 
capacity. Growth in the west of the District will 
need to consider the Cannock Extension Canal. 

Appropriate assessment should be undertaken 
alongside refinement of the preferred housing 

growth option. Impacts will predominantly relate 
to quantum of housing growth (in-combination 
across the District and neighbouring plans), but 

with some location specific risks. 
 

 

     

 

P
age 406



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

27 

 

4. Key themes for the HRA 

 There is now a strong body of evidence showing how increasing levels of 

development, even when well outside the boundary of protected wildlife sites, 

can have negative impacts on the sites and their wildlife interest.  The research 

particularly includes work on heathlands (Mallord 2005; Underhill-Day 2005; 

Liley & Clarke 2006; Clarke, Sharp & Liley 2008; Sharp et al. 2008; Clarke & Liley 

2013; Clarke et al. 2013) and coastal sites (Saunders et al. 2000; Randall 2004; 

Liley & Sutherland 2007; Clarke, Sharp & Liley 2008; Liley 2008; Stillman et al. 

2009) where links between housing, development and nature conservation 

impacts are demonstrated. 

 This section follows the screening of the Preferred Options and Policy Directions 

for likely significant effects, recognising that the growth proposed within the 

plan will need further detailed assessment in terms of key impact pathway 

themes. This section is not the appropriate assessment, but rather it is provided 

to explain the themes that will be the subject of further assessment and 

highlight any particular issues that will need to be covered once the appropriate 

assessment is underway.   

The purpose of appropriate assessment 

 Once a likely significant effect has been identified, the purpose of the 

appropriate assessment is to examine evidence and information in more detail 

to establish the nature and extent of the predicted impacts, in order to answer 

the question as to whether such impacts could lead to adverse effects on 

European site integrity. 

 An appropriate assessment should be based on evidence, and that can take 

different forms (direct evidence, comparable evidence, modelling, expert 

opinion, Natural England’s advice etc). In reality however, appropriate 

assessments at the plan stage are often undertaken with enough evidence to 

give confidence in potential mitigation options, but that project level HRAs 

remain critical in determining the detail of such mitigation. The assessment at 

plan level is therefore often drawing on the knowledge and experience of the 

assessors, to make scientifically justified decisions about eliminating risk whilst 

recognising the need for further detailed considerations.  

 The ‘precautionary principle’ is described in the screening section. It is equally 

relevant for the appropriate assessment as it is for screening likely significant 

effects. It is an accepted principle that is embedded within the wording of the 

legislation, and latterly within case decisions, both European and domestic.   

Page 407



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

28 

 

Essentially, the appropriate assessment stage is, in accordance with the Habitats 

Regulations, an assessment that enables a competent authority to only give 

effect to a plan or authorise/undertake a project after having ascertained that it 

will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site.  

 It is for the competent authority to gather the information and evidence 

necessary for the appropriate assessment to give them certainty that adverse 

effects will not occur.  Fundamentally that therefore means that in the absence 

of certainty, the plan or project should not normally proceed (subject to the 

further exceptional tests explained in Appendix 1).  Hence the precaution is in 

the competent authority’s duty to only allow plans or projects to proceed 

whether there is certainty and to apply a precautionary approach where 

uncertainties remain. Competent authorities should have enough evidence to 

satisfy themselves that there are feasible measures to prevent adverse effects. 

These should be feasible in terms of cost, practical implementation, timeliness 

and attributing responsibility. 

Impact pathway themes from the Preferred Options and Policy 

Directions 

 The screening for likely significant effects of the Preferred Options and Policy 

Directions cannot at this early stage identify specific wording requirements for 

policy or supporting text as the emerging policy direction is an early stage of 

policy development. The screening for likely significant effects can be revisited 

and refined as the policy wording is developed. 

 The screening table has flagged key topics for more in-depth consideration 

within an appropriate assessment. European sites are at risk if there are 

possible means by which any aspect of a plan can, when being taken forward for 

implementation, pose a potential threat to the wildlife interest of the sites. This 

is often referred to as the ‘impact pathway’ as it is an identifiable means by 

which the plan or project could potentially affect the European site.  

 The impact pathways identified within this HRA at this early stage of plan making 

are precautionary, but the opportunity to undertake further assessment on 

these themes can be taken relatively early in the plan making process in order to 

beneficially inform policy development. Early recognition of potential issues can 

prevent policies being pursued that pose potential risks to European sites and 

can help to establish the necessary policy wording to protect and enhance the 

natural environment as an integral part of the plan with relevant links across 

policies. When protective measures are developed at a late stage in plan making, 

they can often be difficult to fully integrate. 

Page 408



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

29 

 

 Using evidence and professional expertise, the following appropriate 

assessment chapters cover the following potential impact pathways identified by 

the screening for likely significant effects: 

• Air Quality – consideration of traffic increases in close proximity 

to European sites as a result of site allocations and growth 

• Recreation– checking that the local plan does not give rise to 

additional recreation impacts as a result of housing growth Other 

urbanisation effects – checking development in close proximity 

for any urbanisation risks other than recreation. 

• Water – a re-check of previous conclusions from earlier HRA work 

and review of any new evidence 

• Direction of growth and emerging site allocations for both 

housing and employment – initially informing growth options and 

then a detailed consideration of all allocations  

• Biodiversity net gain – ensuring that wider biodiversity is 

adequately protected, and contribution are made through spatial 

planning to biodiversity restoration. This underpins European site 

protection and long term maintenance. 

 

Air quality 

 Reductions in air quality associated with increased traffic are primarily as a 

result of increased nitrogen deposition, but are also related to increases in both 

sulphur and ammonia. Traffic generated air quality reductions can impact on 

vegetation communities (Bobbink, Hornung & Roelofs 1998; Stevens et al. 2011).  

The Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) currently advises that the 

effect of traffic emissions is focussed on the first 200m to the side of a road. 

There is a declining effect out to 200m and beyond this it is currently agreed that 

the effects are de minimis, i.e. of no consequence against background levels. 

Following a recent case decision from Ashdown Forest (Wealden v SSCLG 2017) it 

is essential that air quality considerations have appropriate regard for any 

impacts that may act in-combination in HRA work. An appropriate assessment of 

air quality should be undertaken with regard for the principles of this recent 

case. 

 The DMRB highlights the need for further assessment where changes to the 

road network or traffic volumes might increase daily traffic flows by 1,000 

Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) or more where the road stretch has 

sensitive habitats within 200m of the road. This is a simple measurement of 

change, using the total volume of traffic on a road and dividing it by 365 days to 

give a daily average.  

Page 409



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

30 

 

 Air pollution (risk of atmospheric nitrogen deposition) is currently recognised as 

a threat or pressure in the Site Improvement Plans for the following sites: 

Cannock Chase SAC, Cannock Extension Canal SAC and West Midlands Mosses 

SAC.  Map 2 shows where roads are within 200m of European sites, focussing on 

those European sites close to the District.   

 At the time of undertaking the initial screening for likely significant effects, 

evidence relating to changes in traffic is not yet available. The appropriate 

assessment will need to consider the potential impact of increased traffic once 

the traffic modelling has been undertaken. However, by highlighting the road 

stretches on Map 2 within 200m of the sites screened into this assessment, it is 

anticipated that the modelling can be tailored to ensure that these stretches are 

specifically considered in the modelling undertaken. 

 Air quality impacts have been raised by Natural England in their response to the 

Issues and Options consultation. Natural England has been working with 

Lichfield development management officers to ensure that traffic increases from 

new development proposals are assessed through traffic plans submitted as 

part of the planning application to ensure that heavy good vehicles are not 

increasing in close proximity to the site. Additional discussion with Natural 

England has highlighted an initial concern in relation to Pasturefields Salt Marsh, 

Cannock Extension Canal and the River Mease SACs. This initial discussion has 

been to agree where further consideration of potential impacts is necessary as 

part of the appropriate assessment and does not necessarily mean that there 

are air quality impacts from new growth in the Lichfield District. Whilst not 

initially raised as an issue, the appropriate assessment should check and 

confirm that there are no air quality concerns in relation to Cannock Chase SAC. 

 Consideration of pollutant deposition on aquatic habitat types is difficult as 

there are very little evidence sources to draw on. It is an issue that Natural 

England recognise, and this section of the appropriate assessment will need 

close liaison with Natural England in order to come to an agreed view. 

Neighbouring local planning authorities have considered this impact pathway, 

with North Warwickshire for example recently adopting its Local Plan with a HRA 

conclusion of no adverse effects from traffic emission on the Cannock Extension 

Canal SAC. 

 There is currently a live planning application for a gas fired power station at 

Rugeley, and the site is partially located within the Lichfield District. The 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal for the application rules out any impacts on 

designated sites due to distance. The appropriate assessment should ensure 

that this conclusion is valid with regard to air quality impacts.  

Page 410



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

31 

 

 A number of Natural England operational guidance documents and research 

reports have recently been produced in relation to the assessment of air quality 

on designated sites. These should be reviewed as part of the appropriate 

assessment. Key documents include the Natural England’s approach to advising 

competent authorities on the assessment of road traffic emissions under the 

Habitats Regulations (NEA001)9 and Assessing the effects of small increments of 

atmospheric nitrogen deposition (above the critical load) on semi-natural 

habitats of conservation importance (NECR210).10  

   

                                                   

9 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4720542048845824 

 
10 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5354697970941952 

 

Page 411

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4720542048845824
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5354697970941952


L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

32 

 

P
age 412



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

33 

 

Recreation 

 With a rising human population, areas that are important for nature 

conservation are often important for a range of other services, including 

providing space for recreation ranging from the daily dog walk to extreme 

sports.  A challenging issue for UK nature conservation is how to accommodate 

increasing demand for access without compromising the integrity of protected 

wildlife sites.   

 There is now a strong body of evidence showing how increasing levels of access 

can have negative impacts on wildlife.  Issues are varied and include 

disturbance, increased fire risk, contamination and damage (for general reviews 

see Underhill-Day 2005; Lowen et al. 2008; Liley et al. 2010; Ross et al. 2014)  

 The issues are not however straightforward.  It is now increasingly recognised 

that access to the countryside is crucial to the long term success of nature 

conservation projects and has wider benefits such as increasing public 

awareness of the natural world, as well as health benefits (Alessa, Bennett & 

Kliskey 2003; Pretty et al. 2005; Moss 2012) and economic benefits (e.g. Bennett, 

Tranter & Blaney 2003; Downward & Lumsdon 2004).  Nature conservation 

bodies are trying to encourage people to spend more time outside and 

government policy (for example through extending coastal paths) is promoting 

access.  Furthermore, access to many sites is a legal right, with an extensive 

Public Rights of Way network and open access to many sites through the 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000).  Therefore, a difficult balancing act is 

required to resolve impacts associated with recreation, complying with 

legislation without compromising the ability of people to be outside enjoying 

sites for recreation. 

 Recreation impacts are relevant to Cannock Chase in particular.  Here various 

studies have demonstrated the impacts associated with access and the links 

with housing (Liley, D et al. 2009; White, Underhill-Day & Liley 2009; Liley 2012; 

Liley & Lake 2012; Underhill-Day & Liley 2012; Hoskin et al. 2017; Hoskin & Liley 

2017; Panter et al. 2018).  Particular concerns relate to trampling, erosion, 

spreading of pathogens (e.g. phytophora), increased fire risk and nutrient 

enrichment (from dog fouling).  Visitor studies have shown the site has a wide 

draw, with 75% of visitors coming from within a 15km radius (Liley 2012), as such 

there is a cumulative impact of development over a broad area.  The area is 

growing in popularity and in particular has a strong draw for mountain bikers.  

The 15km radius is shown on Map 3 and sets out a zone of influence within 

which additional housing is deemed to have an adverse impact upon the 

Cannock Chase SAC unless or until satisfactory avoidance and/or mitigation 

Page 413



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

34 

 

measures have been secured.  As Map 3 shows, the zone encompasses a 

significant proportion of the Lichfield District.   

Strategic approach to mitigation for Cannock Chase SAC   

 Working with other local authorities, Lichfield District Council has introduced a 

strategic approach to mitigation, which includes a simple regime of financial 

contributions as an alternative to developers providing Habitats Regulations 

Assessment information to inform mitigation so as to prevent harm to the SAC. 

This approach is being taken forward by all the Cannock Chase SAC Partnership 

authorities with housing within 8km of the SAC.   

 Mitigation is set out in a joint guidance note and includes a delivery manager 

and full-time visitor engagement officer and the production of various strategies 

that set out detailed mitigation approaches for site users (path management, 

interpretation, signage etc.) and management of car-parking.  Monitoring is also 

included as part of the mitigation approach and a new visitor survey has taken 

place in 2018 (results to be published in early 2019).   

 The approach is currently progressing well, and a number of key actions are now 

being implemented, funded by the developer contributions. It will be important 

for the momentum to continue and for reviews to continue to have regard for 

new growth coming forward and put in place a rolling programme of mitigation 

measures. There is confidence that the approach can accommodate additional 

housing growth in the new Local Plans coming forward, but the appropriate 

assessment should undertake a more detailed check to confirm that this can be 

concluded. 

 

Page 414



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

35 

 

P
age 415



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

36 

 

 

Water Issues 

 Water issues include water quality and water quantity (i.e. water availability), and 

flood management.  Run-off, outflow from sewage treatments and overflow 

from septic tanks can result in increased nutrient loads and contamination of 

water courses.  Abstraction and land management can influence water flow and 

quantity, resulting in reduced water availability at certain periods or changes in 

the flow.  Such impacts particularly relate to aquatic and wetland habitats.  

 As site allocations are brought forward into the plan, further work will be 

necessary to check hydrological links between the locations and the European 

sites screened in to appropriate assessment that have interest features 

associated with water. The River Mease catchment area is defined on Map 4 and 

is used for the strategic approach discussed below. Hydrological links will be in 

the localised area for the Cannock Extension Canal, but as discussed above, 

traffic increases could lead to additional run off from the A5. 

 The appropriate assessment will also need to be informed by the water cycle 

study and strategic flood risk assessment, which are evidence documents for the 

Local Plan review and due to be published in 2019.  

 As noted in the screening of potential European sites, the Humber Estuary 

SAC/SPA/Ramsar site included so that any emerging allocations can be checked 

for proximity to the River Trent and any potential impacts. This is on a 

precautionary basis and for the purposes of checking site allocations as part of 

the updated HRA as the plan is developed, and is not likely to be an issue of a 

strategic nature.   

Strategic approach to mitigation for the River Mease SAC 

 The River Mease SAC is the subject of a cross boundary strategic approach to 

ensuring that new development does not lead to adverse effects on the site in 

terms of water quality. The strategic approach is overseen by a Partnership 

Board, and the approach has been in place for a number of years. The purpose 

of the approach is to ensure that new growth does not add to the phosphorous 

load within the river, as a result of discharges from waste water treatment 

works. There are a number of works that discharge to the river, and increased 

growth risks increasing the phosphorous levels within the discharges. A Water 

Quality Management Plan is in place for the SAC alongside the Developer 

Contributions Scheme. Currently these documents have an objective of ensuring 

that phosphate does not exceed 0.06mg/l (soluble reactive phosphorous). 

Natural England is working with partners to move the target towards a slightly 

Page 416



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

37 

 

lower threshold to meet the long term conservation objectives for the site. 

Further details can be found in the Water Quality Management Plan and the 

Developer Contributions Scheme, both of which are available on the North West 

Leicestershire District Council website.11 

 The Developer contributions scheme sets out a financial contribution from 

development within the River Mease catchment, as shown on Map 4, to fund 

mitigation measures that lead to phosphorous reductions in the river. As part of 

the appropriate assessment, it will be necessary to check the current status and 

functioning of the scheme, to ensure that it continues to provide a viable 

solution to mitigate for new growth within the catchment. The partnership have 

recently ringfenced some of the funding to resource a project officer, which will 

ensure that the approach is effectively project managed on behalf of the Board. 

Urbanisation 

 Urban effects relate to issues where development is close to the European site 

boundary and is an umbrella term relating to impacts such as cat predation, fly 

tipping, increased fire risk and vandalism (see Underhill-Day 2005 for review). 

Urban effects are closely linked to recreation, which we have treated separately; 

some authors treat recreation as part of the general urban effects.   

 Where strategic mitigation schemes are in place elsewhere, a number European 

sites12 have a 400m zone around the boundary where there is a presumption of 

no further development (net increase in residential properties). This primarily 

relates to heathland sites and this presumption reflects the issues with 

urbanisation and the lack of suitable mitigation and avoidance measures.  For 

example, for development so close to the European sites the options to divert 

access or provide suitable alternatives are very limited.  The choice of 400m is 

based on the literature (summarised in Underhill-Day 2005) and to some extent 

is a pragmatic choice.  Studies of cat roaming behaviour have shown 400m to be 

an appropriate buffer width to limit cats in very urban environments (Thomas, 

Baker & Fellowes 2014), however in more rural areas cats can roam considerably 

further and some studies have suggested ranges over 2km for more rural 

situations (Metsers, Seddon & van Heezik 2010; Hall et al. 2016).  Studies of fire 

incidence have shown that heathland sites with high levels of housing within 

500m of the site boundary have a higher fire incidence (Kirby & Tantram 1999).  

                                                   

11 

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/developments_within_the_catchment_area_of_the_river_meas

e_special_area_of_conservation 

 
12 E.g. the Thames Basin Heaths, the Dorset Heaths, the East Devon Pebblebed Heaths 

Page 417

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/developments_within_the_catchment_area_of_the_river_mease_special_area_of_conservation
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/developments_within_the_catchment_area_of_the_river_mease_special_area_of_conservation


L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

38 

 

Fires can start in a range of ways, including deliberate arson, children playing, 

campfires, barbeques, sparks from vehicles, discarded cigarettes etc.   

 Where housing is directly adjacent to sites, access can occur directly from 

gardens and informal access points.  Parking areas can be used as residential 

parking and access can include short-cuts and a range of other uses that are not 

necessarily compatible with nature conservation.  Fly-tipping and dumping of 

garden waste can be more common. As such managing and looking after such 

sites can be more challenging.  

 Urban issues are perhaps most relevant to sites that are vulnerable to fire, 

nutrient enrichment and have sensitive ground-nesting birds.  Urban effects are 

however relevant to other habitats, and similar issues may be seen with 

urbanisation in close proximity to other habitat types. Proximity to the River 

Mease for example could still result in increased dumping, run off and the 

introduction of invasive species from gardens or purposeful introduction of 

aquatic species if moved from garden ponds.  

 A small residential allocation in the emerging Land Allocations Development 

Plan Document is within the River Mease catchment at Harlaston (Site H1), but is 

located on the edge of an existing village and is the redevelopment of a site 

containing agricultural buildings to approximately 24 dwellings. It is beyond 

400m from the River Mease SAC. 

 The Local Plan review will need to give similar individual consideration to any 

proposed allocations close to European sites. This impact pathway is only 

relevant where development is in very close proximity and should therefore be 

revisited as part of the appropriate assessment once work commences on 

establishing new site allocations for the Local Plan review. 

Progressing the growth options  

 As explained in the screening of the plan at Preferred Options and Policy 

Directions stage, there is yet to be any defined options for site allocations for 

growth. However, as the Land Allocations Development Plan Document will be a 

very recently adopted document when it is reviewed, it is anticipated that the 

work undertaken to identify the most sustainable options for growth for the 

Land Allocations Development Plan Document will remain valid, and the District 

Council will be considering how those sites may fit with a new growth option 

once established. Map 4 shows the site allocations from the emerging Land 

Allocations Development Plan Document, identifying the strategic areas for 

growth as being primarily focussed around Lichfield and then at Burntwood and 

on the outskirts of towns that on the edge of the District; Rugeley and 

Tamworth. Fradley is also an area with a strategic development allocation to 

Page 418



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

39 

 

potentially expand the employment focus in this location, along with some 

housing. As noted in the screening table, a growth pattern that follows the 

settlement hierarchy and retains the majority of growth around Lichfield may 

present a better option in terms of European site protection, but a more 

dispersed pattern is not necessarily going to lead to impacts, but rather a careful 

consideration of sites in closer proximity to European sites will be necessary as 

part of the appropriate assessment before site allocations are finalised. 

  

Page 419



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

40 

 

P
age 420



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

41 

 

 

Biodiversity net gain 

 With a growing momentum for biodiversity net gain across the UK there is an 

opportunity to recognise the fundamental importance of wider biodiversity to 

the long term integrity of designated sites. The Lawton Review made the critical 

importance of biodiversity connectivity patently clear. Lichfield District has been 

a forerunner in embedding biodiversity net gain within its planning function, and 

is now working on improved targeting of biodiversity net gain towards locally 

relevant priorities.  

 Map 4 shows a number of areas of biodiversity interest within the District, 

including the Central Rivers area where the District Council is working with 

partners to ensure that there is a co-ordinated approach to securing landscape 

scale enhancements for wildlife and recreation benefits. A number of quarries in 

this area will be restored to meet these objectives. 

 Whilst the Cannock Chase SAC lies outside the District boundary, the Cannock 

Chase AONB does come into the District in the north west, as shown on Map 4, 

and includes areas of biodiversity importance that link to the SAC habitats. The 

AONB management plan is currently being reviewed and Lichfield District 

Council has encouraged links to be made between the plan and the 

opportunities for connecting landscapes through biodiversity net gain. 

 A Staffordshire wide ‘joint ecological approach group’ has prepared a nature 

recovery map for Staffordshire, and the review of the Local Plan presents an 

opportunity to further integrate biodiversity restoration into the heart of 

sustainable development for the new plan period, making the links between the 

priorities for growth and the priorities for biodiversity. 

 It is recommended that the appropriate assessment section pick up the relevant 

links to the biodiversity net gain work where there may be opportunities to focus 

gains on improving supporting habitats and ecological functions that are critical 

to designated sites, in areas that lie outside site boundaries. Development of 

biodiversity policy should have regard for the linkages between designated and 

non-designated biodiversity assets. 

  

Page 421



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

42 

 

5. Conclusions and Next Steps 

 This HRA, undertaken at Preferred Options and Policy Directions stage has 

recommendations from the screening assessment for key topic areas for 

consideration at appropriate assessment. These topic areas are introduced 

within this HRA report and will be progressed as the plan is developed. 

 The appropriate assessment will consider the following European sites:  

• Cannock Chase SAC 

• Cannock Extension Canal SAC 

• Pasturefields Salt Marsh SAC 

• River Mease SAC 

• Humber Estuary SAC and SPA. 

 

 The appropriate assessment will consider the following impact pathway themes 

in relation to the above sites: 

• Air Quality – consideration of traffic increases in close proximity 

to European sites as a result of site allocations and growth 

• Recreation– checking that the local plan does not give rise to 

additional recreation impacts as a result of housing growth Other 

urbanisation effects – checking development in close proximity 

for any urbanisation risks other than recreation. 

• Water – a re-check of previous conclusions from earlier HRA work 

and review of any new evidence 

• Direction of growth and emerging site allocations for both 

housing and employment – initially informing growth options and 

then a detailed consideration of all allocations  

• Biodiversity net gain – ensuring that wider biodiversity is 

adequately protected, and contribution are made through spatial 

planning to biodiversity restoration. This underpins European site 

protection and long term maintenance. 

 

 HRA is an iterative process and early identification of potential issues is 

beneficial in ensuring that the natural environment is an integral part of the 

Local Plan, in terms of both protection and opportunities for enhancement and 

expansion.  As this HRA report is updated, it is intended to provide the evidence 

and justifications necessary to demonstrate that the Lichfield Local Plan will not 

adversely affect European sites. Where this is not possible, alternative options 

for the plan may need to be considered. At this point in time the risks are 

identified to enable this process and do not necessarily mean that adverse 

effects cannot be ruled out.  

  

Page 422



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

43 

 

6. References 

Alessa, L., Bennett, S.M. & Kliskey, A.D. (2003) Effects of knowledge, personal attribution 

and perception of ecosystem health on depreciative behaviors in the intertidal 

zone of Pacific Rim National Park and Reserve. Journal of Environmental 

Management, 68, 207–218. 

Bennett, R.M., Tranter, R.B. & Blaney, R.J.P. (2003) The Value of Countryside Access: A 

Contingent Valuation Survey of Visitors to the Ridgeway National Trail in the 

United Kingdom. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 46, 659–671. 

Bobbink, R., Hornung, M. & Roelofs, J.G.M. (1998) The effects of air-borne nitrogen 

pollutants on species diversity in natural and semi-natural European vegetation. 

Journal of Ecology, 86, 717–738. 

Clarke, R.T. & Liley, D. (2013) Further Assessments of the Relationship between Buildings and 

Stone Curlew Distribution. unpublished report for Breckland District Council, 

Footprint Ecology, Wareham, Dorset. 

Clarke, R.T., Liley, D., Sharp, J.M. & Green, R.E. (2013) Building Development and Roads: 

Implications for the Distribution of Stone Curlews across the Brecks. PLoS ONE, 8, 

e72984. 

Clarke, R.T., Sharp, J. & Liley, D. (2008) Access Patterns in South-East Dorset. The Dorset 

Household Survey: Consequences for Future Housing and Greenspace Provision. 

Footprint Ecology / Poole Borough Council. 

Downward, P. & Lumsdon, L. (2004) Tourism Transport and Visitor Spending: A Study in 

the North York Moors National Park, UK. Journal of Travel Research, 42, 415–420. 

Hall, C.M., Bryant, K.A., Haskard, K., Major, T., Bruce, S. & Calver, M.C. (2016) Factors 

determining the home ranges of pet cats: A meta-analysis. Biological 

Conservation, 203, 313–320. 

Hoskin, R., Lake, S., Underhill-Day J. & Panter, C. (2017) Habitats Regulations Assessment of 

the Cannock Chase Draft Recreational Events Protocol. Unpub., Footprint Ecology / 

Staffordshire County Council. 

Hoskin, R. & Liley, D. (2017) Cannock Chase SAC - Planning Evidence Base Review. Unpub. 

Report, Footprint Ecology / Staffordshire County Council. 

Kirby, J.S. & Tantram, D.A.S. (1999) Monitoring Heathland Fires in Dorset: Phase 1. 

Liley, D. (2008) Development and the North Norfolk Coast: Scoping Document on the Issues 

Relating to Access. Footprint Ecology / RSPB / Norfolk Coast Partnership. 

Liley, D. (2012) Cannock Chase SAC Visitor Report. Unpublished Report, Footprint Ecology. 

Page 423



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

44 

 

Liley, D. & Clarke, R. (2006) Predicting Visitor Numbers to the Thames Basin Heaths. 

Footprint Ecology / CEH. 

Liley, D, Underhill-Day, J, White, J & Sharp, J. (2009) Evidence Base Relating to Cannock 

Chase SAC and the Appropriate Assessment of Local Authority Core Strategies. 

Footprint Ecology / Stafford Borough Council. 

Liley, D. & Lake, S. (2012) Cannock Chase Visitor Observation Study. Footprint Ecology, 

Footprint Ecology, Wareham. 

Liley, D., Lake, S., Underhill-Day, J., Sharp, J., White, J., Hoskin, R., Cruickshanks, K. & 

Fearnley, H. (2010) Welsh Seasonal Habitat Vulnerability Review. Footprint Ecology / 

CCW. 

Liley, D. & Sutherland, W.J. (2007) Predicting the population consequences of human 

disturbance for Ringed Plovers Charadrius hiaticula: a game theory approach. 

Ibis, 149, 82–94. 

Lowen, J., Liley, D., Underhill-Day, J. & Whitehouse, A.T. (2008) Access and Nature 

Conservation Reconciliation: supplementary guidance for England. 

Mallord, J.W. (2005) Predicting the Consequences of Human Disturbance, Urbanisation and 

Fragmentation for a Woodlark Lullula Arborea Population. UEA, School of Biological 

Sciences, Norwich. 

Metsers, E.M., Seddon, P.J. & van Heezik, Y.M. (2010) Cat-exclusion zones in rural and 

urban-fringe landscapes: how large would they have to be? Wildlife Research, 37, 

47–56. 

Moss, S. (2012) Natural Childhood. National Trust. 

Panter, C., Underhill-Day J., D., Weitowitz, D. & Liley, D. (2018) Evidence Base to Inform a 

Car-Park Strategy and Site Users Strategy for Cannock Chase. Unpublished, 

Footprint Ecology / Stafford Borough Council. 

Pretty, J., Griffin, M., Peacock, J., Hine, R., Selens, M. & South, N. (2005) A countryside for 

health and well-being: the physical and mental health benefits of green exercise. 

Countryside Recreation, 13, 2–7. 

Randall, R.E. (2004) Management of coastal vegetated shingle in the United Kingdom. 

Journal of Coastal Conservation, 10, 159–168. 

Ross, K., Liley, D., Austin, G., Clarke, R.T., Burton, N.H., Stillman, R.A., Cruickshanks, K. & 

Underhill-Day, J. (2014) Housing Development and Estuaries in England: Developing 

Methodologies for Assessing the Impacts of Disturbance to Non-Breeding Waterfowl. 

Footprint Ecology, unpublished report for Natural England. 

Page 424



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

45 

 

Saunders, C., Selwyn, J., Richardson, S., May, V. & Heeps, C. (2000) A Review of the Effects 

of Recreational Interactions within UK European Marine Sites. UK CEED & 

Bournemouth University. 

Sharp, J., Clarke, R.T., Liley, D. & Green, R.E. (2008) The Effect of Housing Development and 

Roads on the Distribution of Stone Curlews in the Brecks. Footprint Ecology / 

Breckland District Council. 

Stevens, C.J., Duprè, C., Dorland, E., Gaudnik, C., Gowing, D.J.G., Bleeker, A., Diekmann, 

M., Alard, D., Bobbink, R., Fowler, D., Corcket, E., Mountford, J.O., Vandvik, V., 

Aarrestad, P.A., Muller, S. & Dise, N.B. (2011) The impact of nitrogen deposition 

on acid grasslands in the Atlantic region of Europe. Environmental Pollution, 159, 

2243–2250. 

Stillman, R.A., Cox, J., Liley, D., Ravenscroft, N., Sharp, J. & Wells, M. (2009) Solent 

Disturbance and Mitigation Project: Phase I Report. Footprint Ecology / Solent 

Forum. 

Thomas, R.L., Baker, P.J. & Fellowes, M.D.E. (2014) Ranging characteristics of the 

domestic cat (Felis catus) in an urban environment. Urban Ecosystems, 17, 911–

921. 

Underhill-Day, J.C. (2005) A Literature Review of Urban Effects on Lowland Heaths and Their 

Wildlife. English Nature, Peterborough. 

Underhill-Day, J. & Liley, D. (2012) Cannock Chase SAC Visitor Impacts Mitigation Report. 

Unpublished Report, Footprint Ecology. 

White, J., Underhill-Day, J. & Liley, D. (2009) Cannock Chase Visitor Impact Mitigation 

Strategy. Footprint Ecology / Stafford Borough Council, Footprint Ecology, 

Wareham Dorset. 

 

  

Page 425



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

46 

 

7. Appendix 1 - The Habitats Regulations 

Assessment Process 

 The designation, protection and restoration of European wildlife sites is 

embedded in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, which 

are commonly referred to as the ‘Habitats Regulations.’  The most recent version 

of the Habitats Regulations does not affect the principles of European site 

assessment as defined by the previous Regulations, and which forms the focus 

of this report. Regulation numbers have changed from the 2010 Regulations.   

 The Habitats Regulations are in place to transpose European legislation set out 

within the Habitats Directive (Council Directive 92/43/EEC), which affords 

protection to plants, animals and habitats that are rare or vulnerable in a 

European context, and the Birds Directive (Council Directive 2009/147/EC), which 

originally came into force in 1979, and which protects rare and vulnerable birds 

and their habitats. These key pieces of European legislation seek to protect, 

conserve and restore habitats and species that are of utmost conservation 

importance and concern across Europe. Although the Habitats Regulations 

transpose the European legislation into domestic legislation, the European 

legislation still directly applies, and in some instances, it is better to look to the 

parent Directives to clarify particular duties and re-affirm the overarching 

purpose of the legislation.    

 European sites include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) designated under 

the Habitats Directive and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) classified under the 

Birds Directive. The suite of European sites includes those in the marine 

environment as well as terrestrial, freshwater and coastal sites. European sites 

have the benefit of the highest level of legislative protection for biodiversity.   

Member states have specific duties in terms of avoiding deterioration of habitats 

and species for which sites are designated or classified, and stringent tests have 

to be met before plans and projects can be permitted, with a precautionary 

approach embedded in the legislation, i.e. it is necessary to demonstrate that 

impacts will not occur, rather than they will. The overarching objective is to 

maintain sites and their interest features in an ecologically robust and viable 

state, able to sustain and thrive into the long term, with adequate resilience 

against natural influences. Where sites are not achieving their potential, the 

focus should be on restoration. 

 The UK is also a contracting party to the Ramsar Convention, which is a global 

convention to protect wetlands of international importance, especially those 

wetlands utilised as waterfowl habitat. In order to ensure compliance with the 

requirements of the Convention, the UK Government expects all competent 

Page 426



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

47 

 

authorities to treat listed Ramsar sites as if they are part of the suite of 

designated European sites, as a matter of government policy, as set out in 

Section 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Most Ramsar sites are 

also a SPA or SAC, but the Ramsar features and boundary lines may vary from 

those for which the site is designated as a SPA or SAC.  

 It should be noted that in addition to Ramsar sites, the National Planning Policy 

Framework also requires the legislation to be applied to potential SPAs and 

possible SACs, and areas identified or required for compensatory measures 

where previous plans or projects have not been able to rule out adverse effects 

on site integrity, yet their implementation needs meet the exceptional tests of 

Regulation 64 of the Habitats Regulations, as described below. 

 The step by step process of HRA is summarised in the diagram below. Within the 

Habitats Regulations, local planning authorities, as public bodies, are given 

specific duties as ‘competent authorities’ with regard to the protection of sites 

designated or classified for their species and habitats of European importance.   

Competent authorities are any public body individual holding public office with a 

statutory remit and function, and the requirements of the legislation apply 

where the competent authority is undertaking or implementing a plan or 

project, or authorising others to do so. Regulation 63 of the Habitats Regulations 

sets out the HRA process for plans and projects, which includes development 

proposals for which planning permission is sought. Additionally, Regulation 105 

specifically sets out the process for assessing emerging land use plans. 

 The step by step approach to HRA is the process by which a competent authority 

considers any potential impacts on European sites that may arise from a plan or 

project that they are either undertaking themselves, or permitting an applicant 

to undertake. The step by step process of assessment can be broken down into 

the following stages, which should be undertaken in sequence: 

• Check that the plan or project is not directly connected with or 

necessary for the management of the European site 

• Check whether the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect 

on any European site, from the plan or project alone 

• Check whether the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect 

on any European site, from the plan or project in-combination with 

other plans or projects 

• Carry out an Appropriate Assessment 

• Ascertain whether an adverse effect on site integrity can be ruled out 

 

 Throughout all stages, there is a continual consideration of the options available 

to avoid and mitigate any identified potential impacts.  A competent authority 

may consider that there is a need to undertake further levels of evidence 

gathering and assessment in order to have certainty, and this is the Appropriate 

Page 427



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

48 

 

Assessment stage. At this point the competent authority may identify the need 

to add to or modify the project in order to adequately protect the European site, 

and these mitigation measures may be added through the imposition of 

particular restrictions and conditions.    

 For plans, the stages of HRA are often quite fluid, with the plan normally being 

prepared by the competent authority itself. This gives the competent authority 

the opportunity to repeatedly explore options to prevent impacts, refine the 

plan and rescreen it to demonstrate that all potential risks to European sites 

have been successfully dealt with. 

 When preparing a plan, a competent authority may therefore go through a 

continued assessment as the plan develops, enabling the assessment to inform 

the development of the plan. For example, a competent authority may choose to 

pursue an amended or different option where impacts can be avoided, rather 

than continue to assess an option that has the potential to significantly affect 

European site interest features. 

 After completing an assessment, a competent authority should only approve a 

project or give effect to a plan where it can be ascertained that there will not be 

an adverse effect on the integrity of the European site(s) in question. In order to 

reach this conclusion, the competent authority may have made changes to the 

plan, or modified the project with restrictions or conditions, in light of their 

Appropriate Assessment findings.    

 Where adverse effects cannot be ruled out, there are further exceptional tests 

set out in Regulation 64 for plans and projects and in Regulation 107 specifically 

for land use plans. Exceptionally, a plan or project could be taken forward for 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest where adverse effects cannot be 

ruled out and there are no alternative solutions. It should be noted that meeting 

these tests is a rare occurrence and ordinarily, competent authorities seek to 

ensure that a plan or project is fully mitigated for, or it does not proceed.   

 In such circumstances where a competent authority considers that a plan or 

project should proceed under Regulations 64 or 107, they must notify the 

relevant Secretary of State.  Normally, planning decisions and competent 

authority duties are then transferred, becoming the responsibility of the 

Secretary of State, unless on considering the information, the planning authority 

is directed by the Secretary of State to make their own decision on the plan or 

project at the local level. The decision maker, whether the Secretary of State or 

the planning authority, should give full consideration to any proposed 

‘overriding reasons’ for which a plan or project should proceed despite being 

unable to rule out adverse effects on European site interest features, and ensure 

that those reasons are in the public interest and are such that they override the 

Page 428



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

49 

 

potential harm. The decision maker will also need to secure any necessary 

compensatory measures, to ensure the continued overall coherence of the 

European site network if such a plan or project is allowed to proceed. 

  

Page 429



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

50 

 

 

Figure 1: Outline of the assessment of plans under the Habitat Regulations  

  

Page 430



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

51 

 

8. Appendix 2 Conservation Objectives 

 As required by the Directives, ‘Conservation Objectives’ have been established by 

Natural England, which should define the required ecologically robust state for 

each European site interest feature. All sites should be meeting their 

conservation objectives. When being fully met, each site will be adequately 

contributing to the overall favourable conservation status of the species or 

habitat interest feature across its natural range. Where conservation objectives 

are not being met at a site level, and the interest feature is therefore not 

contributing to overall favourable conservation status of the species or habitat, 

plans should be in place for adequate restoration.   

 Natural England has embarked on a project to renew all European site 

Conservation Objectives, in order to ensure that they are up to date, 

comprehensive and easier for developers and consultants to use to inform 

project level HRA s in a consistent way. In 2012, Natural England issued now a 

set of generic European site Conservation Objectives, which should be applied to 

each interest feature of each European site. These generic objectives are the 

first stage in the project to renew conservation objectives, and the second stage, 

which is to provide more detailed and site-specific information for each site to 

support the generic objectives, is now underway. 

 The new list of generic Conservation Objectives for each European site includes 

an overarching objective, followed by a list of attributes that are essential for the 

achievement of the overarching objective. Whilst the generic objectives currently 

issued are standardised, they are to be applied to each interest feature of each 

European site, and the application and achievement of those objectives will 

therefore be site specific and dependant on the nature and characteristics of the 

site. The second stage, provision of the more supplementary information to 

underpin these generic objectives, will provide much more site-specific 

information, and this detail will play a fundamental role in informing HRAs, and 

importantly will give greater clarity to what might constitute an adverse effect on 

a site interest feature.    

 In the interim, Natural England advises that HRAs should use the generic 

objectives and apply them to the site-specific situation.   This should be 

supported by comprehensive and up to date background information relating to 

the site. 

 For SPAs, the overarching objective is to:  

 ‘Avoid the deterioration of the habitats of qualifying features, and the significant 

disturbance of the qualifying features, ensuring the integrity of the site is 

Page 431



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

52 

 

maintained and the site makes a full contribution to achieving the aims of the 

Birds Directive.’ 

 This is achieved by, subject to natural change, maintaining and restoring:  

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features.    

• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features.    

• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying 

features rely.    

• The populations of the qualifying features.    

• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

 

 For SACs, the overarching objective is to:  

‘Avoid the deterioration of the qualifying natural habitats and the habitats of 

qualifying species, and the significant disturbance of those qualifying species, 

ensuring the integrity of the site is maintained and the site makes a full 

contribution to achieving Favourable Conservation Status of each of the 

qualifying features.’ 

 This is achieved by, subject to natural change, maintaining and restoring:  

• The extent and distribution of the qualifying natural habitats and 

habitats of qualifying species.  

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying 

natural habitats and habitats of qualifying species.  

• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and 

habitats of qualifying species rely.   

• The populations of qualifying species.  

• The distribution of qualifying species within the site. 

 

 Conservation objectives inform any HRA of a plan or project, by identifying what 

the interest features for the site should be achieving, and what impacts may be 

significant for the site in terms of undermining the site’s ability to meet its 

conservation objectives.  

  

Page 432



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  

P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

53 

 

9. Appendix 3  The Nature Conservation 

Interest of the European Sites 

 The relevant European sites are summarised in Table 4 below, where the 

interest features, threats and pressures and links to the relevant conservation 

objectives are listed.  

Page 433



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

54 

 

 

Table 4: Summary of relevant European sites, their interest features and relevant pressures/threats.  Pressures/threats are taken from the 

site improvement plans (SIP) and are listed in priority order.  Hyperlinks in the first column link to the relevant site page on the Natural 

England website, providing details of the site’s conservation objectives, citation etc.  Pale blue shading indicates marine sites. (B) = 

breeding, (NB) = non-breeding. 

Site Reason for designation (# denotes UK special responsibility) Pressures and threats (from relevant SIP) 

Cannock Chase SAC 
H4010 Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix  

H4030 European dry heaths 

Undergrazing, drainage, hydrological changes, 

disease, air pollution (risk of atmospheric 

nitrogen deposition), wildfire/arson, invasive 

species. 

Cannock Extension Canal 

SAC 
S1831 Luronium natans: Floating water-plantain 

Water pollution, overgrazing, invasive species, 

air pollution (risk of atmospheric nitrogen 

deposition). 

Ensor’s Pool SAC 
S1092 Austropotamobius pallipes: White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) 

crayfish 
Changes in species distributions. 

Fens Pools SAC S1166 Triturus cristatus: Great crested newt 
Overgrazing, inappropriate scrub control, 

disease, water pollution, habitat fragmentation.   

Humber Estuary 

SAC/SPA/Ramsar site 

SAC 

S1364 Halichoerus grypus: Grey seal 

H1130 Estuaries 

H2160 Dunes with Hippophae rhamnoides 

S1099 Lampetra fluviatilis: River lamprey 

 

P
age 434

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/category/4879822899642368
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6687924741472256
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5063623810482176
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5063623810482176
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6577286383927296
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5327609814581248
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5427891407945728
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5427891407945728


L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

55 

 

 

Site Reason for designation (# denotes UK special responsibility) Pressures and threats (from relevant SIP) 

H2110 Embryonic shifting dunes 

H1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 

H2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria 

("white dunes") 

H1150# Coastal lagoons 

H2130# Fixed dunes with herbaceous vegetation ("grey dunes") 

H1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae) 

H1110 Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the 

time 

H1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 

S1095 Petromyzon marinus: Sea lamprey 

 

SPA 

A081(B) Circus aeruginosus: Eurasian marsh harrier 

A082(NB) Circus cyaneus: Hen harrier 

A132(B) Recurvirostra avosetta: Pied avocet 

A132(NB) Recurvirostra avosetta: Pied avocet 

A156(NB) Limosa limosa islandica: Black-tailed godwit 

 

Waterbird assemblage: 

A157(NB) Limosa lapponica: Bar-tailed godwit 

A149(NB) Calidris alpina alpina: Dunlin 

A162(NB) Tringa totanus: Common redshank 

A151(NB) Philomachus pugnax: Ruff 

A140(NB) Pluvialis apricaria: European golden plover 

A143(NB) Calidris canutus: Red knot 

A195(B) Sterna albifrons: Little tern 

A021(B) Botaurus stellaris: Great bittern 

A021(NB) Botaurus stellaris: Great bittern 

P
age 435



L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

56 

 

 

Site Reason for designation (# denotes UK special responsibility) Pressures and threats (from relevant SIP) 

A048(NB) Tadorna tadorna: Common shelduck 

 

Ramsar site 

Ramsar criterion 1 - A representative example of a near-natural 

estuary with the following component habitats: dune systems and 

humid dune slacks, estuarine waters, intertidal mud and sand flats, 

saltmarshes, and coastal brackish/saline lagoons. 

 

Ramsar criterion 3 - The Humber Estuary Ramsar site supports a 

breeding colony of grey seals Halichoerus grypus at Donna Nook 

 

Ramsar criterion 5 - Assemblages of international importance: 

153,934 waterfowl, non-breeding season 

 

Ramsar criterion 6 – species/populations of waterbirds occurring at 

levels of international importance.  

 

Ramsar criterion 8 - The Humber Estuary acts as an important 

migration route for both river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis and sea 

lamprey Petromyzon marinus between coastal waters and their 

spawning areas. 

 

Mottey Meadows SAC 
H6510 Lowland hay meadows (Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba 

officinalis) 

Water pollution, hydrological change, water 

abstraction, change in land management.   

Pasturefields Salt Marsh 

SAC 
H1340# Inland salt meadows None. 

River Mease SAC 
H3260 Water courses of plain to montane levels with the 

Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 

Water pollution, drainage, inappropriate weirs, 

dams and other structures, invasive species, 

siltation, water abstraction.   

P
age 436

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5720449535180800
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6292877810335744
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6292877810335744
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6217720043405312


L i c h f i e l d  L o c a l  P l a n  R e v i e w  H R A  ( s c r e e n i n g  a t  P r e f e r r e d  O p t i o n s  &  P o l i c y  

D i r e c t i o n s )  

 

57 

 

 

Site Reason for designation (# denotes UK special responsibility) Pressures and threats (from relevant SIP) 

S1092 Austropotamobius pallipes: White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) 

crayfish  

S1149 Cobitis taenia: Spined loach  

S1163 Cottus gobio: Bullhead  

S1355 Lutra lutra: Otter 

West Midlands Mosses 

SAC (note this SAC is 

comprised of four SSSIs, 

of which Chartley Moss 

SSSI is the only one 

within 20km of Lichfield 

District) 

H3160 Natural dystrophic lakes and ponds H7140 Transition mires 

and quaking bogs 

Water pollution, hydrological change, air 

pollution (risk of atmospheric nitrogen 

deposition), inappropriate scrub control, game 

management (pheasant rearing), forestry and 

woodland management, habitat fragmentation. 

Chartley Moss also lies 

within the Midlands 

Meres and Mosses Phase 

I Ramsar 

Ramsar criterion 1: The site comprises a diverse range of habitats 

from open water to raised bog; 

Ramsar criterion 2: Supports a number of rare species of plants 

associated with wetlands including five nationally scarce species 

together with an assemblage of rare wetland invertebrates (three 

endangered insects and five other British Red Data Book species of 

invertebrates). 

 

 

 

P
age 437

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6449667604742144
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6449667604742144
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11043.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11043.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11043.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 308129 
or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

1

equality impact assessment
stage 1 quick check 
questionnaire

If you are planning on making a change to an existing service or policy, or launching something 
new, fill out this quick questionnaire to find out if you need to complete a full equality impact 
assessment. You can also use this form to check your current services or policies.

To find out more about the legal background to equality impact assessments, or for advice on 
which of your current services should be assessed, read our equality impact assessment help 
notes. 

Section 1: About you and your service area 
Your name: Martin Rich
Your service area: Spatial Policy & Delivery
Your director/line manager: Ashley Baldwin
Your cabinet member: Cllr. I. Pritchard

Section 2: About your plans
Name of service/policy you are assessing: Local Plan Review Preferred Options & Policy Directions 

Is it? (please delete as appropriate)
 A change to an existing policy/service 

Who are the main users of your service/policy? (please delete any that are not appropriate)
 Mixture of residents and visitors 
 Internal (employees)
 Disability specific groups
 Race specific groups
 Gender specific groups 
 Religious groups
 Sexual orientation groups
 Marriage and civil partnerships
 Older people
 Young people
 Other (please specify) those working within the District

Please briefly describe why you are creating a new service/changing an existing service  or reviewing 
current policy/service (where appropriate, include sources of evidence such as customer feedback):   
There is a statutory requirement to produce a Local Plan. The current Local Plan makes a commitment to 
an early review to keep it up to date and this is a consultation to inform the review.

Page 439

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 308129 
or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

2

Section 3: Will your plans impact on any particular groups?

3a:  Please fill in all boxes that apply in the table below. If any boxes don’t apply, please leave blank.

Hints & tips Think about who will benefit from or be affected by your plans/policy. Will any particular group be 
negatively affected, or not able to use the service? For further guidance please see Section 3 of the help notes. 

Impact of plans

Groups of users

Will your plans have a positive impact on 
this group? If so please explain why? 

Will your plans have a negative impact? If 
so please explain why?  If there is a 
negative impact on any group(s), please 
complete section 4 for each group.

Age ranges (indicate 
range/ranges)

Yes. The consultation will include 
representatives of this group.
The housing mix policy will meet the 
needs of groups such as homes for 
older people including specialist care 
provision.
The open space and recreation policy 
will work with our schools and colleges
and support our aging population to 
live and age well.

No

Disability (physical, 
sensory or learning)

Yes. The consultation will include 
representatives of this group.
The housing mix policy will meet the 
needs of groups such as people with 
disabilities.

No

Gender/sex Neutral. The consultation documents
will be available to the general public

No

Transgender/gender 
reassignment

Neutral. The consultation documents
will be available to the general public

No

Race (includes ethnic or 
national origins, colour 
or nationality)

Neutral. The consultation documents
will be available to the general public

No

Gypsies and travellers Yes. The consultation will include
representatives of this group.
There is a policy for provision for 
gypsies and travellers.

No

Refugees / asylum 
seekers

Neutral. The consultation documents
will be available to the general public

No

Sexual orientation Neutral. The consultation documents
will be  available to the general public

No

Marriage and civil 
partnerships

Neutral. The consultation documents
will be available to the general public

No

Religion or belief 
(includes lack of belief)

Yes. The consultation includes
representatives of this group

No

Pregnancy and 
maternity

Neutral. The consultation documents
are available to the general public

No

Carers or the people 
cared for (dependants) 

Neutral. The consultation documents
are available to the general public

No

Other (please specify)

3b: Further details
Please use this space to provide further details if necessary
A Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment has been jointly contracted with Tamworth and 

Page 440

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 308129 
or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

3

North Warwickshire Councils.
This is a consultation which will include specific groups and use the website and a questionnaire to identify
issues which can be addressed through a Local Plan; the document can be made available in large print or
different languages upon request.

Page 441

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 308129 
or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

4

Section 4: Can you justify and evidence, or lessen any impact?

4a: If you have identified a negative impact(s) on any group(s) please complete the below table for each 
affected each group. If any boxes don’t apply, please leave blank. If you didn’t identify any negative impact(s) on the 
previous page, skip to section 6. 

Hints & tips Is there something you can do to reduce or alter any negative impact you have identified? For example 
when we changed waste and recycling collections to kerbside collections, we offered disabled/less able people 
assisted collections. Please list all the evidence you have gathered to support your decision(s) – this could include 
customer feedback, statistics, comparable policies, consultation results. If you don’t have any evidence, please carry 
out appropriate studies and research to gather the evidence you need to support your decision(s). If you have 
no/insufficient evidence or cannot gather any, you will need to complete a full EIA. For further guidance, see 
Section 4 of the help notes.

Actions you need to take

Groups of users

We will make the following 
change(s) to the 
service/policy to reduce 
the negative impact. 
Explain the change(s) and 
the evidence you have to 
support your decision? 
 Use section 4b below if 
you want to give more 
details.

We won’t make changes as 
we can justify our decision 
and there are sound 
reasons behind our 
decision. Justify why and 
detail the evidence you 
have gathered to support 
your decision.  Use 
section 4c below if you 
want to give more details.

There is a negative impact, 
and we cannot justify it 
and/or have no, or 
insufficient, evidence to 
support our decision.  

 You will need complete 
a full equality impact 
assessment. See the help 
notes for more details.

Age ranges (indicate 
range/ranges)
Disability  (physical, 
sensory or learning)
Gender / sex
Transgender /
gender reassignment
Race (includes ethnic or 
national origins, colour 
or nationality)
Gypsies and travellers
Refugees / asylum 
seekers
Sexual orientation
Marriage and civil 
partnerships
Religion or belief 
(includes lack of belief)
Pregnancy and 
maternity
Carers or the people 
cared for (dependants)
Other (please specify)

4b: Further details on changes
Please use the space below to give more details on the changes you will make, if necessary:

4c: Further details on justification
Please use the space below to give more details on the justification/evidence you have gathered, if 
necessary:

Page 442

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 308129 
or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

5

Section 5: Your action plan
Help notes If, as a result of this assessment, you are going to adapt your plans or policy, please include details 
below. Please include a quick action plan and key dates that will show how you will review your decisions and when. 
Please include responsibility and expected outcomes. For full guidance on how to complete this section, please 
refer to the help notes. 

Section 6: Record your actions (delete as appropriate)

I have sent this to Policy and Performance for publication on the intranet and on 
www.lichfielddc.gov.uk 

No      

Date completed: 10/12/2018

Page 443

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk
http://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Elford  Neighbourhood Plan Final Decision 
Statement
Councillor Ian Pritchard, Cabinet Member for Economic Growth, Environment & Development 
Services
Date: 15 January 2019
Agenda Item: 4
Contact Officer: Patrick Jervis
Tel Number: 01543 308196
Email: Patrick.jervis@lichfielddc.gov.uk
Key Decision? No
Local Ward 
Members

All Elford ward members 

CABINET

1. Executive Summary
1.1 This report relates to the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan covering Elford which has recently been 

subject to referendum. The Elford Neighbourhood Plan received a majority Yes vote at its referendum 
held on 29 November 2018. The District Council now has to formally ‘make’ the Elford Neighbourhood 
Plan, following which it will form a part of the Development Plan in Lichfield District.   

2. Recommendations
2.1 That cabinet notes the results of the referendum for the Elford Neighbourhood Plan as presented at 

paragraph 3.3 of this report.

2.2 That the Cabinet agrees to the making of the Elford Neighbourhood Plan and that this decision is then 
reported to Full Council.

3. Background
3.1 Neighbourhood planning is one of the provisions of the 2011 Localism Act allowing local communities 

to bring forward detailed policies and plans which can form part of the statutory planning process for 
an area and its residents. 

3.2 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 require that Neighbourhood Plans are subject 
to a referendum. The referendum was held in accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning 
(Referendum) Regulations 2012. All those eligible to vote in the Elford Neighbourhood Area voted Yes 
or No to the following question, “Do you want Lichfield District Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan 
for Elford to help it decide planning applications in the Neighbourhood Area?” If the majority (50% +1) 
of the turnout vote in favour the Local Planning Authority (Lichfield District Council) must make the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

3.3 The referendum for Elford was held on 29 November 2018. The Elford Neighbourhood Plan 
referendum received a turnout of 31.7%, with 117 (75.9%) votes in favour and 37 (24.1%) votes against 
the making of the Neighbourhood Plan.

3.4 The 2012 Regulations require that upon the completion of the referendum the Local Planning 
Authority is required to publish a ‘Decision Statement’ on their website. This Decision Statement will 
state that the Neighbourhood Plan has been successful at referendum and will now be ‘made’, and will 
form a part of the Development Plan for Lichfield District. A proposed Decision Statement in respect of 
the Elford Neighbourhood Plan is attached at Appendix A.

Page 445

Agenda Item 4



3.5 The Cabinet is asked to note the referendum results set out at paragraph 3.3 of this report and the 
Decision Statement and agree to the making of the Elford Neighbourhood Plan. The Elford 
Neighbourhood Plan is attached at Appendix B. The decision of the Cabinet will then need to be 
endorsed by Full Council.

3.6 Subject to a decision to make the Neighbourhood, the District Council will need to publish the Decision 
Statement online, and provide the Decision Statement to the Qualifying Body (Elford Parish Council) 
and any other stakeholder who has requested to be notified of the decision. The Neighbourhood Plan 
will form a part of the Development Plan for Lichfield District and will be used in determining planning 
applications. The made Neighbourhood Plan will be published online and the prescribed persons will 
be notified. 

Alternative Options 1. The Lichfield District Council refuses to make the Neighbourhood Plan.  
The Council can only do this if it considers this would breach, or be 
incompatible with any EU Obligation or any of the Convention Rights. 

2. Following the making of the Neighbourhood Plan, Lichfield District Council 
can decide to modify or revoke the Neighbourhood Plan, in line with the 
Regulations.

Consultation 1. In line with the Regulations the Neighbourhood Plan has been through 
numerous consultation periods. A Consultation Statement detailing the 
consultation undertaken throughout the Neighbourhood Plan process was 
provided by the Qualifying Body (Elford Parish Council) as part of their 
Neighbourhood Plan Submission Documentation. 

2. The Neighbourhood Plan Referendum was publicised according to the 
Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012. 

Financial 
Implications

1. The Government has made grant aid available to District Councils in 
recognition of the level of resourcing required in the administration of 
Neighbourhood Plans. A grant of £20,000 will be applied for during the 
next available funding window following the referendum.

2. Communities with Neighbourhood Plans in place will be entitled to 25% of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts generated by eligible 
development in their area. Communities with no Neighbourhood Plan will 
be entitled to 15%. 

Contribution to the 
Delivery of the 
Strategic Plan

1. The Neighbourhood Plan demonstrates that it is in broad conformity with 
the Local Plan Strategy (2015) which conforms with the Strategic Plan. 

Crime & Safety 
Issues

1. Crime and community safety issues may be considered as part of the 
Neighbourhood Plans.  

GDPR/Privacy 
Impact Assessment

1. A Privacy Impact Assessment has been undertaken.

Equality, Diversity 
and Human Rights 
Implications

1. The extensive consultation procedures provided for by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 ensure that consultation is undertaken 
with the wider community and covers human rights matters.

2. The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 ensure that 
all those eligible were entitled to vote in the referendums. 

3. Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) have been completed for the Elford 
Neighbourhood Plan and is attached at Appendix C.

Page 446



Risk Description How We Manage It Severity of Risk (RYG)
A Qualifying Body propose the 

replacement of the Neighbourhood 
Plan.

Ensure the Qualifying Body produce the 
replacement Neighbourhood Plan in accordance to 
the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012.

Green

B Lichfield District Council decide to 
modify the made Neighbourhood 
Plan.

Lichfield District Council in line with the 
Regulations will seek the permission of Qualifying 
Body before modifying the Neighbourhood Plan, 
and will carry out the process in accordance with 
the Regulations.

Green

C Lichfield District Council decide to 
revoke the made Neighbourhood 
Plan.

Lichfield District Council will gain permission from 
the Secretary of State before revoking the 
Neighbourhood Plan, the revocation will be in 
accordance with the Regulations.

Green

D Secretary of State revokes the made 
Neighbourhood Plan.

This would be outside the control of the District 
Council. 

Green

Background documents
1. Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 & Amendments
2. Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 & Amendments 
3. Elford Neighbourhood Plan (Referendum Version)
4. Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy

Relevant web links
1. Copies of the submitted neighbourhood plans can be found via: 

 www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Elfordnp

Page 447

https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Neighbourhood-plans/Downloads/Alrewas/Alrewas-neighbourhood-plan-referendum-version.pdf
https://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Council/Planning/The-local-plan-and-planning-policy/Local-plan/Local-Plan-Strategy.aspx
file://ldc-file02/Departmental/Development%20Planning/Development%20Plans/Development%20Plan%20&%20Supplementary%20Guidance%20(DP1)/Parish%20and%20Neighbourhood%20Plans/Elford/Post-referendum/www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/alrewasnp


This page is intentionally left blank



ELFORD NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN REGULATION 19 DECISION STATEMENT

Elford Neighbourhood Plan Development Plan
Decision Statement published pursuant to the Localism Act 2011 Schedule 38A (9) and 
Regulations 19 & 20 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

1. Summary:
1.1 Lichfield District Council decided by resolution of Cabinet on 15/01/2019 to make the 

Elford Neighbourhood Development Plan under Section 38A(4) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). The Elford Neighbourhood 
Development Plan now forms part of the Development Plan for Lichfield District.

2. Reasons for decision:
2.1 The Elford Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and its promotion process 

is compliant with legal and procedural requirements. Paragraph 38A(4)(a) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Council to make the 
Neighbourhood Plan if more than half of those  voting in the referendum have voted 
in favour of the Plan being used to help decide planning applications in the area. The 
Plan was endorsed by more than the required threshold in the referendum on 29 
November 2018.

3. Background:
3.1 On 11 May 2015 Elford Parish Council requested that the Elford Neighbourhood Area 

be designated for the purposes of producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan for 
the area. Following a six week consultation Lichfield District Council designated the 
Elford Neighbourhood Area on 14 August 2015.

3.2 In September 2017 Elford Parish Council published the draft Elford Neighbourhood 
Plan for a minimum six week consultation, in line with Regulation 14 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 which closed in October 2017.

3.3 The Elford Neighbourhood Plan was submitted by the Parish Council to Lichfield 
District Council in May 2018 for assessment by an Independent Examiner. The Plan 
(and associated documents) was publicised for consultation by Lichfield District 
Council for six weeks between 8 May 2018 and 19 June 2018 (the Local Authority 
publicity consultation). Mr Andrew Ashcroft BA (Hons) MA DMS MRTPI was appointed 
as the Independent Examiner and all comments received at the Local Authority 
publicity consultation were passed on for his consideration.

Page 449



ELFORD NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN REGULATION 19 DECISION STATEMENT

3.4 The Examiner’s report concluded that, subject to modifications, the Elford 
Neighbourhood Plan met the necessary basic conditions (as set out in Schedule 4b (8) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Localism Act 2011) 
and subject to these modifications being made it should proceed to referendum.

3.5 A referendum was held on Thursday 29 November 2018, 75.9% of those who voted 
were in favour of the Neighbourhood Plan, the turnout was 31.7%. Paragraph 38A 
(4)(a) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended requires that 
the Council must make the Neighbourhood Plan if more than half of those voting have 
voted in favour of the plan.

This decision statement can be viewed online on the Lichfield District Council website 
at: www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/Elfordnp. It can also be viewed in hard copy at:

Lichfield District Council, District Council House, Frog Lane, Lichfield, WS13 6YY - 
Monday to Friday 8.45am to 5.15pm

Page 450



 
 

  

ELFORD PARISH 

 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

 

Made 15 January 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2015 – 2029 

 

  

Page 451



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

2 
 

 

  

Page 452



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

3 
 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

2. Background to the Parish ................................................................................................................ 6 

3. Vision and Objectives ...................................................................................................................... 9 

4. ENP Policy Overview .................................................................................................................... 11 

5. The Planning Policies .................................................................................................................... 13 

6. Monitoring and Review .................................................................................................................. 36 

7. Glossary ........................................................................................................................................ 38 

8. Appendix ....................................................................................................................................... 41 

 

  

Page 453



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

4 
 

1. Introduction  

1.1. Neighbourhood Planning is a central government initiative introduced by the Localism Act 

(2011) and is recognised in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  The aim of the 

legislation is to empower local communities to use the planning system to promote appropriate 

and sustainable development in their area. Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP) must 

be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Development Framework (also 

known as the Development Plan) and have regard to national policy and advice.  

1.2. In the case of Elford, the Development Plan consists of Lichfield District Council’s (LDC) 

Adopted Local Plan Strategy (2015). Once submitted to the LDC, the Elford Neighbourhood 

Plan (ENP) will be subject to public examination and a local referendum before being adopted 

as a new tier of the Development Plan and become a statutory document in the determination 

of planning applications within the Parish boundary.  

1.3. NDPs are to be shaped by and produced for the local community. The role of the Steering 

Group in the neighbourhood plan process was to act as facilitators in enabling local residents, 

businesses and community groups to determine the focal points of their NDP and help devise 

polices to tackle local issues. The Steering Group was formed of Elford residents from various 

areas of the village. 

Developing the Elford Neighbourhood Plan 

1.4. The ENP (also referred to as ‘the Plan’) has been prepared for the community by the 

community. This document is the product of an intensive programme of consultation and 

community events. Each stage of the project has evolved from the needs and wants of the 

community, the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, and the Parish Council. Most recently 

this includes detailed consideration and consultation of the approach to be taken on the 

delivery of housing in the Parish, conducted in early Spring 2017. Our consultant team (Urban 

Imprint) have then translated this into a formal Planning Policy document and have checked 

and double-checked their interpretation with the community at each stage along the process. 

  

Page 454



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

5 
 

Consultation  

1.5. Throughout the development of the Plan, various consultation events have been undertaken 

in order to inform the public of the progress of the plan and to gain their opinions on matters, 

such as the First Draft of the plan. The table below provides a brief outline of the community 

consultation events held: 

 

1.6. In late 2017, a planning application for 25 new dwellings was proposed (Ref: 17/01379/OUTM) 

by a local land owner on land in the core of the village which was designated as a Protected 

open Space by the Local Plan, was adjacent to the conservation area and was proposed as a 

Local Green Space by the consultation draft of this Neighbourhood Plan. The scheme was 

recommended for approval by the Local Planning Authority and subsequently approved by the 

Council in March 2018 against significant local opposition by residents and the Parish Council.  

1.7. As a result of this permission, the development strategies set out in the plan have had to be 

significantly amended to reflect this decision, which is a matter of fact, and not a result of 

community consultation. This included removal of the LGS designation, and the reworking of 

the housing delivery policies which initially proposed new development to the north and east 

of the settlement in accordance with community consultation, as opposed to the development 

of this site. 

1.8. Throughout the development of the ENP, a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) was undertaken. The 

SA acts as a crucial ‘check’ to ensure that all work within the project is compliant with the 

National and Local Policy, as well as ensuring the vision, objectives and policies do not conflict 

with one another.  

1.9. A copy of the Sustainability Appraisal is submitted to the LDC alongside this Plan.  

Consultation Exercise Date/Time 
Leaflet distributed to homes publicising NP and consultation events January 2016 

Introduction to Neighbourhood Planning/Thinking about Elford  February 2016  

Schools Workshop February 2016 

Vision and Objectives workshop  February 2016 

Neighbourhood Plan Theme Groups Workshop March 2016 

Community Walkover  March 2016 

Resident’s Survey May 2016 

Resident’s Survey - Housing February 1st – March 13th  2017 

Regulation 14 Consultation on First Draft of NP September 5th – October 17th 
2017 

Page 455



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

6 
 

 

2. Background to the Parish  

2.1. The Parish of Elford lies within the District of Lichfield in the County of Staffordshire, and 

contains a village with a population of 632 people (at the time of the 2011 census). The Parish 

lies in the south east of the County of Staffordshire and near to the eastern edge of the West 

Midlands region boundary. Aside from Lichfield to the west, and Tamworth to the east, the 

surrounding area is predominantly rural with a mixture of small towns and villages.  

2.2. This section of the plan provides a general overview of the Parish – for further details on these 

matters and others see the ‘Technical Baseline’ document, submitted alongside the Plan. 

Socio-economic Profile 

2.3. A comparison of the age structure of Elford and England shows that the proportion of people 

aged 45 years and over is higher than that of England as a whole. This will have implications 

for the future demographics of the Parish, as 10 years further along, a greater proportion of 

residents will be of retirement age. The majority of residents are of white British origin with a 

low representation of other ethnicities. 

2.4. There is a higher proportion of households that own their homes compared to the District and 

National averages. Average housing price in the Parish was £374,362 (as of 2015) which is 

significantly higher than the averages for the District and at National levels. The Parish is 

categorised by predominantly detached dwellings and has a lower mix of dwellings in general 

than nationally and in the District. 

2.5. According to the 2001 and 2011 censuses, the total population of Elford grew from 581 to 632, 

which represents an increase of 8.8%. Elford has a slightly faster population growth compared 

to that of Lichfield District (8.0%) and that of England (7.9%).  

Landscape  

2.6. The parish lies within the Trent Valley Washlands character area, which is typically 

characterised by the linear river and canal features within this area. This includes the River 

Tame, which is a dominant landscape feature within the Parish of Elford and forms a natural 

boundary to the south of Elford Village. The Plan area also falls within the River Mease Special 

Area of Conservation. 

2.7. The landscape character around Elford is roughly divided into two sections; the floodplain and 

alluvial plain to the west of Elford Village, adjacent to the River Tame; and the lowland, rolling 

farmland on the higher land to the east of the village. 

Page 456



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

7 
 

2.8. There are a number of distinctive landscape features within the Village of Elford, many of them 

purely as a result of the remnants of the former Elford Hall. To the far west of the village lies 

the Walled Garden, now managed by the Elford Hall Garden Project (a community led 

organisation who have restored the Walled Garden itself), and a significant area of landscaped 

parkland associated with the former hall. Also to the west, a series of paddocks with large 

mature trees within them are all part of the conservation area, many in the ownership of private 

land owners and homeowners.  

2.9. The historical field patterns of the Parish are considered a key cultural and heritage asset and 

opportunities to restore and enhance this should be taken. 

Biodiversity and Wildlife  

2.10. The Parish of Elford is rich in an abundance of wildlife, including bats, badgers and 

many reptile species. The Parish is partly situated within the Tame Valley, which is an 

important wildlife corridor and links to the Trent Valley. 

History and Conservation  

2.11. The landscape of the parish holds many important historical assets which offer links to 

the cultural heritage and show a number of features that demonstrate the working of the 

landscape since medieval times. 

2.12. The historic environment of the Parish is also characterised by evidence for human 

activity extending back into the prehistoric period as above and below ground archaeological 

remains.  An example of which is the Scheduled Monument  ‘The Lowe Bowl Barrow’ -  a 

Bronze Age burial mound, which is also known as Elford Lowe (Historic England National 

Historic List Entry no. 1008530). Much of the Village of Elford to the north-east is post-war, 

whilst the area adjacent to the Tame is the traditional core of the village.  

2.13. Elford has a Conservation Area which was designated on November 1969 and covers 

24.8 ha  It has been proposed by Lichfield District Council to amend the boundary of the 

conservation area to include more of the village, in particular to include the rest of the historic 

buildings within the village and some of the important open spaces. This extension was 

proposed in 2014, yet has still to be enacted but proposals were put forward in 2017. The 

extended area is shown on a map in the appendix. 

2.14. The Parish includes a wealth of non-designated heritage assets, as well as designated 

assets, whose setting will be required to be preserved and enhanced by new development. 

Scattered farmsteads, mainly from the Georgian and Victorian period, are also important 

heritage features of the Parish.  

Employment and Services  

Page 457



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

8 
 

2.15. The economically active proportion of the population (those between 16-74 years old) 

is slightly below that of the District and National levels. Compared to West Midlands and 

England, Elford has a higher proportion of people working within the brackets ‘Manufacturing 

and Professional’ and ‘Scientific and Technical Activities’, whilst a lower proportion of people 

working within the brackets ‘Wholesale’, ‘Education’ and ‘Human Health Activities’. 

2.16. For a village of its size, Elford is well-served in terms of social and community 

infrastructure. It is less well served in terms of commercial services, with some basic services 

missing (including a daily post office, general store, nursery, and GP), which requires residents 

to travel outside the village to access these services. 

2.17. The village is serviced by limited public transport connections, with an hourly/two-hourly 

bus service to Tamworth until early evening.  Return services from Tamworth run only until 

late afternoon. This bus service may not continue, due to the withdrawal of subsidies. There 

are no direct bus services to Lichfield from the village. Elford was formerly served by its own 

railway station to the northeast of the village next to the A513, providing direct services to 

Tamworth and Burton.  The station closed in 1952, but the line remains active as part of the 

mainline between the north-west and Birmingham.  

  

Page 458



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

9 
 

3. Vision and Objectives 

3.1. Visions serve a crucial role in clarifying objectives and focusing projects. Following the first 

community workshop held on 3rd February 2016 with Elford residents, the vision below was 

developed for the Plan. The vision reflects how residents want to see their parish and local 

area develop for the future.  

 

 

“The residents of Elford Parish want their village to become a place that supports a stronger, 

safer and more sustainable community. 

In achieving this, Elford will become better connected, offer a wider range of services for 

residents and visitors, and provide the right housing to support the viability of the community. 

This will be achieved while protecting Elford’s unique character and distinct qualities. This will 

include preserving and enhancing the character of the village’s buildings and streets, and 

protecting the natural features and landscape.” 

 

 

3.2. In order for a vision to be implemented and effective, it must be broken down further into key 

objectives, all seeking to achieve the fulfilment of its different aspects. The ENP has arrived at 

six objectives through engagement with the community. Each ENP policy must contribute to 

at least one of these objectives. These objectives have been tested against the Sustainability 

Objectives of the Lichfield Local Plan to ensure that they support the wider objectives for 

sustainable development in the District (see accompanying Sustainability Appraisal for more 

information).  

  

THE VISION FOR ELFORD  

Page 459



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

10 
 

MAIN OBJECTIVE - A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE FOR ELFORD 

OBJECTIVE 2 – LOCAL SERVICES  

OBJECTIVE 3 – HOUSING PROVISION  

OBJECTIVE 4 – BUILDING DESIGN, LOCAL CHARACTER AND HERITAGE 

OBJECTIVE 6 – MANAGING DEVELOPMENT  

OBJECTIVE 5 – THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT AND RURAL ECONOMY  

3.3. The six objectives are set out below. Apart from the Main Objective – which serves as a 

foundation for all the other objectives – these objectives have no order of priority.  

 

 

To achieve a sustainable future for the village of Elford, with a strong, stable and safe community 

supported by the right services and facilities, living in suitable homes, and enjoying a pleasant and 

attractive local environment. 

 

To preserve the village’s existing services and to provide new ones, in order to improve the quality of 

life enjoyed by existing and future residents. 

 

To ensure that the village’s population is sustainable, by providing the right housing in terms of type 

and tenure to accommodate all ages, needs and lifestyles. 

 

To ensure that any new development achieves a high standard of design, respecting Elford’s 

established character, rural location and heritage assets. 

 

To protect the local natural landscape, to manage and, where possible, reduce flood risk, and to support 

agriculture in the surrounding countryside which does not conflict with the quality of life enjoyed by 

existing and future residents. 

 

To ensure that the quality of life enjoyed by the residents of Elford, and the character of the village and 

surrounding countryside, are protected from new development, including in terms of residential amenity 

and traffic impact. 

  

Page 460



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

11 
 

4. ENP Policy Overview  

4.1. The following table demonstrates how all of the policies set out in the ENP meet the objectives 

set out in Chapter 3. In all cases the policies developed should address at least two of the 

objectives, however, there are some very specific policies designed to deliver the targeted and 

specialist elements of the objectives:  

 

  

 OBJECTIVES TO BE ADDRESSED 

M
a
in

 

O
b

je
c
tiv

e
  

O
b

je
c
tiv

e
 

2
 

O
b

je
c
tiv

e
 

3
 

O
b

je
c
tiv

e
 

4
 

O
b

je
c
tiv

e
 

5
 

O
b

je
c
tiv

e
 

6
 

 
STRATEGIC POLICY 

SP1 Parish Strategic Policy       
 

LOCAL SERVICES AND THE RURAL ECONOMY 

LS1 Encouraging Appropriate Local 
Enterprise  

     
LS2 Community Facilities       
LS3 Support Improvements to Leisure 
Facilities  

     
LS4 Agricultural Activities       
 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT  

HD1 Housing Types Mix      
HD2 Infill Policy      
HD3 Replacement Dwellings       
BUILDING DESIGN, LOCAL CHARACTER AND 

HERITAGE  


DH1 Design of New Development       
DH2 Heritage Assets       
DH3 Design for Streets and Footpaths      
 
THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT  

E1 Renewable Energy Development      
E2 Local Green Space      
E3 Green Infrastructure and Green Links      
E4 Biodiversity       

Page 461



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

12 
 

 

 

 

 

  

MANAGING DEVELOPMENT 


MD1 Parking Standards       
MD2 Sustainable Transport       
MD3 Sustainable Design and Construction       
MD4 Flood Risk Management       
MD5 Traffic       

Page 462



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

13 
 

5. The Planning Policies 

5.1. The core component of a Neighbourhood Plan comprises its planning policies. This part of the 

document has statutory weight, insofar as they will form part of the ‘Development Plan’ for 

Elford. This Development Plan is the collection of planning policies used to determine whether 

a planning application should be approved or refused by the Local Planning Authority (LPA).  

5.2. This chapter sets out the policies for the Plan, which have been placed under six sections 

which represent their common theme. These policies have been written so that they can; 1) 

be used by the local community to understand and support the direction for the development 

of Elford; 2) guide potential developers looking to bring forward development within Elford as 

to what will, or will not, be considered appropriate and acceptable; and 3) serve as a technical 

document for planning officers at Lichfield District Council – who will be using the document to 

make planning decisions.  

5.3. The ‘Aspirations’ for the Plan are also set out in this chapter. Aspirations deal with those 

concerns or desires by residents in the Parish which cannot be made into policies themselves. 

While these aspirations do not hold the same planning weight as the policies, they are still 

important considerations which should be taken into account for future development in the 

village. These aspirations are shown in a lighter colour underneath the policies which they relate 

to. 

  

Page 463



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

14 
 

STRATEGIC POLICY 

5.4. This policy is broad in its scope and represents the Parish’s strategy for delivering sustainable 

development within the Parish. This policy sets the context for Elford Village as being the heart 

of the community. 

 

SP1 – Parish Strategic Policy 

New development in the Parish will be supported within the village settlement boundary as identified on 

the proposals map, subject to other policies within the Neighbourhood Plan. New development should 

be of a scale which respects the character and appearance of the village within the settlement boundary, 

both in terms of quantity and size, and must demonstrate how it meets the local needs of a rural 

community.   

 

Outside the settlement boundary, development will not be supported unless it meets the following 

exceptions;  

 Appropriate agricultural development, in conformity with those developments outlined in 

policy LS4 (Agricultural Activities) of this plan  

 Development for rural exception sites which accords with Local Plan Policy H2 

Explanatory 

5.5. The community and Parish Council of Elford are in support of limited new development which 

will support its future vitality and viability and bring forward new housing to meet the needs of 

the village. The policy addresses development in a wider sense. In the context of the 

neighbourhood area housing, commercial, community facilities and agricultural developments 

will generate a significant proportion of planning applications. The Plan includes specific 

policies on these matters. There is a desire from the residents to ensure that the village 

remains socially, economically and environmentally sustainable both now and in the future.  

5.6. The Neighbourhood Plan recognises that the village has a distinct character which would be 

undermined by disproportionate or inappropriate new development. The NDP also recognises 

that development should be focussed within the village settlement boundary or adjacent to it 

where it can make the most of its opportunities and benefits. Where possible, some of the 

Page 464



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

15 
 

development within the village will be delivered as infill (see Policy HD2 – Infill Policy for further 

details).  

5.7. Development in the countryside, not in accordance with this Plan, is typically seen as 

unsustainable, both at National and Local level and would be detrimental to the strategic 

structure of the Parish with the Village being is centre. This type of development therefore is 

discouraged by the NDP. 

5.8. Agricultural activities are important to the local economy of the Parish and contribute to its rural 

characteristics. The NDP therefore supports appropriate agricultural development in the Parish 

in appropriate locations and which are in conformity with Policy LS4 of this plan.  

  

Page 465



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

16 
 

LOCAL SERVICES AND THE RURAL ECONOMY  

5.9. The policies in this section of the Plan are designed to complement the wider policies contained 

within the ENP by ensuring that community infrastructure (the Church, School etc.) are 

supported and enhanced by the Plan. 

5.10. The community recognises the requirement for accommodating small businesses in 

the Parish and the importance that this has in maintaining the wider economic stability of the 

Parish. These polices encourage new, appropriate enterprise and business in the Parish whilst 

seeking to protect and promote controlled growth for the existing enterprises and businesses.  

5.11. Rural activities play a large part in the economic activity of the Parish. The policies in 

this section and wider throughout the Plan seek to promote the sustainable growth of the rural 

economy in the Parish through encouraging appropriate rural activities throughout the Parish, 

which do not have a negative impact on the amenities of its residents, the landscape setting 

of the Parish, environmental factors or heritage assets. 

LS1 - Encouraging Appropriate Local Enterprise  

Proposals which reflect the character of the neighbourhood area and would result in new economic 

development and enterprise will be supported. 

Applications for the expansion and diversification of existing businesses and enterprises will be 

supported, subject to compliance with other Development Plan policies.  

In all cases, applications for new or expanded employment and economic development must 

demonstrate;  

 They do not have unacceptable impacts on traffic flows through the village and meet the 

criteria set out in Policy MD5 (Traffic) 

  Parking spaces are provided to development plan standards for the proposal concerned 

to avoid on street / off-site parking   

 They are in keeping with the rural character of established businesses and enterprises 

in the Parish, both in terms of type, size and scale 

 They do not have an unacceptable impact on the natural environment in terms of impact 

on green infrastructure, green links or loss of biodiversity (in conformity with policies E3, 

E4 and E5)   

 They do not unacceptably impact upon community amenities of the Parish through noise, 

odour, chemical, or visual effects.  

 

Page 466



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

17 
 

Explanatory 

5.12. For the economic health of the Parish to remain sustainable, the Plan encourages the 

growth of business and enterprise, particularly in line with the growth in housing, so that the 

village does not become solely a commuter village. Having strong business and enterprises 

within the Parish also makes the village a more attractive and viable place to live.  

5.13. It is important that economic development does not undermine the objectives and goals 

of the other policies in the Plan and therefore some criteria within this policy has been 

developed to ensure that this is not the case. 

  

LS2 - Community Facilities 

The Neighbourhood Plan will support the retention of businesses, enterprise and retail units in the 

village. Where planning permission is required, the Neighbourhood Plan will not support the change of 

use of these to residential use unless an appropriate alternative community facility is provided as part 

of the proposed development.  

New Development proposals which result in the loss of named facilities (below) in the village will only 

be supported where they demonstrate that they will provide an equal or better facility within an 

appropriate location within the village in compensation.  

 The Crown Pub 

 Howard Primary School 

 St Peter’s Church and The Avenue 

 Village Hall 

 Social Club, 

 Cricket Ground 

 Sports Field 

 Playground 

 Walled Garden and its associated surroundings 

Proposals which will make improvements to the community facilities listed in this policy will be 

supported.  

 

 

Page 467



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

18 
 

Explanatory  

5.14. The community has identified a need to retain certain named facilities within the village 

and prevent them from being converted to residential, so that the vital functions of these 

facilities for the village are maintained.  

5.15. Retaining key community facilities will benefit the long term economic and social 

sustainability of the village. The third paragraph of the policy offers support for the improvement 

or enhancement of existing community facilities. In some cases, this may come about wholly 

or partly as a result of developer contributions. See also list of projects within the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) list within the appendix, which relative contributions could also be 

delivered towards.  

5.16. These facilities are also important in the value to the character of the village that they 

provide.  

 

LS3 – Support Improvements to Leisure Facilities  

Where planning permission is required, development which provides for improvements to existing 

sports, recreational and leisure facilities in the Parish will be supported.  

Proposals for new sporting and leisure facilities, recreational spaces and footpaths will be supported 

where they are accessible for all ages by means of walking or cycling.  

Explanatory  

5.17. Presently, the Parish has limited leisure facilities, which is typical of small rural villages 

where funding is not as great as for towns. However, the community wishes to support the 

implementation of new facilities within the village where they will benefit both the people of the 

Parish and the wider community. The Parish Council acknowledges that new leisure facilities 

may come forward as part of a wider funding mechanism which may involve the Parish’s local 

element of the Lichfield Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Appendix D lists a series of 

facilities which the Parish Council considers may be appropriate for the application of its 

element of the CIL towards future projects. Plainly the list may change over time. 

5.18. As there are is a high proportion of elderly residents in the village, access to these 

facilities is important to consider. Walking and cycling access should be made available so as 

to promote sustainable means to access the facilities, as well as to reduce parking 

requirements on the site.  

 

Page 468



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

19 
 

 

LS4 - Agricultural Activities  

Insofar as planning permission is required the Plan will support traditional agricultural activities (such 

as cultivation of crops, orchards, raising of livestock, and pasture lands) that do not cause excessive 

environmental nuisances and which are considered appropriate to the character of Elford. 

Inappropriate agricultural activities and development will not be supported. These include; 

 Those which would unacceptably increase the number of vehicles travelling through the 

village along roads identified as having transport issues in Policy MD5 (Traffic) of this 

plan 

 Those which cause unacceptable environmental harm 

 Those which impact unacceptably on the key views in the Parish (identified on the 

Proposals Map), or on the visual amenities of Parish residents 

Explanatory 

5.19. The rural characteristics of the Parish makes the use of the land for agricultural 

purposes a sustainable and viable option for development. However, residents have 

expressed that they wish to avoid seeing an intensification of agricultural activities which would 

negatively impact upon the amenities of their lives in the Parish. Therefore the Neighbourhood 

Plan resists these forms of agricultural development. Policy LS4 acknowledges that many 

aspects of agricultural development are permitted development and therefore beyond planning 

control. On this basis the policy only applies to agricultural development which requires 

planning permission. 

5.20. Certain agricultural activities can bring with them unwanted environmental nuisances 

such as noise and odour. The community has expressed a desire to discourage activities which 

cause these nuisances so that the quality of life for its residents remains at a high level. In 

addition, the community also has expressed a concern over the number and size of vehicles 

that presently pass through the village from some agricultural sites in the Parish.  These can 

create traffic issues and hazardous situations, particularly along narrower roads.  

5.21. Therefore, the Plan seeks to discourage excessive vehicular travel through the village 

by resisting those agricultural developments which would exacerbate this.  

  

Page 469



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

20 
 

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 

5.22. This section of the ENP provides a localised interpretation of the approach set out by 

LDC with regard to matters of housing in their Local Plan. The community recognises the 

importance of accommodating some housing within the Parish over the Plan period which will 

support the overall vitality, viability and sustainability of the Parish. The policies in this section 

address housing within and adjacent to the settlement boundary of the village. 

5.23. Extensive work has been undertaken in developing a housing strategy for Elford. 

Following the initial Residents Survey, a Housing Survey was undertaken that specifically 

targeted how housing should be addressed in the Parish. Polices in this section reflect the 

analysis from both surveys.   

 

HD1 – Housing Types Mix  

The Neighbourhood Plan will support development proposals which deliver housing mixes that meet 

the needs of the community and contribute to the diversification of the Parish’s housing stock, subject 

to other policies in the Plan.  

 Subject to viability and deliverability considerations proposals which deliver some or all 

of the following house types will be particularly supported: Properties specifically 

designed for older persons that meet enhanced building regulations Part M, including 

bungalows 

 Properties suitable for first time buyers 

 Smaller family homes  

Explanatory 

5.24. The housing mix in this policy is based on the following factors; 

  Demographically, the Parish has an elderly population, many of which live in larger 3-5 

bedroom properties and are now looking to downsize into smaller 1-2 bedroom houses 

and bungalows. 

 The housing market demonstrates an under occupancy of the current homes in the 

village, which indicates a lack of suitably sized homes for the current residents, hence 

smaller properties are required for residents to downsize. 

Page 470



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

21 
 

 There is a desire by the community to see more young families in the village that would 

help to support a vibrant and sustainable community. There is therefore a need for first-

time buyers and for smaller family homes.  

HD2 – Infill Policy  

In locating new residential schemes, development on infill sites located within the settlement boundary 

will be supported, providing it does not conflict with other policies within the Plan.  

All new development on infill sites (including conversions) should; 

 Be an appropriate size and scale to the existing development either side of the infill site 

 Be of similar density to the existing development either side of the infill site 

 Where appropriate, demonstrate that vehicular traffic generated by the site will not cause 

negative impacts on the existing road network in the Parish; and 

 Not result in the loss of open space within the Parish 

Explanatory 

5.25. The Plan supports limited infill development within the village settlement boundary, in 

order to bolster Elford’s housing stock and make use of vacant sites within the settlement 

boundary rather than committing excessive development outside of it in unsustainable 

locations.  

5.26. Infill development within the village is subject to other policies within the Plan in order 

to ensure that new properties amalgamate themselves appropriately with the existing street 

scene and character of Elford’s built up areas.  

 

HD3 Replacement Dwellings 

Proposals for replacement dwellings within the Parish will be supported, subject to the following criteria; 

 The proposals respect and reflect existing properties in their immediate locality in terms 

of scale, size, materials used and their appearance; and 

 The proposals do not result in a loss of amenities for other properties in the Parish 

Proposals for the replacement of heritage assets in the neighbourhood area with replacement dwellings 

will not be supported. 

Page 471



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

22 
 

 

Explanatory  

5.27. The Neighbourhood Plan supports proposals for replacement of dwellings within the 

Parish. However, proposals must be considerate of the character and setting of the Parish in 

order to avoid a loss of quality homes. Proposals for modern housing designs will be supported 

where they reflect the character and appearance of existing properties in their immediate 

vicinity. 

5.28. The community has expressed a desire to discourage homes being demolished and 

replaced by multiple dwellings on the same site, as this could create disproportionate housing 

densities that impinge on the existing street scenes of the village, as well as reducing amenities 

for existing residents. This is a matter that can be addressed on a case-by-case basis by 

Lichfield District Council. The majority of the built-up part of the village is contained within the 

Elford Conservation Area. The District Council has already prepared a Conservation Area 

Appraisal and Management Plan and this guidance will assist in the decision-making process. 

The existing housing density should be respected in the parish as it helps to define its rural 

character. 

5.29. Historic buildings in the Parish are an important part of its identity (see list of heritage 

assets in the Appendix of this Plan), and therefore should be protected from being replaced. 

This applies across the parish, particularly within the Conservation Area. 

 

  

Page 472



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

23 
 

BUILDING DESIGN, LOCAL CHARACTER AND HERITAGE 

5.30. Elford contains a number of designated heritage assets including 28 listed structures, 

a conservation area and a scheduled ancient monument as well as a number of non-

designated heritage assets. The following polices seek to achieve this through both protecting 

and preserving existing assets and character but also by promoting high quality design in any 

new development.  

 

DH1 – Design of New Development  

All new developments should be of high quality in design and use of materials and respond positively 

to the surrounding built character and natural landscape.  

The following design features should be taken into account by all new developments; 

 New developments must demonstrate that they have considered the locally distinctive 

character of the built environment and be of appropriate scale, mass, design detail, and 

use materials that respond sensitively to those used in the local area 

 New developments which are situated within or may impact on the Conservation Area in 

Elford must seek to preserve or enhance its character or appearance 

 New developments should incorporate modern energy efficient materials, methods and 

technologies 

 New development must not create excessive additional or unnecessary light pollution in 

the form of external lighting and flood lighting  

Explanatory 

5.31. By requiring new development to comply with specific design criteria, it can be ensured 

that new development or alterations to existing properties add to, rather than detract from, the 

unique local character of the Parish. The community has considered it important that ensuring 

high quality design within the Parish should be a key aim of the NDP. 

5.32. The NDP will look favourably on new developments and alterations to existing 

properties which utilise good design and contribute to the protection and enhancement of the 

local character of the Parish. Lichfield Council’s Sustainable Design SPD offers a 

comprehensive resource to guide in the design of new development and should be considered 

in all new developments in the parish.  

Page 473



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

24 
 

5.33. Elford’s Conservation Area was designated in November 1969 and was extended in 

February 1972 to cover the Cricket Ground.  The community regards the Conservation Area 

and the listed buildings within it as important aspects of the village that promote its 

attractiveness and historic character, and therefore new developments within and affecting 

these should follow careful design criteria. The Plan recognises the remarks raised in the Elford 

Conservation Area and Management Plan (2014). There are current proposals to extend the 

boundary of the conservation area. In the event that its boundary is amended the relevant 

policies in this Plan in general, and Policies DH1 and DH2 in particular, will apply to that 

amended area. 

5.34. In order to support the community’s commitment to preserving and retaining the dark 

skies surrounding the village, new development must be respective of the amount of additional 

light pollution that they introduce.  

 

DH2 – Heritage Assets  

All new development should take account of its impact on identified heritage assets, both designated 

and non-designated, seeking to protect and where appropriate, enhance them (see Appendix for further 

details of these assets). Development schemes which demonstrate how they have positively addressed 

these heritage assets will be supported.  

New development should be sensitive to the character, fabric and setting of these identified heritage 

assets (including the Conservation Area) and listed buildings within the plan area.  

New development should also demonstrate where appropriate that it has taken into account the historic 

landscape pattern and potential below ground archaeology on the proposed site, by provision of a 

detailed assessment of the site’s archaeology 

Proposals for development at any farmstead should demonstrate that it has taken account of its historic 

context and landscape setting.  

Explanatory  

5.35. Elford’s heritage assets, such as the listed buildings within the Conservation Area and 

those non-designated buildings that have been locally identified, are considered important to 

defining the distinct local character of the Parish and therefore are protected in this policy. 

5.36. The community is supportive of new developments which would seek to preserve or 

enhance these heritage assets.  

Page 474



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

25 
 

5.37. Archaeological assets are a material consideration within the planning system and are 

referred to in Chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework and therefore have been 

considered in this policy. 

5.38. Farmsteads in the Parish are an important part of its heritage and contribute to the rural 

character of the Parish. The community therefore wish for these to be offered protection 

through the Neighbourhood Plan to ensure that inappropriate development doesn’t occurs on 

such sites. The fourth paragraph of Policy DH2 addresses this important matter in the context 

of the neighbourhood area. Any such planning applications will be expected to take account 

of the Staffordshire Farmsteads Assessment Framework (produced by Staffordshire County 

Council and English Heritage) and the associated Character Statement work’. The SCC 

Farmsteads Guidance sets out guidelines to aid applicants in understanding, respecting and 

enhancing the character of the site and its place within its wider landscape, and therefore is 

an important document to consider alongside this policy.  

 

  

Page 475



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

26 
 

DH3 - Design for Streets and Footpaths  

New development schemes that enhance the quality of the public realm beyond the site will be 

supported, subject to other policies of the Development Plan.  

Where appropriate, new development schemes should ensure that the following criteria are met;  

 Schemes do not negatively impact on public realm, including footpaths 

 The division between public and private realm is clearly demonstrated; and  

 The scheme promotes safe and secure key routes to the village 

Explanatory 

5.39. The Plan supports public realm improvements within the village in order to improve 

Elford’s public space in terms of its accessibility, visual appearance, functionality and safety. 

Public rights of way can form a key part in promoting health and wellbeing in the parish and 

the sustainability of the community. 

5.40. Pavements within the village are considered unsafe and narrow in places, and 

improvements to these are sought for by residents of the village to make them more accessible 

for all users, including children and the disabled, which will also help meet the sustainability 

aspirations of the vision and objectives of the Pan. 

  

Page 476



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

27 
 

THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT  

5.41. The community recognises the importance that the natural environment plays in 

defining the character of the Parish, due to the close interaction between built areas and the 

wider countryside. The community values the open and green spaces within the village that 

provide opportunities for recreation and enjoyment. The ENP seeks to protect and enhance 

the Parish’s natural assets and green space through the following policies, whilst encouraging 

new development to incorporate green spaces within their sites.  

5.42. The community recognises the sustainable benefits of renewable energy and wish to 

encourage appropriate schemes within the Parish.  

 

E1 - Renewable Energy Development 

 Proposals for renewable energy schemes will be supported where they respect the 

character and appearance of the neighbourhood area and where they do not generate 

unacceptable harm to the following matters: The amenities of neighbouring or nearby 

properties  

 The local landscape and setting of the Parish 

 Wildlife considerations  

 Heritage considerations 

Explanatory 

5.43. The community support the development of appropriate renewable energy schemes 

within the village which do not negatively impact on the amenities of its residents.  

5.44. Renewable energy generation is an important method in improving the self-

sustainability of small villages as there is less reliance on connections to the wider power 

network. Renewable energy also contributes to the village’s environmental and economic 

sustainability objectives.  

  

Page 477



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

28 
 

E2 - Local Green Space 

The following areas as shown on the Proposals Map are designated as Local Green Spaces. : 

 Giants Garden 

 Walled Garden and associated adjacent land 

 St Peter’s Church grounds 

 The Avenue 

 Cricket Ground 

 Sports Field 

 Elford Jubilee Memorial Playground 

 Land between the Shrubbery and the river Tame (locally known as the picnic area) 

  

New development will not be supported on land designated as local green space except in very special 

circumstances. 

Explanatory 

5.46. The community wish to designate certain sites around the village as LGS due to their 

local importance and contribution to the Parish in a number of ways. The sites in the policy 

have been chosen based on information in the Elford Conservation Area Appraisal and 

Management Plan, as well as discussions in Steering Group meetings.  

5.47. These LGS sites have been assessed against the criteria for LGS as set out under 

paragraph 77 of the NPPF. This assessment demonstrated that these proposed LGS sites 

fulfil the requirements of the criteria in the NPPF, which are as follows;  

 Where the green space is in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves 

 Where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular 

local significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational 

value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness in wildlife; and  

 Where the green area concerned is local in character and is not an extensive tract of 

land  

Page 478



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

29 
 

5.48. The assessment table which details how these sites meet these criteria can be found 

in Appendix 2 of this document.  

5.49. The application for 25 new dwellings approved in March 2018 at land of the Shrubbery, 

is built on a piece of land that is identified under Policy C9 of the Lichfield Local Plan as 

Protected open Space. It was intended that this be upgraded to Local Green Space status, 

however, the granting of planning permission now does not allow this to take place. The outline 

permission does identify a large area of open space in the core of the scheme which will be of 

greater public benefit (one of the reasons for approval of the scheme). Once this scheme is 

developed, the Neighbourhood Plan is intended to be reviewed to include this new spaces an 

LGS as it will undoubtedly meet all the required tests. 

 

E3 - Green Infrastructure Network and Green Links 

New development adjacent to existing footpaths and rights of way should take account of its setting by 

avoiding negative impacts on safety, visual appearance, surveillance and functionality of these routes. 

New development which seeks to protect and enhance existing footpaths and green links will supported. 

New developments should incorporate new green infrastructure into their designs, such as hedgerows, 

trees, historic field patterns and green spaces, and where possible ensure that they link to the wider 

green infrastructure network of the Parish and to key pedestrian routes to create green links. 

Explanatory  

5.50. The key components of a green infrastructure network are hedgerows, trees, historic 

field patterns and green spaces. Green infrastructure considerations such as these, allow for 

the abundance of wildlife that is currently seen in the parish to travel around effectively, as 

wildlife in the built environment in the village is able to interact with that of the wider parish, 

and vice versa.  

5.51. This policy seeks therefore to protect this network but also enhance it through seeking 

schemes which link and reinforce the linkages between separate elements of the network. 

5.52. This policy also promotes green links around the Parish which support the movement 

of local wildlife between new and existing wildlife habitats. 

 

 

 

Page 479



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

30 
 

E4 - Biodiversity 

New development schemes should consider their impacts on the biodiversity of Elford, seeking to 

maintain or improve current levels through retaining and enhancing existing hedgerows, trees and water 

bodies within the Parish.  

New developments which impact on biodiversity must demonstrate how they have incorporated 

effective mitigation measures to reduce such impacts.  

Where a loss of biodiversity cannot be avoided, schemes must provide means to bolster an equivalent 

in appropriate locations within the site. 

Explanatory 

5.53. Elford, being a rural Parish, has a strong connectivity between its urban areas and the 

surrounding countryside in terms the interaction between the two. This policy promotes 

biodiversity in the Parish and ensures that new developments do not detrimentally impact on 

the quality and quantity of wildlife in the Parish. New developments can assist by increasing 

and enhancing features such as bat boxes or appropriate native planted tree and hedgerow 

boundaries.  

  

Page 480



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

31 
 

MANAGING DEVELOPMENT 

5.54. The policies in this section seek to ensure that new development is carried out with 

appropriate considerations for sustainability, including matters such as transport, parking, 

material use and design. 

 

MD1 - Parking Standards  

 New residential development should provide on-site car parking facilities to meet the following minimum 

requirements: 

 1 Bed Dwellings: 1 space  

 2/3 Bed Dwellings: 2 space  

 4+ Bed Dwellings: 3 space 

All other new development should provide on-site car parking facilities to meet the minimum 

requirements in the Lichfield District Council Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document 

December 2015.  

Explanatory  

5.55. Elford is typical of small historic villages within England in that it exhibits a number of 

narrow rural lanes and many existing properties were constructed without sufficient off-street 

parking, if any.  

5.56. It is unreasonable to expect people living and working in Elford not to use private 

vehicles to access facilities, services and places of work elsewhere beyond the Parish, and 

therefore new development must recognise the need for parking within the Parish. 

5.57. By setting clear and sensible on-plot targets for new developments within the Parish, it 

is hoped that further exacerbation of these issues can be mitigated.  

 

MD2 - Sustainable Transport  

 New developments will be supported where they: 

 encourage accessibility to and from the development and the village and promote a 

modal shift towards public transport, cycling and walking; and 

 include walking and cycling links in their design.  

Page 481



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

32 
 

Aspiration 

Proposals that support the enhancement of Elford’s bus service will be supported subject to careful 

consideration of the criteria stated in policy MD5 (Traffic). 

Explanatory 

5.58. The NDP encourages the use of sustainable transport methods in order to reduce the 

number of vehicles using the road network, promote healthier lifestyles, and improve air quality 

in the Parish. Policy MD2 also seeks to reduce the reliance on private vehicles. This in turn 

would reduce the need for additional vehicles on residents’ properties. Walking/cycling links 

will normally be included in the design of all new developments. 

5.59. New developments will be supported where they to include means for sustainable 

transport, such as cycleways and footpaths in order to encourage these travel modes and thus 

contribute to the Plan’s sustainability objectives. This policy has been designed to consolidate 

and clarify the spatial strategy of the Plan as set out in Policy SP1. In particular it would also 

relate to Policy HD1 and HD2 insofar as housing development is concerned’. 

 

MD3 - Sustainable Design and Construction  

New developments within Elford should embrace modern techniques in their design and construction, 

whilst respecting the local character.  

Schemes that incorporate elements to reduce their carbon footprint (through use of materials or 

renewable technologies) will be supported, subject to other policies in the Development Plan. 

Explanatory 

5.60. The community recognises that modern techniques in construction and design promote 

homes and new development which are better suited to modern day living and energy savings. 

Sustainable designs are encouraged by the ENP and applications which embrace these 

concepts into their schemes will be looked on favourably by the Plan.  

5.61. Renewable energy and technologies promote healthier lifestyles and reduce the 

carbon footprint of developments. The Plan supports those proposals which embrace these in 

their designs.  

 

 

 

Page 482



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

33 
 

 

MD4 - Flood Risk Management 

All development, where appropriate, should demonstrate that they do not increase flood risk within and 

adjacent to the Parish, through utilising best practice design and construction techniques/materials. 

Schemes which demonstrate an improvement in the overall levels of surface water runoff in the village 

will be supported.  

Proposals for new development should consider future flood risk and, where appropriate, include 

measures that mitigate and adapt to the anticipated impacts of climate change. 

New developments should avoid the removal of hedgerows in the Parish. Where this is unavoidable, a 

replacement hedgerow of the same length or greater and of native species should be provided on the 

site.  

Where feasible, opportunities to open up culverted watercourses should be sought to reduce the 

associated flood risk and danger of collapse whilst taking advantage of opportunities to enhance 

biodiversity and green infrastructure. The culverting of open watercourses will not be supported. 

New development will not be supported within Flood Zone 3 areas in accordance with national policy. 

New developments within Flood Zone 2 areas should demonstrate appropriate flood prevention 

methods in their schemes, such as the incorporation of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). 

Explanatory  

5.62. Flood Zones ranked 1, 2 and 3 are present within the Parish. Most of the village is 

located in Flood Zone 2. The community do not wish to exacerbate the issue of flooding in the 

Parish and wish to ensure that new development takes appropriate measures.  

5.63. Planning applications for development within the Neighbourhood Plan area must 

therefore be accompanied by site-specific flood risk assessments in line with the requirements 

of national planning policy and advice. This includes new development outside of the flood risk 

zones, as there is potential for increased surface run-off to impact on surrounding areas. In 

addition, the Plan does not support any development which would be proposed within the 

highest risk areas (Flood Zone 3), in line with national policy.  

5.64. The high risk flood areas are typically close to the River Tame, which borders part of 

the southern boundary to the Parish. There are a number of residential properties which are 

situated along this southern boundary in close proximity to the river, which have voiced 

concerns over possible flooding issues. In line with national policy, all new development should 

be directed away from those areas at highest flood risk, i.e. towards Flood Zone 1. 

Page 483



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

34 
 

5.65. Applications should take account of the latest climate change allowances. 

Consideration should also be given to the impact of new development on both existing and 

future flood risk. Where appropriate, development should include measures that mitigate and 

adapt to climate change. 

5.66. Hedgerow removal is a key threat to the wider landscape in the Parish, especially in 

the floodplain where land drains alongside hedgerows act as important natural drainage 

systems. Decline in hedgerows due to agricultural intensification and loss of stock control 

function within the Lowland Village Farmlands character type is also a threat to the landscape 

of the Parish.  

 

MD5 - Traffic  

All new applications, other than householder proposals, should demonstrate that they consider their 

wider impact on traffic in the Parish, and demonstrate that these impacts will not unacceptably impact 

on the residents of the Parish. Development proposals which include improvements to road safety and 

encourage walking, cycling or the use of public transport will be supported.  

New developments should not cause unacceptable impacts on traffic levels within the Parish, 

specifically at key junctions and identified pinch points (such as along Church Road and Brickhouse 

Lane corner), as identified on the proposals map.  

Development proposals should demonstrate safe and convenient access to and from the proposed 

development. 

  

Page 484



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

35 
 

Proposals that may cause a unacceptable increase to vehicular traffic through the village will be 

resisted. These roads (listed below) are identified on the Proposals Map. The issues with these roads 

should be considered equally when considering the impacts that planning proposals may have on them.  

 The Beck 

 Church Road 

 Brickhouse Lane 

 The Shrubbery 

 The Square 

Explanatory  

5.67. There is a strong desire by the community to tackle the issue of traffic within the village. 

Several key problematic junctions and pinch points have been identified, which are the focus 

of the policy. The ENP does not support development which would significantly exacerbate the 

issues at these identified infrastructure points.  

5.68. Residents do not wish to see excessive vehicle traffic from new developments travelling 

through the village due to safety and practical aspects of using narrow roads or those roads 

where roadside parking is common. 

5.69. The Plan would support developments which would provide contributions towards 

improving traffic issues at the identified junctions and pinch points within the Parish, in 

accordance with other policies in the Plan. 

  

Page 485



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

36 
 

6. Monitoring and Review  

Monitoring  

6.1. The Neighbourhood Plan, once made, will form part of the Development Plan for Lichfield 

District, and will be subject to the Council’s Local Plan Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) 

regime. The AMR provides many of the monitoring and review mechanisms relevant to 

Neighbourhood Plan policies, as they sit within the wider Strategic Policies of the Local Plan, 

including matters of housing and employment delivery.   

6.2. Consequently, it is considered that the existing monitoring arrangements for the strategic 

policies of the Local Plan: Part 1 - and any developed as part of Part 2 – will be sufficient for 

most of the Neighbourhood Plan policies.   

6.3. It may be necessary to monitor separately a number of other specific indicators, which should 

be conducted in partnership with the Council and the Parish Council once every 2 years. These 

indicators will establish whether the policies are having the desired outcomes and will highlight 

policies requiring immediate or timely review to align them with their original purpose. 

6.4. Subsequently, key indicators from approved planning applications and relevant policies 

(although other policies in the plan should also be taken into account) covering applications 

only within Elford relating to the Neighbourhood Plan are: 

 Development proposals submitted and/or permitted on sites designated as Local Green 

Spaces and their outcome (Policy E2) 

 The Design of new developments, as per policy DH1  

 Location and placement of heritage assets in the parish (in policy DH2 and the appendix 

list) and the impact that new development would have on this  

Review 

6.5. The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared to guide development up to 2029.  This is in line 

with the Local Plan: Part 1 for Lichfield District Council – the document which provides the 

strategic context for the Neighbourhood Plan. It is unlikely that the Neighbourhood Plan will 

remain current and completely relevant for the entire Plan period and may, in whole or in part, 

require some amendments before 2029.  

6.6. There are a number of circumstances under which a partial review of the Plan may be 

necessary.  These may include revision of the following existing local planning documents or 

in the event that the monitoring of the policies listed under para 6.4 are not adequately 

addressing the objectives set for the Plan. In all cases, the Parish Council and its partners 

Page 486



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

37 
 

should consider undertaking a partial review of the Neighbourhood Plan in five to six years 

from adoption (around 2022-23) and then a full review should be no later than 2026. 

6.7. In addition, it has been highlighted that the development of the site at the Shrubbery will result 

in a new public open space being created in the heart of the land formerly identified as 

Protected Open Space. As a result, once complete a review of the LGS policy would need to 

be undertaken to include this space in accordance with the community’s aspiration. 

  

Page 487



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

38 
 

7. Glossary 

Term Definition 

Affordable Housing Affordable housing is sub-divided into three distinct types of housing: 

 Social Rented 

 Affordable Rented; and 

 Intermediate Housing 

Affordable Housing: Social Rented, Affordable Rented and Intermediate housing 

which is provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market 

and which will remain affordable unless the subsidy is recycled for alternative 

affordable housing provision. 

Affordable Rented Housing: Housing which meets the Housing Corporation’s 

Design and Quality Standards (or replacement standards) and which is let by a 

Registered Provider of Social Housing to a person allocated that Dwelling in 

accordance with the Council’s Allocation Scheme at a controlled rent of no more 

than 80% of the local market rent. 

Intermediate Housing: Discounted Sale housing and Shared Ownership housing. 

Social Rented Housing: Housing which meets the Housing Corporation’s Design 

and Quality Standards (or replacement standards) and which is let by a 

Registered Provided of Social Housing to a person allocated that dwelling in 

accordance with the Council’s Allocation Scheme at a rent determined through the 

national rent regime (Rent Influencing Regime guidance). 

Development Development is defined in planning terms under the 1990 Town and Country 

Planning Act. Broadly, it is considered to be ‘the carrying out of building, 

engineering, mining or other operation in, on, over or under land, or the making of 

any material change in the use of any building or other land’. Most, but not all, 

forms of development require planning permission. 

Development Plan A Development Plan is a document which details the overall strategy of the 

council for the proper planning and sustainable development of an area and 

generally consists of a written statement and accompanying maps. The Plan 

usually includes the broad aims of the council for specific topics, e.g. housing, 

infrastructure, community facilities which are reinforced by more detailed policies 

and objectives. A Neighbourhood Plan is statutorily part of the Development Plan 

and is used to determine planning decisions within the relevant area. 

Green Infrastructure Green infrastructure is a phrase used to describe all green and blue spaces in and 

around our towns and cities. The term allows us to refer to – and consider the 

collective value of – all of these spaces at once. Component elements of green 

infrastructure include parks, private gardens, agricultural fields, hedges, trees, 

Page 488



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

39 
 

woodland, green roofs, green walls, rivers and ponds. The term covers all land 

containing these features, regardless of its ownership, condition or size. 

Heritage Assets A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree 

of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its 

heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated heritage assets and assets 

identified by the local planning authority (including local listing). 

Infill Development Use of land located within a built-up area that is currently not developed on for 

further construction, especially as part of a community redevelopment or growth 

management program. 

Infrastructure The term infrastructure refers to the basic physical and organization of structures 

and facilities needed for the operation of a society or community. 

Local Green Space The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduced a new concept of a 

Local Green Space designation. This is a discretionary designation to be made by 

inclusion within a local development framework or neighbourhood development 

plan. 

The designation should only be used where the land is not extensive, is local in 

character and reasonably close to the community; and, where it is demonstrably 

special, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value 

(including as a playing field), tranquility or richness of its wildlife (NPPF Paragraph 

77). 

Policies within the local development plan or neighbourhood development plan for 

managing development within a Local Green Space should be consistent with the 

policies protecting green belts within the NPPF (NPPF Paragraph 78). (English 

Heritage) 

Local Plan The Local Plan expresses the vision, objectives, overall planning strategy, and 

policies for implementing these, for the whole District. It is the policy against which 

development requiring planning consent in local authorities is determined. 

Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) 

A local planning authority is the local authority of council that is empowered by law 

to exercise statutory town planning functions for a particular area. 

Localism Act The Localism Act (2011) was a feature introduced by central government 

containing a number of proposals to give local authorities new freedoms and 

flexibility. Devolving power from local government to the community level. 

Page 489



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

40 
 

National Planning 

Policy Framework 

(NPPF) 

Guidance provided from central government for local planning authorities and 

decision-takers, on drawing up plans and making decisions about planning 

applications. 

Neighbourhood 

(Development) Plans 

A Plan prepared by a Parish Council or Neighbourhood Forum for a particular 

neighbourhood area (made under the Planning and Compulsory Act 2044) which 

sets out specific planning policies for the Parish which are the primary policies for 

determining planning applications within that Parish. 

Public Realm The space between buildings comprising the highways land, footpaths and 

verges. 

Recreation Recreation includes a many different activities, as a result a concise definition is 

difficult to establish. For the purposes of this Neighbourhood Plan, recreation can 

include but is not restricted to the following types of activity; spending time 

outdoors, informal games and play, walking and cycling, sporting activities. 

Street scene Elements which comprise the street environment, including roadways, pavements, 

street furniture etc. 

Sustainable 

Development 

The Bruntland Report provides the accepted definition of sustainable development 

as ‘Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the 

ability of future generations to meet their own needs’ (WCED, 1987). The principle 

of sustainable development may be broadly described as encompassing social, 

environmental and economic issues, and also entailing concern with intra-

generational and inter-generational themes. 

Sustainable Urban 

Drainage (SUDs) 

A series of processes and design features to drain away surface water in a 

sustainable manner. 

 

  

Page 490



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

41 
 

8. Appendix 

A. Proposals Map 

B. Local Green Space Assessment Table 

C. Listed Buildings 

D. List of projects for Community Infrastructure Levy  

E. Conservation Area – map of original boundary and proposed new boundary 

 

  

Page 491



PROPOSALS MAP 
 

6 

 
 

5 

 

3 
2  

1  4 

7  

 

 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 

8 

Local Green Space Key 

 
1 - Giants Garden 

2 - Walled Garden 

3 - St. Peters Church Grounds 

4 - The Avenue 

5 - Cricket Ground 

6 - Sports Field 

7 - Jubilee Memorial Playground 

8 - Land between The 

Shrubbery and the Tame 

LEGEND 

 
Settlement boundary 

River Tame 

Community Facilities 

Registered Listed Buildings 

 
Local Green Spaces   

 

Narrow Roads 

 
Congested due to parked cars 

A513 

Village core 
 

Residential areas 

P
age 492



 
 

 

 

Site 

Number 

 

 

Name of site 

 

 

Criteria 1: Reasonable 

distance 

Criteria 2: Special Character  

Criteria 3: 

Not being extensive 

tracts of land. 

 

 

Fulfilling LGS Criteria 

 
Beauty 

 
Historic significance 

 
Recreational value 

 
Tranquility 

 
Rich in wildlife 

 

 

 

1 

 
 

Giants Garden 

 

yes 

Yes, this is an attractive public garden 

which also forms part of the historic 

Walled Garden 

 
Yes, adjoins forms part of the historic 

Walled Garden 

Yes, the garden is visited and walked 

through by residents as well as visitors to 

the village 

Yes, the garden is on the edge of the village 

facing out to the countryside and therefore 

in a quiet location 

 
Yes, the many plants and flowers attracts 

insects and animals 

 

Yes 

 
 

Yes 

 

 

 

2 

 
 

Walled Garden 

 
 

Yes 

 
Yes, the Walled Garden contains many 

attractively planted beds 

 
Yes, the wall around the Walled Garden 

is Grade ll listed 

Yes, the Walled Garden is used for a 

variety of activities by residents and 

visitors and is walked around 

Yes, the garden is on edge of the village 

and the wall encloses the botanical beds 

within it, creating a calm environment 

Yes, the many plants within the 

garden provide for insects and in turn 

benefit the local wildlife 

 
 

Yes 

 
 

Yes 

 

 
3 

 
St  Peter's Church 

 
Yes 

Yes, the Church and its surroundings are an 

attractive asset of the parish 

Yes, the Church is a Grade ll listed 

building 

 
- 

Yes, the Church is situated on the edge of the 

village and is in tranquil surroundings 
 

- 

 
Yes 

 
Yes 

 

 

 
4 

 
 

The Avenue 

 

Yes 

Yes, The Avenue consists of a row of 

attractive  mature trees leading up to the 

church 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

Yes, site is lined with trees and shrubs which 

provide a pleasant and peaceful walking 

route leading to the church 

 
 

- 

 

Yes 

 
 

Yes 

 
 

5 

 
Cricket Ground 

 

Yes 
 

- 

 
- 

 

Yes, site is used for cricket 
 

- 

 
- 

 

Yes 
 

Yes 

 

 
6 

 
Sports Field 

 
Yes 

 
- 

 
- 

Yes, site is used for sports such as football 
 

- 

 
- 

 
Yes 

 
Yes 

 

 

7 

 
Elford Jubilee  Memorial Playground 

 

yes 
 

- 

 
- 

Yes, site is a children’s playing area with 

equipment 

 
- 

 
- 

 

Yes 
 

Yes 

 

 

 
 

 

8 

 

 
Land between the Shrubbery and the 

river Tame 

 

 
 

Yes 

 

Yes, the stretch of trees next to the river 

creates a picturesque location in the 

village 

 

 
 

- 

 

 
Yes, people take walks along the river and 

picnic along the grassed area 

 

 
Yes, the site is a quiet area next to river 

Yes, site is next to the river which is 

important for the wildlife of the river. In 

addition, numerous trees and shrubs are 

present on the site, which benefit local 

wildlife 

 

 
 

Yes 

 

 
 

Yes 

 

Assessment of open spaces in Elford against the criteria for protection as Local Green Spaces 

P
age 493



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

45 
 

Appendix C Listed Buildings  

Table 1: Listed Buildings  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Heritage Assets: 

The following key considerations are raised in relation to matters of heritage within the Parish of Elford:  

 The Parish includes a wealth of heritage assets including those that are designated as listed buildings. 

These heritage assets and their settings will be required to be preserved or enhanced by new 

development;  

 The Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan was adopted on 14 July 2015. It identifies a 

series of key spaces and views/vistas that are important to the character or appearance of the 

conservation area.   

 The historic environment record and a study of historical mapping shows that much of the village of 

Elford to the north-east is post-war whilst the area adjacent to the river is the traditional core of the 

village;  

 The landscape is an important historical asset, offering links to the cultural heritage and showing a 

number of features that demonstrate the working of the landscape since mediaeval times;  

 The scattered farmsteads, mainly from the Georgian and Victorian period, are an important heritage 

feature 

Table 2: Non-designated Heritage List - Schedule of locally-listed properties: 

Heritage Asset Grade 

Park Farmhouse II 

Black and White Cottage II 

Former Smithy II 

Avenue House II 

The Coach Houses II 

Church of St Peter II* 

The Cottage II 

Elford Low Farmhouse II 

Merepitts Farmhouse II 

Millhouse II 

Elford Bridge West  II 

Elford Park Farmhouse II 

Crown Cottage II 

Home Farmhouse  II 

Elford Bridge East  II 

Elford Post Office II 

The Crown Inn II 

The Old Rectory  II 

Upfields Farmhouse II 

The Forge II 

The Arches II 

The Garden Wall on North Boundary of Garden of The Old Rectory II 

Kitchen Garden Walls to Former Elford Hall II 

Barn and Stables Approximately 10 Yards Southeast of Elford Park 
Farmhouse 

II 

Former Stables Approximately 20 Yards Southeast of Elford Park II 

Page 494



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

46 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Road  Property  

Brickhouse Lane New cottage 

Burton Road The Mount 
Hill Cottage 
Elford House (inc. 1,2,3,4 Elford House, 
East Wing) 
Elford House and West Wing Elford House 
Elford Lodge  
The Stables, Elford House 
The Cottage, Elford House 

Church Road Elford Hall Community Project  
Pimlico Cottage  
The Woodyard  
Box Cottage  
Church Gate Cottage  
Arthur Cottage  
Elford Lodge  
The Wickets  
Bagot House  
Tithe Barn  

Clements Lane Clements Cottage 

Eddies Lane Webbs Farmhouse 

The Beck Homestead (no. 8) 
No. 22 
No. 41, 43, 45, 47, 51, 53 & 55  
Yew Tree (numbers 59-61)  

The Gardens  
 

Haycroft  
Tanglewood  
Garden Cottage  

The Green  
 

Numbers 1, 2 & 3  
 

The Shrubbery  
 

The Warren  
Beck House  

The Square  
 

Howard Primary School  
The Old School House  
Drey House  
Numbers 1, 2, 3 & 4  

Page 495



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

47 
 

 

Appendix D. List of projects which monies from Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be directed 

towards. Contributions sought within respective sections of this Plan can also go towards these projects 

 Howard Primary School 

 Sportsfield and Cricket Ground  

 Sports, Leisure and Multi Use Games facilities 

 Footpaths and Directional Signs 

 Improvement of Amenity Areas. 

  

Page 496



E l f o r d  P a r i s h  N e i g h b o u r h o o d  P l a n  

M a d e  1 5  J a n u a r y  2 0 1 9  

48 
 

 

Page 497



This page is intentionally left blank



For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

1

equality impact assessment
stage 1 quick check 
questionnaire

If you are planning on making a change to an existing service or policy, or launching something 
new, fill out this quick questionnaire to find out if you need to complete a full equality impact 
assessment. You can also use this form to check your current services or policies.

To find out more about the legal background to equality impact assessments, or for advice on 
which of your current services should be assessed, read our equality impact assessment help 
notes. 

Section 1: About you and your service area 
Your name: Craig Jordan
Your service area: Spatial Policy and delivery
Your director/line manager: Richard King
Your cabinet member: Cllr Ian Pritchard

Section 2: About your plans
Name of service/policy you are assessing: Elford Neighbourhood Plan

Is it? (please delete as appropriate)

 A new policy/planned service
 

Who are the main users of your service/policy? (please delete any that are not appropriate)
 Mixture of residents and visitors 
 Users of a specific service (e.g. leisure centre customers)
 Internal (employees)
 Disability specific groups
 Race specific groups
 Gender specific groups 
 Religious groups
 Sexual orientation groups
 Marriage and civil partnerships
 Older people
 Young people
 Other (please specify)

Please briefly describe why you are creating a new service/changing an existing service  or reviewing 
current policy/service (where appropriate, include sources of evidence such as customer feedback):   
Elford Parish Council has produced a Neighbourhood Plan to provide specific planning policies for the 
Elford Neighbourhood Area. The Plan has been independently examined and found to meet the basic 
conditions. Following examination the Plan has been subject to a referendum within the 
neighbourhood area and achieved a success ‘yes’ vote.

Page 499

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

2

Section 3: Will your plans impact on any particular groups?

3a:  Please fill in all boxes that apply in the table below. If any boxes don’t apply, please leave blank.

Hints & tips Think about who will benefit from or be affected by your plans/policy. Will any particular group be 
negatively affected, or not able to use the service? For further guidance please see Section 3 of the help notes. 

Impact of plans

Groups of users

Will your plans have a positive impact on 
this group? If so please explain why? 

Will your plans have a negative impact? If 
so please explain why?  If there is a 
negative impact on any group(s), please 
complete section 4 for each group.

Age ranges (indicate 
range/ranges)

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
Plan does not have specific policies 
relating to defined age groups it has 
been found to be in general 
conformity with the adopted Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy which 
includes policies which consider all age 
groups within the District.

No.

Disability (physical, 
sensory or learning)

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
Plan does not have specific policies 
relating to people with disabilities it 
has been found to be in general 
conformity with the adopted Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy which 
includes policies which seek to ensure 
that the needs of those with 
disabilities are met.

No.

Gender/sex Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with gender 
and sex it has been found to be in 
general conformity with the adopted 
Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy 
which helps to facilitate the delivery of 
a range of services and facilities which 
may deal with issues relating to 
gender and sex. The Local Plan is 
underpinned by policies relating to 
sustainable communities which are 
underpinned by community cohesion, 
inclusivity and narrowing the equality 
gap as such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

No.

Transgender/gender 
reassignment

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with 
transgender and gender reassignment 
it has been found to be in general 
conformity with the adopted Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy which helps 
to facilitate the delivery of a range of 
services and facilities which may deal 
with issues relating to transgender and 
gender reassignment. The Local Plan is 

No.

Page 500

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

3

underpinned by policies relating to 
sustainable communities which are 
underpinned by community cohesion, 
inclusivity and narrowing the equality 
gap as such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

Race (includes ethnic or 
national origins, colour 
or nationality)

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with race it 
has been found to be in general 
conformity with the adopted Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy which helps 
to facilitate the delivery of a range of 
services and facilities which may deal 
with issues relating to race. The Local 
Plan is underpinned by policies 
relating to sustainable communities 
which are underpinned by community 
cohesion, inclusivity and narrowing 
the equality gap as such the 
Neighbourhood Plan conforms to this.

No.

Gypsies and travellers Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing Gypsies and 
Travellers it has been found to be in 
general conformity with the adopted 
Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy 
which includes policies relating to 
meeting the needs of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople.

No.

Refugees / asylum 
seekers

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with refugees 
and asylum seekers it has been found 
to be in general conformity with the 
adopted Lichfield District Local Plan 
Strategy which helps to facilitate the 
delivery of a range of services and 
facilities which may deal with issues 
relating to refugees and asylum 
seekers. The Local Plan is underpinned 
by policies relating to sustainable 
communities which are underpinned 
by community cohesion, inclusivity 
and narrowing the equality gap as 
such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

No.

Sexual orientation Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with sexual 
orientation it has been found to be in 
general conformity with the adopted 
Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy 
which helps to facilitate the delivery of 

No.

Page 501

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

4

a range of services and facilities which 
may deal with issues relating to sexual 
orientation. The Local Plan is 
underpinned by policies relating to 
sustainable communities which are 
underpinned by community cohesion, 
inclusivity and narrowing the equality 
gap as such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

Marriage and civil 
partnerships

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with 
marriage and civil partnerships it has 
been found to be in general 
conformity with the adopted Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy which helps 
to facilitate the delivery of a range of 
services and facilities which may deal 
with issues relating to marriage and 
civil partnerships. The Local Plan is 
underpinned by policies relating to 
sustainable communities which are 
underpinned by community cohesion, 
inclusivity and narrowing the equality 
gap as such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

No.

Religion or belief 
(includes lack of belief)

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with religion 
or belief it has been found to be in 
general conformity with the adopted 
Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy 
which helps to facilitate the delivery of 
a range of services and facilities which 
may deal with issues relating to 
religion or belief. The Local Plan is 
underpinned by policies relating to 
sustainable communities which are 
underpinned by community cohesion, 
inclusivity and narrowing the equality 
gap as such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

No.

Pregnancy and 
maternity

Neutral. Whilst the Neighbourhood 
plan does not have specific policies 
relating to issues dealing with 
pregnancy and maternity it has been 
found to be in general conformity with 
the adopted Lichfield District Local 
Plan Strategy which helps to facilitate 
the delivery of a range of services and 
facilities which may deal with issues 
relating to pregnancy and maternity. 
The Local Plan is underpinned by 
policies relating to sustainable 

No.

Page 502

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

5

communities which are underpinned 
by community cohesion, inclusivity 
and narrowing the equality gap as 
such the Neighbourhood Plan 
conforms to this.

Carers or the people 
cared for (dependants) 

Yes. Whilst the Neighbourhood plan 
does not have specific policies relating 
to issues dealing with Carers or the 
people cared for it has been found to 
be in general conformity with the 
adopted Lichfield District Local Plan 
Strategy which includes policies which 
specifically related to the provision of 
supported housing, care homes and 
homes built to Lifetime Homes 
standards which are applicable to 
carers and their dependants.

Other (please specify)

3b: Further details
Please use this space to provide further details if necessary

Page 503

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

6

Section 4: Can you justify and evidence, or lessen any impact?

4a: If you have identified a negative impact(s) on any group(s) please complete the below table for each 
affected each group. If any boxes don’t apply, please leave blank. If you didn’t identify any negative impact(s) on the 
previous page, skip to section 6. 

Hints & tips Is there something you can do to reduce or alter any negative impact you have identified? For example 
when we changed waste and recycling collections to kerbside collections, we offered disabled/less able people 
assisted collections. Please list all the evidence you have gathered to support your decision(s) – this could include 
customer feedback, statistics, comparable policies, consultation results. If you don’t have any evidence, please carry 
out appropriate studies and research to gather the evidence you need to support your decision(s). If you have 
no/insufficient evidence or cannot gather any, you will need to complete a full EIA. For further guidance, see 
Section 4 of the help notes.

Actions you need to take

Groups of users

We will make the following 
change(s) to the 
service/policy to reduce 
the negative impact. 
Explain the change(s) and 
the evidence you have to 
support your decision? 
 Use section 4b below if 
you want to give more 
details.

We won’t make changes as 
we can justify our decision 
and there are sound 
reasons behind our 
decision. Justify why and 
detail the evidence you 
have gathered to support 
your decision.  Use 
section 4c below if you 
want to give more details.

There is a negative impact, 
and we cannot justify it 
and/or have no, or 
insufficient, evidence to 
support our decision.  

 You will need complete 
a full equality impact 
assessment. See the help 
notes for more details.

Age ranges (indicate 
range/ranges)
Disability  (physical, 
sensory or learning)
Gender / sex
Transgender /
gender reassignment
Race (includes ethnic or 
national origins, colour 
or nationality)
Gypsies and travellers
Refugees / asylum 
seekers
Sexual orientation
Marriage and civil 
partnerships
Religion or belief 
(includes lack of belief)
Pregnancy and 
maternity
Carers or the people 
cared for (dependants)
Other (please specify)

4b: Further details on changes
Please use the space below to give more details on the changes you will make, if necessary:

4c: Further details on justification
Please use the space below to give more details on the justification/evidence you have gathered, if 
necessary:

Page 504

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk


For help or guidance contact Colin Cooke on 01543 308121 or Alison Bowen on 01543 
308129 or email colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk  or alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

7

Section 5: Your action plan
Help notes If, as a result of this assessment, you are going to adapt your plans or policy, please include details 
below. Please include a quick action plan and key dates that will show how you will review your decisions and when. 
Please include responsibility and expected outcomes. For full guidance on how to complete this section, please 
refer to the help notes. 

Section 6: Record your actions (delete as appropriate)

I have sent this to Policy and Performance for publication on the intranet and on 
www.lichfielddc.gov.uk 

Yes

Date completed: 19 December 2018

Page 505

mailto:colin.cooke@lichfielddc.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bowen@lichfielddc.gov.uk
http://www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 507

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Local Plan Review (2016 - 2036) Preferred Options and Policy Directions Consultation
	Item 3 - Appendix A
	1 Executive summary
	2 Introduction & context
	3 National context
	4 Local context
	5 Profile of the district
	6 Issues
	7 Our vision
	8 Our strategic objectives & priorities
	9 Themes and subjects for our strategic policies
	10 Our spatial strategy
	11 Our sustainable communities
	12 Our infrastructure
	13 Our sustainable transport
	14 Our homes for the future
	15 Our economic growth, enterprise & tourism
	16 Our healthy & safe communities
	17 Our natural resources
	18 Our built & historic environment
	19 Our growth needs & requirements
	20 Residential growth options
	21 Economic growth options
	22 Our preferred strategic options for growth
	23 Our next steps
	Appendix A Our evidence base
	Appendix B Our existing policies to be carried forward
	Glossary & abbreviations

	Item 3 - Appendix B
	Item 3 -Appendix B_a
	Item 3 - Appendix B_b
	Item 3 - Appendix C
	Item 3 - Appendix E

	4 Elford Neighbourhood Plan - Final Decision Statement
	Item 4 - Appendix A - Elford NP Reg 19 Decision Statement
	Item 4 - Appenidx B - Elford Neighbourhood Plan - made version
	SP1 – Parish Strategic Policy
	LS1 - Encouraging Appropriate Local Enterprise
	LS2 - Community Facilities
	LS3 – Support Improvements to Leisure Facilities
	LS4 - Agricultural Activities
	HD1 – Housing Types Mix
	HD2 – Infill Policy
	HD3 Replacement Dwellings
	DH2 – Heritage Assets
	E1 - Renewable Energy Development
	E3 - Green Infrastructure Network and Green Links
	E4 - Biodiversity
	MD1 - Parking Standards
	MD2 - Sustainable Transport
	MD3 - Sustainable Design and Construction
	MD4 - Flood Risk Management
	MD5 - Traffic

	Item 4 - Appendix C - Equality impact assessment Elford NP

	6 Processing of Dry Recycling Materials Contract



